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PREFACE.

THE magnitude of the interests involved in the St. Albans Case,
and the importance of the questions which arose during its dis-
cussion, have appeared to me such as to justify the publication of
a complete report of the proceedings ; and in preparing it accord-
ingly, I have been indebted to the eminent Counsel engaged on
both sides for such a revision of the reports of their arguments, as
enables me to be certain of their substantial correctness.

Before going to press, documents arrived from England which
appeared to sustain the correctness of two of the most important
of the judgments rendered in the case. I have, therefore, added

them as an appendix.

L. N. B.
MoNTREAL, 17th April, 1865.
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ERRATUM.

Page 1, line 8, instead of ‘ with felony,” read “ with suspicion of felony.”



ST. ALBAN’S RAID.

Before Mr. JusTice BADGLEY.

Myr. Kerr applied for a writ of habeas corpus to bring before his
Honor, William H. Hutchinson, alleged to be then in gaol upon the
following commitment :—

PROVINCE OF CANADA
District of Montreal. ’ % POLICE OFFICE.

To the keeper of the Common Gaol of the said District, greeting :
[1.5.] Whereas W. H. Hutchinson of the Parish of Montreal, in

"4 the said District, laborer, stands charged upon oath with
felony. These are therefore to authorize and command you to
receive into your custody the body of the said W. H. Hutchinson,
and him safely keep for examination.

Given under my hand and seal at Montreal, this twenty-seventh
day of October, one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four, in
the twenty-eighth year of Her Majesty’s reign.

(Signed) J. P. SEXTON,
Recorder.

And also for a writ of certiorari to bring up the information upon
which the commitment issued, which was sworn to be of the follow-
ing purport :

PROVINCE OF CANADA,

District of Montreal, Cily g POLICE OFFICE.

of Montreal.

The information and complaint of Guillaume Lamothe, of the city
of Montreal, in the District of Montreal, Esquire, chief of police,
taken upon oath, this twenty-seventh day of October, one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-four, at the Police Office, in the city of
Montreal, before the undersigned Recorder in and, for the city of
Montreal, who saith: Upon the twenty-fourth day of October instant,
at the said city of Montreal, between the hours of six and eight of
the clock in the afternoon, I arrested a person, who has since given
his name as W. H. Hutchinson, upon suspicion of his having com-
mitted a felony at St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the
United States of America. Upon the person of the said Hutchin-
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son, who is now a prisoner in my custody, I found after his said
arrest ten thousand dollars of the Franklin County bank bills,
said bank being situate in St. Albans, in the State of Vermont,
one of the United States of America, and two loaded revolvers.
And I have reason to believe that the said sum of ten thousand
dollars was feloniously stolen by the said Hutchinson, or by others
with whom he was acting in concert.
Wherefore I pray for justice, and have signed
GUILLAUME LAMOTHE,
Chief of Police.

Sworn before me, at Montreal, this
27th October, 1864.
J. P. SExToN, Recorder.

My. Kerr opened two principal grounds of objection to the com-
mitment.

1. That it contained no charge of any offence for which the
prisoner could be committed; ¢ suspicion of felony” not being
such a charge.

2. That the warrant of commitment contained no limit as to the
time during which the prisoner was to remain in confinement :
though the time for which he could be remanded was expressly
limited by the statute ; and though the text writers laid it down as
a rule that the warrant should declare the limit; and though
the form contained in the schedule to the statute, and the forms
given in the books were all so framed as to limit the time.

My, Abbott, Q. C., followed on the same side.

The fact that the information contained no statement that war-
ranted a suspicion of felony under the law of Canada, was also
insisted on.

Mr. Johnson, Q. C., on behalf of the Crown, opposed the appli-
cation, on the ground that the warrant was sufficient, and that the
information disclosed a sufficient ground for the imprisonment, and
further on the ground that being remanded for examination only
the proceedings against the prisoner should not be interfered with.

Mpr. Devlin, on behalf of the U. S. authorities, followed on the
same side.

His Honor took time to consider ; and at 2 P. M. the same day,
rendered the following judgment :—

The warrahnt of commitment charges the prisoner with suspicion of
Jelony, and orders his commitment for examination. Objections are
made to both the generality of the charge and the unlimited remand.
Now it is not necessary that the offence should be described with
the nicety and technical precision of an indictment, but the prisoner
should be charged with some legally defined and well known
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offence for which he would be subjected to criminal proceedings
either by indictment or otherwise, and that specific offence cannot
be included under a general term which compendiously covers a
great variety of criminal offences. The term felony includes a
number of crimes ranging between treason and larceny ; and hence
it is not sufficient simply to designate the offence by the name of
the class of offences to which the magistrate may find or judge it
to belong ; and it is undoubtedly the received opinion that a com-
mitment for felony in general without showing the species is not
good. The reason given for requiring certainty is plain enough, to
enable the judge applied to for the Aabeas corpus, which is in the
nature of a writ of error, to determine whether the commitment is
erroneous or not, otherwise the power of Courts and Judges under
the law would be seriously abridged. A commitment, therefore, in
the absence of any statutory provisions prescribing its forms and
contents does not sufficiently state the offence by simply designa-
ting it by the class of crimes to which the committing magistrate
may consider it to belong ; it should state the facts charged to con-
stitute the offence with sufficient particularity to enable the Court
or Judge on Habeas Corpus, to determine what particular crime is
charged against the prisoner: if commitment fail to do this, the
prisoner ought to be discharged from it: this is the law and the
decision 1s explained and enforced by Mr. Hurd an American
jurist, who has treated, ex professo, the subject of the writ of Aabeas
corpus. Surely if the speciality of the offence is so strongly re-
quired in commitments for actual offences, how much more
necessary and essential is it for offences merely suspected, as in
this case, suspicion of felony. The charge itself is strangely in-
complete and untechnical, being not alone general in its expression,
but without any fact to show its application in any manner to the
prisoner ; in this respect the commitment is clearly erroneous.

The second objection has reference to the generality of the order
of detention ; the prisoner is remanded for ezamination, but with-
out stating when or where. It is true that the magistrate may
remand for examination from time to time, at his discretion, but
that discretion is not unlimited, it is a legal discretion for the time
and times provided for by the statute : that time, therefore should
have been stated. The justice, as stated in the books, should not
fail to state in his warrant of remand the time and place at which
the prisoner is again to be brought up, and our Provincial Statute
plainly enough provides for this and assists the magistrate with a
form in this particular, leaving blanks for time and place, which
the magistrate shall fill up. It is useless to say more upon this

alpable error.

These two objections are formal against the face of the commit-
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ment, and, to my mind, render it bad and defective. I have con--
sidered this commitment simply as any other, issued in the course
of ordinary proceedings before our- magistrates, upon commitments
for local offences, cognizable by provincial magistrates under the
provisions of our local laws, and should not have advanced beyond
the commitment itself but for the urgency of the counsel against
the prisoner in directing my attention to the information, with the
view of supplementing the formal defects of the commitment by the
other merits of the information. This latter document informs the
magistrate that the informant, the police officer, had arrested the
risoner on suspicion of having committed a felony at St. Albans,

in the State of Vermont, one of the U. S. of America, &c. This

document is exceedingly loose and defective, and does not justify
the charge set cut in the commitment, which in this case did not

issue e mero motu of the magistrate, but upon this information.

Now the law clearly requires that the commitment shall state some

good cause certain, showing substantially a criminal matter over

which the committing magistrate has jurisdiction, and for which the

former may be legally committed, and that criminal matter must

be stated with certainty to distinguish it from other offences. None
of this can be extracted from the information. Viewed as informa-

tion of a crime committed in this Province, it wants every legal in-
gredient to give it effect ; taken as the information of a crime

committed in the United States, it is plainly one for which the

committing magistrate could have no jurisdiction, being done in a

foreign country, and, moreover, not in the category of offences for

which extradition is allowed under the treaty.

It has been urged that the allowance of the Aabeas corpus will
interfere with the course of justice. The writ, however, cannot be
promoted or impeded on that account, if there is no legal commit--
ment to detain the prisoner, as in this case. Even in the course of
the examination of a prisoner before a magistrate, where there is
a special charge en regle, it is quite competent for a magistrate to
admit the prisoner to bail in the meantime ; and this does not pre-
vent the continuance of the examination, which would go on,
although the prisoner is at large under his bail bonds; or the
magistrate may even prevent him to go at large without bail, and
still the examination would not be interfered with. Now, this
statute allowing the remand, does not certainly interfere with the
allowance of the habeas corpus, and as certainly, upon a defective

commitment like the present, the allowance of the writ cannot be
legally refused. '

Writ granted returnable instanter.

The following is the gaolor’s return to the writ of Aabeas
corpus :



PROVINCE QF CANADA,
District of Montreal.

L, Louis Payette, keeper of Her Majesty’s Common Gaol
in the city and District of Montreal, in the Province of Canadai
aforesaid, do hereby certify and return to our Sovereign Lady the
Queen that before the coming of the annexed writ to me directed,
to wit, on the 27th and 29th days of October, one thousand eight
hundred and sixty-four, the body of William H. Hutchinson therein
named, was committed into the said Gaol of our said Lady the
Queen, under my custody, by virtue of two warrants under the hand
and seal of J. P. Sexton, Recorder of the city of Montreal, and
Charles J. Coursol, Esquire, Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in
and for the city of Montreal, which said warrants are in the words
following, to wit:

PR st o doutrest. -7} POLICE OFFICE.

To the keeper of the Common Gaol of the said District, greet-
[L.s.] ing: Whereas Willlam H. Hutchinson, of the parish of

"2 Montreal, in the said District, laborer, stands charged upon
oath with suspicion of felony : These are, therefore, to authorize
-and command you to receive into your custody the body of the
sald William H. Hutchinson and him safely keep for examination.

Given under my hand and seal at Montreal, this twenty-seventh
day of October, one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four, in the
twenty-eighth year of Her Majesty’s reign.

(Signed) J. P. SEXTON,
Recorder.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,
District of Montreal. % POLICE OFFICE.

To all or any of the Constables or other peace officers in the
[1.5.] said District of Montreal, and to the keeper of the Common

"1 Gaol of the said city of Montreal, in the said District of
Montreal, greeting : Whereas William H. Hutchinson, late of the
town of St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United
States of America, laborer, now in the city of Montreal, was this
day charged before me,,Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire, Judge of
the Sessions of the Peace, in and for the city of Montreal, on oath
of Marcus Wells Beardsley and others, for that he the said William
H. Hutchinson on the nineteenth day of October instant, at the
town of St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United
States of America, being then and there armed with a certain offen-
sive weapon and instrument, to wit, a pistol, commonly called a
revolver, loaded with powder and balls, and capped, in and upon
one Marcus Wells Beardsley feloniously did make an assault, and
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him, the said Marcus Wells Beardsley, in bodily fear and danger
of his life, then and there did put, and a certain sum of money, to
wit, to the amount of seventy-six thousand dollars current money
of the said United States of America, and of the value of seventy--
six thousand dollars, current money aforesaid, of the moneys and
property of the Franklin County bank, at St. Albans aforesaid, a
body corporate, constituted and recognized by the laws of the said
State of Vermont, from the person, custody and possession a,n_d
against the will of the said Marcus Wells Beardsley, and in his
presence then and there feloniously and violently did steal, take
and carry away, against the form of the statutes of the said State
of Vermont, in such case made and provided, and against the peace
and dignity of said State. These are therefore, to command you
the said Constable or Peace Officers or any of you, to take the said
William H. Hutchinson and him safely convey to the Common Gaol
at the city of Montreal aforesaid, and there deliver him to the
keeper thereof, together with this precept ; and I do hereby com-
mand you the said keeper of the said Common Gaol to receive the-
said William H. Hutchinson into your custody in the said Common
Gaol, and there safely to keep him until he shall be brought before
me for the purpose of an examination upon oath of any person or
persons touching the truth of the said charge, in conformity with
the provision of the Statutes made to give effect to the Treaty
between Her Majesty the Queen and the United States of America,
for the apprehension and surrender of certain offenders, on the
second day of November next.

Given under my hand and seal, this twenty-ninth day of October,
in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four,
at the said city of Montreal, in the District aforesaid.

(Signed) CHAS. J. COURSOL, J. S. P.

And that this is the cause and the only cause of the capture,
commitment and detention of the said Willilam H. Hutchinson in
Her Majesty’s Gaol aforesaid, the body of which said William H.
Hutchinson I have here now as by writ it is commanded me.

Attested at the city of Montreal, in the said District of Mon-
treal, in the said Province of Canada, this twenty-ninth day of
October, in the twenty-eighth year of Her Majesty’s reign, and in
the year of Qur Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four.

(Signed) LOUIS PAYETTE, Gaoler.

By this return it appears that a subseqent warrant of commit-
ment had been made out—and time till the following morning was

granted to take communication of it. On the following day, before
JUDGE BADGLEY, in Chambers,
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Hon. Mr. Abbott, Q. C., on behalf of — Hutchinson, stated
that the return which now appeared before the Judge contained not
only the original commitment of the Recorder, but also a subsequent
one; that the argument respecting the Recorder’s commitment
having disclosed the defects,—the second was prepared with the
view of supplementing the first. The commitment of the Recorder
was rendered inadequate by the omission to state the day, the place
and the time when the prisoner should be brought up for examina-
tion. The attempt to cure the defect in the other warrant consisted
in placing at the end of the description of the statute in the warrant
the words “ on the second day of November next,” making the
commitment read to the effect that the jailer was ordered to return
the prisoner for examination on that day according to the terms of
the statute passed for such and such purposes, on the second of
November. As the return set forth the second commitment, it was
necessary to show now—and he was ready to do so, that it was
insufficient. The course of proceedings adopted in the subterranean
regions of the police office, was very extraordinary, for as fast as
one commitment was found fault with and was on the pomnt of being
quashed by his Honor the Judge, another was submitted in order
that the accused might be kept in jail from day to day, till the
learned gentlemen who drew up the first commitment should learn
from the prisoner’s counsel how to prepare one in a legal and valid
manner. As long as the clerk of the crown, acting apparently in
the capacity of clerk of the magistrate, continued to furnish affi-
davits and commitments, he should be careful how he managed the
business, and not illegally infringe the liberty of individuals. The
Judge, however, would doubtless take good care that personal free-
dom should not suffer from any contravention or overstraining of the
law.

Myr. Carter objected to being styled clerk of the magistrate.
He was not such, and had never acted in that capacity.

Hon. Mr. Abbott observed that all he could say was this, that
when he arrived at St. Johns, as counsel for the prisoners, he found
the learned gentleman who was clerk of the crown for the District
of Montreal, drawing up informations, preparing commitments, and
acting in the capacity of magistrate’s clerk in the District of Iber-
ville. These were the duties of a magistrate’s clerk, not those of
clerk of the crown for the District of Montreal.

Mr. Carter said that if the learned counsel wanted to know in
what capacity he acted, he would tell that gentleman. He would
tell him that he received a telegram from Hon. Mr. Cartier, desiring
him to go to St. Johns to assist Judge Coursol in carrying on this

investigation.
Hon. Mr. Abbott said that whether the learned gentleman had
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acted at the instance of the attorney-general or no, the task he
was called upon to perform was precisely that of clerk to the
magistrate.  As to his being sent there by the attorney-general,
he was surprised to hear it ; for it was the first time in the history
cf constitutional government that a free government had been
found assisting foreigners in attempting to effect the extradition of
persons found within its lines, those persons intending no mjury to
the country in which they had taken refuge, and observing the laws
of the country under whose protection they had placed themselves ;
and it was a very strange mode of action on the part of the govern-
ment to send salaried officials away from the duties of their offices,
for any such purpose.—The learned counsel then went iuto the
merits of the case, and assuming that the commitment made out by
Mr. Sexton was quashed, shewed that the statute authorizing extra-
dition clearly pointed out the course to be pursued. A magistrate
was bound, on information being laid before him, to issue his warrant
for the arrest of the party accused, and have him brought up for
examination. The magistrate then had a right to examine into the
facts, and hear the evidence, which, if satisfactory, would authorize
him to send the accused to jail, to be dealt with according to the
terms of the statute, and to be given up on the issue of the gover-
nor-general’s warrant. But this particular warrant did not show
that the prisoner had ever been brought before a magistrate ; it was
simply a warrant sending him to jail, instead of having him brought
before the proper authority to be dealt with according to law. In
this case the terms of the statute had not been followed ; the
magistrate had exceeded his jurisdiction, and his proceedings were
absolutely null. The learned counsel then went on to show that
supposing the magistrate had power to remand the prisoner for
examination, he was bound in the commitment remanding him, to
order the jailor to bring him back for such examination, at such time
as in his discretion he considered best, but within the limit fixed b

the statute. But in the matter of this particular warrant, instead
of fixing the time in that part of the warrant which related to the
Jailer, nothing at all was said about time ; but the jailer was merely
ordered to keep the accused in prison for examination, when he
should have been directed to bring him up at a time and place that
should have been mentioned in the commitment. No such mention
of time and place being made, and the attempt to fix a time was
so clumsily made, that the literal and grammatical meaning of the
words in the warrant, “the 2nd day of November,” actually con-
veyed the idea that the statute was made and come into force only
on that day. The warrant was illegal, and the commitment of the
prisoner was the same ; and these few words, ¢ the 2nd day of
November,” were interpolated at the end of the warrant to give



1t a validity it did not possess. Supposing the interpolation to
mean that the examination was to take place on the 2nd day of
November, there was no order to the jailer to bring him up on that
day ; he was ordered simply to hold the accused in custody. The
learned gentleman then referred to the authorities cited on Satur-
day in reference to Mr. Sexton’s commitment, showing the neces-
sity of stating in the warrant the time and place when the prisoner
should be brought up for examination.

After some discussion,

His Honor said the first question was the irregularity of the
whole proceeding. If the gentlemen opposed to Mr. Abbott had
waited till they saw if the prisoner were discharged on the first
warrant, then they might have arrested him on the 2nd, and the
question of Aabeas corpus would have been unembarrassed. Had
those gentlemen taken this step, the whole thing would have been
more satisfactory. The jailor, probably could not help having the
second commitment in his possession, but the whole proceeding was
very irregular.

After some further argument,

Myr. Johnson, Q. C., said he desired to have time to argue the
validity of the second commitment. If this right were conceded,
he was prepared to go on at once.

Consent having been accorded to Mr. Johnson, the parties were
heard on the validity of the commitment.

Myr. Carter came forward and desired to be heard on behalf of
the police magistrate.

Hon. Mr. Abbott objected on the ground that the question of
the validity of the commitment was a matter for the Judge alone.

Myr. Carter renewed his application to be heard.

Hon. Mr. Abbott said that the magistrate could not be repre-
sented by counsel. Further the statute laid it down that a clerk
of the crown was prevented from acting as advocate, counsel, soli-
citor or proctor, in any case whatever.

His Honor said that if Mr. Carter came here to represent the
Judge of the peace, he could not be heard.

My. Carter said he had a right to be heard.

The Judge of the peace came forward and said he had no desire.
to have counsel appear on his behalf; for if any thing had to be
said respecting the return he could say it himself.

Mr. Devlin said he was not prepared to discuss the validity of
the second commitment, as he had not had sufficient notice.

Hon. Mr. Abbott replied that Mr. Devlin was present on Satur-
day, when he asked till Monday morning to consider the matter ;
his request was granted. He had had ample time.

JupGE BapGLEY intimated he would complete the hearing of
the case at two o’clock.
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At two o’clock before His Honor JupGE BADGLEY, .

My. Kerr,on behalf of the prisoner, said that the whole question
was, whether the commitment set out in the return of the jailer
was a valid one or not. This was the only question on which His
Honor had to pronounce. .

Mpr. Devlin said he was not prepared to argue the validity of the
warrant or commitment to-day, and as far as was in his power he
would protest against this mode of dealing with a question of this
importance. Before the second warrant could be taken up the
prisoner’s counsel must come before His Honor with a second peti-
tion for a writ of habeas corpus. .

Myr. Johnson, on behalf of the Crown, said he did not see why
the Judge should grant an order for a discharge, when there was
no petition.

His Honor observed that it was plain enough the habeas corpus
and not the petition constituted the record. The application made
by Mr. Devln, in the interest of various parties, to have time to
argue the second commitment involved was deserving of considera-
tion, for the questions which might arise upon it a very large
branch of what might be called interna‘ional law. This was a
matter of very great importance, and he would suggest to the
counsel on all sides, for the purpose of avoiding further discussion,
that the second commitment should not now be taken up. The
whole proceeding had been very irregular. The man might have
been discharged on the first warrant, and before he left the room
been arrested on the second, but instead of this both warrants had
been mixed up in a very irregular manner. The zeal of the prose-
cutors had outrun their discretion, and the whole thing was a com-
plete series of blunders from first to last, and this evidently to
make confusion. It would have been better in order to simplify
the thing if the first warrant had been disposed of, and the second
commitment could then have come up substantially, anl the ques-
tions involved been fairly discussed. He would suggest to the
gentlemen on both sides to let judgment go on the first warrant,
reserving their right to take substantial issue on the second.

Hon. Mr. Abbott observed that to-morrow was a holiday, and
the prisoner would be kept two days in jail, during which time any
number of applications might be made against him. The object of
prisoner’s counsel was to have him released from illegal detention.

Judge Badgley—The whole thing that comes up now is the suffi-
ciency or insufficiency of the return; and the question comes up
on formal or technical grounds. The Judge only has to look on
the face of the warrant to see that it bears out a sufficient commit-
ment. I think it does bear out a sufficient commitment to enable

the Court to remand the prisoner for the present. That return is
sufficient.
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After some further discussion the warrant issued by the Recorder
was pronounced by the Court to be illegal, null and void; and
Friday was appointed for hearing the application for the discharge of
the prisoner, from the warrant issued by the Judge of the sessions
of the peace. The prisoner remains in jail in the meantime.

—

COURT OF QUEEN’S BENCH,
In Chambers.

(Before Justices Aviwin, MoNDELET and

} Motion of Writ of ‘“ Habeas Corpus.”
DrumMmonD.)

WEeDNESDAY, Nov. 2nd, 1864.

This morning the Court was crowded, to hear the argument and
decision on motions for a writ of Aabeas corpus in behalf of the St,
Albans raiders, at present imprisoned in the Montreal jail.

Hon. Mr. Abbott, Q. C.; Mr. Laflamme, Q. C.; and Mr. Kerr
appeared for the prisoners. Mr. Develin, representing the United
States Government, associated with Hon. Mr. Edmonds, of Ver-
mont.  Messrs. Johnson, Q. C., and Carter, Q. C., appeared for
the Crown. Messrs. E A. Sowles and Edson were present in the
interest of the St. Albans banks robbed.

Mr. Kerr presented a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in
behalf of Samuel Eugene Lackey and thirteen other prisoners
concerned in the St. Albans raid.

Mr. Justice Mondelet.—Are all charged with the same offences ?

Mr. Kerr.—Yes.

Judge Mondelet.—With specific offences ?

My. Kerr—One offence is murder committed within the jurisdic-
tion of the United States, and the other robbery. The principles
which would apply to those commitments are general and applicable
to the whole.

Myr. Carter said he was clerk of the crown, and had a right to
speak on the present occasion. He would beg to inform the Court that
this was not a final commitment, but one for examination, and that
the prisoners were now before the Judge of the sessions, who was
about going on with the examination of witnesses and other requisite
procedings. The argument for a writ of kabeas corpus was actually
delaying the argument abput to take place before the Judge of the
sessions.

Judge Aylwin—Asked for the petition, which was handed to and
read by him. He then asked, was there any final commitment ?

Mr. Kerr.—None.

Judge Aylwin.—That is the end of the matter.

Mr. Kerr asked to be heard.
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Judges Aylwin and Drummond, though demurring to the
propriety of such a course, before the prisoners were examined,
permitted the Counsel for the latter to proceed. .

My. Abbott said the point they intended to bring before their
Honors was not one relative to the crimes charged, but applied to
an excessive jurisdiction in this commitment. If-the magistrate
exercised excessive jurisdiction, even in a preliminary commitment,
the Court would take notice of 1t. The statute authorizes a magis-
trate, under certain circumstances, to commit a prisoner for exami-
nation, for a limited period, in his discretion, not e:_(ceedmg.elght
days. Of course, then, if a magistrate committed a prisoner, without
reference to the statute, without limiting the time before examination,
there was an exercise of excessive jurisdiction.

Judge Mondelet asked if the learned gentleman had ever read
or heard of a writ of Aabeas corpus being applied for while a pre-
liminary investigation was proceeding before the magistrate or any
justice whatever, in order to prevent such examination being com-
pleted.  Suppose the prisoners were discharged at this stage, what
security would there be for the community at large. He did not
allude to these prisoners in particular, as their case must come
before the Court. The Judges were independent of the executive
and every one else, and justice could and would be done the prison-
ers whatever the consequences. But, at the same time, the Court
must take care and act according to the law, both.as to the prisoners
and foreigners interested.

Mr. Abbott said that the law had contemplated every case,
including that of a person brought before a magistrate against whom
there was not sufficient evidence at the moment to warrant a com-
mitment for trial. The defence addmitted that if the prisoners in
this case were properly committed for examination, they could not
interfere. The mode in which the law had provided for that exam-
nation was this: (Cap. 102, sec. 42, Con. Stat. Canada,) ¢« If
from the absence of the witnesses, or from any other reasonable
cause, 1t becomes necessary, or advisable to defer the examination,
or further examination of witnesses for any time, the justice or
Justices before whom the accused appears, or has been brought u
upon his or their warrant, may, from time to time, remand the party
accused, for such time as by such justice or justices, in their dis-
cretion, may be deemed reasonable, not exceeding eight days at any
one time, to the common jail or house of correction,” etc. If
the power was not conferred by this clause, it was conferred by no
clause at all, so the law very wisely gives to one justice the right of
remanding prisoners for a specified period, but not to keep them there
for ever. The imprisonment was not to exceed eight days at any
one time. These prisoners were committed for examination several
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days ago, and had not yet been brought up for examination. They
may be confined in this jail for the next twenty years, under the
present warrant. The magistrate had not exercised his discretion
as to the time these prisoners might bekept in jail. Instead of saying
to the jailer, “ You shall detain them for eight days, and then bring
them up,” they were committed for an indefinite period. The:t;
might have been brought up in the interval that had elapsed since
their commitment, but he had no right to commit them for a longer
period than eight days.

Judge Aylwin.—The commitment bears date the 27th of October.

Judge Drummond.—The eight days have not expired. The
magistrate remanded from day to day in general, but the party ag-
grieved, when the eight days expired, if not previously brought up,
might appear and say that the magistrate had exceeded his power.
If the counsel were in that position he could understand it.

Mr. Abbott.—Of course, I would be in a much stronger position.
To be sure it is an elementary principle that the warrant of com-
mitment must show the jurisdiction on the face of it ; but this is not
a warrant of remand in conformity with the statute. By that same
warrant, which sends a prisoner to confinement, the jailer is ordered
to bring him back again on some day specified in the commitment.
The intention of the law is plain, that by the warrant which commits
him, the time of his discharge, under certain circumstances, is to
be settled.

Judge Mondelet.—We know not how these prisoners are before

the Court. Are they under examination under the provision of the
Ashburton Treaty ?

Mr. Abbott.—No.

Judge Mondelet.—Suppose they are to be dealt with under the
Ashburton Treaty, is the Judge of the sessions, in his mode of action,
to be strictly and exclusively governed by this statute ?

My. Abbott.—In my opinion, the law observed in this case does
not apply to the Ashburton Treaty—if we were called on to argue
whether a justice of the peace, who commits these prisoners, is bound
to follow the terms of this act, we might urge that it is the terms
of our statute which should regulate the conduct of such justices.
The Court will perceive that by the statute passed to enable Judges
to administer the Ashburton Treaty, there is no power given to
remand at all.

Judge Drummond.—Was there no power to remand before that
statute was passed ?

Mr. Abbott.—Suppose it to be a necessary consequence that there
should be a remand, is it not to be confined to some period ? Could
the magistrate who arrests, leaving this statute altogether out of the
question, under the act passed to facilitate the execution of the Ash-
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burton Treaty, commit the prisoners for an unlimited time, or as
long as he pleases?

Judge Drummond.—If the magistrate does not name the day in
which the prisoners are to be brought up, does that deprive him of
his jurisdiction ?

M. Abbott.—I can satisfy your Honors that under the statute
passed to facilitate the execution of the Ashburton Treaty, this
Court has not the power to remand. I maintain this is a power
beyond the magisterial jurisdiction.

Judge Mondelct.—If that magistrate exceeds his jurisdiction,
there must be a remedy ; if he commits an act of oppression he must
be restrained. But the power of remanding does exist, even if 1t
does not appear in the statute ; such a power is essential, and if
the magistrate exceed his authority he must be brought to account
for it. But there can be no excess of jurisdiction.

Mpy. Abbott.—What I said before and repeat is—that a magistrate
has no power to commit a man for an unlimited time. Ifa warrant
commits a prisoner for a longer period than the law allows, he is
entitled at once, without waiting for the expiration of his term, to
come before the Court and claim his discharge, in consequence of
an illegal commitment. Such a case would be analagous to the
present one. If there is any right in a magistrate to remand at all,
1t must be exercised in a reasonable manner ; and he must state
what extent of jurisdiction he assumes to himself. If the act be
done under the statute, he cannot remand for a longer period than
the time provided for by the statute. I merely wish prima facie
to show that the case deserves consideration : and I can produce
authorities.

Mr. Kerr.—The first point to be determined is, whether under
any circumstances connected with a remand for further examination
a writ can issue for a habeas corpus or not. I defy the learned
counsel on the other side to show a case where a warrant of com-
mitment being invalid and bad, the right to apply for a writ of
habeas corpus did not exist. I admit that when a warrant for com-
mitment or examination 18 good on its face, no writ of haheas corpus
can issue ; but when such a warrant is bad on its face, a writ of
habeas corpus can issue. I would ask is there no difference between
remanding prisoners for an Indefinite length of time, and bringing
them up at a stated time, as laid down in the statute ? If we are
precluded from making this allegation we shall be told that prisoners
under examination have no right to a writ of habeas corpus. Andwould
not a motion for habeas corpus be as applicable three years hence
as it is to-day, if the crown came forward and said, ¢ These men
are still under examination ?”” These men have a right to the
habeas corpus whether under examination or not, if the warrant
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for their commitment be imperfectly drawn up, and if it has been
shown that the magistrate exceeded his jurisdiction.

Judge Aylwin said the matter was very easily disposed of. An
application had been made for a habeas corpus, in order that a writ
ghould issue on two commitments. Now, each of these commit-
ments was perfectly sufficient, and the defence would take nothing
by their petition.

Judge Mondelet said that this decision of the Court was founded
on elementary principles, which admitted of no doubt. It was es-
sential, in common law, that the Judge of the sessions, who was
invested with jurisdiction correctly exercised, should have the power
of remanding a prisoner at his own discretion. These men, for
whom application was made, must and shall be protected if they
have a right to it, and the community must and shall be protected
according to law. The whole matter shall be conducted according
to law, and not according to prejudice and popular clamor. The
Judges will see that the law is carried out, whether the parties
accused be or be not liberated. In this country the Judges have
nothing to fear either from crown or people, and will do their duty
as the law directs.

Judge Drummond agreed with the decision of the other two
learned Judges. He observed that Messrs. Abbott and Kerr had
argued the case like expert lawyers, as they were, and without the
slightest design of exciting prejudice. The Judges had to perform
a solemn duty, and he hoped that all knew they would do it without
regard to party or prejudice. He agreed with his confréres because
he believed there had been nothing irregular in the proceedings,
though the most regular course would certainly have been to fix a
day on which the accused should be brought up.

Judge Aylwin—The order of the Court is, that the defence take
nothing by their petition.
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PRrROVINCE 0F CANADA, % To all or any of the Constables, or other
District of Iberville. | Peace Officers, in the District of Iberville:
Whereas, Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Ala-
manda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George Scott, Bennett
H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty,
Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas
Bronsdon Collins, and Marcus Spurr, all late of the town of St.
Albans, in the County of Franklin, in the State of Vermont, one of
the United States of America, laborers, have this day been
charged, upon oath before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Cour-
sol, Esquire, Judge of the Sessions of the Peace,in and for the
City of Montreal, including the District of Iberville aforesaid, under
and by virtue of the proclamation to that effect made and pub-
lished, for that they on the nineteenth day of October instant, at
the town of St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United
States of America, being then and there armed with certain offen-
sive weapons and instruments, to wit, pistols, commonly known and
called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls, and capped, in and
upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop, feloniously did make an assault,
and him the said Cyrus Newton Bishop in bodily fear and in
danger of his life then and there feloniously did put, and a certain
sum of money, to wit, to the amount of seventy thousand dollars,
current money of the said United States of America, and of the
value of seventy thousand dollars current money aforesaid, of the
moneys and property of the bank of St. Albans, a body corporate,
constituted and recognized by the laws of the said State of Ver-
mont and the said United States of America, from the person, cus-
tody and possession, and against the will of the said Cyrus Newton
Bishop, then and there feloniously and violently did steal, take and
carry away against the form of the statutes of the said State of
Vermont mn such case made and provided, and against the peace
and dignity of said State.

These are therefore to command you, in Her Majesty’s name,
forthwith to apprehend the said Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire
Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager
George Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, J ames
Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dud-
ley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, and Marcus Spurr and to
bring them before me at the Court-house in the City of Montreal
in th.e.sald District of Montreal, to be dealt with according to the;
provisions of te statutes in such case made and provided. °

Given undehmy hand and seal, at the town of St. Johns, in the
sald District, this twenty-fourth day of October, in the year, of our
Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four.

(Signed) CHARLES J. COURSOL,
Judge of the Sessions of the Peace.
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WARRANT ISSUED IN VERMONT.

To Leonard Gilman, Esq., one of the Justices of the Peace within
‘and_for the County of Franklin,in the State of Vermont, comes
Chellis T. Safford, Grand Juror, within and for the town of St.
Albans, in the County of Franklin, in the State of Vermont, and
gives said justice to understand in and upon his oath of office, com-
plaint makes that Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce,
Marcus Spurr, Charles Moore Swager, Bennett H. Young, George
Scott, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph
McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, William H.
Hutchinson, Samuel Eugene Lackey, and Thomas Bronsdon Collins,
-of St. Albans aforesaid, with force and arms at St. Albans afore-
said, to wit : on the nineteenth day of October in the year of our
Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four, in a bank-building
then and there situate, and being and known and called by the
name of the St. Albans bank, in and upon one Cyrus Newton
Bishop, he the said Bishop there and then being the teller of said
‘bank, there and then being in the peace of God and the State of
Vermont aforesaid, feloniously did make an assault, and him the said
Cyrus N. Bishop in bodily fear and danger of his life in the bank
building aforesaid, there and then feloniously did put, and one thou-
sand bills commonly called bank bills issued by the St. Albans
bank, said bank being an incorporated bank, in the said State of
Vermont, and the property of the said bank, and of the denomina-
tion and value of ten dollars each, one thousand bills commonly
-called bank bills issued by said bank, and of the property of said
bank, and each of the denomination and value of twenty dollars,
two thousand bills commonly called bank bills issued by the said
bank, and the property of said bank, and of the denomination and
value of five dollars each. Two thousand bills commonly called
bank bills issued by the said bank, and of the denomination and
value of one dollar each ; ten thousand bills commonly called bank
bills issued by the said bank, and the property of said bank, and of
the value and denomination of two dollars each ; four hundred bills
commonly called bank bills, issued by and the property of said bank
of the denomination and value of fifty dollars each, and five hun-
dred pieces of silver money commonly called half dollars, each of
the denomination and value of fifty cents each, current money of
the United States, and the property of said bank, from the person
and possession and against the will of the said Cyrus Newton
Bishop, in the said bank building, as such teller as aforesaid, then
and there feloniously and violently did rob, steal, take, and carry
away, contrary to form, force, and effect of statute of said State in

B
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such case made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of

said State.
CHELLIS S. SAFFORD,
Grand Juror.

Witnesses, Cyrus N. BrsHop and others.

Franklin County, SS. ear of our Lord one thousand eight hun-

hundred and sixty-four. The above complaint exhibited to me,
LEONARD GILMAN,

Justice of the Peace.

STATE OF VERMONT, } St. Albans, October the twentieth, in the

STATE OF VERMONT, ) To any Sheriff or Constable in the States
Franklin County, SS. Greeting :—

By the authority of the State of Vermont, you are hereby com-
manded to apprehend the bodies of the said Samuel Eugene Lackey,
Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope
Bruce, Marcus Spurr, William H. Hutchinson, Charles Moore
Swager, Bennett H. Young, George Scott, Caleb McDowall
Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simp-
son Gregg, and Dudley Moore, or either of them, and by whatever
name they or either of them may be known or called, and them have
before me at the office of the Sheriff in St. Albans aforesaid, there
and then to answer unto the foregoing complaint, and to be further
dealt with according to law. Fail not, but due service and return
make. Dated at St. Albans, in the County of Franklin, this twen-
tieth day of October, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight.
hundred and sixty-four.

LEONARD GILMAN,
Justice of the Peace.

STATE OF VERMONT, % St. Albans, October twentieth, in the year
Franklin County, SS. of our Lord one thousand eight hundred
and sixty-four. T hereby certify the above to be true copies of the
complaints made to me, and my account issued thereon.
LEONARD GILMAN,
[5 cent stamp.] Justice of the Peace.

STATE OF VERMONT, § I, Joseph H. Brainerd, clerk of the county

Franklin County. Court of the county of Franklin, in the
State of Vermont, which Court is a common law Court of record, do
hereby certify that Leonard Gilman, Esq., was on the twentieth day
of October, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred
and sixty-four, and still is a Justice of the Peace in and for the said
County of Franklin, duly elected and qualified to act as such mag-
Istrate ; that the signature to the foregoing certificate, purporting to
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be the signature of said Gilman, is the genuine signature of said
Gilman, and that full faith and credit ought to be given to the
official acts of said Gilman. :

In testimony whereof I have hereunto affixed the
seal of the County Court of the County of Frank-
lin aforesaid, and subscribed my name, officially,

[Seal of C.C.] at St. Albans, in said County of Franklin, this
twenty-first day of October, in the year of our
Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-
four.
[Stamp 5 cts.] JOSEPH H. BRAINERD, Clerk.

STATE OF VERMONT, | I, Asa Owen Aldis, of St. Albans, in the

Franklin County, 8S. | County of Franklin and State of Vermont,
one of the Judges of the Supreme Court of the State of Vermont,
and chief Judge of the County Court of the County of Franklin and
State of Vermont, hereby certify that Joseph H. Brainerd, whose
signature is appended and subscribed to the above certificate, is
the clerk of the said County Court of the County of Franklin afore-
said ; that I am well acquainted with and know the ignature of
the said Brainerd, and the seal of the said County Court; that the
signature subscribed to the above certificate is the genuine signa-
ture of the said Joseph H. Brainerd, and the seal affixed to the said
certificate is the seal of the said County Court, of the County of
Franklin aforesaid ; that the said Court is a common law Court of
record ; that the said Brainerd as clerk of the said County Court,
has the custody of the record of all commissions issued to Justices
of the Peace within and for the County of Franklin, and is the
proper officer by law to certity as to the election, qualification, and
authority of Justices of the Peace, acting within and for the county
of Franklin aforesaid.

In testimony whereof I have hereunto set my hand, at St. Albans,
in the County of Franklin aforesaid, this twenty-first day of October,
in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four.

ASA OWEN ALDIS,
Judge of the Supreme Court of the State of Vermont,
and Chief Judge of the County Court of the

[5 cent stamp. ] County of Franklin in the State of Vermont.
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, I’ John Gregory Smith, governor
STATE OF VERMONT, of said State of Vermont, do here-
Executive Department. by certify that the foregoing docu-

ment is authenticated according to the laws of said State, and of
the United States ; that the signatures of the respective officers
attatched to said certificates of authentication are genuine ; and
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that said officers respectively hold and exercise the offices which
they in and by said certificates purport to hold and exercise ; and
that the seal of the said County Court of the aforesaid County
of Franklin thereon, is genuine, and that full faith and credit ought

to be given to said documents and certificates. )
In witness whereof I have caused the seal of said
State to be hereto attached, and have affixed

[Seal of State of my signature hereto, at Montpelier, this thirty-
Vermont. ] first day of October, in the year of our Lord
one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four.

[5 cent stamp.] J. GREGORY SMITH.

By His Excellency the Governor,
Attest, G. W. BAILEY, Jun., Secretary of State.

Endorsed.

STATE OF VERMONT,
Versus

SQUIRE TURNER TEAVIS, CaLee McDowaLL WALLACE,
AvrAMANDA Pore Bruck, JAMES ALEXANDER Dory,
MAaRcUS SPURR, SAMUEL SIMPSON GREGE,
CHARLES MOORE SWAGER, DupLEY MOORE,

WiLLiam H. HuTcHINSON, SaMUEL EvuGENE LAckEY.
BennerT H. Young, TrHoMAS BRONSDON COLLINS.

GEORGE ScOTT,

Filed, 9th Nov., 1864.
0J.C, J.S.P



EVIDENCE

TAKEN IN THE

ST. ALBAN’S BANK CASE.

PROVINCE OF CANADA, E
District of Montreal.

The examination of Cyrus Newton Bishop, of the town of St.
Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States of
America, teller of the St. Albans bank, now in the city of Mont-
real, taken on oath this seventh day of November, in the year
of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four, at the
Police Office in the Court-house, in the city of Montreal, in the Dis-
trict of Montreal aforesaid, before the undersigned Judge of the
Sessions of the Peace in and for the said city of Montreal, in the
presence and hearing of Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner
Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George
Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alex-
ander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley
Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H.
Hutchinson, who are now charged before me, upon complaints made
under oath before me under the provisions of the Treaty between
Her Majesty the Queen, and the United States of America, and
our Statutes in that behalf made, with having committed within
the jurisdiction of the United -States of America, the following
crime mentioned in the Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen,
and the United States of America, to wit:—For that they,
the said Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Ala-
manda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George Scott, Bennett
H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty,
Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Tho-
mas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson,
on the nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of
St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States
of America, being then end there armed with certain offen-
sive weapons and instruments, to wit: pistols commonly known and
called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls and capped, in and
upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop, feloniously did make an assault and
him the said Cyrus Newton Bishop in bodily fear and in danger
of his life, then and there feloniously did put, and a certain sum of
money, to wit: to the amount of seventy thousand dollars current
money of the said United States of America, and of the value of
seventy thousand dollars current money aforesaid, of the moneys
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and property of the bank of St. Albans, a bpdy corporate, consti-
tuted and recognized by the laws of the said State of Vermont,
and the said United States of America, from the person and
custody, and possession, and against the will of the said Cyrus
Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously and violently did steal,
take, and carry away against the form of the Statutes of the said State
of Vermont, in such case made and provided, and against the peace
and dignity of the said State. The deponent Cyrus Newton Bishop
on his oath saith—On the nineteenth day of October last past, I
was fulfilling the duties of teller in a banking institution. known as
the St. Albans bank, in the town of St. Albans aforesaid, during
which day, and between the hours of three and four of the clock,
in the afternoon, two persons whom I had not known before, but
whom I have since identified and whom I now see in the Court, and
point out as two of the prisoners under examination. These two
persons are now known to me by the names of Thomas Bronsdon
Collins and Marcus Spurr, such being the names to which they
answer. At the time the said Collins and Spurr entered the said
bank upon the said nineteenth day of October last, I was behind
the counter of said St. Albans bank. They immediately advanced
towards the counter behind which I was, and each of them pointed
a revolver of a large size to my breast, I being then about three
feet distant from them. Seeing the revolvers thus presented towards
me, I sprang from behind the counter to the director’s room which
was near at hand, and attempted to close the door, but the said
Collins and Spurr having followed me, forced the door open, and
in doing so, I was struck on the forehead, and bruised, leaving a
mark which was visible for some days. After having thus forced
open the door, one of the prisoners, the said Thomas Bronsdon
Collins, laid hold of me with one hand by the collar of my coat, and
with the other presented a revolver to my head, so near that it
almost touched me. The other prisoner, Marcus Spurr, also pre-
sented a revolver to my head, at the same moment, both of them
stating that if I made any further resistance or gave any further alarm,
they would blow my brains out. I asked them what the programme
was, and they answered that they were Confederate soldiers detailed
from General Early’s army to come north, and to rob and plunder as
our soldiers were doing in the Shenandoah valley. They then asked
me where our gold.was, to which I answered we had none. They
next asked me if we had any silver, and I told .them we had. At
this moment I observed that three other persons had entered the
bank ; they were and still are unknown to me. They joined the
other two, and seemed to know each other, and acted in concert
with each other. The leader of the gang then proceeded to admin-
ister some kind of an oath to me. He compelled me to raise up my
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right hand, and called upon me to solemnly swear that I would not
give alarm or fire upon the Confederate soldiers; that is about
all I can remember of the oath in question. There was also in the
director’s room of the said bank at the time to which I have
referred to, one Martin A. Seymour, a clerk of the said bank:
revolvers were also presented at him in the director’s room by
some of the said five persons, who were then acting in concert, and
amongst whom were the said Collins and Spurr. They threatened
him, and said that if he made any resistance and gave the alarm, they
would blow his brains out also. After having thus threatened him,
the oath of which I have before spoken, was administered to him
and to me. Both of us were then detained as prisoners in the said
room, two of the said five persons acting as guard over us, with a
revolver in each hand: I was then ordered to show them the place
in which the silver was kept, and I opened the safe in the said
director’s room where the said silver was kept. So soon as I did
this, one of the five persons pulled out three bags of silver containing
about fourteen hundred dollars altogether. One of the party then
remarked that they could not carry the whole of it, upon which they
tore open the bags, and took away therefrom about four hundred
dollars of the silver they contained. Each of the said five persons
took a share of the said silver. I observed that four of these per-
sons had satchels made, I believe, of morocco, into which they put
the said silver,-as also into their pockets. During the time the
silver was thus being taken, Mr. Seymour and myself had to look
on, being threatened that if we offered any resistance, we would
have our brains blown out. After having thus taken the silver,
three of the party went into the banking room, in which there was
a safe for keeping of the bank bills of the said bank, and for the
safe keeping of other currency. Said Collins and Spurr were two
of the three said persons ; the other two remained guarding the said
Seymour and myself in the way I have already stated. From this
latter safe, the said last mentioned three persons took and carried
away a sum of money amounting as nearly as I can now state to
between seventy and eighty thousand dollars current money of the
said United States of America. About forty thousand dollars of this
amount was composed of bank bills issued by the said St. Albans
bank, about twenty-four thousand dollars in promissory notes of the
said United States, commonly called and known as greenbacks,
They also took from the said safe other sums of money composed of
bank bills issued by different banks in other States of the said
United States, but all of which was current money as aforesaid. I
now see before me in Court, twenty-four packages of bank bills,
and greenbacks which I recognize and identify as the property of
the said St. Albans bank, and which forms a part of the sum of
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money I have already stated was stolen from the said St. Albans
bank, by the said five persons, amongst whom were the said Thomas
Bronsdon Collins and Marcus Spurr, on the said nineteenth day of
October last. The said packages of bills and greenbacks are tied
each with a paper band, eighteen of the said packages are tied with
paper bands, which I recognize and identify as having been put on
the said packages before they were stolen as aforesaid. Three of
the said packages have upon them the letters ¢ B. B., cash,”’—the
Jetters ¢ B. B.” representing the name of Bradley Barlow, and the
word ¢ cash” his occupation of cashier in the said bank. Fifteen of
the packages now before me, are marked in pencilling by the
said Martin A. Seymour, with the figures ¢ 1000’? pencilled on
each, and thereby representing each package as containing one
thousand dollars. Two of the said packages are pencilled by the said
Seymour, the one with the figures «“ 500" representing it to contain
five hundred dollars, the other similarly pencilled with the figures
¢100” representing it to contain one hundred dollars. These last
mentioned packages in number seventeen, contain as per mark
bills issued by the said St. Albans bank to the amount and value
of $14,600 current money aforesaid. One of the said seventeen
packages by the said pencil mark is represented as containing one
thousand dollars of the promissory notes of the United States, com-
monly called greenbacks, and current money aforesaid. In addi-
tion to the said seventeen packages, I have now also before me
seven other packages represented by the figures in writing and
pencilling, as containing altogether fifty-eight hundred and ninety-
five dollars. One of these last packages I also observe upon it the
figures ¢ 1000”’ in pencilling by the said Martin A. Seymour, mak-
ing altogether twenty-four packages represented by their respective
marks to contain twenty-one thousand four hundred and ninety-five
dollars, which I declare tobe the property of the said St. Albansbank,.
and a part of a larger sum stolen in manner as aforesaid, from the
said bank. The said packages of bank-bills, greenbacks, are
now exhibited to me, by Guillaume Lamothe, Ksq., chief of police,
in whose possession and custody they have been placed; and I
was informed that they were taken with other sums of money
from the persons of the prisoners, but I have no personal know-
ledge of it. The amount of money stolen from the said bank,
was taken and carried away by the said five persons hereinbefore
referred to, and amongst whom were the said Thomas Bronsdon
Collins and Marcus Spurr, against my will and consent, and b

their having put me in bodily fear of my life ; and I further say,
that I believe that if I had offered any resistance to the robbery in
question, or attempted any alarm, these persons would have, as in
the event of my doing so, they had threatened to do, blown my brains
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out ; and I further believe that they would have dealt in like manner
with the said Martin A. Seymour, if he had offered any resistance
to the sald robbery. After the said five persons had entered the
bank, they turned the key of the lock of the entrance door, so as to
prevent ingress or egress; and during the time they were engaged
in robbing the bank, a knock was heard at the door, upon which
one of the sald party of five opened it, and Samuel Breck, of St.
Albans aforesaid, a merchant, entered. The moment he did so, the
person who opened the door locked it: one of the said party then
took hold of the said Breck by the collar of his coat with one hand,
presenting a revolver at him with the other. This person demanded
his money, and forced him towards the counter. The said Breck,
thereupon handed to this person a sum of money which I understood
amounted to three hundred and ninety-three dollars. A note of
the said Breck fell due that day, for five hundred dollars. I heard
Breck say to one of the said party, that his money was private pro-
perty, and I think that one of them replied, ¢ I dont care a damn for
that.”” After taking his money he was forced by the party into the
said director’s room, and there, with Seymour and myself, detained
as a prisoner. He was also told by the same persons, that if he made
any alarm, they would shoot him. After this occurrence, a boy of
seventeen or eighteen years of age, a clerk in the store of Joseph
S. Weeks, a merchant of the town of St. Albans, also knocked at
the door of the said bank, and was admitted by one of the said party ;
he was then also laid hold of by one of the said party, and forcibly
thrust into the said director’s room, and there, with the rest of us,.
kept a prisoner. Immediately after the accomplishment of this rob-
bery, and before the said five persons had left the said bank, I heard
several reports of fire arms as if discharged opposite the said bank,
and thereupon three of the said five persons left the said bank,
amongst whom were the said Collins and Spurr, and in less than
two minutes afterwards, the remaining two left the bank, also walk-
ing backwards out, and with their revolvers pointed at me, and the
others detained in said room. As soon as the bank was clear of
the said five persons, I stepped out on to the foot-walk in front of the
said bank, and as I did, I saw the several persons on horseback,
riding in a northerly direction. I judged they were between
twenty-five and thirty men; some of them discharged large revol-
vers in all directions at the citizens, as they were passing by amongst
whom were women and children. This party to which I referred
was dressed in civilian’s dress, and so also were the five persons
who committed the robbery in the said St. Albans bank. They
presented nothing in their appearance or dress to lead to the belief”
that they were soldiers, unless it was their possession of revolvers.
They all seemed to be acting in concert together, and rode off from
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the said town of St. Albans with great speed upon horses. The
money so stolen as aforesaid, was in my custody and possession, up
to the time of the said robbery. And my further examination 1s con-

tinued till to-morrow morning at at ten o’clock, and I have signed
e ° "CYRUS NEWTON BISHOP.

Sworn and taken before me this sev-
enth day of November, 1364.
Cgas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

On the eighth day of November in the year of our Lord one
thousand eight hundred and sixty-four the deponent Cyrus Newton
Bishop above named, re-appeared before me the undersigned C}larles
Joseph Coursol, Esquire, Judge of the Sessions of the Peace 1n and
for the city of Montreal, and being sworn, deposeth and saith :—
Since the close of my examination yesterday, I counted the money
contained in the twenty-four packages hereinbefore described, and
I find that they contain the amount of money already mentioned,
namely : twenty-one thousand four hundred and ninety-five dollars ;
seventeen of the said packages contain one thousand dollars each,
in bank-bills issued by the said St. Albans bank, at St. Albans
aforesaid ; another of the said packages contains eleven hundred
dollars of like bank-bills ; another five hundred dollars of the
same ; another four hundred and ninety-five of the same ; another
four hundred dollars of the same; another one hundred dollars of
the same; two other packages contain, one nine hundred, .the
other one thousand dollars in promissory notes of the said United
States, commonly called greenbacks, making altogether the said
sum of twenty-one thousand four hundred and ninety-five dollars
current money of the said United States. I further recognize
and identify as belonging to the St. Albans bank aforesaid, and
forming a part of a larger sum stolen from the said bank, on the
sald nineteenth day of October last, the sum of twenty-eight
hundred and forty dollars, being a part of a larger sum produced
by John O’Leary, a witness examined in this matter, and which
sum of money is now before me. Two thousand dollars of this
last mentioned sum is in the promissory notes of the said United
States commonly called greenbacks; the balance is composed of
bills issued by different other banks in the said United States. I
identify the said sum of money by the paper bands around the
packages in which it is contained. In addition to all the amounts of
money hereinbefore spoken of and described by me, I now identify
another sum of money produced this day by the said chief of police,
amounting to nine hundred and fifty dollars in the promissory notes
of the said United States of America, commonly called greenbacks,
ag forming a part of the money stolen from the said bank, on the
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nineteenth day of October last, and the property of the said bank.
This last sum of money I identify by the paper bands around the
packages in which it is contained, and also by the figures in pen-
ciling which are to be seen on the larger band which surrounded
all the packages and name by the figures ¢ 1000’’ which I recognize
and identify as having been put there by myself; I also recognize
upon two of the smaller paper bands which surround the smaller
packages the handwriting of Abner Forbes, cashier of the Ver-
mont Central Railroad, and upon one of the said bands, the said
Abner Forbes has written in figures ¢ 371,”” and in writing the
word ‘Hartland.”” I have a particular knowledge of this band,
because it surrounded a sum of three hundred and seventy-one
dollars, which was deposited in the said bank, before the robbery
in question, by the said Forbes; and this band so marked was
afterwards taken from the said package of three hundred and
seventy-one dollars, and put by me around a package of one hun-
dred dollars, the same which I now recognize. The second smaller
paper band I also identify by the figures ¢ 149,” and the words
W. Hartford”” written upon it, and which I recognize to be the
hand-writing of the said Abner Forbes, and which surrounded a
package of one hundred and forty-nine dollars by him also deposited
in the said bank, previous to the said robbery. After the said de
posit, I used the said band to tie the package of bills which it now
surrounds. I furtherrccognize and identify fifteen other packages of
money now produced by the said chief of police as forming a part of a
larger sum stolen from the said St. Albans bank, on the said nine-
teenth day of October last. The said packages contain altogether
twenty-six hundred and ninety-five dollars in various denomination,
some of which are promissory notes of the said United States, called
greenbacks, and other the issues of different banks in the said States.
I recognize this sum of money by the paper bands in which it is con-
tained. I identify them because I have used them in the bank.
I further identify two other packages of money now produced by the
said chief of police, containing one, one thousand dollars, the other,
nine hundred and eighty-four dollars, as forming a part of a larger
sum stolen from the said St. Albans bank on the said nineteenth day
of October last, and which is the property of the said bank. Upon
one of this last named packages, 1 observe in pencilling the figures
€1000,” and the letters ¢ B. B.” representing Bradley Barlow,
cashier of the said bank. These figures and letters, were put
there, by Martin A. Seymour, a clerk in the said bank. The other
package I recognize by the paper band surrounding it. And I
further say that, that other sums of money have been on the said
nineteenth day of October last, stolen from the said bank, which I
have not seen since the robbery in question. All the moneys which
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I have identified as having been stolen from the said bank, on the
said nineteenth day of October last, were so stolen by the said five
persons to whom I have previously referred, and among whom were
Thomas Bronsdon Collins and Marcus Spurr, two of the prisoners
now under examination, and identified, and pointed by rae.

The foregoing deposition having been read over in the presence
of the persons so charged, the deponent declares the same to con-

tain the truth and hath signed
CYRUS NEWTON BISHOP.

Sworn and acknowledged before me
at Montreal the 8th November,
1864.
Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

The foregoing deposition having been made and read in the
presence and hearing of the prisoners so above charged, they are
asked if they have any questions to put to the deponent. They
declare they have, and the following evidence is taken in Cross-
examination by Mr. Kerr the prisoners’ counsel.

I do not recollect that the persons who entered the bank in
the first instance said anything to me previous to my getting
in the director’s room. I was very much frightened when they
pointed their revolvers at me. The first thing that I recollect of
now that I asked him was, ¢ What this meant,” and what the pro-
gramme was? He then said that they were Confederate soldiers
detailed from Early’s army, to come north to rob and plunder, the
same as our soldiers were doing in the Shenandoah valley. WWhen
they took hold of my person by the collar, they said that if I
made any further resistance or gave any alarm, they would blow
my brains out. I might have asked them to spare my life, some
time during their presence there, but I cannot say positively
that I did so. Fright and confusion consequent thereon tended
to confuse my thoughts at first, still I recollect what took place
at first; I am certain that I detailed all the incidents correctly ;
I may have overlooked some however; I cannot swear that I
did not ask them to spare my life. 1 understood, when they said
that they were Confederate soldiers, that they were soldiers
from the South. North and South have been at war with each
other for some years past, and are still so. Collins told me, after
the silver was taken, that if their soldiers were not fired upon
they would not harm us. I don’t remember the whole of the
oath administered to me by Collins, because I did not stop to
study it at that time. I was willing to do anything at that time
to save my life. The initials ¢ C. N. B.,” upon the package of
one thousand dollars greenbacks, were put by me at Stanbridge,
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on or about the twenty-second day of October last; the figures
“1,000” were also put by me there. I identified said packages
at Stanbridge by the figures 1,000 in pencil on the paper
band of the said parccl, put there by Martin A. Seymour. I swear
positively that those figures are Martin A. Seymour. I iden-
tified the package of nine hundred dollars, solely by the paper
bands enveloping the small packages, of which it is composed.

do not know that there is anything very peculiar about those bands.
It is a common thing in banks to have bands of that kind round
parcels of their notes. I recognize the package of nine hundred and
eighty-four dollars, merely by the band upon the small packages it
contains, knowing that we had such money put up. The package
of ninety-five dollars in greenbacks, of different denominations,
included in the large package marked as containing two thousand
six hundred and ninety-five dollars, were loose when I first
saw them at Stanbridge, and the band was placed round them
by me. The package of five one hundred dollars greenbacks,
were also loose when I first saw them, and were banded by me
in Stanbridge. There were no distinguishing marks upon the
greenbacks so put up by me at Stanbridge, to show that they
had been the property of the St. Albans bank, and I identified
them because they were in with others upon which there was
special marks. I cannot identify the hundred dollar greenbacks
in the package by any other mean, that he was in among others
that were marked. When I came out of the bank, as mentioned
in my examination-in-chief, the parties on horseback, who had
fired pistols as I have mentioned, were at a distance of about
one quarter of a mile from me. I cannot tell how many people
there were passing the said band of men at the time I went
on the side-walk. I cannot tell how many women and children I
saw near them. I saw half-a-dozen near them. I cannot say that
I saw them firing when I came on the foot-walk, but they were
firing when I saw them in front of the bank. I saw them previous
to leaving the bank, through the window. I did not see any person
wounded by the shots fired by the party. I still swear that they
were firing at the citizens, because I saw them pointing their pistols
down to the citizens, and saw and heard them discharge their pistols.
Perhaps two minutes elapsed between the time that the last two
men left the bank and my going out. I saw the men on horseback
firing as aforesaid, previous to the two men leaving the bank. The
band had not left the town of St. Albans, when I came out on the
foot-walk. I think that the town of St. Albans extends in a
northerly direction more than one quarter of a mile from the St.
Albans bank. I was in the director’s room when the shots were
fired, and from the place I stood I could see through the banking

room into the street.
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On re-examination by M. Ritchie on the part of the prosecution
the deponent saith:—When I said, upon my cross-examination,
that the parties were soldiers from the South, I meant to say that
they claimed to be such. Immediately before the robbery of
the bank, the bank was in possession of notes of the same kind
and denomination as those referred to in my cross-examination,
and notes of those descriptions were taken away from the bank by
the parties I have spoken of.

The prisoners counsel and the counsel for the prosecution having
declared that they had no further question to put to the deponent
and this deposition having been read in the presence of the said
prisoners the deponent declares it contains the truth and hath signed.

CYRUS NEWTON BISHOP.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged
on the day, month, and year here-
inbefore mentioned before me.

CHas. J. Coursor, J.8.P.



PROVINCE OF CANADA, %

District of Montreal. POLICE COURT.

The examination of Henry Nelson Whitman, Esquire, of the
Township of Stanbrige in the District of Bedford, Justice of the
Peace taken on oath this third day of November in the year of our
Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four, at the Police
Office in the Court House, in the city of Montreal, in the District
of Montreal aforesaid, before the undersigned Judge of the Sessions
of the Peace in and for the said city of Montreal, in the presence
and hearing of Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis,
Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George Scott,
Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander
Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore,
Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H.
Hutchinson, who are now charged before me, upon complaints
made under oath before me under the provisions of the Treaty
between Her Majesty the Queen and the United States of
America, and our Statutes in that behalf made, with having com-
mitted within the jurisdiction of the United States of America,
the following crime mentioned in the Treaty between Her Majesty
the Queen, and the United States of America, to wit:—For
that they, the said Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner
Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George
Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alex-
ander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley
Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr and William H.
Hutchinson, on the nineteenth day of October last past, at the town
of St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States
of America, and within the jurisdiction of the said United States of
America, being then and there armed with certain offensive
weapons and instruments, to wit, pistols commonly called revolvers,
loaded with powder and balls and capped, in and upon one Albert
Sowles, feloniously did make an assault, and him, the said Albert,
Sowles, in bodily fear, and in danger of his life, did then and there
put; and a certain sum of money, to wit, to the amount of nine thou-
sand dollars current money of the said United States of America,
and of the value of nine thousand dollars current money afore-
said ; also certain valuable securities, to wit, certain United States
Treasury Notes to the amount and value of twenty-nine thou-
sand six hundred and fifty dollars current money aforesz}id; certain
promisory notes of the United States of America, bearing five per
cent. interest, called five per cent. legal tenders, to the amount
and value of fourteen thousand dollars; and certain promisory
notes of the said United States of America, called five per cent.
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compound interest notes, to the amount and value of one thousand
dollars current money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the
First National Bank of St. Albans, at St. Albans aforesaldr‘jg'
body corporate, constituted and recognized by the laws of the sal
United States of America,—from the person, custody, and posses-
ion, and against the will, of the said Albert Sowles, and 10 ]l:lS
presence, then and there, feloniously and violently, did ste{tl, take,
and carry away, against the form of the Statutes of the said State
of Vermont, in such case made and provided, and against the
peace and dignity of the said State. _ .

This deponent, Henry Nelson Whitman, on his oath saith:—I
recognize among the prisoners, now in Court, the following, naming
themselves respectively,—Samuel Eugene Lackey, Marcus Spurr,
James Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Alamanda Pope Bruce,
and Thomas Brondson Collins. I first saw four of them, viz.: Samuel
Eugene Lackey, Marcus Spurr, Alamanda Pope Bruce, and Thomas
Brownston Collins, at Stanbridge, aforesaid, during the night of
the 19th, and, to the best of my knowledge, about one o’clock on
the morning of the 20th day of October last past. Two of them,
namely, Bruce and Spurr, were in bed, at a tavern kept in the
village of Stanbridge, by one William Elder ; and I made prisoners
of them, and put keepers over them. The prisoner, Collins, came
into Henry Bacon’s hotel, in Stanbridge East, between twelve
and one o’clock in that night. I was in the hotel at the time, and
ordered him into custody, and placed keepers over him and the
prisoner, Samuel Eugene Lackey, was arrested on the side-walk
near Mr. Bacon’s hotel. He was also arrested by my orders, in
my presence, and brought into Mr. Bacon’s hotel. = They were all
dressed in common civilians’ dress. The two others, namely, James
Alexander Doty and Joseph McGrorty, were arrested by me the
following night, that is to say about two o’clock in the morning, of
the 21st day of October last. They were then sleeping in a barn,
in the first Concession of Dunham, in the same district ; they were
also dressed in civilians’ clothes. These two last men were armed,
each having a Colt revolver. The first two, namely, Bruce and
Spurr, were also armed when arrested, having each two revolvers,
The remaining two prisoners, before named, were not armed.
These persons so arrested had their clothes spotted with mud
and some of them having even mud on their faces, having thé
appearance of persons who had travelled rapidly over mudd
roads. I adopted the precaution of searching the whole of thege
men when they were arrested, telling them they were arrested for
robbing the St. Albans bank. I found money upon all of thep -
their pockets were all filled. Upon the arrest of the said Bruce and
Spurr, at Elder’s tavern, the following packages of money, to wit, one
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package of bank bills of the St. Albans bank, containing one thou-
sand dollars, and marked on the cover with the initials, ¢ C. N. B.,”
being the initials of Cyrus Newton Bishop, the teller of the St.
Albhns bank ; another package of bank bills of the same bank, of
the denomination of twenties, bearing also on the cover the initials of
Mr. Bishop ; also another package of United States notes, com-
monly called greenbacks, to the amount of nine hundred dollars, like-
wise counted and bearing the initials of Mr. Bishop, and another
package of the same, to the amount of one thousand dollars ; another
package of bank bills of the St. Albans bank, to the amount of one
thousand dollars, and initialed on the cover, as above stated ; anoth-
er package of bank bills of the same bank, to the amount of one
thousand dollars, marked on the cover in the same manner; another
package of bills of the same bank, to the amount of one thousand
dollars, likewise initialed on the back ; another package of hills of
the same bank, of the denomination of fifties, to the amount of one
thousand dollars, likewise marked on the cover ; also another pack-
age, containing one thousand dollars of bills, of the same bank ;
eleven other packages of bills of the same bank, each containing
one thousand dollars, and marked in the same way on the back ;
also a package of bills of the same bank, to the amount of five
hundred dollars ; another package of the same, to the amount of
four hundred dollars ; another of the same, to the amount of four
hundred and ninety-five dollars ; another of the same, to the amount
of one hundred dollars. Many of the packages had no bands on
them, and others had, and Mr. Bishop put new bands on them,
and marked them, having counted them ; and likewise a package of
United States Treasury notes, commonly called seven and three-
tenths Treasury notes, to the amount of fourteen thousand eight hun-
dred dollars. The said Bruce and Spurr, as I have stated, were in
bed. When I entered their bed-room, they were sleeping together
in the same bed. These packages of money and Treasurynotes I took
out of the pockets of their coats and trousers, and some packages I
took loose under their pillows, from under their heads; and I also
found in their pockets a few dollars in American half dollars.
These packages of bank bills, and treasury notes, and silver I have
now handed to Guillame Lamothe, Esq., chief of police, order by
of the judge of sessions. I found upon the prisoners, Lackey and
Collins, when I searched them in Mr. Bacon’s hotel : two packages
of bank-bills of American banks : one containing nineteen hundred
and eighty-four dollars, in the other package, including green-
backs and New England bills, to the amount of two thousand six
hundred and ninety-five dollars, which I now hand over to the
said chief of police, by order of the judge of sessions.qThey had
these packages of money and greenbacks in their pockets. I found
c
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upon the prisoners, James Alexander Doty and Joseph }IcGrorty ;
upon my arresting them in the barn, packages of bank-bills, oné 9
which packages now produced by me, contains five thous§md tW((i’
hundred and sixty dollars; another package of bank-bills an
greenbacks, marked as containing three thousand and s1xty—ﬁve
dollars ; another package of bank-bills, marked as containing
seventeen hundred dollars; one package principally greenbacks,
and a few bank-bills, marked as containing fourteen hundred dollars;
one St. Albans bank bill for twenty dollars ; and twelve hundred
dollars of United States five-twenty bonds, which I now produce and
hand over to the said chief of police, by order of the judge of ses-
sions. I found these packages of money and United States notes
in the pockets of the said Doty and McGrorty, when I so searched
them in the said barn.

And my further examination is continued till to-morrow morning

at ten o’clock, and I have signed
H. N. WHITMAN.

Sworn and taken before me this 3
3rd day of November, 1864. |
CHas. J. CoursorL, J.S.P.

And on this day the fifth day of November in the year of our
Lord.one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four, the above depon-
ent Henry Nelson Whitman appears before the undersigned Charles
Joseph Coursol, Esquire, Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and
for the city of Montreal and having been sworn in the presence of
the above named prisoners deposeth and saith :

Upon the arrest of the prisoners, Bruce and Spurr, at William
Elder's tavern, I found in their possession four revolvers, which
I suppose to be of Colt’s manufactory, each revolver being
cqvered with leather belts or holsters. These revolvers I now
produce, and they are in the same state now as when I found
them in the possession of the said Bruce and Spurr. They had
them under their pillows in the bed they were sleeping in.
Each revolver had six chambers, some of them loaded and cap-
ped, and a few of them having the appearance of having been
discharged. These revolvers I now mark with my initials on the
belts for the purpose of identification, and now hand them over to
the chief of police, by order of the judge of session. T found no
arms upon the prisoner Collins, nor upon the prisoner Lackey. I
found, upon the arrest of the prisoners, Doty and McGrorty, in the
barn, and under their clothing thrown upon the hay, two re;rolvers
of a similar description, contained each in a leather belt, and I now
produce them in the same state as I found them, and I now mark
them in tft same manner for identification, and give them to the
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said chief of police, by the same order. These revolvers are also
loaded, and almost all the chambers are capped. From Stanbridge
East to St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, there is a direct road,
and the distance is about twenty-five miles, and from the place
where Doty and McGrorty were arrested to St. Albans, there is
about the same distance ; but the barn, where they were secreted,
is about a distance of eighty rods from the road leading from
Stanbridge to Dunham Flats. I took possession of the revolvers,
as well as of all the money I found in the possession of the said
prisoners, and kept them safely until I produced them before this
Court. When I arrested the said Bruce and Spurr, one of them
asked me whether I was a British officer, and I answered that I
was a magistrate, and that I arrested them for robbing the St.
Albans banks. One of them, whom I believe to be Bruce, said, we
are Confederate soldiers, and that the money they had captured from
St. Albans, was in retaliation for the destruction of private property
by Sheridan, in the Shenandoah valley. At the time this conver-
sation took place, I had taken possession of the money found upon
them. They then asked me to telegraph to C. C. Clay, at Montreal,
to inform him that they were captured, and to do his best for them.
They refused giving their names to me. I informed them tha.
there was no telegraphic communication from that place ; that the

would as soon get an answer by letters, and the next day the

wrote a letter, addressed, as I believe, to C. C. Clay. They told
me that the said Clay was a Confederate agent at Montreal. The
bank bills, spoken of by me, and which I found in their possession,
they botlr acknowledged to have taken out of the banks at St.
Albans. In conversing with me, while they were in my charge,
they also told me how they got away from St. Albans. They were
both together in the same room with me at Elder’s tavern. The

said they had taken horses wherever they could find them in St.
Albans ; had put blankets on, and that many had no saddles on ;
and that they rode off to Canada, and that having no saddles, were
badly chafed for riding so long; that when they got to Canada,
they had abandoned their horses, in order to avoid pursuit. The
morning following their arrest I found three horses loose, on the main
road, without saddles or bridles. I secured them, and they were
shortly afterwards claimed by their owners, residents of St. Albans.
This is about all Bruce and Spurr said to me ; and I made use of no
threats, nor held out any inducements to them to make such state-
ments ; they were freely and voluntarily made. Upon the arrest
of the prisoner Collins, and during the time he was in my charge,
he made similar statements to me as those made by the other
prisoners, as also did the prisoner Lackey. The prisoners Dot

and McGrorty made to me similar statements, and admitted that
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the bank bills and securities taken from them, and produced by me
before this Court, had been taken by them from the St. Albans'
banks, with the exception of some small change in their wallet,
which they said were their private moneys, and which I have this
day returned to them, by order of the judge of the sessions. The
statements of the four last prisoners referred to, were also voluntarily
and freely made. Two or three days elapsed between the period
of the first arrest and my handing over the six prisoners to the
judge of sessions. They did not tell me where they had got their
arms. Part of the last day these prisoners were in my custody, I
had them all together in one room. They appeared to me to know
each other very well, and seemed to be very glad to meet.
Previously I kept them separate—two at one tavern, and -two at
another ; and it was at their own special request to be permitted
to meet together in one room, that I granted that request. I re-
member saying in the presence of, I believe, four of them, that
they had shot two or three persons in St. Albans, namely, C. H.
Huntingdon and one Morrison, and that it was not expected that
the said Morrison would live. They said that they were sorry, and
that their orders were not to take life, except in their own self-
defence. They all admitted to me that there were twenty-one of
them altogether at St. Albans.

The foregoing deposition having been read in the presence of
the prisoners so charged the deponent declares the same to contain
the truth and hath signed

H. N. WHITMAN.

Sworn before me at Montreal, this
oth November, 1864. }

Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

The following answers given upon Cross-examination by Mr.
Kerr, counsel for the prisoners and in their presence.

Nothing but a verbal complaint, not on oath, had been made
to me previous to my arresting the six prisoners mentioned in my
examination-in-chief.  This complaint was made to me hetween
eleven and twelve o’clock at mght by one Smith and Holmes.
They told me there was a band on the way to this place, that is
Stanbridge, who had robbed the banks at St. Albans. and shot
men down in the streets. I said then there was no tirr,le to make
out any writings, but I would proceed in person to arrest them
for I would not delegate any other person to arrest them forZ
fear they vyould abuse that power. I supposed at that tin,1e I
had authority under the Treaty Act, but I have since learned it
has been amended. I was informed by the parties who gave me
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the information that the band of men who had robbed the banks
must have in their possession a large amount of bank notes and
securities, and the people of St. Albans were in pursuit of them.
The said men did not tell me that the persons who had taken the
money from the banks had declared that they were Confederate
soldiers. I did not think about the money when I determined upon
going to superintend the business, but I fancied that there might
be some infraction of our laws by them, or the party in pursuit.
About six men were with me when I entered Bruce and Spurr’s
room in Elder’s tavern. They were those whom I had called upon
to assist me. The money was taken from them in the bed-room.
Some of it I took out of their pockets, and the other was taken
from under their pillows, by a man of the name of Martindale, in
my presence, and handed over to me immediately. I took it right
over to the bank and had it counted by the director of the bank.
I helped him do so, and one Mr. Blynn, a magistrate, also helped
him. It was then rolled up and sealed in their presence. I think
it was a little after two o’clock in the morning when the prisoners
Bruce and Spurr were arrested. I do not think that half an hour
had elapsed between their arrest and the counting of the money.
Mr. Blynn accompanied me to the bank from Elders; C. H.
Baker also. I did not count the money in the presence of the
prisoners from whom it was taken. A person of the name of Knight
who assisted me handcuffed the prisoners Bruce and Spurr. The
next day I took handcuffs from two of the prisoners at Elder’s
and told Mr. Knight to take them off from the others. Collins
was taken in Bavon’s hotel, and was searched in a room. Soon
after his arrest I went to arrest some more, but as they had gone
away I went back to the room where I had left Collins under
keepers, and as I entered the room some one had commenced pull-
ing the money out of their pockets and laying it upon the table. I
told them to stop for I must see from whom it is taken, and this
money must be kept by itself. I then continued the search myself
in person, and got what I supposed to be all he had ; but found on
the next day three one hundred dollar bills, which he, Collins,
handed out to me, stating at the time, it was his private funds. I
got from Collins in bills and greenbacks the amount of two thousand
six hundred and ninety-five dollars. When I first saw Collins he
had a satchel about his shoulders. When I returned and saw the
men in taking the money out of Collins’ pockets, he, (Collins,) I
believe, complained that money had been taken by scme of the
men from his satchel.

Question.—Did you or did E. C. Knight arrest the prisoners
Bruce and Spurr ?

Answer.—I had previously sent for Mr. Knight to come and
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assist me to arrest those men. He, and four or five others, went
with me up to the door where they were sleeping. Knight went
to knock at the door, and I ordered him away from the door.
Another person, I think Martindale, burst the door, and he,
Martindale, Cross, and I went in first, and the rest that were with
me followed, and I told the prisoners that they were arrested for
robbing the St. Albans banks; Martindale laid his hand upon them
first, and then Knight jumped upon the bed and put handcuffs
on them. I took some money in a roll from Colling’ sat.cl}el.
The two packages of notes now produced, marked as containing
one, two thousand six hundred and ninety-five dollars, was taken
from Collins’ pocket ; and the other, marked as containing nineteen
hundred and eighty-four dollars, was taken from Lackey’s pockets.
The money I took from Collins’ satchel is included in the package
marked as containing two thousand six hundred and ninety-five
dollars. The reason that the prisoners assigned for not giving me
their names was that they were of respectable parentage, and that
they did not wish their names to go back to their friends as having
connection in this raid, and for the reason that it would give their
friends unpleasant feelings. I swear that I have produced all the
moneys and other effects either taken by me from the prisoners, or
delivered to me by other people as having been taken from the
prisoners, with the exception of a satchel. The prisoners’ counsel
declares having no further questions; and this deposition having
been read in the presence and hearing of the said prisoners, the
deponent declares it contains the truth, and hath signed
(Signed) H. N. WHITMAN.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged

before me, on the day, month,

and year, and at the place, here-

inbefore mentioned.

(Signed) CHas. J. Coursor; J.S.P.
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PROVINCE OF CANADA, %

District of Montreal. POLICE COURT.

Examination of John O’Leary, of the city of Montreal, in the
District of Montreal, detective police officer, taken on oath this Tth
day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight
hundred and sixty-four, at the Police Office in the Court-house, in
the city of Montreal, in the District of Montreal aforesaid, before
the undersigned Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the
said city of Montreal, in the presence and hearing of Samuel
Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce,
Charles Moore Swager, Geeorge Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb
McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty,
Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins,
Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, who are now charged
before me, upon complaints made under oath before me under the
provisions of the Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen, and the
United States of America, and our Statutes in that behalf made,
with having committed within the jurisdiction of the United States
of America, the following crime mentioned in the Treaty between
Her Majesty the Queen, and the United States of America, to wit:—
For that they, the said Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner
Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George
Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alex-
ander Doty, Joseph MeGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley
Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and Wilham H.
Hutchinson, on the nineteenth day of October last past, at the town
of St. Albans,in the State of Vermont, one of the United States of
Anmerica, being then and there armed with certain offensive weapons
and instruments, to wit: pistols commonly known and called revol-
vers, loaded with powder and balls and capped, in and upon one
Cyrus Newton Bishop, feloniously did make an assault and him the
said Cyrus Newton Bishop in bodily fear and in danger of his life,
then and there feloniously did put, and a certain sum of money, to
wit: to the amount of seventy thousand dollars current money of
the said United States of America, and of the value of seventy
thousand dollars current money aforesaid, of the moneys and pro-
perty of the bank of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted and
recognized by the laws of the said State of Vermont, and the said
United States of America, from the person and custody, and pos-
session, and against the will of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then
and there feloniously and violently did steal, take, and carry away
against the form of the Statutes of the said State of Vermont, in such
case made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the
said State. The deponent, Jokn O’ Leary, upon his oath deposeth
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and saith: On the twentieth of October last, I arrested one of the
prisoners, who now gives his name as George Scott, and who is under
examination at Farnham, which is distant from St. Johns in the
District of Iberville, about nineteen miles. I was out there by
the instruction of the chief of police, Mr. Lamothe, to arrest, if I
could, the persons who had broken into the banks of St. Albans,
aforesaid ; and it was whilst I was on duty there that I arrested the
said Scott. At the time I arrested him he was in the railroad
station, and after his arrest I put him in the custody of William
Donohue, a sergeant of the government police force of the city of
Montreal ; but before I made him my prisoner, I asked if he was
from Montreal, and he said he was. I then asked him from
what part of Montreal ; he said that he resided at the head of St.
Dominique street ; I asked if he knew any person there,and he said
he did not. I then asked him if he knew me, and he replied he did
not ; upon which I called him outside, and told him, that I was a
detective officer from Montreal ; I then searched him, and found in
his possession the sum of two thousand eight hundred and fifty-nine
dollars and thirty-one cents, composed of promissory notes of the
United States of America (commonly called greenbacks),bank bills
issued by different banks in the said United States, gold and silver
coin, and one dollar and eighty cents in the postal currency of the said
States, and five cents and one penny of Canadian currency which I
now produce at this examination. After taking possession of this
money, I counted it, and havingsealed it in a paper package, I tied it
in a pocket handkerchief, and delivered it to Guillaume Lamothe,
Esq., chief of police. On Saturday last, the fifth of Novemberinstant,
I received the said package from the said chief of police, sealed
and tied in the manner and form as it was when I delivered it to
him. I then opened the said package in the presence of Cyrus
Newton Bishop, now present, for the purpose of letting him see its
contents with a view to its identity, after which I put my private
mark upon it, and again handed it over to the said chief of police,
from whom I have this day received it in the same order and con-
dition in which it was when I gave it to him upon the said fifth
instant, and it has upon it the private mark of which I have Just
spoken. At the ‘time I arrested the said Scott, I asked him  his
name, and he told me it was George Williams : I told him then that
I arrested him upon suspicion of his having been one of the persons
who had broke into the banks, at St. Albans, aforesaid; he replied
that he was a Confederate soldier, and requested our protection.
When I accused him of having broken into the banks of St. Albans,
he neither admitted or denied having done so. He was dressed in
civilian’s clothes and appeared to be much fatigued. He had no
fire-arms about him, but had a map of Canada. The prisoner, who
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now gives his name as George Scott, is the same person whom I
arrested in Farnham, and who gave me his name as George Williams,
and whom I put into the custody of said sergeant William Donohue.

The foregoing deposition having been read over in the presence
of the prisoners so charged, the deponent declares the same to con-
tain the truth, and hath signed.

(Signed) JOHN O’LEARY.

Sworn before me at Montreal, this
7th November, 1864.
Cuas. J. Coursor, J.8.P.

The following evidence is given upon cross-examination, by Mr.
Laflamme, counsel for the prisoners, and in their presence :

The prisoner Scott did not to my knowledge claim any portion of
the money taken by me from him as aforesaid as his private pro-

erty.

¥ Tge prisoners counsel declare having no further questions to put
to the deponent, and this deposition having been read in the pre-
sence of the said prisoners, the deponent declares it contains the
truth, and hath signed.

JOHN O’LEARY.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged, on the
day, month, and year, hereinbefore
mentioned, before me.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursoy, J.8.P.
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The examination of Roswell Albert Ellis, of the village of Wa’ger-
100, in the County of Shefford, in the District of Bedford, Esquire,
Justice of the Peace, now in the city of Montreal, taken on oath
this eighth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-four, at the Police Office in the Court-house,
in the city of Montreal, in the District of Montreal aforesaid, before
the undersigned Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the
said City of Montreal, in the presence and hearing of Samuel
Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce,
Charles Moore Swager, George Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb
McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty,
Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins,
Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, who are now charged
before me, upon complaints made under oath before me under the
provisions of the Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen, and the
United States of America, and our Statutes in that behalf made,
with having committed within the jurisdiction of the United States
of America, the following crime mentioned in the Treaty between
Her Majesty the Queen, and the United States of America, to wit:
—PFor that they, the said Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner
Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George
Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alex-
ander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley
Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H.
Hutchinson, on the nineteenth day of October last past, at the town
of St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States
of America, being then and there armed with certain offensive wea-
pons and instruments, to wit: pistols commonly known and called
revolvers, loaded with powder and ball and capped, in and upon
one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did make an assault, and him
the said Cyrus Newton Bishop in bodily fear and in danger of his
life, then and there feloniously did put, and a certain sum of money,
to wit: to the amount of seventy thousand dollars current money
of the said United States of America, and of the value of seventy
thousand dollars current money aforesaid, of the moneys and pro-
perty of the bank of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted and
recognized by the laws of the said State of Vermont, and the said
United States of America, from the person and custody, and pos-
sesssion, and against the will of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop,
then and there feloniously and violently did steal, take, and carry
away against the form of the Statutes of the said State of Vermont,
in such case made and provided, and against the peace and dignity
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of the said State. The deponent, Roswell Albert Ellis, upon his oath
deposeth and saith :—About three o’clock on the morning of the
twenty-first day of October last past, I was informed that a person
suspected of being engaged in the St. Albans raid was stopping
at Hall’s hotel, at the railroad station, in Waterloo aforesaid ; at
about six o’clock on the same morning, I found this person in the
railroad cars, having taken passage for Montreal, and I now see
him, and recognize him by the name of Dudley Moore, as one of
the prisoners here under examination ; I arrested the said Moore
and caused him to be taken to Hall’s hotel. A short time after-
wards, about ten minutes, the money contained in the package
which I now have before me, was handed to me by Edward Lang-
ley, in presence of Charles S. Martin, a bailiff, who took the said
Dudley Moore, and also in presence of David Frost, junior. After
receiving the money, I counted it in the presence of these persons,
and found that it amounted to nine hundred and fifty dollars, and
was contained in ten packages, nine of which contained one hun-
dred dollars each, the other fifty. The said ten packages were
tied together with a paper band. I was also handed by either the
said Langley or Martin a small wallet, which is now produced, and
which I found contained a fifty dollar promissory note, of the said
United States of America, commonly called greenbacks; there
was also a ten dollar note issued by the Confederate States. The
sald nine hundred and fifty dollars, which I received from the said
Langley, consists altogether of promissory notes of the United
States, commonly called greenbgcks. After having, as already
stated, counted the said money, I rolled it in a handkerchief, put 1t
up in a paper parcel, sealed it, and delivered it to the said Charles S.
Martin ; 1t is the same parcel which has this moment been placed
in my hands by Guillaume Lamothe, Esq., Chief of Police, and I
find 1t in the same order and condition in which it was when I deliv-
ered it to the said Charles S. Martin, and containing the amount of
money which I counted and put up in the same. Upon the twenty-
first day of October last aforesaid, I put the said Dudley Moore
into the custody of Charles Hibbard, a bailiff, to be by him con-
veyed to St. Johns gaol ; but before he left I had a conversation
with the said Moore, respecting the said raid ; he stated to me in
the course of our conversation that he was engaged in the raid,
that he did not go into any of the St. Albans banks, but that he
acted as a guard on the outside for those that did go in. At the
same time that I received the said sum of money, I also received
from the said Langley and Martin three loaded revolvers, which I
afterwards returned to the said Martin; the prisoner was dressed
in civilian’s clothes. When the prisoner stated to me that he had
been on guard outside the bank in St. Albans, I did not hold out
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to him any inducement to make such statement, nor did I use any
threats ; the admission by him was entirely voluntarily.

The foregoing deposition having been read over in the presence
of the prisoners so charged, the deponent declares the same to con-
tain the truth, and hath signed.

R. A. ELLIS.
Sworn before me at Montreal,
this 8th November, 1864.
(Signed) CHas. J. Coursor, J.8.P.

The foregoing deposition having been made and read in the pre-
sence and hearing of the prisoners, Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire
Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager,
George Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James
Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg,
Dudley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and
William H. Hutchinson, are asked if they have any questions *o
put to the deponent, and the following evidence is given in cross-
examination in presence of the prisoners, by their counsel, Mr.
Abbott :

I arrested the said Moore on verbal information; no infor-
mation upon oath was made before me; two young men, named
Manson and Farmer, gave me information that there was a
young man at Hall’s hotel that they suspected of being one
of the raiders, because he had offered his horse for sale for twenty-
five dollars of the United States money. It was upon this infor-
mation given verbally that I went and arrested the prisoner. Idid
not search him, but he was searched before I got over to the hotel.
I got what was said to be found upon him from Mr. Langley. I
got nothing at all from himself. There was a five dollars in gold in
the wallet, and I saw a pocket knife, but did not take it in my pos-
session. The wallet I speak of is the one mentioned in my exami-
nation-in-chief ; I think Martin took the pocket-knife along with the
pistol. The five dollars in gold are now in the wallet. The pri-
soners’ counsel, Mr. Abbott, having declared he had no further
questions to put to the deponent, this examination is closed.

(Signed), R. A. ELLIS.

Montreal, 8th November, 1864.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.



PROVINCE OF CANADA, }

District of Montreal. POLICE COURT.

The examination of Greorge Edwin Fairchild, of the town of
St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States of
America, merchant’s clerk, now in the city of Montreal, taken on
oath this 8th day of November, in the year of our Lord one thou-
sand eight hundred and sixty-four, at the Police Office in the Court-
house, in the city of Montreal,in the District of Montreal aforesaid,
before the undersigned Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and
for the said city of Montreal, in the presence and hearing of Samuel
Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce,
Charles Moore Swager, George Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb
McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty,
Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins,
Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, who are now charged
before me, upon complaints made under oath before me under the
provisions of the Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen, and the
Uuited States of America, and our Statutes in that behalf made,
with having committed within the jurisdiction of the United States
of America, the following crime mentioned in the Treaty between
Her Majesty the Queen, and the United States of America, to wit :
—For that they, they said Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner
Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George
Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alex-
ander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley
Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H.
Hutchinson, on the nineteenth day of October last past, at the town
of St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States
of America, being then and there armed with certain offensive
weapons and Instruments, to wit: pistols commonly known and
called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls and capped, in and
upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop, feloniously did make an assault and
him the said Cyrus Newton Bishop in bodily fear and in danger of
his life, then and there feloniously did put, and a certain sum of
money, to wit: to the amount of seventy thousand dollars current
money of the said United States of America, and of the value of
seventy thousand dollars current money aforesaid, of the moneys and
property of the bank of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted
and recognized by the laws of the said State of Vermont, and the
said United States of America, from the person and custody, and
possession, and against the will of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop,
then and there feloniously and violently did steal, take, and carry
away against the form of the Statutes of the said State of Vermont,
in such case made and provided, and against the peace and dignity

o
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of the said State. The deponent, George Edwin Fairchild, upon
his oath deposeth and saith: I was at St. Albans aforesaid, on the
19th day of October last past; I saw no one shot, and saw no acts
of violence by the men in arms. Between the hours of three
and four of the clock on that day, I was standing at a distance of
about ten or fifteen rods from the said St. Albans bank, when I
saw about twenty men armed with revolvers. They were all on
horseback, with the exception of two or three, who seemed as if
they were looking for horses. One of the party so armed and on
horseback approached me, and demanded from Edward Nettleton,
who was then in conversation with me, his hat. He demanded it
a second time, at the same moment drew two revolvers, when the
said Nettleton replied that he could not have his hat. This person
who demanded it said he wanted it for one of his party who had
lost his hat. Nettleton was next told by the person demanding
his hat, that unless he gave it to him damned quick he would shoot
him, and then cocked both revolvers, and pointed them at said
Nettleton. At this moment he was within six feet of tim. Nettleton,
seeing the revolvers cocked, put his hand under his coat as if with
the intention of drawing an arm therefrom. Upon seeing this, the
gentleman on horseback asked first if he had any arms, and also
to show him the inside of his coat, remarking at the same time that
if he did not he would shoot him through. My further exami-
nation is continued till to-morrow morning at ten o’clock, and I
have signed

GEORGE E. FAIRCHILD.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,
before me, on the day, month,
and year, and at the place }
aboved mentioned.
(Signed) Cuas. J. CoursgL, J.S.P.

On the 9th day of November, in the year of our Lord one thou-
sand eight hundred and sixty-four, the deponent above named re-
appear before me, the undersigned Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire,
Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal,
and being resworn, deposeth and saith: I then told Nettleton
not to stand an insult. At this the man on horseback pointed his
revolvers at me, and asked me if I had any arms with me. I told
him I had none; and I hoped he would not shoot an unprotected
person. At this moment another of the party, the one who needed
the hat, rode up and presented two revolvers at the said Nettleton,
telling the other person on horseback not to parley, but to shoot the
damned cuss. At this time there was a cry for help from one of
their party, upon which the two persons referred to rode off in the
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direction where help was called for. I now recognize and point
out as having been among the army party, I saw at St. Albans
aforesaid, on the said 19th day of October last, five of the prisoners
now under examination, who give their names as Bennett H. Young,
Charles Moore Swager, Joseph McGrorty, Caleb McDowall Wallace,
and George Scott. These five persons I saw on horseback, armed
each with two revolvers. The two first persons to whom I have
referred, and who presented revolvers at said Nettleton and myself,
were and still are unknown to me. One of these two persons was
called the Captain. After he had left Nettleton and myself, I next
saw him at about two rods from the St. Albans bank, where nearly
the whole party had assembled, numbering from fifteen to twenty.
They were all on horseback, armed with revolvers. I then heard
the person called Captain call upon them to form line, which they
did, but not very regularly.

After having done so, the five prisoners whom I have pointed out
and identified fired several shots at the citizens. At the time the
line of which I have spoken was being formed, I saw Captain Conger,
a citizen of St. Albans, approaching this party of armed men, with
a gun in his hand, followed by a few other citizens of the place.
He apparently was trying to fire a gun at them, but could not get
it off. It was then nearly four o’clock in the afternoon. After the
armed party, amongst whom were the said five prisoners identified
by me, had fired two or three rounds each, their horses became un-
manageable and they headed: off in different directions. At the mo-
ment I saw one of the party, and the only one, on foot. The person
called Captain, seeing this man without a horse, rode up to Fuller’s
livery stable and ordered Mr. Fuller’s saddler to lead a horse that
was then standing there to the said person belonging to his party
who had not, as yet, got one. The saddler did as he was ordered and
led the horse called for and gave him to the said person whom I have
spoken of as having been on foot. The so-called Captain accom-
panied the saddler from the livery stable, keeping the revolver pointed
at him until the said horse was givenup. After this occurrence,there
was a considerable confusion in the street, created by the said armed
party and the citizens. Shots were fired in different directions by
this armed party. After this, I saw the said armed party riding
off from the said town of St. Albans. They were the same party
I saw at the said St. Albans bank. They acted in concert with
each other from the beginning to the end. They were all dressed
in civilian’s clothes. I know that the St. Albans bank aforesaid is
a banking institution, doing business at St. Albans aforesaid.

The conduct of the said armed party at the said St. Albans bank,
and elsewhere in the said town of St.'Albans, was such as to put
the citizens in fear of their lives. I know that they put me in fear
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of losing my life. All the circumstances hereinbefore detailed by
me took place at St. Albans aforesaid, between the hours of three
and four of the clock on the said 19th day of October last past
aforesaid. When I said that I saw no act of violence committed,
I meant that I saw none actually shot or wounded.

The foregoing deposition having been read over in the presence
of the prisoners so charged, the deponent declares the same to

contain the truth, and hath signed
GEORGE E. FAIRCHILD.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,
before me, on the day, month,
and year, and at the place here- F
in before mentioned.

J
(Signed) CHas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

The foregoing deposition having been made and read in the pre-
sence of the prisoners, they are asked if they have questions to put
to the deponent, and they declare by their counsel, Mr. Kerr, that
they have, and the following evidence is taken in cross-examination.

I did not see townspeople fire upon the party. Captain Conger
was the only man I saw.

The prisoners counsel declare having no further questions to put
to the deponent, and this deposition having been read in the pre-
sence of the sald prisoners, the deponent declares it contains the
truth, and hath signed ‘
GEORGE E. FAIRCHILD.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,
on the day, month, year, and at
the place above mentioned.
(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA, g POLICE COURT.

District of Montreal. A SN

The examination of Edmund Conant Knight, of the township of
Stanbridge, in the District of Bedford, bailiff, now in the city of
Montreal, taken on oath this ninth day of November, in the year of
our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four, at the Police
Office in the Court-house in the city of Montreal, in the District of
Montreal aforesaid, before the undersigned Judge of the Sessions of
the Peace in and for the said city of Montreal, in the presence and
hearing of Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alaman-
der Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George Scott, Bennett
H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty,
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Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas
Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, who
are now charged before me, upon complaints made under oath
before me under the provisions of the Treaty between Her Majesty
the Queen, and the United States of America, and our Statutes
in that behalf made, with having committed within the jurisdiction
of the United States of America, the following crime mentioned in
the Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen, and the United States
of America, to wit:—For that they, the said Samuel Eugene
Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles
Moore Swager, George Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall
Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simp-
son Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr,
and William H. Hutchinson, on the nineteenth day of October-last
past, at the town of St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of
United States of America, being then and there armed with certain
offensive weapons and instruments, to wit: pistols commonly known
and called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls and capped, in
and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did make an assault,
and him the said Cyrus Newton Bishop in bodily fear and in danger
of his life, then and there feloniously did put, and a certain sum of
money, to wit: to the amount of seventy thousand dollars current
money of the said United States of America, and of the value of
seventy thousand dollars current money aforesaid, of the moneys and
property of the bank of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted
and recognized by the laws of the said State of Vermont, and the
said United States of America, from the person and custody, and
possession, and against the will of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop,
then and there feloniously and violently did steal, take, and carry
away against the form of the Statutes of the said State of Vermont,
in such case made and provided, and against the peace and
dignity of the said State. The deponent Edward Conant Knight,
upon his oath deposeth and saith: At about three o’clock in
the morning of the twentieth day of October last past, I arrested
two of the prisoners, Spurr and Bruce, at Elder’s hotel in Stanbridge.
They were in bed. I went to the door of the room where they were,
and I found it bolted. Martin Rice, of Stanbridge, was with me, also
one Cross, C. W. Martindale, and Irwin Briggs. There were others
present, but those were all that I called to assist me. Mr. Whitman
and Mr. Blynn, magistrates, were also present. I and my party
entered the room, and the magistrates came afterwards. Iimmedi-
ately jumped into the bed where the prisoners were, and told them
they were prisoners. They asked me why they were arrested. I
told them it was for robbing the St. Albans banks. They asked
me if I was a British officer, and Isaid I was abailiff. I handcuffed
D
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them. I searched to see if I could find any arms, and I found four
revolvers between the feather-bed and straw-bed, and in the same
place alarge quantity of bank-bills. I took the revolvers,and handed
them to Mr. Whitman, the magistrate, and also some of the bank-
bills ; the balance of the money I think was given by Martindale
to Mr. Whitman. Mr. Whitman took away the money and the revol-
vers. Iput the prisoners in charge of C. H. Barker and Irwin Briggs.
I did not identify the money that I took. After conversation with Mr.
Whitman, I'went back and searched the prisoners further, and found
in their possession four hundred and twenty-seven dollars and thirty-
five cents in bank notes, scrips, gold and silver. This money I
gave to Guillaume Lamothe, Esq., chief of police, on the twenty-
fifth of October last. On the twentieth of October last, the prisoner
now calling himself Bruce, I understood to call himself at that
time Bennett, and the other one called himself Bruce. The pris-
oners on the same day stated in my presence that the money
which had been found in their possession they had got from the
bank in St. Albans. I saw at Stanbridge, on the same day, the
prisoners Collins and Lackey, and on the next day the prisoners
McGrorty and Doty. These last two were arrested in a barn in
Dunham : in the possession of McGrorty and Doty, bank-bills of dif-
ferent kinds, some gold and silver, and some bonds, were found.
The prisoners, Spurr and Bruce, stated on the twentieth of October
last that they had come from Burlington, Vermont, the previous
morning, in a buggy to St. Albans. At the time the prisoners I
have referred to, made the several statements that I have mentioned,
no threats were made use of, nor inducements held out to procure
such statements, which were voluntary on their part.

The foregoing deposition having been read in the presence of the
prisoners so charged, the deponent declares the same to contain the

truth, and hath signed
E. C. KNIGHT.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,
before me, on the day, month,l
and year, and at the place here-

in before mentioned.
(Signed) CHas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

And on this day, the 10th of November, in the year of our Lord
one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four the deponent above
named, reappeared before the undersigned Charles J oseph Coursol
Esquire, Judge of the Sessions of the Peace, in and for the city of
Montreal, being re-sworn in the presence of the prisoners so charged
the foregoing deposition is then and there read to the said deponent’
who declares upon oath that the same contains the truth; and
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thereupon the said prisoners are asked whether they have any
questions to put to the said deponent, and they having answered that
they had, the following evidence 1s taken in cross-examination by
Mr. Abbott, the prisoners’ counsel: I arrested the said prisoners
without any warrant at all. I had no authority for arresting them,
but the people of the village told me that a robbery had been com-
mitted at the St. Albans banks, and that they were afraid that they
were going to rob the Stanbridge bank. 1 am not aware of an
information on oath having been laid against these men. When I
told them I was a British officer, they said 1t was all right. They
did not say anything else at that time ; but four or five hours after-
wards they told me they were Confederate soldiers. I did not
count the money I took from them in the first instance. I did not
examine it sufficiently to ascertain the amount, but I should suppose
there were several thousand dollars. When they told me they had
got the money from the St. Albans banks, they also told me that they
had got it on a raid, which they had made upon St. Albans, upon the
authority of the Confederate government, and that it would be
shown as such. It was about this time also that they told me that
they were Confederate soldiers. They were asked if they were
Jeff. Davis’ boys, and they said they were. These matters, and the
statements where they had got the money, all came out in the same
conversation.

The prisoners’ counsel declares that they have no further question
to put to the deponent, and this deposition having been read in the
presence of the said prisoners, the deponent declares it contains the
truth, and hath signed

E. C. KNIGHT.
Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,
before me, on the day, month,

|
and year, and at the place be- ,>
fore mentioned. )
(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,
District of Montreal, 2

POLICE COURT.

The examination of Georgs Roberts, of the town of St. Albans,
in the State of Vermont, one of the United States of America,
clerk, now in the city of Montreal, taken on oath this ninth day of
November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
sixty-four, at the Police Office in the Court-house in the city of
Montreal, in the District of Montreal aforesaid, before the under-
signed Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the said city
of Montreal, in the presence and hearing of Samuel Eugene Lackey,



52

Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore
Swager, George Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace,
James Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg,
Dudley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and
William H. Hutchinson, who are now charged before me, upon
complaints made under oath before me under the provisions of the
Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen, and the United States of
America, and our Statutes in that behalf made, with having com-
mitted within the jurisdiction of the United States of America, the
following crime mentioned in the Treaty hetween Her Majesty the
Queen, and the United States of America, to wit :—For that they,
the said Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda
Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George Scott, Bennett H.
Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph
McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Brons-
don Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, on the
nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of St. Albans, in
the State of Vermont, one of the United States of America, being
then and there armed with certain offensive weapons and instru-
ments, to wit: pistols commonly known and called revolvers, loaded
with powder and balls and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton
Bishop, feloniously did make an assault and him the said Cyrus
Newton Bishop in bodily fear and in danger of his life, then and
there feloniously did put,and a certain sum of money, to wit: to
the amount of seventy thousand dollars current money of the said
United States of America, and of the value of seventy thousand
dollars current money aforesaid, of the moneys ‘and property of
the bank of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recog-
nized by the laws of the said State of Vermont, and the said
United States of America, from the person and custody, and pos-
session, and against the will of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then
and there feloniously and vlolently did steal, take, and carry away
against the form of the Statutes of the said State of Vermont, in such
case made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the
said State. The deponent, George Roberts, on his oath deposeth
and saith: I have been clerk in the American House in St. Albans
aforesaid, since March last. I recognize two of the prisoners,
namely, Young and Doty, having seen them in St. Albans
prior to the nineteenth day of October lasé past. I saw Young
there, I think twice before that day; but I am not sure if it was
more than once. I saw him certainly once in the American House
during the month prior to the nineteenth of October last. About
two o’clock in the afternoon of the last mentioned day, I saw in
front of the National bank, a man named Blaisdale, of St. Albans

having a disturbance with the prisoner, whom I now recogm’ze:
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«calling himself Caleb McDowall Wallace. They were struggling
together in front of the said bank. Blaisdale had hold of Wallace,
when I first saw them. Wallace was then armed with two revolvers.
While this was going on, I saw two other persons near by armed the
same way, one of whom I heard saying to Wallace ¢ shoot him.”
Wallace, and the other armed person, took Blaisdale to the park in
front of the American House. When I saw what I have related, I
was standing on the veranda of the American House. The pris-
oner, Young, came from the direction of the First National
bank in front of the American House, on the veranda of which myself
and eight or nine others were standing. Young presented two
revolvers at the persons on the veranda, and said ¢ that he was an
officer in the Confederate service ; that he was sent there to take
that town, and that he was going to do it, and that the first man
that offered resistance he would shoot him.”” Then the prisoner,
Bruce, whom I saw for the first time, near by, appeared armed
with two revolvers. Bruce ordered the party on the veranda to
go over to the park, which they did ; he, Bruce, following them.
I went with the others to the park. When I left the American
House, or very soon after, Young started towards the northern part
of the town. Bruce stayed at the park, and acted as guard, I
should think, for about ten minutes, and then called upon Young,
addressing him as Colonel, for assistance. The prisoner, Doty, then
came on horseback from the yard of the American House. About
the same time I saw some twelve other persons, some of them with
horses, coming from the yard of the American House, among whom
I recognize the prisoner, Charles Moore Swager. These persons
were armed with revolvers, most of them, I think, having two each.
They began to stop what teams there were in the street, taking
the horses belonging to the teams. Whilst I was in the park, I
saw four or five persons armed with revolvers, standing on the
steps of the Franklin County bank, which is near the American
House, but I do not recognize any of those persons now. Some ten
minutes after, we crossed to the park, or perhaps less. I saw the
prisoner, Young, at the north end of the veranda of the American
House shoot one Collins H. Huntingdon with a revolver, wounding
him. Huntingdon then went into the park. A short time after
this, all the persons I have referred to, armed as aforesaid, started
off together, most of them on horseback, towards the north end of
the town. They all seemed to know each other, and acting in
concert. I do not recognize any of the prisoners, except those 1
have named. I heard several shots fired at the upper end of the
town. Upon every occasion when I saw Young, Swager, Wallace,
Bruce, and Doty, at St. Albans, as I have mentioned, they were
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dressed in ordinary civilian’s clothes. I saw nothing either In de~:
meanor or dress to indicate that they had or claimed any military
character whatever. On the afternoon of the nineteenth of October
last past, the occurrences I have spoken of did not look hkeba
military expedition. I thought the armed persons were a Imob.
On the nineteenth of October last, the prisoner, Swager, was known
by the name of Jones, prior to the outbreak mentloI}ed.

The foregoing deposition having been read over in the presence
of the prisoners so charged, the deponent declares that the same’

tains the truth, and hath signed.
coutans The L, 2 ¢ GEORGE W. ROBERTS.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,
before me, on the day, year, &
and month, and at the place
hereinbefore mentioned.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

The foregoing deposition having been made, and read in the pre-
sence of the said prisoners, they are asked if they have any ques-
tions to put to the deponent, and that having declared by Mr. Kerr,
their counsel, that they had, the following evidence 1s taken on-
cross-examination : When I saw Blaisdale and Wallace, they
were both standing up. Blaisdale had hold of him somewhere
about the neck. I was about twenty yards from Young when
he shot Huntingdon. They apparently were talking together
previous to the shot being fired. Huntingdon was moving on at
the time he was shot. I should judge from Young’s action that he
wanted Huntingdon to go across in the park where we were. I saw
ten or twelve men near the American House belonging to the band,
and there were some others further up the street. Young appeared
to be the leader, and have charge of them at that part of the
town. They appeared to act together, but I saw no plan of
action. I never saw a mob in St. Albans armed the way they
were, with one of their members proclaiming himself an officer in
the Confederate service. I have never seen any of the Con--
federate troops. I have never seen Confederate troops in active
service. When Young came to the veranda of the American
House he said, ¢ Gentleman, I am an officer in the Confederate:
¢ gervice, I have been sent here to take this town, and I am going
“ to do 1t ; the first that offers resistance I will shoot him.” St.
Albans has been a recruiting post for the American army before
NOW.

The prisoners’ counsel declares having no further questions to-
put to the deponent, and this deposition having bcen read in the-
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presence of the said prisoners, the deponent declare it contains the
truth, and hath signed
GEO. W. ROBERTS.

Sworn, taken, and acknomledged,

before me, on the day, year,

and month, and at the place

hereinbefore mentioned.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,E

District of Montreal. POLICE COURT

Examination of John MecLoughlin, of the city of Montreal,
in the District of Montreal, chief constable of the Government
Police, taken on oath this tenth day of November, in the year of
our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-four, at the Police
Office in the Court-house, in the city of Montreal, in the District
of Montreal aforesaid, before the undersigned Judge of the Sessions
of the Peace in and for the said city of Montreal, in the presence
and hearing of Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis,
Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George Scott, Ben-
nett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty,
Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas
Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson,
who are now charged before me, upon complaints made under oath
before me under-the provisions of the Treaty between Her Majesty
the Queen and the United States of America, and our Statutes in
that behalf made, with having committed, within the jurisdiction of
the United States of America, the following crime mentioned in the
Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen and the United States of
America, to wit :—For that they, the said Samuel Eugene Lackey,
Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore
Swager, George Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall
Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simp-
son Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus
Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, on the nineteenth day of
October last past, at the town of St. Albans, in the State of Ver-
mont, one of the United States of America, being then and there
armed with certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit:
pistols commonly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder
and balls and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop
feloniously did make an assault, and him the said Cyrus Newton
Bishop in bodily fear and in danger of his life then and there
feloniously did put, and a certain sum of money, to wit: to the
amount of seventy thousand dollars current money of the United
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States of America, and of the value of seventy thousand dollars
current money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the bank
of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognized by the
laws of the said State of Vermont, and the sait.i United S’gates of
Anmerica, from the person and custody and possession, and against the
will, of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously
and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form of
the Statutes of the said State of Vermont, in such case made
and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said State.
The deponent, John MeLoughlin, on his oath deposeth and saith :
On the 20th of October last, I received orders to proceed to St.
Johns and from thence to Farnham, in pursuit of such persons as
might be found thereabouts, or elsewhere, who had sought refuge in
Canada, after having been engaged in the St. Albans raid. In accord-
ance with my instructions I proceeded there, accompanied by Mr.
Sowles, cashier of the First National bank, at St. Albans, and
Detective John O’Leary. Upon the afternoon of the said 20th day
of October last, a prisoner, whom I now recognize and identify as
George Scott, and now under examination, was arrested by said
John O’Leary at the railroad station in Farnham, in the District
of Iberville. I was present at his arrest and at his search, which
took place immediately after his said arrest. Upon his person were
found two thousand eight hundred and fifty-nine dollars and thirty-
one cents, which was taken charge of by said O’Leary; and which
during his examination as a witness in this matter, at which I was
present, he produced and identified as the same money which he
took from Scott. After he had been arrested, and the money
taken from him, he stated he was a Confederate soldier, and
claimed protection as such. He was dressed in civilian’s clothes,
and looked very much fatigued. He had no fire-arm with him.
On the following morning, the 21st October last aforesaid, at the
hour of seven of the clock, I arrested in the same place where said
Scott was taken another person, who gave me his name as Samuel
Gregg, whom I now point out and identify among the prisoners
here under examination under the name of Samuel Simpson Gregg.
After having arrested him he told me he was going to Montreal,
and from there to Quebec, where he had some friends. He also
sald that he came from Kentucky. I then searched his person,
and found upon him thirty-one dollars and eighty-one cents ; con-
sisting of one twenty dollar gold piece, one five dollar gold piece
and three one dollar bills upon banks in Canada, and one dollar bill
of the Windsor County bank, one dollar and thirty cents in silver,
and one dollar and forty-five cents in the postal currency of the
United States, and six cents in coppers. He had no other mone

about him. These sums of money I now produce. They have
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remained in my possession ever since. I also found upon his per-
son nine photographs. At the time I made the search, Albert
Sowles, who has also been examined as a witness touching the sub-
Jject matter of this investigation, was present, and, upon seeing the
photograph upon the back of which is pencilled the name Caleb
McDowall Wallace, and one of these taken by me from the said
Gregg, he immediately said, ¢ That is the likeness of the man who
presented a revolver at me, in the bank, whilst the others were
robbing it.”” I now see under examination the said Wallace, and
I believe the photograph, upon which his name is pencilled, is a
correct likeness. e did not make any particular remarks about
any of the other photographs, but I recognize in another of them,
upon the back of which is pencilled the name of James Johnson,
the likeness of the prisoner Thomas Bronsdon Collins, now also
under examination. At the time I took possession of thcse photo-
graphs, I asked the said Gregg whose likenesses they were, and I
put upon the back of each the name which he gave me. He, the
said Gregg, was dressed in civilian’s clothes, and was suffering from
a sprain of the ankle. I had no further conversation with the
prisoner ; I know no more of him or about him. The foregoing
deposition having been read in the presence of the prisoners so
charged, the deponent declares the same to contain the truth, and
hath signed JOHN McLOUGHLIN.
Sworn, taken, and acknowledged
before me, on the day, month,L
and year, and at the place, here-

inbefore mentioned. )
(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

The foregoing deposition having been made and read in the
presence and hearing of the prisoners so charged, they are asked
if they have any questions to put to the witness or deponent, and
they having declared they had, by their counsel, Mr. Kerr, the
following evidence is taken on cross-examination :

There were also seven other photographs taken at the same time
from Gregg, among which was the likeness of a lady. I arrested
Gregg under my own responsibility. I had no warrant.

The prisoners’ counsel declared having no further questions to
put to the deponent; and this deposition having been read in the
presence of the said prisoners, the deponent declares it contains
the truth, and hath signed JOHN McLOUGHLIN.
Sworn, taken, and acknowledged

before me, on the day, month,

and year, and at the time, here-

inbefore mentioned.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursow, J.8.P.
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Examination of James Russell Armington, of the town of St.
Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States of
America, merchant, now in the city of Montreal, taken on oath
this eleventh day of November, in the year of our Lord one thou-
sand eight hundred and sixty-four, in the Police Office in the
Court-house, in the city of Montreal, in the District of Montreal
aforesaid, before the undersigned Judge of the Sessions of the
Peace in and for the said city of Montreal, in the presence
and hearing of Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis,
Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George Scott, Ben-
nett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty,
Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas
Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson,
who are now charged before me, upon complaints made under oath
before me under the provisions of the Treaty between Her Majesty
the Queen and the United States of America, and our Statutes in
that behalf made, with having committed, within the jurisdiction of
the United States of America, the following crime mentioned in the
Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen and the United States of
America, to wit :—For that they, the said Samuel Eugene Lackey,
Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore
Swager, George Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall
Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simp-
son Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus
Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, on the nineteenth day of
October last past, at the town of St. Albans, in the State of Ver-
mont, one of the United States of America, being then and there
armed with certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit:
pistols commonly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder
and balls and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop
feloniously did make an assault, and him the said Cyrus Newton
Bishop in bodily fear and in danger of his life then and there
feloniously did put, and a certain sum of money, to wit: to the
amount of seventy thousand dollars current money of the United
States of America, and of the value of seventy thousand dollars
current money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the bank
of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognized by the
laws of the said State of Vermont, and the said United States of
America, from the person and custody and possession,and against the
will, of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously
and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form of
the Statutes of the said State of Vermont, in such case made and
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provided, and against the peace-and dignity of the said State. The
deponent, James Russell Armington, on his oath deposeth and saith:
On the afternoon of the 19th day of October last, I was at St.
Albans aforesaid. Between the hours of three and four of the clock
in the afternoon of that day, I saw armed men in St. Albans. T
recogmze the prisoners, Young, Doty, and Gregg, having seen them
in St. Albans on that day. I saw them first on the street. They
were on horseback, and were armed with pistols. They were in
civiians’ dress. I should judge they belonged to one party. They
rode off together towards the north. They did not go off very
rapidly. I should judge that they were about twenty of these
armed men in all. They appeared to be strangers, and appeared
to be acting in concert. I bought some gold of a stranger in the
bank whom I afterwards learned from M. W. Bairdsley, cashier of
the bank, was one of the party. I heard shots fired by the party
that rode off together, as I have mentioned. The foregoing depo-
sition having heen read over in the presence of the prisoners so
charged, the deponent declares that the same contains the truth,
and hath signed
J. RUSSELL ARMINGTON.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged
before me, on the day, month,
and year, and at the place, here-

inbefore mentoned. :
(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

The foregoing depositian having been made and read in the
presence and hearing of the said prisoners, they are asked if they
have any questsons to put to the deponent; and they having
declared, by Mr. Kerr, their counsel, that they had, the following
evidence is taken in cross-examination :

I saw shots fired by the party, and I saw shots fired at the party
by people of St. Albans. This firing took place a little above the
St.  Albans bank. I should judge that Gregg had little more
whiskers on; that is the only difference I see in his face.

The prisoners’ counsel declares having no further questions to
put to the deponent ; and this deposition having been read in the
presence of the said prisoners, the deponent declares 1t contains

the truth, and hath signed
J. RUSSELL ARMINGTON.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged)
before me, on the day, month,
and year, and at the place, here-

inbefore mentioned.
(Signed) CHas. J. CoursoL, J.S.P.



PROVINCE OF CANADA,
District of Montreal.

POLICE COURT.
The examination of Marcus Wells Beardsley, of the town of
St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States of
America, now in the city of Montreal, taken on oath this eleventh
day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight
hundred and sixty-four, at the Police Office in the Court-house,
in the city of Montreal, in the District of Montreal aforesaid,
before the undersigned Judge of the Sessions of the Peace
in and for the said city of Montreal, in the presence and’ hearing
of Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda
Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George Scott, Bennett
H. Young. Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty,
Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas
Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson,
who are now charged before me, upon complaints made under oath
before me under the provisions of the Treaty between Her Majesty
the Queen and the United States of America, and our Statutes in
that behalf made, with having committed, within the jurisdiction of
the United States of America, the following crime mentioned in the
Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen and the United States of
America, to wit :—For that they, the said Samuel Eugene Lackey,
Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore
Swager, George Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall
Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simp-
son Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus
Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, on the nineteenth day of
October last past, at the town of St. Albans, in the State of Ver-
mont, one of the United States of America, being then and there
armed with certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit:
pistols commonly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder
and balls and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop
feloniously did make an assault, and him the said Cyrus Newton
Bishop in bodily fear and in danger of his life then and there
feloniously did put, and a certain sum of money, to wit: to the
amount of seventy thousand dollars current money of the United
States of America, and of the value of seventy thousand dollars
current money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the bank
of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognized by the
laws of the said State of Vermont, and the said United States of
America, from the person and custody and possession, and against the
will, of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously
and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form of
the Statutes of the said State of Vermont, in such case made and
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provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said State.
The deponent, Marcus Wells Beardsley, on his oath saith:
On the nineteenth day of October last past, I resided at St.
Albans, and was and still am the cashier of the Franklin Count
bank. On that day, in the afternoon, there was an outbreak in
the village, and a number of armed men appeared there; those
that I saw were strangers. When I first saw some of these men I
was in the said bank. The men I saw belonging to this armed
gang, were armed with large revolvers. I recognize the prisoner,
Hutchinson, as one of the armed gang that entered the said Frank-
lin County bank. He wore whiskers then, which he has not now,
and he had no spectacles on then as he has now. All I can state
as to what took place outside of the Franklin County bank, I know
by report only. Hutchinson, when he first came into the bank,
enquired from me what we were paying for gold. I answered
that we were not dealing in such article, and referred him to a
Mr. Armington, a merchant of the village. There were four or
five of the said armed gang that entered the Franklin County
bank, but I only recognize Hutchinson, who seemed to be their
leader. These men were all armed with revolvers. They remained
in the ba:';, I should think, ten or fifteen minutes. All these
men presented revolvers, and threatened my life, but no revolver
was discharged. These men were all dressed in ordinary civilians’
clothes. I saw none of these men afterwards in St. Albans. I
next saw Hutchinson in the Montreal gaol. I remarked to Hutch-
inson and to Mr. Saxe, both being present at the gaol, that I
thought I had received very brutal treatment at the bank at St.
Albans, at the hands of the leader of the gang. Hutchinson then
remarked that the people of the North were treating the people of
the South in the same manner. The foregoing deposition having
been read over in the presence of the prisoners so charged, the
deponent declares it contains the truth, and hath signed
M. W. BEARDSLEY.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged)

before me, on the day, month, |

and year, and at the place, here-

inbefore mentioned.
Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

The foregoing deposition having been made in the presence and
hearing of the prisoners so charged, they are asked if they have
any questions to put to the deponent; and they having declared,
by their counsel, that they had, the following evidence 1s taken on

cross-examination : .
The person I have identified on that day wore whiskers as I
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have already said, and a small wool or fur hat with a narrow brim.
He had a dark colored coat on, but I cannot say whether it was
black or blue. It was rather ample in size. He had full whiskers
extending round upon his chin, and a little upon his chin, I think.
I am not sure if he had a moustache or not. I cannot say if the
upper part of his chin was shaved or not. My motive in speaking to
him at the gaol as I did, was that I felt sure that he was the man that
had committed the act, and I felt disposed to tell him so. It was
probably not necessary to tell him that it was a brutal act ; but I
felt disposed to say what I did, and I said it. I said it to him in
the ward of the gaol where he was confined. I was admitted there
by a man I supposed to be the gaoler. I think he was standing
very near when I said this to the prisoner; that is my impression.
My friend, Mr. Saxe, was beside me too. I was not at all con-
cerned for my personal safety for what I said there.

On question by the Judge.—I had never seen Hutchinson before
to my knowledge. The prisoners’ counsel declares having no
further questions to put to the deponent, and this deposition having
been read in the presence of the said prisoners, the deponent

declares it contains the truth, and hath signed
M. W. BEARDSLEY.

before me, on the day, month,
and year, and at the place, here-
inbefore mentioned.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.3.P.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledgedl

PROVINCE OF CANADA, % POLICE COURT.

District of Montreal,

N
e )

The examination of Charles Alexander Marvin, of the town of
St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States of
Anmerica, merchant’s clerk, now in the city of Montreal, taken on
oath this eleventh day of November, in the year of our Lord one
thousand eight hundred and sixty-four, at the Police Office in the
Court-house, in the city of Montreal, in the District of Montreal
aforesaid, before the undersigned Judge of the Sessions of the
Peace in and for the said city of Montreal, in the presence
and hearing of Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis,
Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George Scott, Ben-
nett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty,
Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas
Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, who
are now charged before me, upon complaints made under oath
before me under the provisions of the Treaty between Her
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Majesty the Queen, and the United States of America, and
our Statutes in that behalf made, with having committed within
the jurisdiction of the United States of America, the following
crime mentioned in the Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen,
and the United States of America, to wit:—For that they,
the said Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Ala-
manda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George Scott, Bennett
H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty,
Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Tho-
mas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson,
on the nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of
St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States
of America, being then and there armed with certain offen-
sive weapons and instruments, to wit: pistols commonly known and
called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls and capped, in and
upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop, feloniously did make an assault and
him the said Cyrus Newton Bishop in bodily fear and in danger
of his life, then and there feloniously did put, and a certain sum of
money, to wit : to the amount of seventy thousand dollars current
money of the said United States of America, and of the value of
seventy thousand dollars current money aforesaid, of the moneys
and property of the bank of St. Albans, a body corporate, consti-
tuted and recognized by the laws of the said State of Vermont,
and the said United States of America, from the person and
custody, and possession, and against the will of the said Cyrus
Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously and violently did
steal, take, and carry away against the form of the Statutes
of the said State of Vermont, in such casesmade and provided,
and against the peace and dignity of the said State. The depo-
nent, Charles Alexander Marvin, upon his oath deposeth and
saith: I was in St. Albans aforesaid, on the nineteenth day of
October last in the afternoon. I was standing on the step of
my brother’s store on Main street, at about a quarter past three
o’clock in the afternoon of that day. The first person I saw was
the prisoner, Doty, on a black horse. I did not see that he had
any arms. I saw about ten armed men there that afternoon.
They were on horseback. They were all armed alike with revol-
vers. I saw among this armed party the prisoners, Young, Doty,
and Teavis. The prisoner, Teavis, was armed and on horseback
also. The armed party-all rode off together on horseback about
twenty minutes after I first saw them; they seemed to be in
great haste, and appeared all to act in concert together, and
as one party. I heard a number of shots fired by this party. I
saw the prisoner, Dudley Moore, at Waterloo, in the District of
Bedford, on the Fridagdollowing the nineteenth of October last. I
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merely asked him one direct question, ¢ When you were at Shel-
“ don Creek on the opposite side of the street, where was our pur-
“ suing party "’ and he answered,“ Coming into sight on the opposite
« side of the Creek.” Sheldon’s Creek is about ten miles north of
St. Albans. When I said ¢ Where was our pursuing party ?”” I re-
ferred to a party of St. Albans people pursuing the armed party
I have spoken of. The armed party that I have spoken of were
all strangers to me. They were dressed in civilians’ clothes, most
of them differing from each other. The foregoing deposition
having been read over in the presence of the prisoners so charged,
the deponent declares the same contains the truth, and hath signed
CHARLES A. MARVIN.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged

before me, on the day, month,

and year, and at the place, here-

inbefore mentioned. J

(Signed) Cmas. J. Coursor, J.8.P.

The foregoing deposition having been made and read in the
presence and hearing of the said prisoners, they are asked if they
have any questions to put to the deponent; and they having
declared, by Mr. Kerr, their counsel, that they had, the following
evidence is taken on cross-examination :

I saw one man trying to fire upon the armed party. The
prisoners’ counsel declares having no further questions to put to
the deponent ; and this deposition having been read in the presence
of the said prisoners, the deponent declares it to contain the truth,

and hath signed
CHAS. A. MARVIN.
Sworn, taken, and acknowledgedw
before me, on the day, month,
and year, and at the place, here-
inbefore mentioned.

Cuas. J. Coursor, J.8.P.

VINCE OF :g POLICE COURT.

District of Montreal,

b, 2

The examination of Henry George Edson, Esquire, of the town of
St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States of
Anmerica, Counsellor-at-law, now in the city of Montreal, taken on
oath this tenth day of November, in the year of our Lord one
thousand eight hundred and sixty-four, at the Police Office in the
Court-house, in the city of Montreal, in the District of Montreal
aforesaid, before the undersigned Judge of the Sessions of the
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Peace in and for the said city of Montreal, in the presence
and hearing of Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis,
Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George Scott,
Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander
Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore,
Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H.
Hutchinson, who are now charged before me, upon complaints
made under oath before me under the provisions of the Treaty
between Her Majesty the Queen and the United States of
America, and our Statutes in that behalf made, with having com-
mitted within the jurisdiction of the United States of America,
the following crime mentioned in the Treaty between IHer Majesty
the Queen, and the United States of America, to wit:—For
that they, the said Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner
Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George
Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alex-
ander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley
Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr and William H.
Hutchinson, on the nineteenth day of October last past, at the town
of St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States
of America, and within the jurisdiction of the said United States of
America, being then and there armed with certain offensive
weapons and Instruments, to wit : pistols commonly called revolvers,
loaded with powder and balls and capped, in and upon one Cyrus
Newton Bishop feloniously did make an assault, and him the said
Cyrus Newton Bishop in bodily fear, and in danger of his life, then
and there feloniously did put, and a certain sum of money, to wit:
to the amount of seventy thousand dollars current money of the said
United States of America, and of the value of seventy thousand
dollars current money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the
bank of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognized b

the laws of the said State of Vermont, and the said United States of
America, from the person, and custody, and possesion, and against
the will, of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously
and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form of the
Statutes of the said State of Vermont, in such case made and pro-
vided, and against the peace and dignity of the said State. The
deponent, Henry George Edson, upon his oath deposeth and saith :
I have practised law in the village of St. Albans, since the year
1844. The population of the village is between two and three thou-
sand. Itcoversan area of about one mile square. There are between
two and three hundred houses in the village. The first National
bank, the American House, and the St. Alban’s bank, are situated
in the Main street, and in a cehtral part of the village, and are
not very far apart from each other. The Franklin County bank

E
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is on the same street, and about midway between the First National
bank and the St. Albans bank. I am acquainted with the laws of
Vermont, and state that the volume now produced contains the
general statutes in force in Vermont ; and I say that the sections 22,
24, and 26, chapter 112 of said statutes, and sections 86 and 87 of
chapter 15,and sections 1, 6,and 9 of chapter 81 of the said statutes,
were on and prior to the nineteenth day of October last, and are
now in force in the State of Vermont, and form part of its general
laws. I am acquainted with the seal of said State, and the signa-
tures of the governor and secretary of state. The seal affixed
to the certificate written upon the leaf between page 790 and the
first page of the index of said volume, is the seal of the said State.
The signature J. Gregory Smith, subscribed to the said certificate,
and the signature G. W. Bailey, jun., also thereto subscribed, are
respectively the signatures of the governor and secretary of state
of the said State of Vermont. I also say that the seal affixed to
the certificate upon the last page of the copies of complaint and
warrant made and issued in Vermont, and produced and filed yes-
terday is the seal of the said State, and the said signature of J.
Gregory Smith, and G. W. Bailey, jun., thereto subscribed, are
respectively the signatures of the Governor and Secretary of State
of the said State. I know that robbery is a crime by the laws of
the State of Vermont. I am one of the legal advisers of the St.
Albans bank. I know that this bank has been carrying on busi-
ness as banking corporation at St. Albans, under the laws of
Vermont for several years past, and was so carrying on business
on the nineteenth day of October last. I compared the copies of
complaint and warrant before referred to, with the original com-
plaint and warrant made and issued at St. Albans, in the State
of Vermont, and declare them to be true and exact copies of the
said originals respectively, and they are in the form prescribed by
the laws of the said State of Vermont. The crime disclosed in the
said complaint, and also in the commencement of this my exami-
nation, is the crime of robbery according to the laws of the
State of Vermont,-and according to the laws of the United
States of America. According to the laws of the State of
Vermont, the duty of the town grand juror is to lodge complaint
before justices of the peace, that is to say, within the town to
which he is elected. I know that Mr. Chellis F. Safford. who
lodged the complaint referred to, was on the nineteenth and ’twen.-
tieth days of October last, a grand juror, within the said town of
St. Albans. No depositions are taken according to the laws of
Vermont, prior to the issuing of a warrant, but the warrant is
1ssued upon the information of the grand juror. By the laws of
Vermont, upon the last mentioned days, a justice of the peace had
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authority and jurisdiction to receive complaints such as T have spoken
of within the county for which they are appointed, and also to issue
warrants of apprehension in the form I have before spoken of upon
which prisoners if arrested would be held for examination. This
my examination is continued till to-morrow morning at ten o’elock,
and I have signed H. G. EDSON.
Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,

before me, on the day, month,

and year, and at the place

hereinbefore mentioned.

(Signed) Cuas. J. CovrsoL, J.S.P.

On this day, the 11th day of November, in the year of our Lord
1864, the deponent, Henry George Edson, before named, reappears:
before me the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire,
Judge of the Sessions of the Peace, in and for the city of Montreal,
and being #e-sworn in the presence of the prisoners so charged,
deposeth and saith,—The three documents now produced, pur-
porting to be respectively ¢ An Act to incorporate the Presi-
¢“ dent, Directors, and Company of the Bank of St. Albans;”
“ An Act to extend the time and continuing in force for a
“ limited period an Act to incorporate the President, Direc-
¢ tors, and Company of the Bank of St. Albans;” and ¢ An Act
‘ to extend the Charter and increase the capital stock of the Bank
“of St. Albans,”” are copies of the several acts of the Legislature of
the State of Vermont, incorporating and relating to the St. Albans
bank ; the seal affixed to the certificates appended to the said
copies respectively, is the seal of the said State of Vermont, and
the signatures J. Gregory Smith, and G. W. Bailey, jun., sub-
scribed to the said certificates respectively, are the signatures of
the governor and secretary of state of the said State respectively.
The acts of which those documents are copies, were in force in the
State of Vermont on the nineteenth day of October last, and still
are 80 ; and the bank was on thatday, and still is organized and carry-
ing on business, at St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, under the
said Acts. The village and town of St. Albans before referred to, are
within the jurisdiction of the United States of America, and are situ-
ated in the State of Vermont, one of the United States of America.

The foregoing deposition having been read over in the presence
of the prisoners so charged, the deponent declares the same to con-
tain the truth, and hath signed H. G. EDSON.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,
before me, on the day, month,
and year, and at the place
hereinbefore mentioned.
(Signed) CHas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.
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The foregoing deposition having been made and read in the pre-
sence and hearing of the prisoners above named, they are asked
if they have any questions to put to the deponent; and they having
declared by their counsel, Mr. Kerr, that they had, the following
evidence is taken in cross-examination: _

I think that a family resides in a part of the building in
which the St. Albans bank is carrying on business and where
it carried on business on the nineteenth of October last. I
compared copies of the complaint and warrant made and issued
in the State of Vermont, and filed in these proceedings. I can-
not state when I so compared the said charge and complaint with
the original thereof. The said copies of complaint and warrant
are in the handwriting of a man by the name of Taylor, of
St. Albans. I do not recognize the handwriting in which the
name William H. Hutchinson in the warrant and in the complaint
appears. The name William H. Hutchinson appeared in the original
warrant and complaint when I compared it with the copgps. Itis
usual in our legal proceedings before magistrates to interpolate
words in the same way that the words ¢ William H. Hutchinson” are
in the copies of complaint and warrant now produced, and such
alterations are not made in the margin. I can practise before any
Circuit and District Court of the United States sitting in the State
of Vermont. I have never been admitted to practise before the
Superior Court sitting at Washington. The United States Statutes
at Large published by Little & Brown at Boston, are received as
authentic in all the Courts of the United States, without any fur-
ther proof of their authenticity. I cannot say how many volumes
there are; I think about eleven. I am acquainted with the law
of the United States upon the subject of treason, as most lawyers
are, from general reading. The definition of treason against the
United States would be the levying of war against them, or adhering
to their enemies, or giving them aid or comfort within the United
States or elsewhere, by any person owing allegiance to the United
States. I am not prepared to swear that the United States subjects
residing in the Confederate States, and who have taken up arms
against them, are guilty of treason; I leave that to the judicial
tribunals of the country to decide. I have heard of an Act of the
Congress of the United States of the nineteenth of June, one thou-
sand eight hundred and fifty-two, commonly called the ¢ Confisca-
tion Act ;”’ I have read that Act. I know thata civil war has been
raging between the United States and the so-called Confederate
States for the last three years.

The prisoners’ counsel declares having no further questions to
put to the deponent, and this deposition having been read in the
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presence of the said prisoners, the deponent declares it contains the
truth, and hath signed
H. G. EDSON.
Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,
before me, on the day, month,
and year, and at the place
hereinbefore mentioned.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,
District of Montreal.

State of Vermont, one of the United States of America, merchant,
now in the city of Montreal, taken on oath this 11th day of Novem-
ber, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-
four, at the Police Office in the Court-house, in the city of Montreal,
in the listrict of Montreal aforesaid, before the undersigned Judge
of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the said city of Montreal,in
the presence and hearing of Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner
Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George
Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alex-
ander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley
Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H.
Hutchinson, who are now charged before me, upon complaints made
under oath before me under the provisions of the Treaty between
Her Majesty the Queen and the United States of America, and
our Statutes in that behalf made, with having committed, within
the jurisdiction of the United States of America, the following
crime mentioned in the Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen
and the United States of America, to wit:—IFor that they,
the said Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Ala-
manda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George Scott, Bennett
H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty,
Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas
Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson,
on the nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of
St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States of
America, being then and there armed with certain offensive weapons
and instruments, to wit: pistols commonly known and called revol-
vers, loaded with powder and balls and capped, in and upon one
Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did make an assault, and him the
said Cyrus Newton Bishop in bodily fear and in danger of his life
then and there feloniously did put, and a certain sum of money, to
wit: to the amount of seventy thousand dollars current money of



70

the said United States of America, and of the value of seventy
thousand dollars current money aforesaid, of the moneys and pro-
perty of the bank of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted and
recognized by the laws of the said State of Vermont, and the said
United States of America, from the person and custody and pos-
session, and against the will, of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then
and there feloniously and violently did steal, take, and carry away,
against the form of the Statutes of the said State of Vermont, n such
case made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the sald
State. The deponent, James Saze, upon his oath saith : I was in St.
Albans aforesaid, on the nineteenth day of October last past, in the
afternoon. I think on that afternoon I saw about fifteen men en
horseback ; some of them were armed with revolvers, but how many
I could not say. They all appeared to act in concert together.
The prisoner Hutchinson, whom I now recognize, was one of the
armed party at St. Albans, in that afternoon. I notice a little ab-
sence of whiskers, and he had no spectacles on at that time as he has
now. I saw Hutchinson for the first time in that afternoon, in
the Franklin County bank. There was something said in my
presence in regard of the price of gold. Mr. Bairdsley, the cashier
.of the bank, handed me the Boston Journal, and asked me to read
the money article. I did so. So far as I could see, Hutchinson
was unarmed at that time. I am not positive that I saw him indi-
vidually in the crowd of armed men on horseback. Hutchinson was
in civibhan’s dress, and so also were the others. The armed men
I have spoken of left the town in a northerly direction, and went
off in a body.

The foregoing deposition having been read over in the presence
.of the prisoners so charged, the deponent declares that the same
contains the truth, and hath signed

JAMES SAXE.
Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,)

before me, on the day, month,

and year, and at the place

hereinbefore mentioned.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

The foregoing deposition having been made and read in the pre-
sence of the said prisoners, they are asked if they have any ques-
tions to put to the deponent; and having declared by Mr. Kerr,
their counsel, that they had, the following evidence is taken in
cross-examination : My impression is, that he Hutchinson had a
moustache. I think his beard went pretty much round his face, but
I am not positive ; I have a strong impression. He was at about
six or eight feet from me. He was nearly facing me. My impres-
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-sion 1s, that he had on a black round crown felt hat. It was then
about half-past three, or a quarter to four o’clock. It was not a
very bright day. There was a good light in the room. The win-
dows are in front. He stood with his back in the light. I cannot
be positive that I saw him after he left the bank. The first time
I saw him afterwards, was at the gaol,—when I asked the gaoler
to point out the man who called himself Hutchinson. All the other
prisoners were present. I took a general view of the prisoners,
passing among them, and I could not see him ; and it was then that
I asked the gaoler to point him out. The first time I saw the
prisoner, after seeing him in St. Albans, was in the police office.
1 never saw the prisoner Hutchinson threaten any person or commit
any violence. I am not aware that I saw him n the crowd of
armed men.

The prisoners’ counsel declares having no further questions to
put to the deponent, and this deposition having been read in
“the presence of the said prisoners, the deponent declares it contains
the truth, and hath signed JAMES SAXE.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged, )
before me, on the day, month,
and year, and at the place
hereinbefore mentioned.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

By permission of the Court, on application of the counsel for
the prosecution, the deponent, James Saxe, reappears before me
‘the undersigned, and states: I asked the gaoler if he would call
Mr. Hutchinson, who was then out of sight. I did so for the benefit
of Mr. Bairdsley, as Mr. Bairdsley had not seen him since he was a
prisoner.  This is the only correction I have to make in my
deposition.

On cross-examination by permission of the Court: The prisoner
came from the farther end of a very long room, where the greatest
number of prisoners were. The room seemed to be one hundred
feet long, and I had then walked about twenty feet in that room.
There were other persons in the room and at the end of the room.
I could not see distinctly at that distance.

The prisoners’ counsel having declared that he had no further

questions to put to the deponent, this examination is closed, and I
have signed JAMES SAXE.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,
before me, on the day, month,
and year, and at the place
hereinbefore mentioned.
(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.



PROVINCE OF CANADA, 2 POLICE COURT.

District of Montreal.

The examination of ZLeonard Leandre Cross, of the town of |
St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States of
America, photographist, now in the city of Montreal, taken on oath
this eleventh day of November, in the year of our Lord one thou-
sand eight hundred and sixty-four, at the Police Office in the Court
house, in the city of Montreal, in the District of Montreal aforesaid,
before the undersigned Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and
for the said city of Montreal, in the presence and hearing of Samuel
Eugene Lackey, Squirc Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce,
Charles Moore Swager, George Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb
McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty,
Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins,
Marcus Spurr, and William II. Hutchinson, who are now charged
before me, upon complaints made under oath before me under the-
provisions of the Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen, and the
United States of America, and our Statutes in that behalf made,
with having committed within the jurisdiction of the United States
of America, the following crime mentioned in the Treaty betwecen
Her Majesty the Queen, and the United States of America,
to wit:

For that they, the said Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner
Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George
Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alex-
apder Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley
Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H.
Hutchinson, on the nineteenth day of October last past, at the town
of St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States.
of America, being then and there armed with certain offensive wea--
pons and instruments, to wit: pistols commonly known and called
revolvers, loaded with powder and ball and capped, in and upon
one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did make an assault, and him
the said Cyrus Newton Bishop in bodily fear and in danger of his
life, then and there feloniously did put, and a certain sum of money,
to wit: to the amount of seventy thousand dollars current money
of the said United States of America, and of the value of seventy
thousand dollars current money aforesaid, of the moneys and pro--
perty of the bank of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted and
recognized by the laws of the said State of Vermont, and the said
United States of America, from the person and custody, and pos-
sesssion, and against the will of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop,
then and there feloniously and violently did steal, take, and
carry away, against the form. of the: Statutes: of the said State
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of Vermont, in such case made and provided, and against the
peace and dignity of the said State. The deponent, Leonard
Leandre Cross, upon his oath deposeth and saith: I was in
the village of St. Albans on the nineteenth day of October last,
n the afternoon. I saw a party of armed men there that after-
noon ; I should think between twenty and thirty in number. This
was between three and four o’clock in the afternoon. They were
on horseback, and in the street of the village. They were armed
with revolvers, and dressed in ordinary civilians’ clothes. I saw
there on that afternoon, forming part of the armed party I have
spoken of, the prisoners Young, Bruce, Spurr, Lackey, and Collins,
all of whom I now identify. They were all armed with revolvers,
and were on horseback. The party appeared to be acting in con-
cert, and they rode off together ; and shortly after I saw them on
the street they seemed to be in a hurry to get away. ."The prisoner
Young shot at me with a revolver. I saw the party shooting, and
I stepped out of my photograph saloon, and said to one of the party
‘“ What are you trying to celebrate here > Young answered, «“ I’ll
let you know,” and fired his revolver at me. He then said ¢ Come
out ; let every one of you walk out into the street.”” Young then
ordered Lackey to throw Greek fire into Mr. Atwood’s building.
Lackey threw a bottle, or something made of glass, against the
sign over the door of the building. Young said then, * Boys
march up the street, there is too great a crowd gathering round
here.” IHe started off, and fired again at me, or at all events the
ball passed near me. This was the same party that committed
several acts of violence in the village that afternoon. They were
strangers, with the exception of Young, whom I had seen there
before.

The foregoing deposition having been read over in the presence
of the prisoners so charged, the deponent declares that the same

contains the truth, and hath signed :
LEONARD L. CROSS.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,")
before me, on the day, month, |
and year, and at the place

hereinbefore mentioned.
(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

The foregoing deposition having been made and read in the pre-
sence of the said prisoners, they are asked if they have any ques-
tions to put to the deponent, and that having declared by Mr.
Kerr, their counsel, that they had, and the following evidence is
taken in cross-examination :

I went to Stanbridge. I helped to arrest two of the prisoners
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.at Stanbridge. I saw them handcuffed. I was armed when I
was in Stanbridge, having a revolver. I do not remember threat-
.ening to shoot any of the prisoners in Stanbridge. I had my
pistol in my hand when I went into the room where the prisoners
were. They were not handcuffed at that time. I might have
s3id that if the man who had shot at me would give me the same
.chance I would shoot him. I only saw at St. Albans one man
who, after they had ridden up the street, snapped a rifle at them.
It was a man of the name of Gilson. ‘

The prisoners’ counsel declares having no further question to put
o the deponent, and this deposition having been read in the pre-
sence of the said prisoners, the deponent declares it contains the
‘truth, and hath signed

LEONARD L. CROSS.

.Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,

before me, on the day, month,

-and year, and at the place

hereinbefore mentioned.

Cuas J. Coursor, J.S.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,%

District of Montreal. POLICE COURT.

The examination of Daniel Greenleaf Thompson, of the town of
‘Montpelier, in the State of Vermont, one of the United States of
Anmerica, clerk, now in the city of Montreal, taken on oath this 12th
-day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hun-
.dred and sixty-four, at the Police Office in the Court-house, in the
.city of Montreal, in the District of Montreal aforesaid, before the
undersigned Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the said
.city of Montreal, in the presence and hearing of Samuel Eugene
Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles
Moore Swager, George Scott, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall
Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph MecGrorty, Samuel
Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins,
Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, who are now charged
‘before me, upon complaints made under oath before me under the
provisions of the Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen, and the
United States of America, and our Statutes in that behalf made,
with having committed within the jurisdiction of the United States
of America, the following crime mentioned in the Treaty between
Her Majesty the Queen, and the United States of America, to wit:—
Kor that they, the said Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner



5

‘Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, Georgs
Scott, Bennett . Young, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alex-
ander Doty, Joseph MeGrorty, Samuel Simpson Glegg, Dudley
Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and Wilham H.
Hutchmson on the nineteenth day of October last past, at the town
of St. Albans,in the State of Vermont, one of the United States of
America, being then and there armed with certain offensive weapons
and instruments, to wit: pistols commonly known and called revol-
vers, loaded with powder and balls and capped, in and upon one
Cyrus Newton Bishop, feloniously did make an assault and him the
said Cyrus Newton Bishop in bodily fear and in danger of his life,
then and there feloniously did put, and a certain sum of money, to
wit: to the amount of seventy thousand dollars current money of
the said United States of America, and of the value of seventy
thousand dollars current money aforesaid, of the moneys and pro-
perty of the bank of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted and
recognized by the laws of the said State of Vermont, and the said
United States of America, from the person and custody, and pos-
session, and against the will of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then
and there feloniously and violently did steal, take, and carry away
against the form of the Statutes of the said State of Vermont, in such
case made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the

The deponent, Daniel Greenleaf Thompson, upon his oath
deposeth and saith: I have compared the documents produced
and filed in this case, purporting to be copies of three Acts
of the Legislature of Vermont incorporating and relating to St.
Albans bank, with the original Acts on file in the office of the
secretary of state of the said State of Vermont, in which office I
am a clerk, and declare the said documents to be true and exact
copies of the said original Acts respectively. The seal affixed to
each certificate appended to the said copies, is the seal of the said
State of Vermont ; and the signatures, J. Gregory Smith, and G.
W. Bailey, jun., subscrlbed to the said certificates, are the respec-
tive signatures of the governor and secretary of state of the said
State.

The foregoing deposition having been read over in the presence
of the prisoners so charged, the deponent declares that the same
contains the truth, and s1gned

DANIEL G. THOMPSON.

Sworn, taken, and acknowledged,
before me, on the day, month,
and year, and at the place here-
inbefore mentioned.

Cuas. J. Coursor, J.8.P.
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The foregoing deposition having been made and read in tl}e pre-
sence and hearing of the said prisoners, they are asked if they
have any questions to put to the deponent, and that ha_vmg.dq—
“clared by Mr.-Kerr, their counsel, that they had none, this exami-
nation 1s closed.

Montreal, 12th November, 1804.
DANIEL G. THOMPSON.
CHas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

My. Johnson said he understood there was no further evidence
to adduce, for the prosecution, as to the charge of robbery of the-
St. Albans bank. Having closed the evidence in this part of the
case, he believed the defence should be called upon to state what
they intended to do. At any rate, as in other cases, the deposi-
tions should be read to the prisoners to see if they had anything to
say in reply.

Judge Coursol said he had desired to hear the wish of the coun-
sel for the Crown in the matter; and as they thought it advisable
that the voluntary examinations should be taken at this stage, such
should be done.

Hon. Mr. Abbott hoped that the Judge would not consider it
sufficient to have the opinion of the counsel for the Crown, on any
question that might arise in the case. And he submitted that at
least the form of hearing the prisoners’ counsel should be observed.

After some further remarks, at the request of Mr. Devlin, Judge
Coursol suspended proceedings for five minutes to allow the coun-
sel for the Crown and for the prosecution to consult together.

My. Devlin, on returning into Court, asked whether any evidence:
would be produced on the other side. The prosecution intended
-adducing nothing further.

Judge Coursol.—Then the case is closed, and we must take the
voluntary examinations.

Mr. Devlin understood that no further evidence could be adduced
after the voluntary examinations. If that were to be the under-
standing, the counsel for the prosecution were prepared to proceed
with the voluntary examinations.

Judge Coursol.—The law is very clear on this point. It says that
when the examination for the prosecution is closed, the voluntary
statement must be taken, after which the magistrate chlls upon the
accused to go upon their defence.

Mr. Devlin.—Under our statutes the voluntary statement is the
last proceeding.

Judge Coursol.—Will you shew me that ?

After some further discussion,
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Judge Coursol asked what objection they had to the voluntary
statement.

Myr. Devlin answered they had none, but contended that the time
had not yet arrived for the taking of it, unless His Honor decided
that the case was finally closed, and that after this voluntary state-
ment, no further testimony would be permitted.

Judge Coursol said that the English course of practice was, under
existing circumstances, the safest one to follow, and, as laid down in
+¢ Saunders on Summary Convictions,” would guide his course in
this case.

Myr. Devlin said one of the reasons for wishing to defer the
voluntary examinations until they ascertained whether His Honor
would permit the adduction of further evidence, was their belief that
they had a right now to call on the counsel for the defence to make
any application they liked.

Judge Coursol.—I rule that, before the prisoners are called upon
to give answers at all, or before the question as to adducing further
evidence is settled, the voluntary examinations be taken. I must
be understood that I have never expressed any opinion as to whe-
ther the voluntary examinations are requisite or not; but that I
order them to be taken because the counsel for the Crown have
expressed a wish to that effect.

— e

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT

Of the Prisoners charged before the Judge of the Sessions, with
having on the 19th October last, at St. Albans, in the State of
Vermont, one of the United States of America, feloniously
assaulted and put in fear of his life, and stolen from one Cyrus
Newton Bishop, the sum of $70,000 current money of the
United States.

PROVINCE OF CANADA
District of Montreal % POLICE OFFICE.
CITY OF MONTREAL.

Bennett H. Young, late of the town of St. Albans, in the State
of Vermont, onc of the United States of America, stands charged
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before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire, J udge:
of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal, th,lS‘;
twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-four, for that the said Bennett H. Young
and others, to wit: Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner
Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George
Scott, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph
McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Brons-
don Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, on the
nineteenth day of Ottober last past, at the town of St. Albans
aforesaid, in the said State of Vermont, and within the jurisdiction
of the said United States of America, being then and there armed
with certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit, pistols, com--
monly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls,
and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop felon:ously did
make an assault, and him, the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, in bodily
fear and in danger of his life then and there feloniously did put,
and a certain sum of money, to wit, to the amount of seventy
thousand dollars current money of the said United States of
America, and of the value of seventy thousand dollars current
money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the bank of St.
Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognized by the laws
of the said State of Vermont, and of the said United States of
America, from the person, custody and possession, and against the
will, of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously
and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form of
the statutes of the said State of Vermont in such case made and
provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said State; and
the said charge being read to the said Bennett H. Young, and the
witnesses for the prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop, Edward C.
Knight, James F. Desrivieres, Aaron B. Kemp, Leonard L. Cross,
James R. Armington, Charles A. Marvin, George Roberts, Ros--
well A. Ellis, George W. Fairchild, John McLoughlin, Henry N.
Whitman, Marcus W. Beardsley, James Saxe, Daniel G. Thomp--
son, and John O’Leary,—being severally examined in his presence,
the said Bennett H. Young is now addressed by me as follows :
‘““ Having heard the evidence, do you wish to say anything in
““ answer to the charge? You are not obliged to say anything,
“ unless you desire to do so; but whatever you say will be taken

“ down in writing, and may be given in evidence against you at
¢ your trial.”

Whereupon the said Bennett H. Young saith as follows :

I am a native of Kentucky, and a citizen of the Confederate.
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States, to which I owe allegiance. I am a commissioned officer in-
the army of the Confederate States, with which the United States
are now at war. I owe no allegiance to the United States. I here-
with produce my commission as first lieutenant in the Confederate
States army, and the instructions I received at the time that
commission was conferred upon me ; reserving the right to put in
evidence further instructions I have received at such time and in
such manner as my counsel shall advise. Whatever was done at
St. Albans was done by the authority and order of the Confederate-
Government. I have not violated the neutrality laws of either
Canada or Great Britain. Those who were with me at St. Albans
were all officers or enlisted soldiers of the Confederate army, and
were then under my command. They were such before the 19th
of October last, and their term of enlistment has not yet expired.
Several of them were prisoners of war, taken in battle by the Fede--
ral forces, and retained as such, from which imprisonment they
escaped. The expedition was not set on foot or projected in
Canada. The course I intended to pursue in Vermont, and which
I was able to carry out but partially, was to retaliate in some
measure for the barbarous atrocities of Grant, Butler, Sherman,
Hunter, Milroy, Sheridan; Grierson, and other Yankee officers,
except that I would scorn to harm women and children under any
provocation, or unarmed, defenceless, and unresisting citizens,
even Yankees, or to plunder for my own benefit. I am not
prepared for the full defence of myself and my command without
communication with my government at Richmond, and inasmuch
as such communication is interdicted by the Yankee government,
by land and by sea, I do not think I can be ready for such full
defence under thlrty days, during which time I hope to be able
to obtain material important testlmony without the consent of said
Yankee government, from Richmond.

And further the Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the fore-
going having been previously read in his presence.

(Signed) BENNETT H. YOUNG.

Taken and acknowledged before )
me, at the Police Office in the &
sald city of Montreal, the day
and year above mentioned. J

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursowr, J.S.P.
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Lieutenant Young’s Commissions.

CONFEDERATE STATES OF AMERICA,
WAR DEPARTMENT,
Richmond, June 16th, 1864.

S1r,—You are hereby informed that the President has appointed
you First Lieutenant, under the Act 121, approved February 17th,
1864, in the Provisional Army in the service of the Confederate
States, to rank as such from the sixteenth day of June, 1864.
Should the Senate at their next session advise and consent thereto,
you will be commissioned accordingly. .

Immediately on receipt hereof, please to communicate to this
Department, through the Adjutant and Inspector General’s Office,
your acceptance or non-acceptance of said appointment, and, with
your letter of acceptance, return to the Adjutant and Inspector
General the oath herewith enclosed, properly filled up, subscribed,
and attested, reporting at the same time your age, residonce, when
appointed, and the State in which you were born.

Should you accept, you will report for,duty to

(Signed) Jas. A. BEDDON, Secretary of War.
Lieut. Bennet H. Young, &c., &c., P.A.C.S.

——

CONFEDERATE STATES OF AMERICA,
WAR DEPARTMENT.
Richmond, Va., June 16th, 1864.

Lieut. B. H. Young is hereby authorized to organise for special
service, a company not to exceed twenty in number from those who
‘léelong to the service and are at the time beyond the Confederate

tates.

They will be entitled to their pay, rations, clothing, and trans-
portation, but no other compensation for any service which they
may be called upon to render.

The organisation will be under the control of this Department,
and liable to be disbanded at its pleasure, and the members
returned to their respective companies.

Jas. A. SEDDON, Secretary of War.
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"PROVINCE OF CANADA,

District of Montreal, 2 POLICE OFFICE.
CITY OF MONTREAL.

Samuel Eugene Lackey, late of the town of St. Albans, in the
State of Vermont, one of the United States of America, stands
charged before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire,
Jydge of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal,
this twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-four, for that the said Samuel Eugene
Lackey and others, to wit: Bennett H. Young, Squire Turner
Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George
Scott, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph
McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Brons-
don Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, on the
nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of St. Albans
aforesaid, in the said State of Vermont, and within the jurisdiction
of the said United States of America, being then and there armed
with certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit, pistols, com-
monly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls,
and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did
make an assault, and him, the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, in bodily
fear and in danger of his life then and there feloniously did put,
and a certain sum of money, to wit, to the amount of seventy
thousand dollars current money of the said United States of
America, and of the value of seventy thousand dollars current
money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the bank of St.
Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognized by the laws
of the said State of Vermont, and of the said United States of
America, from the person, custody and possession, and against the
will, of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously
and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form of
the statutes of the said State of Vermont in such case made and
provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said State ; and
the said charge being read to the said Samuel E. Lackey, and the
witnesses for the prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop, Edward C,
Knight, James F. Desrivieres, Aaron B. Kemp, Leonard L. Cross,
James R. Armington, Charles A. Marvin, George Roberts, Ros-
well A. Ellis, George W. Fairchild, John McLoughlin, Henry N.
Whitman, Marcus W. Beardsley, James Saxe, Daniel G. Thomp-
son, and John O’Leary,—being severally examined in his presence,
the said Samuel Eugene Lackey is now addressed by me as follows:
¢« Having heard the evidence, do you wish to say anything in
“ answer to the charge? You are not obliged to say anything,
¢ unless you desire to do so; but whatever you say will be taken

G
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“ down in writing, and may be given in evidence against you at
¢ your trial.”

Whereupon the said Samuel Eugene Lackey saith as follows :

I am a native of the Confederate States, of which government I
now owe allegiance. I have been thrown upon this government
not designedly, but by the fortunes of war. I have violated no law
‘of this country, or of Great Britain, unless it be unlawful for a
Confederate soldier, driven by the hard fate of war, to ask the
protection of the British flag. I am a soldier of the Confederate
States army, having been recognized as such by the so-called
United States government, from the fact of having been held as a
prisoner of war, my command now being held as prisoners of war
at Camp Douglas, 1ll., from which place I made my escape through
the mercenary character of these gallant Yankees, a people who
make war for plunder, and are bravest when they make war upon
women and children. I have, during the captivity of my com-
mand, been detached for especial service inside the enemy’s lines,
under the command of Lieut. Bennett H. Young.

And further the Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the fore-
going having been previously read in his presence.

(Signed) SAMUEL EUGENE LACKEY.

Taken and acknowledged before
me, at the Police Office in the l
said city of Montreal, the day
and year above mentioned. )}

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,
Disinict of Montreal, g POLICE OFFICE.

CITY OF MONTREAL.

Marcus Spurr, late of the town of St. Albans, in the State of
Vermont, one of the United States of America, stands charged
before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire, Judge of the
Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal, this twelfth day
of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred
and sixty-four, for that the said Marcus Spurr, and others, to wit:
Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope
Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, Bennett H. Young, Caleb McDowall
Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson
Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, George Scott,
and William H. Hutchinson, on the nineteenth day of October
last past, at the town of St. Albans aforesaid, in the said State of
Vermont, and within the jurisdiction of the said United Statesof
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America, being then and there armed with certain offensive weapons
and instruments, to wit, pistols, commonly known and called revolvers,
loaded with powder and balls, and capped, in and upon one Cyrus
Newton Bishop, feloniously did make an assault, and him, the said
Cyrus Newton Bishop, in bodily fear and in danger of his life then
and there feloniously did put, and a certain sum of money, to wit,
to the amount of seventy thousand dollars current money of the said
United States of America, and of the value of seventy thousand
dollars current money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the
bank of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognized
by the laws of the said State of Vermont, and of the said United
States of America, from the person, custody and possession, and
against the will, of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there felo-
niously and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form
of the statutes of the said State of Vermont in such case made and
provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said State; and
the said charge being read to the said Marcus Spurr, and the witnesses
for the prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop, Edward C. Knight,
James F. Desrivieres, Aaron B. Kemp, Leonard M. Cross, James R.
Armington, Charles A. Marvin, George Roberts, Roswell A. Ellis,
George W. Fairchild,John McLoughlin, Henry N. Whitman, Marzus
W. Beardsley, James Saxe, Daniel G. Thompson, and John O’Leary,
—being severally examined in his presence, the said Marcus Spurr
is now addressed by me as follows: ¢ Having heard the evidence,
“ do you wish to say anything in answer to the charge? You are
““not obliged to say anything, unless you desire to do so ; but what-
“ ever you say will be taken down in writing, and may be given in
“evidence against you at your trial.”

Whereupon the said Marcus Spurr saith as follows:

Am a native of Kentucky ; an enlisted soldier of the Confederate
States army, and my time has not yet expired. I owe no allegi-
ance to the so-called United States, but to the Confederate States
of America. I was held as a prisoner of war in a Yankee Bastile,
and by bribing a ¢ Yankee pay-triot”’ and by daring, escaped.
Afterwards was engaged at different times with soldiers of the afore-
mentioned army in domng duty in the Yankee States. Last summer
at Chicago, I placed myself under the command of Lieut. Young.
I was in the States when the raid upon St. Albans, Vt., was con-
cocted by Lieut. Young and others. What I may have done at
St. Albans, I did as a soldier of the Confederate States army, and
in accordance with orders from Lieut. Young of said army. In
doing this, I have violated no law of Canada or Great Britain. I
have lost kindred, and have had kindred plundered.
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And further Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the foregoing
having been previously read in his presence.
(Signed) MARCUS SPURR.
Taken and acknowledged before
me, at the Police Office in thel
said city of Montreal, the day
and year above mentioned.

(Signed) CHuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,
District of Montreal, 2 POLICE OFFICE.

CITY OF MONTREAL.

Alamanda Pope Bruce, late of the town of St. Albans, in the
State of Vermont, one of the United States of America, stands
charged before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire,
Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal,
this twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thou-
sand eight hundred and sixty-four, for that the said Alamanda
Pope Bruce and others, to wit : Bennett . Young, Samuel Eugene
Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Charles Moore Swager, George
Scott, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph
McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Brons-
don Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, on the
nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of St. Albans
aforesaid, in the said State of Vermont, and within the jurisdiction
of the said United States of America, being then and there armed
with certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit, pistols, com-
monly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls,
and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did
make an assault, and him, the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, in bodily
fear and in danger of his life then and there feloniously did put,
and a certain sum of money, to wit, to the amount of sevent
thousand dollars current money of the said United States of
America, and of the value of seventy thousand dollars current
money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the bank of St.
Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognized by the laws
of the said State of Vermont, and of the said United States of
America, from the person, custody and possession, and against the
will of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously
and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form of
the statutes of the said State of Vermont in such case made and
provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said State ; and
the said charge being read to the said Alamanda Pope Bruce
and the witnesses for the prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop,
Edward C. Knight, James F. Desrivieres, Aaron B. Kemp,Leonard’
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L. Cross, James R. Armington, Charles A. Marvin, George Roberts,
Roswell A.. Ellis, George W. Fairchild, John McLoughlin, Henry N.
Whitman, Marcus W. Beardsley, James Saxe, Daniel G. Thomp-
son, arid John O’Leary,—being severally examined in his presence,
the said Alamanda Pope Bruce is now addressed by me as follows:
“ Having heard the evidence, do you wish to say anything in
“answer to the charge? You are not obliged to say anything,
“ unless you desire to do so; but whatever you say will be taken
“ down in writing, and may be given in evidence against you at
“ your trial.”’

Whereupon the said Alamanda Pope Bruce saith as follows :

I am a native of Kentucky, and am a Confederate States soldier.
My term has not expired. I was made prisoner in June last by
Yankee troops, and made my escape from a car whilst being carried
as such to the Yankee prison at Rock Island. I joined Lieut.
Young at Chicago last August. I have violated no laws of Canada
or Great Britain ; whatever I may have done in the so-called United
States has been an act of war, as my government the Confederate
States, are at war with the Yankees, and I owe allegiance to it,
and am sworn to do my duty as a soldier. I am told that I am
accused of having shot Morrison at St. Albans; if I had shot him
it was my duty to do so. I am taken for a comrade who did do
it who is not here. I do not say this to screen myself, but as it is
the truth I justify the act as an act of war, though Morrison was
not aimed at, but the armed man who skulked behind him. I have
lost kindred in this war, a cousin brutally murdered in Camp
Douglas whilst unarmed, and doing nothing to provoke it. Yankee
plundering and cruel atrocities without parallel, provoked the
attack on St. Albans as a mild retaliation.

And further the Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the fore-
going having been previously read in his presence.

(Signed) ALAMANDA POPE BRUCE.
Taken and acknowledged before

me, at the Police Office in the

said city of Montreal, the day

and year above mentioned.

(Signed) Caas. J. Coursow, J.S.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,
Disirict of Montredl, 2 POLICE OFFICE.

CITY OF MONTREAL.

Charles Moore Swager, late of the town of St. Albans, in the
State of Vermont, one of the United States of America, stands
charged before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire,
Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal,



86

this twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-four, for that the said Charles_Moore
Swager and others, to wit: Bennett H. Young, Samuel Eugene
Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, George
Scott, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph
McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Brons-
don Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchison, on the
nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of St. Albans
aforesaid, in the said State of Vermont, and within the jurisdiction
of the said United States of America, being then and there armed
with certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit, pistols, com-
monly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls,
and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did
make an assault, and him, the said Cyrus Newton Bishop,in bodily
fear and in danger of his life then and there feloniously did put,
and a certain sum of money, to wit, to the amount of seventy
thousand dollars current money of the said United States of
America, and of the value of seventy thousand dollars current
money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the bank of St.
Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognised by the laws
of the said State of Vermont, and of the said United States of
America, from the person, custody, and possession, and against the
will, of the sail Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously
and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form of
the statutes of the said State of Vermont in such case made and
provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said State ; and
the said charge being read to the said Charles Moore Swager, and
the witnesses for the prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop, Edward
C. Knight, James F. Desrivieres, Aaron B. Kemp, Leonard L.
Cross, James R. Armington, Charles A. Marvin, George Roberts,
Roswell A. Ellis, George W. Fairchild, John McLoughlin, Henry
N. Whitman, Marcus W. Beardsley, James Saxe, Daniel G.
Thompson, and John O’Leary,—being severally examined in his
presence, the said Charles Moore Swager is now addressed by me
as follows: * Having heard the evidence, do you wish to say any-
“ thing in answer to the charge ? You are not obliged to say any-
¢ thing, unless you desire to do so ; but whatever you say will be
“ taken down in writing, and may be givenin evidence against you
¢ at your trial.”’

Whereupon the said Charles Moore Swager saith as follows :

I am a Kentuckian and a Confederate soldier, owing no allegi-
ance to any government but the Confederate States of America.
And as a soldier I feel it my duty to harrass and annoy the army
and the navy of the United States, cripple and destroy its shipping
and commerce, capture its towns and cities, and otherwise damage
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if possible, a government which seeks our destruction. Any acts I
‘might have committed at St. Albans, Vt., I did in the capacity of
a Confederate soldier, acting under orders of Lieut. Bennett H.
Young, a commissioned officer in the Confederate army. I have
-violated no law of Canada or Great Britain.
And further the Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the fore-
going having been previously read in his presence.
(Signed) CHARLES MOORE SWAGER.
Taken and acknowledged before
me, at the Police Office in the
sald city of Montreal, the day
and year above mentioned.
(Signed) Caas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,
District of Montrosd % POLICE OFFICE.
CITY OF MONTREAL.

Caleb McDowall Wallace, late of the town of St. Albans, in the
State of Vermont, one of the United States of America, stands
-charged before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire,
-Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal,
this twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand
-eight hundred and sixty-four, for that the said Caleb McDowall
Wallace, and others, to wit : Bennett H. Young, Samuel Eugene
Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles
Moore Swager, George Scott, James Alexander Doty, Joseph Mc-
Grorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon
Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, did, on the
nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of St. Albans
aforesaid, in the said State of Vermont, and within the jurisdiction
of the said United States of America, being then and there armed
with certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit, pistols com-
monly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls,
and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did
make an assault, and him the said Cyrus Newton Bishop in bodily
fear and in danger of his life then and there feloniously did put,
and a certain sum of money, to wit, to the amount of seventy
thousand dollars current money of the said United States of America,
and of the value of seventy thousand dollars current money afore-
said, of the moneys and property of the bank of St. Albans, a body
corporate, constituted and recognized by the laws of the said State
of Vermont, and of the said United States of America, from the
person, custody, and possession, and against the will, of the said
Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously and violently did
steal, take, and carry away, against the form of the statutes of the
said State of Vermont in such case made and provided, and against
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the peace and dignity of the said State ; and the said charge being
read to the said Caleb McDowall Wallace, and the witnesses for the
prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop, Edward C. Knight, James
F. Desrivieres, Aaron B. Kemp, Leonard L. Cross, James R,
Armington, Charles A. Marvin, George Roberts, Roswell A. Ellis,
George W. Fairchild, John McLoughlin, Henry N. Whitman, Marcus
W. Beardsley, James Saxe, Daniel G. Thompson, and John
O’Leary,—being severally examined in his presence, the said Caleb
McDowall Wallace is now addressed by me as follows : ¢ Having
“ heard the evidence, do you wish to say anything in answer to the
“ charge ? You are not obliged to say anything, unless you desire:
¢ to do so; but whatever you say will be taken down in writing and
“ may be given in evidence against you at your trial.”’

Whereupon the said Caleb MeDowall Wallace saith as follows:

I am a native of Kentucky ; but at the incipiency of the war
now pending between the United States and the Confederate States.
of America, I was living in the State of Texas,—one of the Con-
federate States of America. I owe no allegiance to the United
States, but my allegiance is due solely to the Confederate States of
America. Whatever I may have done at St. Albans, I did as a Con-
federate soldier, and in obedience to the order and under the
instructions of Lt. B. H. Young,—a commissioned officer of the
Confederate States of America,—my commander at that time. I
have not violated any law of Canada or Great Britain.

And further the Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the fore--
going having been previously read in his presence.

(Signed) CALEB McDOWALL WALLACE.

Taken and acknowledged before

me, at the Police Office in the

said city of Montreal, the day

and year above mentioned.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,
District of Montreal, % POLICE COURT.

CITY OF MONTREAL.

Joseph McGrorty, late of the town of St. Albans, in the State
of Vermont, one of the United States of America, stands charged
before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire, Judge of
the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal, this
twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-four, for that the said Joseph McGrorty
and others, to wit: Bennett H. Young, Samuel Eugene Lackey,.
Squire Turner Teavis, Charles Moore Swager, George Scott,
Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Alamanda
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Pope Bruce, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas:
Bronsdon Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, on
the nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of St. Albans.
aforesaid, in the said State of Vermont, and within the jurisdiction
of the said United States of America, being then and there armed
with certain-offensive weapons and instruments, to wit, pistols, com-
monly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls,
and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did
make an assault, and him, the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, in bodily
fear and in danger of his life then and there feloniously did put,
and a certain sum of money, to wit, to the amount of seventy
thousand dollars current money of the said United States of"
America, and of the value of seventy thousand dollars current.
money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the bank of St.
Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognized by the laws
of the said State of Vermont, and of the said United States of
America, from the person, custody, and possession, and against the
will, of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously
and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form of
the statutes of the said State of Vermont in such case made and
provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said State; and
the said charge being read to the said Joseph McGrorty, and the
witnesses for the prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop, Edward C.
Knight, James F. Desrivieres, Aaron B. Kemp, Leonard L. Cross,
James R. Armington, Charles A. Marvin, George Roberts, Ros--
well A. Ellis, George W. Fairchild, John McLoughlin, Henry N.
Whitman, Marcus W. Beardsley, James Saxe, Daniel G. Thomp-
son, and John O’Leary,—being severally examined in his presence,
the said Joseph McGrorty is now addressed by me as follows:
“ Having heard the evidence, do you wish to say anything in
“answer to the charge? You are not obliged to say anything,
“unless you desire to do so; but whatever you say will be taken:
¢ down in writing, and may be given in evidence against you at
“your trial.”

Whereupon the said Joseph McGrorty saith as follows :

I am no criminal, nor are any of my comrades. The Yankees
know this, and if we had been captured within their boundaries,
either before or after the capture of St. Albans, we would have been
tried, not by civil law, but by a military commission or drum-head
court-martial. But they found us on a neutral territory, and now
seek by Yankee ingenuity and the boasted influence of their
government to get us into their power. I am a native of Ireland,
and a naturalized citizen of the Confederate States of America,
and of the State of Texas, and owe no allegiance to the United
States, with wkich my country is at war. I am also a soldier of’
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she Confederate States army, and of the 6th corp Cav. Battalion.
T was under General Morgan, in his expedition in Kentucky, last
summer. I was wounded there, and remained in the State some
weeks. When I recovered from the effects of my wound, I reported
to Lieut. Young, for duty. Whatever I may have done in the capa-
.city of a soldier, I feel that I did no more than my duty as a soldier,
in “obeying the orders of my commanding officer, Lieut. Young, a
.commissioned officer of the Confederate States army. I have
violated no law of Great Britain or Canada,—so careful was I in
this respect, that when I found myself on Canadian soil, I threw
away my arms.

And further the Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the fore-
_going having been previously read in his presence.

(Signed) JOSEPH McGRORTY.

Taken and acknowledged before]

me, at the Police Office in the

said city of Montreal, the day

and year above mentioned.

(Signed) CHas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA, g
District of Montreal,
CITY OF MONTREAL.

George Scott, late of the town of St. Albans, in the State
of Vermont, one of the United States of America, stands charged
before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire, Judge
of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal,
this twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thou-
sand eight hundred and sixty-four, for that the said George Scott
and others, to wit: Bennett H. Young, Samuel Eugene Lackey,
Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore
Swager, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph
McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Brons-
don Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, on the
nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of St. Albans
-aforesaid, in the said State of Vermont, and within the jurisdiction
of the said United States of America, being then and there armed
with certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit: pistols
commonly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder and
balls, and capped, m and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop felo-
niously did make an assault, and him the said Cyrus Newton
Bishop in bodily fear and in danger of his life then and there felo-
niously did put, and a certain sum of money, to wit: to the amount
-of seventy thousand dollars current money of the said United
States of America, and of the value of seventy thousand dollars

POLICE COURT.
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current money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the bank
of St. Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognized by the
laws of the said State of Vermont, and the said United States of
America, from the person, custody, and possession, and against the
will, of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously
and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form of
the statutes of the said State of Vermont, in such case made and
provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said State;
and the said charge being read to the said George Scott, and the
witnesses for the prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop, Edward C.
Knight, James F. Desrivieres, Aaron B. Kemp, Leonard L. Cross,
James R. Armington, Charles A. Marvin, George Roberts, Ros-
well A. Ellis, George W. Fairchild, John McLoughlin, Henry N.
Whitman, Marcus W. Beardsley, James Saxe, Daniel G. Thomp-
son, and John O’Leary,—being severally examined in his presence,
the said George Scott is now addressed by me as follows:
¢ Having heard the evidence, do you wish to say anything in
“answer to the charge? You are not obliged to say anything,
“unless you desire to do so ; but whatever you say will be taken
“ down in writing, and may be given in evidence against you at
“ your trial.”

Whereupon the said George Scott saith as follows :

I am a Confederate soldier. I am anative of Kentucky, and owe
no allegiance to the Federal Government, but to the Confederate
States of America. Whatever I may have done at St. Albans, I
did as a soldier, acting under the orders of Lieut. Young, an officer
of the Confederate army. I have violated no law of Canada or
Great Britain.

And further the Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the fore-
going having been previously read in his presence.

(Signed) GEORGE SCOTT.
Taken and acknowledged before)

me, at the Police Office in the

said city of Montreal, the day ?

and year above mentioned.  J

(Signed) CHas. J. Coursow, J.S.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA
District of Montreal, ’2 POLICE OFFICE.
CITY OF MONTREAL.

William H. Hutchinson, late of the town of St. Albans, in the
State of Vermont, one of the United States of America, stands
charged before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire,
Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal,
this twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand
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eight hundred and sixty-four, for that the said William H. Hutch-
inson and others, to wit: Bennett H. Young, Samuel Eugene
Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles
Moore Swager, George Scott, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James
Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dud-
ley Moore, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, and Marcus Spurr, on the
nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of St. Albans
aforesaid, in the said State of Vermont, and within the jurisdiction
of the said United States of America, being then and there armed
with certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit: pistols
commonly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder‘and balls,
and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did
make an assault, and him, the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, in bodily
fear and in danger of his life then and there feloniously did put,
and a certain sum of money, to wit: to the amount of seventy thou-
sand dollars current money of the said United States of America,
and of the value of seventy thousand dollars current money afore-
said, of the moneys and property of the bank of St. Albans, a body
corporate, constituted and recognized by the laws of the said State
of Vermont, and of the said United States of America, from the
person and custody and possession, and against the will, of the said
Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously and violently did
steal, take, and carry away, against the form of the Statutes of the
sald State of Vermont, in such case made and provided, and against
the peace and dignity of the said State ; and the said charge being
read to the said William H. Hutchinson, and the witnesses for the
prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop, Edward C. Knight, James
F. Desrivieres, Aaron B. Kemp, Leonard L. Cross, James R.
Armington, Charles A. Marvin, George Roberts, Roswell A. Ellis,
George W. Fairchild, John McLoughlin, Henry N. Whitman,
Marcus W. Beardsley, James Saxe, Daniel G. Thompson, and John
O’Leary,—being severally examined in his presence, the said
William H. Hutchinson is now addressed by me as follows : ¢ Having
“ heard the evidence, do you wish to say anything in answer to the
“ charge ? You are not obliged to say anything, unless you desire
“ to do so; but whatever you say will be taken down in writing,
“ and may be given in evidence against you at your trial.”

Whereupon the said William H. Hutchinson saith as follows:

I am a native of the State of Georgia, and a citizen of the Con-
federate States of America. Have been an officer in the Confede-
rate army since April, 1861. I am not guilty of the charge brought
against me. I owe no allegiance to the Yankee government. In
December, 1862, was robbed by the Yankee vandals of property
valued at over $50,000. Have not violated the laws of Canada
or Great Britain. I am perfectly willing to share the fate of my
countrymen and fellow-soldiers.
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And further the Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the fore-
going having been previously read in his presence.
(Signed) WILLIAM H. HUTCHINSON.
Taken and acknowledged before
me, at the Police Office in the
said city of Montreal, the day
and year above mentioned.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,
District of Montreal, % POLICE OFFICE.

CITY CF MONTREAL,

Dudley Moore, late of the town of St. Albans, in the State of
Vermont, one of the United States of America, stands charged
before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire, Judge
of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal, this
twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-four, for that the said Dudley Moore and
others, to wit: Bennett I1. Young, Samuel Eugene Lackey, Squire
Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce. Charles Moore Swager,
George Scott, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty,
Joseph MecGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Thomas Bronsdon
Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, on the nine-
teenth day of October last past, at the town of St. Albans aforesaid,
in the said State of Vermont, and within the jurisdiction of the
said United States of America, being then and there armed with
certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit, pistols, com-
monly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls,
and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did
make an assault, and him the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, in bodily
fear and in danger of his life then and there feloniously did put,
and a certain sum of money, to wit, to the amount of seventy
thousand dollars current money of the said United States of
America, and of the value of seventy thousand dollars current
money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the bank of St.
Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognized by the laws
of the said State of Vermont, and of the said United States of
America, from the person, custody and possession, and against the
will of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously
and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form of
the statutes of the said State of Vermont in such case made and
provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said State; and
the said charge being read to the said Dudley Moore, and the
witnesses for the prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop, Edward C.
Knight, James F. Desrivieres, Aaron B. Kemp, Leonard L. Cross,
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James R. Armington, Charles A. Marvin, George Roberts, Roswell
A. Ellis, George W. Fairchild, John McLoughlin, Henry N.
Whitman, Marcus W. Beardsley, James Saxe, Daniel G. Thomp-
son, and John O’Leary,—being severally examined in his presence,
the said Dudley Moore is now addressed by me as follows:
“ Having heard the evidence, do you wish to say anything in
“answer to the charge? You are not obliged to say anything,
“ unless you desire to do so; but whatever you say will be taken
“ down in writing, and may be given in evidence against you at
¢ your trial.”

Whereupon the said Dudley Moore saith as follows:

Whatever I may have done at St. Albans I did as a Confederate
soldier ; acting under the direction and in obedience to the order
of Lieutenant Young, of the Confederate States army. I am a
native of Kentucky, and owe no allegiance to the United States,
but to the Southern Confederacy. I have violated no laws of
Canada or Great Britain.

And further the Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the fore-
going having been previously read in his presence.

(Signed) DUDLEY MOORE.
Taken, and acknowledged before

me, at the Police Office in the

sald city of Montreal, the day

and year above mentioned.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.8.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,
District of Canade, 2 POLICE OFFICE.

CITY OF MONTREAL.

Thomas Bronsdon Collins, late of the town of St. Albans, in the
State of Vermont, one of the United States of America, stands
charged before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire,
Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal,
this twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-four, for that the said Thomas Bronsdon
Collins, and others, to wit: Bennett I. Young, Samuel Eugene
Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles
Moore Swager, George Scott, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James
Alexander Doty, Joseph McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dud-
ley Moore, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, on the
nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of St. Albans.
aforesaid, in the said State of Vermont, and within the jurisdiction
of the said United States of America, being then and there armed
with certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit, pistols, com-
monly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls,
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and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously dicdk
make an assault, and him, the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, in bodily
fear and in danger of his life then and there feloniously did put,
and a certain sum of money, to wit, to the amount of seventy
thousand dollars current money of the said United States of
America, and of the value of seventy thousand dollars current
money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the bank of St.
Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognized by the laws
of the said State of Vermont, and of the said United States of
America, from the person, custody and possession, and against the
will, of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously
and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form of
the statutes of the said State of Vermont in such case made and
provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said State ; and
the said charge being read to the said Thomas Bronsdon Collins,
and the witnesses for the prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop,
Edward C. Knight, James F. Desrivieres, Aaron B. Kemp,
Leonard L. Cross, James R. Armington, Charles A. Marvin,
George Roberts, Roswell A. Ellis, George W. Fairchild, John
McLoughlin, Henry N. Whitman, Marcus W. Beardsley, James
Saxe, Daniel G. Thompson, and John O’Leary,—being severally
examined in his presence, the said Thomas Bronsdon Collins is now
addressed by me as follows : ¢ Having heard the evidence, do you
‘“ wish to say anything in answer to the charge? You are not
“obliged to say anything, unless you desire to do so; but what-
¢ ever you say will be taken down in writing, and may be given in
“ evidence against you at your trial.”

Whereupon the said Thomas Bronsdon Collins saith as follows :

I am a native of Kentucky and a commissioned officer of the
army of the Confederate States at war with the so-called United
States. I served under the command of Gen. John Morgan, and
became separated from it at the battle of Cynthianna, Kentucky.
Having eluded the Yankees, 1 joined Lt. Young afterwards at
Chicago, knowing it to be my duty to my government as well as
to myself never to desert its cause. I owe no allegiance to the
so-called United States, but am a foreigner and public enemy to
the Yankee Government.. The Yankees dragged my father from
his peaceful fireside and family circle, and imprisoned him in
Camp Chase, where his sufferings impaired his health and mind,
and my grandfather has been banished from Kentucky by brute
Burbridge. They have stolen negroes and forced them into their
armies, leaving their women and children to starve and die. The
have pillaged and burned private dwellings, banks, villages and
depopulated whole districts, boasting of their inhuman acts as
deeds of heroism and exhibiting their plunder in northern cities as
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trophies of Federal victories. I have violated no laws of Canada
or Great Britain. Whatever I may have done at St. Albans, I
did as a Confederate officer acting under Lt. Young. WhenlI
left St. Albans, I came to Canada solely for protection. I entered
a hotel at Stanbridge unarmed and alone, and was arrested and
handcuffed by a Canadian magistrate (Whitman) assisted by Yan-
kees. He had no warrant for my arrest, nor had any sworn com-
plaint been made to him against me. About $9,300 was taken from
me when arrested, part Confederate booty lawfully captured and held
by me as such, and part of my own private funds. I ask the res-
toration of the money taken from me and my discharge as demanded
by the rules of international law. The treaty under which my
extradition is claimed, applies to robbers, murderers, thieves, and
forgers. I am neither, but a soldier serving my country in a war
commenced and waged against us by a barbarous foe in violation of
their own constitution, in disregard of all the rules of warfare as
interpreted by civilized nations and christian people, and against
Yankees too wise to expose themselves to danger, while they can
buy mercenaries and steal negroes to fight their battles for them,
who whilst prating of neutrality seduce your own people along the
border to violate the proclamation of your august Sovereign by
joining their armies, and leave them when captured by us to lan-
quish as prisoners in a climate unwholesome to them. If I aided
in the sack of the St. Albans banks, it was because they were
public institutions, and because I knew the pocket-nerve of the
Yankees to be the most sensitive, that they would suffer most by its
being rudely touched. I cared nothing for the booty, except to
injure the enemies of my country. Federal soldiers are bought up
at $1000 a head, and the capture of $200,000 is equivalent to the
destruction of 200 of said soldiers. I therefore thought the expe-
dition ““ would pay”. I ¢ guess’ it did in view of the fact also, that
they have wisely sent severalthousand soldiers from the ¢ bloody
front” to protect exposed points in the rear. For the part I took
I am ready to abide the consequences, knowing that if I am ex-
tradited to the Yankee butchers,my government can avenge if not
protect its soldiers.

And further the Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the fore-
going having been previously read in his presence.

(Signed) THOMAS BRONSDON COLLINS.

Taken and acknowledged before

me, at the Police Office in the

said city of Montreal, the day

and year above mentioned.

(Signed) Cras. J. Coursor, J.S.P.
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PROVINCE OF CANADA,
District of Montsoul g POLICE OFFICE.
CITY OF MONTREAL.

James Alexander Doty, late of the town of St. Albans, in the
State of Vermont, one of the United States of America, stands
charged before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Enquire,
Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal,
this twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-four, for that the said James Alexander
Doty and others, to wit: Bennett H. Young, Samuel Eugene
Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles
Moore Swager, George Scott, Caleb McDowall Wallace, Joseph
McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Brons-
don Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, did, on
the nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of St. Albans
aforesaid, in the sald State of Vermont, and within the jurisdiction
of the said United States of America, being then and there armed
with certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit, pistols com-
monly known and called revolvers. loaded with powder and balls,
and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did
make an assault, and him, the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, in bodily
fear and in danger of his life then and there feloniously did put,
and a certain sum of money, to wit, to the amount of seventy thou-
sand dollars current money of the said United States of America,
and of the value of seventy thousand dollars current money afore-
said, of the moneys and property of the bank of St. Albans, a body
corporate, constituted and recognized by the laws of the said State
of Vermont, and of the said United States of America, from the
person, custody and possession, and against the will, of the said
Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously and violently did
steal, take, and carry away, against the form of the statutes of the
said State of Vermont in such case made and provided, and against
the peace and dignity of the said State ; and the said charge being
read to the said James Alexander Doty, and the witnesses for the
prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop, Edward C. Knight, James F.
Desrivieres, Aaron B. Kemp Leonard L. Cross, James R. Arming-
ton, Charles A. Marvin, George Roberts, Roswell A. Ellis, George
W. Fairchild, John McLoughlin, Henry N. Whitman, Marcus W.
Beardsley, James Saxe, Daniel G. Thompson, and John O’Leary,
—being severally examined in his presence, the said James Alex-
ander Doty is now addressed by me as follows: ¢ Having heard
“ the evidence, do you wishto say anythin in answer to the charge ?
¢ You are not obliged to say anything, unless you desire to do so ;
¢ but whatever you say will be taken down in writing, and may be
“ given in evidence against you at your trial.”

G
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Whereupon the said James Alexander Doty saith as follows:

I am a Confederate soldier. What I may have done at St. Albans
was by order of Lieutenant Young, an officer in the army of the
Confederate States.

And further the Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the fore--
going having been previously read in his presence.

(Signed) JAMES ALEXANDER DOTY.
Taken and acknowledged before

me, at the Police Office in thel

said city of Montreal, the day

and year above mentioned.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S. P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,
District of Montreal, § POLICE COURT.

CITY OF MONTREAL.

Samuel S. Gregg, late of the town of St. Albans, in the State
of Vermont, one of the United States of America, stands charged
before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire, Judge
of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal,
this twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thou-
sand eight hundred and sixty-four, for that the said Samuel Simp-
son Gregg and others, to wit: Bennett H. Young, Samuel Eugene
Lackey, Squire Turner Teavis, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles
Moore Swager, George Scott, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James
Alexander Doty, Joseph MeGrorty, Dudley Moore, Thomas Brons--
don Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, on the
nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of St. Albans,
in the State of Vermont, and within the jurisdiction of the said
United States of America, being then and there armed with certain
offensive weapons and instruments, to wit: pistols commonly known
and called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls, and capped,
in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did make an
assault, and him the said Cyrus Newton Bishop in bodily fear and
in danger of his life then and there feloniously did put, and a certain.
sum of money, to wit: to the amount of seventy thousand dollars
current money of the said United States of America, and of the
value of seventy thousand dollars current money aforesaid, of the
moneys and property of the bank of St. Albans, a body corporate,
constituted and recognized by the laws of the said State of Ver-
mont, and the said United States of America, from the person,
custody, and possession, and against the will, of the said Cyrus.
Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously and violently did steal,
take, and carry away, against the form of the statutes of the said
State of Vermont, in such case made and provided, and against the
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peace and dignity of the said State; and the said charge being
read to the said Samuel Simpson Gregg, and the witnesses for the
prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop, Edward C. Knight, James
F. Desrivieres, Aaron B. Kemp, Leonard L. Cross, James R.
Armington, Charles A. Marvin, George Roberts, Roswell A. Ellis,
George W. Fairchild, John McLoughlin, Henry N. Whitman,
Marcus W. Beardsley, James Saxe, Daniel G. Thompson, and
John O’Leary,—being severally examined in his presence, the
said Samuel Simpson Gregg is now addressed by me as follows:
“ Having heard the evidence, do you wish to say anything in
‘“answer to the charge? You are not obliged to say anything,
‘ unless you desire to do so; but whatever you say will be taken
“ down in writing, and may be given in evidence against you at
“ your trial.”’

Whereupon the said Samuel Simpson Gregg saith as follows :

I was born and reared in the State of Kentucky. I am a Con-
federate soldier. My term of service is not yet expired. I owe no
allegiance to the United States Government. Whatever I may
have done in the month of October last, in St. Albans, in a military
point of view I did as a Confederate soldier, acting under orders of
Lieut. B. H. Young, Confederate.

And further the Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the fore-
going having been previously read in his presence.

(Signed) SAMUEL 8. GREGG.
Taken and acknowledged before

me, at the Police Office in the

said city of Montreal, the day,

and year above mentioned.

(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.8.P.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,
District of Montreal, E POLICE OFFICE.

‘CITY OF MONTREAL.

Squire Turner Teavis, late of the town of St. Albans, in the
State of Vermont, one of the United States of America, stands
charged before the undersigned, Charles Joseph Coursol, Esquire,
Judge of the Sessions of the Peace in and for the city of Montreal,
this twelfth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thou-
sand eight hundred and sixty-four, for that the said Squire Turner
Teavis and others, to wit: Bennett H. Young, Samuel Eugene
Lackey, Alamanda Pope Bruce, Charles Moore Swager, George
Scott, Caleb McDowall Wallace, James Alexander Doty, Joseph
McGrorty, Samuel Simpson Gregg, Dudley Moore, Thomas Brons-
don Collins, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, on the
nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of St. Albans
aforesaid, in the said State of Vermont, and within the jurisdiction
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of the said United States of America, being then and there armed
with certain offensive weapons and instruments, to wit, pistols, com-
monly known and called revolvers, loaded with powder and balls,
and capped, in and upon one Cyrus Newton Bishop feloniously did
make an assault, and him, the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, in bodily
fear and in danger of his life then and there feloniously did put,
and a certain sum of money, to wit, to the amount of seventy
thousand dollars, current money of the said United States of
America, and of the value of seventy thousand dollars current
money aforesaid, of the moneys and property of the bank of St.
Albans, a body corporate, constituted and recognized by the laws
of the said State of Vermont, and of the said United States of
America, from the person, custody and possession, and against the
will of the said Cyrus Newton Bishop, then and there feloniously
and violently did steal, take, and carry away, against the form of
the statutes of the said State of Vermont in such case made and
provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said Staie ; and
the said charge being read to the said Squire Turner Teavis, and
the witnesses for the prosecution,—Cyrus Newton Bishop, Edward
C. Knight, James F. Desriviéres, Aaron B. Kemp, Leonard L.
Cross, James R. Armington, Charles A. Marvin, George Roberts,
Roswell A. Ellis, George W. Fairchild, John McLoughlin, Henry
N. Whitman, Marcus W. Beardsley, James Saxe, Daniel G. Thomp-
son, and John O’Leary,—being severally examined in his presence,
the said Squire Turner Teavis is now addressed by me as follows :
¢ Having heard the evidence, do you wish to say anything in answer
“to the charge? You are not obliged to say anything, unless you
“desire to do so; but whatever you say will be taken down in
¢ writing, and may be given in evidence against you at your trial.”

Whereupon the said Squire Turner Teavis saith as follows :

I am a native of Kentucky, a soldier of the Confederate States
army. I joined the said army on the 3rd of September 1862. I owe
my allegiance to the Confederate Government, and not to the infa-
mous and tyrannical Yankee Government. Whatever I may have
done at St. Albans,.I did as a soldier of the Confederate army ;
not on my own responsibility, but in obedience to the orders of
Lieut. Young of said army. I have violated no law of Great
Britain or Canada. ‘

And further the Examinant saith not, and hath signed, the fore-
going having been previously read in his presence.

(Signed) SQUIRE TURNER TEAVIS.
Taken and acknowledged before

me, at the Police Office in the &

sald city of Montreal, the day

and year above mentioned.

(Signed)  Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.
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Mr. Devlin said it was now the time when the counsel for the
prisoners should enter upon their defence. One of the cases against
the prisoners had been closed, and the Court should now call upon
them to establish their defence. He hoped the Court would call
upon the counsel for the accused, to proceed at once ; the counsel
for the prosecution being prepared, when the gentlemen on the
other side had closed their defence, to argue this case, and obtain
the judgment of the Court before being called upon to go on now
with other cases against the prisoners.

Myr. Kerr.—The learned counsel certainly made a very extraor-
dinary demand, and one which the Court would assuredly look upon
with no favor. What was to be understood by this application ?
What case did his learned friend allude to when he asked that the
counsel for the prisoners should now be called upon to make their
defence ? Was it the case of the First National bank, or the St.
Albans bank ?  When the facts connected with the First National
bank were under consideration, it was distinctly understood by the
counsel for the defence, that all the cases were to be proceeded
with, and that after they were closed, the accused should be called
upon to make their defence. In proof of this understanding, the
cases of the two banks had been proceeded with simultaneously.
But although this was the case, the counsel on the other side, in
order to put themselves in possession of the prisoners’ means of
defence, and discover their weak points, and fortify their position
that those means could not be in any subsequent case, now called
upon the Court to compel the accused to make their defence.
The distinct understanding between the prosecution and the
defence was, that all the cases were to be gone through with, as he
had already stated. His Honor the Judge was a witness of the
correctness of the assertion; and the irrefutable evidence of the
fact was, that the two cases of the two different banks at St.
Albans were proceeded with at the same time. The counsel for
the defence had made no objection when the second case was
called upon, aithough at the time the first was not half finished.
And now because one of these cases chanced to be finished, the
other side called this side to enter upon the defence. It would be
useless for the counsel on behalf of the accused, to encumber them-
selves and the Court, and to fritter away time with six different
defences, especially when they intended to limit themselves to one
defence on the merits, to one defence in all the cases. The counsel
for the accused would bind themselves to close their defence in a
reasonable time. On Saturday evening the counsel on both sides
had agreed upon a delay, and had approximately settled the con-
ditions of it. In fact the counsel for the accused were under the
impression the agreement was closed, and would be carried out;
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and he was exceedingly surprised this morning to find that they
were to be taken by the throat and required to proceed with the
defence. He did not think, after the facilities which the counsel
on this side had afforded to gentlemen on the other side to go on
with their cases, that the understanding with which the cases com-
menced should be violated, even if the agreement of Saturday
should be broken up. In consequence of this understanding, Mr.
Laflamme, one of his confréres, had left town, and he did not think
it right or fair, that it should thus be set aside by the counsel for
the prosecution.

Myr. Ritchie, on the part of the prosecution, would say, that he
had been present several days and heard no word of such agree-
ment. It was certainly not known between the gentlemen repre-
senting the United States, and the gentlemen for the defence. If
there was any such agreement it must be between the gentlemen
representing the Canadian Government and those for the defence.

Mr. Devlin had been in the case since the beginning and con-
sidered he represented the United States generally as Mr. Ritchie
did. He (Mr. D.) could therefore state that he was utterly op-
posed to any attempts made to obtain delay. The prosecution now
declared the case of the St. Albans bank closed ; but they did not
wish to press the gentlemen on the opposite side as to time. The
prosecution wished those gentlemen to name the day on which
they would go on with the defence. As to the understanding of
Saturday night, if the defence had been led astray, and if on that
account, any of their witnesses were absent, they would be entitled
to reasonable delay in order to get the witnesses back.

Mr. Johnson, Q. C., said that nothing would give him greater
pleasure than that there should be an understanding, so that delay
would be avoided, and the case facilitated. But the idea of the
Crown of England making an agreement with criminals, was a thing
totally unheard of. e could not enter into any agreement with
the prisoners for delay ; and the reason was that such an agree-
ment would not be binding on the prisoners.

Hon. Mr. Abbott, Q. (.—What has been stated by my learned
friend, Mr. Kerr, is perfectly correct. When the examination of
witnesses commenced, there was an understanding to the effect
that the examinations in all the charges should be taken before we
entered upon the defence. That was the understanding on all
hands ; and my learned friends on the other side had at that time
no other course in contemplation. It was suggested to your
Honor—or rather your Honor originated the idea—that it was
better that the portion of the evidence of each witness applicable
to any particular charge, should be taken by itself, apart from
that having reference to other charges. For instance, if Mr.
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Sowles could testify as to the facts in the case of the First National
bank, that evidence should go into one deposition, while any evi-
dence he could give in the case of the St. Albans bank should go
into another. I think this was an arrangement well calculated
to prevent confusion, and, so far, it has done so. And to show
that this arrangement was comprehended by my learned friends
opposite, they proceeded promiscuously with the examinations of
witnesses in the cases of both the St. Albans banks ; some of those
witnesses giving evidence applicable to both charges, the deposi-
tions being, however, kept separate. There has been a great deal
of good effected in thus keeping the evidence in each charge so
well defined and distinct.

There is no question here of an agreement between the Crown
and criminals, for the Crown has nothing to do with the case what-
ever, and the prisoners are not criminals under our laws—even if
they are guilty as charged. The question was merely one of re-
gularity of procedure, which it is your Honor’s province to decide
upon ; and all parties, with your Honor’s sanction, having pro-
ceeded with these cases in a well-defined and convenient mode, it
is submitted that that mode should not now be departed from.
And there is no reason for departing from it, but the contrary.

The accused are charged with seven offences; but can they be
seven times extradited ? The object of these charges is to get the
accused across the frontier ; and if one of them is proved, that one
would warrant their extradition, while proof of them all would do
no more. To all these charges we have only one defence to make;
and, in fact, the evidence thus far taken shows that all the offerces
charged are acts committed in an enterprise—of which each act is
only an incident. I don’t understand whether this prosecution is
carried on by the Crown or the United States Government ; but
whichever of these two authorities it is, if the proposition of the
prosecution be adopted to try each case separately, and if they fail
to make out the present charge, of course evidence will have to
be taken on the next charge, and we will also have to bring up our
evidence, and to go over the same ground again, and so on till all

‘the charges are disposed of—or until one is established. At such
a rate of proceeding, these men will be kept in gaol for six months,
whether innocent or not, which is probably the intention.

The distinction between this and ordinary criminal investigations
is an obvious one. If these men were under charges of seven
crimes committed in Canada, they would be liable to seven punish-
ments if they were found guilty. That would be a good reason for
trying them separately ; but there is no good reason for doing so
when a commitment upon them all would ensail no greater punish-
ment as far as this tribunal i1s concerned, than if they were com-
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mitted upon one. All confusion may be avoided by taking the
charges together, and then we will submit our defence, which rests
on one ground only. We have made no unnecessary cross-exami-
nation ; we have thrown no obstacles in the way; and we now
desire the case to proceed. Let the whole of the charges be
‘brought up, and then it will be found we are ready with our de-
fence.

Hon. Mr. Rose, Q.C., contended that the defence should now
be called upon ; and by this course being adopted, the case would
not only be facilitated, but the interests of justice subserved. If
the prisoners are committed on this charge, no further enquiry is
necessary. If they are discharged on the merits of it, it would be
useless to proceed on any other.

Myr. Abbott.—Then if they are discharged on this charge, will
you abandon the others ?

Myr. Devlin.—We will answer that when the time comes.

At the opening of the Court at two o’clock,

Judge Coursol said: Now that the voluntary examinations have
been closed, I desire to state that I in no way recognize this pro-
ceeding as regular or legal, and do not wish that it should be con-
sidered as a precedent for the other cases. The voluntary examina-
tions were taken because Mr. Johnson, as representing the Crown,
in this case requested it ; but I entertain serious doubts as to the
necessity of it, and would, therefore, wish it to be understood. that I
give nolegal opinion as to whether the voluntary examination of the:
accused, under the provisions of the Statute to give effect to
the Extradition Treaty, is a proper proceeding or not. Then,
coming to the point submitted to me before the recess, I have arrived
at the conclusion that it is better to allow the accused a reasonable
delay for their defence: but, before according that delay, I musy
be satisfied that a sufficient reason exists for it, and I therefore call
upon the counsel for the defence to state whether they have any
preliminary objections to urge as to the proceedings in the St.
Albans bank case, as the nature of their objections if there are any
may very much affect my course of procedure in granting the
delay asked for on the part of the defence. The disposal of these
preliminary objections seems to me necessary, with the view to save
time, and to dispose of those matters as speedily as possible. Those
objections may be of such anature as to dispense with the necessity
of any defence whatever, and upon this point I must be satisfied
before I grant a delay for a defence upon the merits. It is neces-
sary, in the interests of the public service, for the peace and tran-
quillity of the country, that these cases should be proceeded with as
speedily as possible, having, of course, due regard to the interests
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of the accused, and I wlll do all in my power to see that no un-
necessary delay shall arise. At the same time, I shall expect the
prosecution, whether a delay be granted or not, to proceed with the
other cases, or declare they withdraw them ; if the counsel for the
defence had any preliminary objections to the proceedings in the
St. Albans bank case I am prepared to hear them.

Mr. Abbott said that such a question took them very much by
surprise, and that he had not yet scrutinised the proceedings for
the purpose of ascertaining whether a preliminary objection was
available ; but that he would be prepared to answer the question if
a little time were given.

Judge Coursol said that the delay to be given to the prisoners
for preparing their defence would depend greatly upon the nature
of the preliminary objections made.

Myr. Abbott said that surely the fact that the prisoners considered
the proceedings informal, and objected to them, could not possibly
affect the opinion of the Judge as to the length of time that should
reasonably be allowed them for their defence.

Judge Coursol said that it might very materially affect that
question. .

Mr. Kerr said that the counsel for the prisoners would offer no
preliminary objection which they did not feel their duty to their
clients compelled them to do ; and he trusted that the performance
of that duty would not expose their clients to have the time short-
ened, which would otherwise be considered a reasonable time.

Judge Coursol said he should decide, after hearing the objection,
what delay would be reasonable.

Mr. Devlin desired to know what the objections were ?

Mpr. Abbott said that at this moment he could not say whether
any objection would be made or not.

Mpr. Rose said he thought the objections should be previously siz--
nified to the parties in writing.

. Mr. Johnson said he had supervised the proceedings on the part
of the Crown, and that he was prepared to sustain them without
any previous notice.

Judge Coursol said that to require previous notice was very
unusual.

Tuesday, Nov. 15.

At the opening of the Court this morning,

My. Kerr rose and said he had observed in the warrant that
certain property or effects stated to be stolen, were alleged to be
stolen from the bank of St. Albans. This allegation was an impor-
tant one, and one without which it would have been impossible t3
arrest the prisoners. But in this warrant, issued under the provi-
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sions of the Treaty, and the statute to give effect to the Treaty,
the same particularity was required as in an indictment. The war-
rant should show the offence committed by the prisoners, 1n order
that they should be legally apprehended. It was necessary to show
who was the person robbed, and whose were the effects. The
learned gentleman having cited authority, went on to say, the
warrant disclosed the special fact that the money belonged to the
bank of St. Albans. Now the question to be decided was—had
any evidence been brought forward to show that there was such an
institution in existence in the State of Vermont as the bank just
named ? He affirmed there was no such evidence. What had been
shown was, that an act or incorporation had been given to the
¢ President, Directors and Company ”” of a certain bank. There
was nothing to substantiate the fact that. the bank of St. Albans
‘was the institution meant in the incorporation of a certain ¢ Presi-
dent, Directors, and Company.” It was hardly necessary to cite
authorities to prove that no corporate body could be named in an
indictment, except in the proper terms ; in fact this point was
settled two years ago, at a term of the Court of Queen’s Bench
held in this city, and in a case in which he and his learned friend
Mr. Devlin were engaged. It was only by its corporate name that
the existence of any institution could be recognized. In this case
the corporate name had not been given ; therefore the Court did
not know there was any such institution as the bank of St. Albans.

My. Devlin replied that if this argument had been applied to a
bill of indictment, it might, perhaps, have some weight ; but applied
'in a preliminary investigation of this nature, it could have no effect.
There was a vast difference between a simple investigation of
charges and a bill of indictment. The prisoners were not before
the Court on a bill of indictment.

Judge Coursol said that the remarks of Mr. Kerr might hold
good if the prisoners were before the Court on an indictment for an
offence. But they were not in that position, and this was simply a
preliminary examination. If errors had been made, they had been
rectified by the evidence, and the Court could still further rectify
.any errors in the final committment, if such a commitment had to
be made out.

Hon. Mr. Abbott made application for a delay of thirty days
to enable the prisoners to obtain the evidence necessary for the
-defence ; and in support of the application, read the following affi-
davit made by Young, Collins, and Wallace, on behalf of themselves
.and of their fellow prisoners.
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PROVINCE OF CANADA,
District of Montreal, 2 POLICE COURT.

LOWER CANADA, TO WIT.

Bennet II. Young, Thomas Bronsdon Collins, and Caleb
McDowall Wallace, being themselves prisoners, and on behalf of
their fellow prisoners in this matter, being severally duly sworn, do
depose and say: That deponents and the other prisoners charged
with the offence now under investigation require certain testimony
which is necessary and material to their defence, and which they
are unable to procure in Montreal, or even in Canada. That they
desire to prove and can prove, if time be allowed them to procure the
requisite evidence, that every one of the prisoners now in custody
13 an officer or soldier of the army of the Confederate States of
America, duly enlisted, enrolled or commissioned respectively, and
their term of service has not expired. That they also desire to
prove and can prove, if time be allowed them for that purpose, that
this deponent, Bennet II. Young, is, and was on the nineteenth
day of October last, an officer of the army of the Confederate
States of America, holding the commission and rank of first lieu-
tenant in that army, and that they, the rest of these deponents, and
of the prisoners, were duly engaged and placed under his command
for special service, under the authority to him given by the
government of the said Confederate States, through the -Secre-
tary for the War Department thereof. That they also desire
to prove and can prove, if time be allowed them for that pur-
pose, that every act and thing which they or any of them
did on the 19th of October last, at St. Albans, in the State of
Vermont, was so done under and in pursuance of the orders of the
said Lieutenant Young, given by him by virtue of his instructions
from the said government and of his authority in the premises.
That all and every of the said acts were duly authorized and
directed by the military authorities of the said Confederate States
acting under the Government thereof, and were acts of warfare
committed and performed in conformity with the rules and prece-
dents by which civilized warfare is conducted ; and that they were
more than justified by the acts of generals and armies in the ser-
vice and under the orders of the Federal Government of the
United States, and as retaliation for such acts. That the said
acts of these deponents and of the other prisoners have, as depo-
nents are informed and believe, been approved of by the said
Government of the said Confederate States, as being done in con-
formity with instructions so received from the said Government.
That deponents and the other prisoners have applied to the Hon.
Mr. Edmonds now here representing the United States Govern-
ment for a safe conduct for a messenger to proceed to Richmond
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in the said Confederate States for the documentary and other evi-
dence required to establish the foregoing facts, but that the said
application has not been granted. That if such safe conduct
were granted, the said evidence could be obtained i eight.
or ten days, but as the same has been refused, a period of at
least thirty days will be required to enable these deponents and
the other prisoners to obtain such evidence by other means, and
that a less period of time than the said period of thirty days will
be insufficient to enable them to obtain the same. And deponents
further say that if they are not accorded the said delay to enable
them to procure the evidence necessary for their defence, such evi-
dence as they will be enabled to offer will be necessarily less perfect
than if a just and humane indulgence were accorded to them, such
as they now declare to be necessary ; and that if by reason of the
want of the requisite time to obtain such evidence, their defence
should be imperfectly established, and they should thereupon be-
delivered to the emissaries of the Federal Government, such a pro-
ceeding will be handing them over to certain death at the hands of
the executioner, on the pretence that they have committed crimes
which they never either committed or contemplated, and which they
look upon with abhorrence; but in reality because they are the’
enemies of the Northern Government, engaged in warfare against
them, and because that government desires to wreak vengeance-
upon them, which is neither justifiable by the laws of war nor any
civilized country; and that such a death would be a judicial mur-
der, the guilt of which would lie upon those by whom deponents.
would be deprived of the power of adducing evidence in their
defence ; and deponents have signed.
(Signed) BENNETIT H. YOUNG,
T. B. COLLINS,

C. M. WALLACE.
Sworn before me, at Montreal, this

15ih day of November, 1864.
(Signed) Cuas. J. Coursor, J.S.P.

Mr. Abbott submitted to his Honor that the prisoners should be
allowed the thirty days they prayed for.

Mpr. Johnson, Q.C., on the part of the Crown, took this affidavit
to mean that the prisoners desired thirty days’ delay to procure
evidence. He could not conceal from himself that this was the:
first time any such question arose since the passing of the Treaty..
It was quite true that in England and here, in the case of crime-
committed within our own jurisdiction, a magistrate might receive
exculpatory evidence, and return it with the other evidence. But
did this course apply to crimes under the treaty, committed in.
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foreign jurisdiction ? Not at all. What would be the effect of the
Court granting this application? Why, it would be to oust the
courts of the United States of their jurisdiction. If thirty days
were granted, then these gentlemen might, at the end of that time,
ask for a hundred days,—the one request would be as reasonable
as the other. He was not prepared to say these gentlemen had
power, in the face of the United States authorities, to penetrate to
Richmond, and obtain documents, under thirty days; but at all
events, the demand was one which his learned friends had no right
to make. To grant such demand would be to deprive the United
States courts of their jurisdiction.

Mr. Kerr said he was happy to see that the Crown, or rather
the counsel for the Crown, had at last got rid of the haze which,
since the commencement of these proceedings, had enveloped the
position occupied by him, and had now come out in his true colors,
when he said on the part of the Crown of Great Britain that he
protested against thirty days being allowed the prisoners to com-
municate with the capital of the country to which they professed to
belong. The Government of Great Britain or that of Canada had
1o right whatever to interfere in this case ; and the conduct of the
Crown here in the management of this prosecution had been
marked from beginning to end by an exhibition of the most dis-
graceful despotism on the part of its ministers and of those who
attended to its interests in this Province, in support of which alle-
gation he referred to the experience of the learned Judge of
Sessions himself. He maintained that the Government of Cana-
da,—he would not say that the Government of Great Britain was
responsible, as it knew nothing of the proceedings adopted in this
case,—in the course it had taken in the present enquiry, had shown
an ignorance of constitutional law which would draw upon it the
reprobation of the law officers of Great Britain when the circum-
stances of this case came to the ears of the people of that country.
He believed it would never be said in Great Britain, that that
country which had boasted of being an asylum of political refu-
gees from time immemorial—which had received and protected
the refugees from France at and since the time of the First
Revolution—hich had even shielded its present Emperor from
the hands of his enemies—would authorise her officers to appear
in any case of extradition in order to deliver up men whose
only offence was their being political refugees, to use their
own words “thrown by the fortunes of war on her soil.” The
Crown here had forgotten its duty in employing its officers to pro-
secute this case, for it was patent that from the first they had
appeared against the prisoners conjointly with the counsel for the
United States. In ordinary cases the course was that, after the
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magistrate or justice had completed the enquiry and made his
report, the law officers of the Crown were called upon for their
opinion thereon. But we had evidence throughout of a prejudging
of this case, having had subordinates of the Crown coming here to
conduct the prosecution ; and without any knowledge of the facts
of the case, the intention of the government, we believe, has been
to extradite the prisoners if by any means it possibly could be
effected. The objections against the solicited delay would have
come with some grace from the counsel for the United States, but
for the counsel for the Crown to have opposed it, to have virtually
contended that it was not proper or desirable to have all the facts
of the case elicited—thus endeavoring to suppress the real facts
and circumstances at issue-—was something truly astonishing, and
which could never have been expected in a country boasting of any
Englishman, Irishman, or Scotchman at its head. He (Mr. Kerr)
would now address himself to the argument of the counsel for the
Crown, who had said he did not know whether we were entitled to
produce evidence or not in this case.

Myr. Johnson was understood to contend that they were entitled
to produce exculpatory evidence if at hand ; but that his Honor
was not obliged to wait any length of time asked by the counsel for
the defence.

Myr. Kerr maintained it was not a matter for the discretion of the
Justice, the allowance of the production of evidence on the part of
the defence ; but a matter of strict right. It was clearly laid down
by the present chief justice of the Court of Common Pleas, as well
as by one of the justices of Her Majesty’s Court of Queen’s Bench
in London, that a prisoner has a right to bring forward evidence in
his own defence. In order to support his position, he would refer to
Saunders’ Practice of Magistrates’ Courts, page 154, on the subject
of ¢ Calling witnesses in behalf of the Prisoner.” Tt is there said
that it may be that the prisoner is in a position to rebut by evi-
dence the case established against him, and that he is desirous
of calling witnesses. Formerly it was doubted whether or not it
was the duty of the magistrates to hear this evidence, but the
received opinion at the present day is, that it 4s their duty.””
In the absence of any judicial decision upon the subject it may be
convenient to refer to the Opinion of four very eminent and learned
personages, namely, the late Attorney General (now Chief Justice
of the Common Pleas), Mr. Crompton (now Mr. Justice Cromp-
ton), and Messrs. Ellis and Hall, given upon a case submitted to
them by the Magistrates of Leeds. That case raised inter alia
the following questions : ’

First—Is it incumbent upon the magistrate before whom an
indictable offence is in course of preliminary investigation, to
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hear and examine witnesses adduced by the prisoner in his answer
or defence to the charge against him; or has the magistrate
any discretion to receive or reject such evidence, and if any
discretion, of what kind or nature is it, and how ought it to
be exercised by him ?’ This was the answer. ¢ First—The
question firstly submitted to us is certainly not free from diffi-
culty, but considering that the practice under the old statute
was to examine a prisoner’s witnesses, and that the language of
the 11th and 12th Vic., cap. 42, s. 17, admits of such a construc-
tion, and that the interests of justice demand it, we think that it is
incumbent on magistrates to hear and examine such of the witnesses
offered by the prisoner as appear (in the language of the statute)
to know the facts and circumstances of the case.” At page 157
it would be seen that in this view of the matter Chief Baron Pol-
lock exactly coincided. With respect to showing that the magis-
trate, to a certain extent, acted as a judge, which had been denied
by the learned gentleman on the other side, he (Mr. Kerr) would
refer to another passage in ¢ Saunders.” But first it would be
observed that counsel on the other side held that the magis-
trate was to satisfy himself that a crime had been committed, in
disposing of a prisoner, but not to satisfy himself that a crime had
not been committed. It was thus laid down in the authority just
mentioned : ¢ If, however, from the slender nature of the evidence,
the unworthiness of the witnesses or the conclusive proof of inno-
cence produced on the part of the prisoner, they (magistrates)
feel that the case is not sustained, and that if they committed for
trial, a verdict of acquittal must be the necessary consequence, they
will at once discharge the accused, and so put an end to the enquiry
as far as they are themselves concerned.” "Then, were the defence
to be deprived in this case—taking it for granted there were cer-
tain portions of international law applicable—of the privilege of
bringing forward the witnesses considered necessary for the defence ?
Could it be pretended that, when they said it was utterly impos-
sible to obtain, for the present, testimony from Richmond, owing to
the difficulties which beset communication with that city—when
there were refused a safe conduct by the United States—when
these facts were established on oath, that in a British Court of justice
a prisoner so situated was not to have the opportunity, the time to
bring up the testimony necessary for his defence, but that at the
demand of a foreign Power, or through the cowardice of our nation,
fearful of the invasion, threatened by the New York papers, the

risoners before us were to be deprived of that justice which
hitherto it had been the boast of every Court in Great Britain
and Treland was extended to the humblest as well as the noblest
subject in the land ? Arguments such as those advanced by the
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counsel for the Crown showed that they were afraid to encounter
the evidence the defence would bring forward of the character in
which the prisoners figured in their raid on St. Albans. As Mr.
Laflamme had something to remark on this point, he would say no
more at present. .

M. Laflamme said that the proposition on the part of the Crown
officers was that the granting of the delay asked for would de-
prive the tribunals of the United States of the exercise of their
jurisdiction upon the offence alleged against the prisoners. Assur-
edly a proposition of this description was rather a strange one
to come from the Crown officers, as it would amount to an indica-
tion of a sort of conspiracy entered into between them and the
Federal authorities, for the purpose of kidnapping the prisoners
from British territory, where they were entitled to their freedom,
and to surrender them to their enemies who were awaiting their
rendition, not to do justice to, but to wreak vengeance upon them.
This would be the result of the proceedings, if the prisoners were
denied the right of exculpating themselves. It had been said also
that when prisoners had exculpatory evidence at hand, they might
be allowed the privilege of bringing it up; but when they had not
such ready, they should not be allowed the privilege of adducing it.
Upon what authority could such a principle rest? He had several
times heard very strange law, but this was the strangest he ever
listened to. The exceptional character of the prisoners, and the
exceptional position in which they stood, far from limiting the pri-
vileges ordinarily allowed the accused, should rather operate to
their greater liberty and advantage ; because were it not for the
treaty which gave His Honor jurisdiction in such matters, even
suppose the prisoners had committed crimes in the States, they
could not have been made amenable in Canada. The acts which
they committed out of the limits of this jurisdiction were no crimes
cognizable by His Honor or any Courts of this Province, and con-
sequently every benefit of law extended to the accused must be
accorded the present prisoners, who could not be considered as cri-
minals in the eyes of the committing magistrate. They were only
detained for the execution of the international treaty between
Canada and the United States, and could not be detained or regarded
as criminals till such evidence of criminality be adduced as would
Justify His Honor in committing for extradition. The prisoners
had committed no offence according to our law, and more than the
ordinary benefits of that law should be accorded them. Assuredly,
in a case of this description, it would be sufficient to refer to the
Statute, independent of the general principle of law, to establish
that evidence according to the rules of our own law was required to
show that an offence had been committed. There might be crimin-
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ality on their part, but they must necessarily be allowed every
opportunity to show there was no criminality. If a party was
accused of murder and came before the Court and showed the man
sald to be murdered was alive or killed by accident, assuredly there
could be no criminality chargeable, and if a man accused of thefs
could prove the property supposed to be stolen belonged to him
there certainly would be no criminality in such a case. Therefore
if a magistrate were bound to commit a man only in case of sufficient
evidence of the offence being adduced, the prisoner must be allowed
the privilege of proving that no offence had been committed. The
statute applicable in this case bound His Honor to examine on oath
any person, touching the truth of the offence charged against the
party whose extradition was demanded, and to exact before com-
mittal such evidence of guilt as would justify a magistrate, if the
crime were committed in this province, in sending the party to jail
for trial. Therefore, if evidence must be brought touching the truth
of the charge, the accused might produce testimony in answer to
prove it groundless, and they could not be deprived of this right.
In addition to these reasons in favor of the petition, it had been an
invariable practice of His Honor to allow the accused to bring
up exculpatory evidence, andit would be impossible to deviate
in this case from that course. The Crown had also asserted that
the evidence which could be allowed was such as would amount
to a denegation of the act itself. It was impossible for the prose-
cution to show that a denial of the crime could not be made as well by
adducing evidence that destroyed the essence of criminality as if
the defence denied the fact itself. The main question and the con-
dition of the exercise of the magistrate’s jurisdiction in this matter
was the existence of a crime against the municipal laws of the United
States such as defined by the treaty. If they established that this
was an act committed by the order of a government, by one of two
‘belligerents, recognized as such by Britain, be it a case of plunder
or a mere case of devastation, involving the loss of life, there was no
case of murder or robbery. Be this a most extraordinary deviation
from the ordinary rules of common warfare, be it inhuman, and
against the principles even of civilized warfare, independent of any
other question than its being an act committed by regular, com-
missioned troops, under a special order from a belligerent Power, in
such a case there was no more room for an application of the treaty,
than in the case of an appeal for the extradition of any of the South-
ern gentlemen in this colony on a charge of annoying the Govern-
ment of the United States. If a party could show that a hostile act
was committed according to instructions by a regularly commis-
sioned soldier of a belligerent government, he proved it was not an
act of murder or robbery, but a political act for which there might
H
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be a remedy, but not under the present treaty law. Evidence might
be produced in behalf of the prisoners every whit as beneficial as
proof in a case of murder that the supposed murdered man was
alive. He could see no difference between exculpatory testimony
of one kind or other. If the prisoners were entitled to show any
evidence whatever in exculpation, time must be allowed them;
because if time were not allowed, it would be as well to deny them
justice absolutely, and deliver them up to the American authorities
who were here, assisted by all the powers in this country, exer-
cising a most unjust and unlawful influence not only upon public
opinion, but upon every officer in the public service, to make them
act not as judges, but as police officers, in order to obtain by every
possible means the surrender of the accused to the United States
authorities. If the Crown wished to disclaim any unjust action on its
part in this prosecution, and show it was actuated by fair motives
and wished to see the treaty well carried out, they ought to give
full scope to the defence, and not begrudge a delay of thirty days
for the procuring of exculpatory testimony. The Crown had resorted
to various methods in the conducting of the case, such as bringing
forward only one charge at a time, in order to experiment, to feel
their way, to increase the chances of rendition on some of them,
with the object of securing that result. But there were two parties
equally entitled to justice in this case—one the Confederate and
the other the Federal States. The former had come forward claim--
ing the exercise of that British impartiality and the benefit of that
British liberty which Britain never denied the refugee once he
entered British territory. And when these prisoners had reached
the shelter of the British flag, and were prepared to show that they
Lhad committed nought but an act of justifiable warfare, it was
strange to see the Government act as it had done, trying all in its
power to curtail the efforts of the defence to establish the innocence
of the accused. He (Mr. L.) was sure His Honor, considering
the risk and difficulty experienced in reaching the Confederate
capital, would not refuse such a reasonable demand as thirty days’
delay, which would enable the defence to show beyond a doubt that
the acts charged against the prisoners in reality were neither robbery
nor murder, but acts of common and justifiable warfare.

Myr. Devlin desired to say that the gentlemen employed as
counsel for the United States concurred in the opposition made by
Mr. Johnson to the application for delay. The prisoners were
arrested on the 19th of October ; but had they shown that from
that time up till now they had adopted any means to secure
the attendance of witnesses 7 Hon. Mr. Edmonds, who specially
represented the U. 8. government, had declared that his govern-
ment had desired every reasonable means of defence should be
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allowed the prisoners before final judgment was rendered. But if
thirty days more were allowed, it would be simply a denial of
justice.

! Hon. Mr. Abbott.—In our affidavit this morning it was not neces-
sary to give the details of what we had been doing to procure
evidence. We are not called upon to state such facts, and by so
doing put the gentlemen on the other side, and the Federal govern-
ment on our track. My learned friend Mr. Devlin, treats this
case as if it were one of petty larceny committed within the juris-
diction of the justice, and appears to think that we should be bound
by the rules that govern such cases. This, on the contrary, is a
matter of unusual importance, involving grave questions of inter-
national law, of national honor and duty, and affecting also the
lives of fourteen men. If these questions are to receive the con-
sideration they deserve, the facts must be fully ascertained, and
the nature of the case renders it evident that full information upon
them can only be obtained in Richmond. And as by the route
which must be followed, we are at a distance of 1,500 or 1,600
miles from Richmond, and to reach it have to pass through hostile
territory, guarded at every point, how can we hope to obtain evi-
dence in less than thirty days ? e could get it in ten days, if a
safe conduct had been granted to a messenger.

Judge Coursol.—This is a very important matter, and requires
some consideration. I shall give a decision at two o’clock.

After recess, Judge Coursol gave judgment as follows :—An
application on the part of the prisoners to obtain a delay of one
month for the production of evidence for the defence has been very
urgently and ably argued before me this day. This application
has been opposed by Mr. Johnson, representing the Crown, and Mr.
Devlin, in the name of the American authorities, upon the ground
that although in cases of local offences I possessed the power of
granting such an application, under the treaty I did not possess
that power, as I would be thereby virtually assuming the juris-
diction of the American Courts to try the accused. This question
arises for the first time, as we find in the Chesapeake and
other cases that witnesses for the defence were examined with-
out objection. I do not profess at present to decide the point
absolutely, but have come to the conclusion to allow the examina-
tion of witnesses on the part of the prisoners, subject to the objec-
tion, as my desire is to afford to the accused as well as to the

rosecution, the exercise of every right to which by law they are
entitled in a Canadian Court of Justice. Itis contended that by
admitting evidence for the defence I virtually try the accused. I
totally differ from that view, and for this obvious reason, that the
special Act to give effect to the treaty requires that I should be per-
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fectly satisfied of the criminality of the actof the accused according to
our own law. The affidavit shows that the accused propose to prove
that anything they may have done was an act of legitimate warfare,
and as International law is a part of the common law of this country,
affecting the character of homicide and other felonies when com-
mitted under special circumstances, I cannot be prepared ta give
any opinion upon the evidence of criminality until I have the whole
case before me. The evidence proposed to be adduced may not affect
the case laid before me by the prosecution, but I feel that I should
be guilty of an act of injustice if I deprived the accused of the
opportunity of placing their evidence before me, reserving to myself
finally to determine the objection now made to the hearing of evi-
dence, when the case is finally closed and left to my decision. Having
thus disposed of this point, the next consideration is what delay
shall be granted. The application is for one month, and the ques-
tion in my mind is whether such a delay be a reasonable one or not.
I have arrived at the conclusion that, under the special circum-
stances disclosed in the affidavit, to grant merely a week or a fort-
night would be tantamount to refusing the application, and I will
therefore grant until the 13th of December next, upon the express
condition that, if the prosecution so desire it, the further proceed-
ings upon the other charges shall be suspended until the evidence
for the defence and the argument in this case shall be fully con-
cluded, and also, in that event, the prisoners must place before me
a written application that they be remanded upon all the charges
until the said 13th day of December next.

Myr. Devlin then said he would state without hesitat'on that the
prosecution would not proceed with any of the other charges until
this case was finally decided, the arguments concluded, and His
Honor’s decision given on its merits.

Judge Coursol.—The prosecution may do as it thinks proper
until the arguments and the witnesses shall be heard.

Myr. Devlin.—You grant this delay, making it a condition that
this case is to be finally concluded, and the opinion of the Court
expressed before we are called upon to proceed on any further
charge. I state that we will not do so.

Judge Coursol.—The evidence in the other cases will not be gone
into, until the defence and arguments in this are fully concluded.

Mr. Devlin.—We will avail ourselves of that part of your
Honor’s judgment, and will not proceed till the case is fully
determined.

Mr. Kerr.—Is the decision of the Court to be pronounced in
this case previous to going on with any others ?

Judge Coursol.—I am not prepared to say so. My judgment is
that the evidence in other cases shall not be gone into, till the
defence and arguments in this case shall be fully closed.
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Mr. Kerr.—Very well, your Honor.

Judge Coursol.—Something has been said about pressure, but T
can say that neither favor nor affection has ever been allowed to
interfere with justice since I have had a seat on this Bench, and I
am sure my fellow-citizens will be prepared to give me that endor-
sation.

Mr. Kerr.—We are perfectly convinced of that, your Honor.

Judge Coursol.—I shall require, in writing, from your clients,
Mr. Kerr, that they will not apply for any release until the 18th
of December.

Mr. Devlin.—I am requested by my friends from the United
States to say that they concur in the judgment given by your
Honor. They desire me to say that they concur fully in the post-
ponement of the matter for a month, provided the other cases are
not gone on with till this one is finished.

Tuesday, Dec. 13.

The enquiry into the facts of this raid, adjourned, nearly a
a month ago, till to-day, in order to afford time for the production
of evidence for the defence, from Richmond, was resumed this
morning before Judge Coursol.

Messrs. Abbott and Laflamme, Q.C., and Mr. Kerr, appeared
for the defence, Mr. Johnson for the Crown, and Mr. Ritchie and
Mr. Devlin for the U. S. Government.

The accused occupied the petit jury box.

Mr. Kerr.—I wish to bring under your Honor’s notice a ques-
tion affecting your jurisdiction in this case.

The Judge of the Sessions.—As Judge of the Sessions ?

Mr. Kerr—As Judge of the Sessions, or in any other capacity
in which you may sit.

Mr. Devlin said the enquiry had been adjourned till to-day to
enable the accused to adduce evidence in their defence, and the
Court was in session to hear this testimony, and not an argument
upon the law of the case. This proceeding of the learned gentle-
man was an attempt to take advantage of the prosecution; and he
(Mr. D.) would call on the defence to proceed with the witnesses.

Mr. Kerr.—My objection goes to the jurisdiction of the Court.
If it has no jurisdiction, it has no right to hear witnesses. I pre-
tend that the whole of the proceedings are wrong.

Mr. Devlin pressed for a decision upon his proposition.

The Judge of the Sessions.—The objection 1s to my jurisdiction
in toto? '

Mr. Kerr.—Yes. I deny your right to sit at all.

The Court.—The objection cannot be disregarded. I am bound
to hear the exceptions to my jurisdiction.
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M. Johnston.—1 have no objection to hear them.

Mr. Kerr then said,—By the Union Act it is provided that the
Canadian Parliament shall have power to make laws not repugnant
to that Act, or to such parts, &c., or to any Act of Parhament
made or to be made, and not thereby repealed, which does or shall,
by express enactment or by necessary intendment, extend to the
Provinces of Upper and Lower Canada, or to either of them, or to
the Province of Canada; and all such laws passed and assented to
by Her Majesty, or in Her Majesty’s name by the Governor, &c.,
shall be valid and binding, &c., within the Province of Canada.
The condition precedent, then, to the fact of statutes being valid
and binding, is that they are not repugnant to any Imperial Act
which either expressly or impliedly extends to the Province of
Canada. Acts to which Her Majesty has given her assent after reser-
vation, are subject to the operation of the condition precedent. By
the Treaty of 1842, guoad extradition,it was provided that upon mu-
tual requisition by the two States contracting, their Ministers, offi-
cers, &c., made, 1t was agreed the United States and Great Britain
should deliver up to justice all persons charged with the crimes
specified in the said Treaty, committed within the jurisdiction of
either of the high contracting parties, who should seek an asylum
or be found within the territories of the other. This should only
be done upon certain evidence, and 1t proceeded to say that the
respective judges and other magistrates of the two governments
should have power and authority to issuc a warrant, &c. By this
Treaty the contracting parties pledged themselves to vest i all
their judges and other magistrates power and authority to take
cognizance of and exercise jurisdiction over such criméds, neither
judges nor magistrates having at the time any Common Law or
statutory power to take cognizance of such offences. The Imperial
Act 6 and 7 Vic., cap. 77, was then passed by the Parliament of
Great DBritain, for the purpose of giving effect to the said Treaty,
and 1t was therein provided, that previous to the arrest of any
offender, a warrant should issuec under the hand of the Secretary
in Great Britain, or of the person administering the government of
the Province, signifying that a requisition had been made by the
authority of the United States for the delivery of the offender, and
requiring all Justices of the Peace, &c., to govern themselves ac-
cordingly, and to aid in apprehending the persons accused. It is
perfectly clear from the principles of the Common Law, and also
from the wording of the Act in question, that none of the mags-
trates or other officers were vested, previous to the passing of that
Act, with power to arrest or take cognizance of offences committed
on foreign soil, for the Act in question was passed to give them
those powers, and it is to be remarked that the words of the Statute



119

carry into effect the Treaty. This Statute, of course, extended
1ts operation over all the dominions of Great Britain, and as soon
as Mhssed and assented to, became law in Canada. By the fifth
section it was, however, provided that, ¢“if by any law or ordinance
“ thereafter made by the local Legislature of any British Colony
¢ or possession abroad, provision shall be made for carrying into
¢ complete effect, within such colony or possession, the objects of
¢ the said Act, by the substitution of some other cnactment in lieu
* thereof ; then Her Majesty might, with the advice of her Privy
¢ Council, (if to Her Majesty in Council it seems meet, but not
“ otherwise,) suspend within any such colony or possession the
‘“ operation of the said Act of the Imperial Parliament, so long as
‘ such substituted enactment continues in force there, and no
“longer.” The 12th Vic., ¢. 19, was passed by the Parliament
of Canada as such substituted enactment, and was reserved for
Her Majesty’s assent; that assent was given, and on the 28th
March, 1850, Her Majesty in Council, by order, suspended the
Imperial Act so long as the 12th Vie., ¢. 19, should be in force.
and no longer.

The Court.—Was the 12th Victoria sanctioned ?

MMr. Kerr.—It was a reserved Act. The Order in Council was
proclaimed by the Governor General in the Canada Gazette, page
8295, May 1350. Thereupon the Imperial Act was suspended m
Canada during the continuance in force of the 12th Viet., chap. 19.
By ¢ the Act respecting the Consolidated Statutes of Canada,”
(22nd Vie., chap. 29, C. 8. C., page xxxvi), the 5th section,
it 13 provided that from the day mentioned in the proclamation
provided for by s. 4, all the enactments in the several acts, and
parts of acts in such amended schedule A, mentioned as repealed,
shall stand and be repealed; by the 9th section it is enacted that
if the provisions of the Consolidated Statutes are not the same as
those of the repealed acts quoad transactions after those statutes
came into effect, the provisions of the Consolidated Statutes shall
prevail. In schedule A (C.S.C., page 1203), appears as repealed,
12 Vic., chap. 19. Upon the proclamation by the Governor
General, of the Consolidated Statutes, there appeared as chap. 89
of the 22nd Vic., “ An Act respecting the treaty, between Her
Majesty and the United States of America, for the apprehension
and surrender of certain offenders.” By the 24th Vic., chap. 6,
the first, second, and third sections of the 89th chap., C. S. C.,
above referred to, were repealed absolutely, and for the said
sections were submitted three other sections. , By the first section
substituted, jurisdiction was taken away from the justices of the

eace throughout the Province, and to certain functionaries alone
was given the power to take a complaint and issue a warrant.
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Under the 12th Vic., chap. 19, and c. 89 of the Consolidated
Statutes of Canada, the evidence in the opinion of the judge or
justice of the peace should be sufficient to sustain the cirge ;
under the 24th Vie., chap. 6, it is only necessary to be such as
would justify his apprehension and comnmittal for trial. Here then
are grave changes from the provisions of the 12th Vie., chap. 19.
We have, moreover, the,absolute repeal of that statute by the Act
22 Vic., chap. 29 ; it is true that 1t was substantially re-enacted
by the 89th chap. of the Con. Stat. of Canada, but from the very
moment of its repeal the Imperial Statute revived and remained in
force in this country until a new order of the Queen in Council had
been published, suspending its operations during the continuance in
force of the 89th chap. of the Con. Stat. of Canada. But to make
assurance doubly sure, the 24th Vic., chap 6, absolutely repealed
all the three first clauses of the 89th chap. C. 8. C., and substituted
in their places three clauses which had never been submitted to the
consideration of Her Majesty in Council, clauses, moreover, which
cannot be looked upon as giving complete effect to the treaty, as
thereby some of the officers expressly named in the treaty as those
to whom power to act thereunder should be given, have been ousted
of their jurisdiction. It must be taken for granted that the Order
in Council having the effect of putting life into any Act of Parlia-
ment passed by our legislature, must be posterior in date thereto ;:
in fact, it is nothing more than requiring that previous to the
coming into force of the substituted Act, Her Majesty’s assent
thereto should only be given by such Order in Council. The
power to repeal any act of our Legislature belongs to our Legis-
lature ; no restriction is by Imperial Act imposed on the repeal
of the substituted enactment, and no other body, save our Legis-
lature, in the natural course of things, could repeal its Acts;
consequently the repeal of the three clauses of chap. 89, of the
Consolidated Statutes of Canada is valid ; but the clauses sought
to be substituted have, as yet, no life in them,—they are but
inanimate bodies, awaiting the breath of life from the order of Her
Majesty in Her Privy Council. The state of the law then is, that
in lieu of our Provincial Statutes, or any of them, being in force,
the Imperial Act, temporarily suspended guoad this Province by
the Order in Council of the 28th March, 1850, since the repeal of
the 12th Vic., chap. 19 (whether by the Consolidated Statutes, or
by the 24th Vic., chap. 6, is indifferent), regulates all proceedings
for extradition, and previous to any of the officers therein named
issuing a warrant or arresting a person charged with the com-
mission of one of the crimes (mentioned in the treaty), in the
United States, it was absolutely essential, in order to give your
Honor jurisdiction in the matter, that a warrant should he i<sued
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from the Governor General, according to the provisions of the
Imperial Act. No such warrant, however, has been issued ; and
you have not, nor had you at any time, jurisdiction in these cases:
to arrest the prisoners.

The Court.—Your argument is, in effect, that, according to the-
Imperial Act, it would be necessary to the arrest of the accused
that a warrant of apprehension signed by the Governor General
should be issued ; that owing to the circumstances mentioned, the
Imperial Act has revived and is now in force, and that under it I
would have no jurisdiction in this case ?

Mr. Kerr.—No jurisdiction, no warrant having issued.

Mpr. Devlin thought that a reply to such arguments, on the part
of the counsel on the other side, was unnecessary. He would
merely remind His Honor that he acted at present under the law
of the land—acted under the powers conferred upon him by chap.
6, 24th Vie. Was the Ashburton Treaty in force—yes, or no?
One might assume from the argument just heard that we had been
living in blissful ignorance of our rights and of the law of the land
in this matter till the present moment. The learned counsel just
sat down called upon the Court to trample upon the law of the
land, and ignore the authority conferred upon him by the Provin-
clal Legislature. Had the Court the power or jurisdiction to set
aside a solemn act of Parliament, while sitting in his present capa-
city ? Such power was not vested in him ; and if the Legislature
had failed to pass a law that would give force and effect to the
Imperial Treaty, they were the party to make due amends. The
Act passed in 1861 gave His Honor full power to dispose of such
cases, and this Act was assented to by Her Majesty, and had not
since been repealed or disallowed. With regard to the argument
that the Court was without jurisdiction because no warrant had
been issued signed by the Governor General, he (Mr. D.) would
remark that fugitives from justice had frequently been arrested here
without a warrant in the first instance, except one from the local
judge or magistrate charged with the execution of the provisions of
the Treaty ; for this reason : if the authorities of the United States
were obliged to wait till all those formalities were complied with, a
murderer or robber whose extradition was demanded could effect
his escape from this Province before any steps could be taken to
secure his arrest: and, say the Judges of the United States, ¢ the
Treaty would in this way be rendered nugatory.” But even if
there was no law for such arrests, it was not in the Court’s power,
while in his present position, to set aside a solemn act of the Legis-
lature of Canada.

The Court.—It would be very well for the public convenience,
but it would not be law to arrest parties on either side the lines.
without a warrant. I cannot accept that argument as law.
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M. Devlin did not mean to say that partics should.be arrested
in this Province without some authority ; but he meant that 1t was
in His Honor’s power to issue his warrant for the apprehension of
a fugitive before waiting for other authority, or a warrant from the
Governor. The opposite pretension would cause a frustration of
justice, and render it impossible to carry out the provisions of the
Treaty.

Zlfr}., Johnson said M2. Kerr was in error in stating that 12 Vie.,
chap. 19, had been repealed. No such thing. He had cited from
the schedule annexed to the Act to show it had been repealed.
But repealed for what—for the purpesc of consolitrtion with the
other statutes. It is now reproduced In tue Consolidated Statutes,
anil cxists with the exception of three clauses. The 6th and Tth
Victoria (Imperial Statute) was suspended by proclamation of Her
Majesty, and the 12th Vic. cap. 19 introduced as the law which
ought to guide the mode of procedure under the Ashburton Treaty.
But this Act never was repealed, being reproduced in the Consoli-
dated Statutes. The Consolidated Statntes, chap. 29, page xxxviii
set forth that it should not be held to operate as new law, but
should have effect as consolidated and as declaratory of the law
contained in the Acts so repealed, and for which they were substi-
tuted. His Honor, therefore, had jurisdiction to proceed without
a warrant from any governor or any executive authority under the
Consolidated Statutes now existing.

Mr. Kerr said they did not require the judge to set aside any
Act. As long as the proclamation of Her Majesty, giving effect to
the amended Act, was withheld, it remained in our statute book
inanimate. It wanted breath and life to be infused into it by the
order in Council. Ie contended that by the 24th Vie., chap. 6,
the 12th Vie., chap. 19, had been absolutely repealed, and it could
not be pretended that the substitution by our Legislature of three
clauses other than those assented to by Her Majesty did not alter
the 12th Vic., chap. 19, and destroy its force.

The Court said it was a knotty point, and must be taken into
consideration. )

Myr. Devlin.—You can go on with the examination of the wit-
nesses in the meantime.

The Court.—Not when the question is as to jurisdiction.

The Court now adjourned until two o’clock.

THE RAIDERS DISCHARGED.

At three o’clock the Judge of the Sessions came iuto Court and
proceeded as follows to give his decision upon the ohjections to his
Jurisdiction raised in the forenoon :—
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The point I am now called upon to decide is one of very great
importance, inasmuch as my jurisdiction and my authority to actin
this case has been put in question, and is now for the first time
directly denied.

It is contended on behalf of the prisoners that the Treaty being
a national act, the imperial enacment must be regarded as the
Supreme Law, and our colonial Legislatures as subordinate to it.
And that the effect of Her Majesty’s Royal Proslamation suspen-
ding the imperial enactment to give effect to our 12th Vic., so long
as such substitututed provisions of that act remained in force, and
no longer, necessarily revived the provisions of the Imperial Act,
the moment our local Legislature repealed the substituted enact-
ment and provisions of our Provincial Legislature.

It is also contended that the new provisions enacted by the 24th
‘Vic., changed materially those of the 12th Vic., approved by Her
Majesty, with the advice of her Privy Council, and .that the same
approval was again necessary to give effect to these new provisions,
and that the arrest of the parties charged, could only have been
niade upon a warrant signed by the Governor General or person
administering the government of Canada in the terms of the Impe-
rial Act.

On the other side, on the part of the defencc, it is argued that
the 24th Vic., has been sanctioned by the Governor General, and
having been disallowed by Her Majesty within two years which
period had passed long before the arrest of the accused, that it has
power of law. Also, that I have no power to declare the 24th Vic.,
unconstitutional or void.

This argument would be conclusive if the Act related to a local
matter, within the ordinary jurisdiction of our Legislature, and
interpreting the clauses quoted of the Union Act as I do now, I
hold that this provision as to the disallowance of a measure passed
by our Legislature, can only have reference to such measures as
our own legislature can originate.

In this case it is different, the subject matter is a national one,
it has a reference to a treaty between Great Britain and a foreign
nation, and the imperial act must be regarded as the law which
governs the case. That our legislation is subordinate to it in this
instance, and in the absence of any sanction, or formal approval
given by the Queen to the 24th Vic., in the special form required
by the Imperial Act,suchas was given to the 12th Vic. I am of
opinion that by repealing the clauses of that Act conferring juris-
diction, the imperial enactments revived. I am not called here
upon to declare the 24th Vic. unconstitutional or void, but simply
state what law is in force, and I feel that I am bound to obey the
imperial authority in a matter of national concern, and without which
the treaty would never have been put m operation.
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After giving to these different objections my most deliberate
attention, I have come to the following conclusion :— .

1. That the Imperial Act passed to give effect to the treaty 1s to
be regarded as the supreme power and authority, and to be taken
as my sole guide in this case, and that the Canadian enactment
could take effect only, so long as the permissive power granted to
our local legislature has been strictly pursued, followed by the
sanction of Her Majesty’s Privy Council suspending the imperial
enactments, and giving force and effect to ourlocal legislation.

2. That the 12th Vic. passed by our legislature with the view
to substitute provisions to those contained in the Imperial Act, did
not become the law of this Province without the Royal sanction
first being given to it, in the form of a special approval by Her
Majesty, with the advice of Her Privy Council ; and in the terms
of the Imperial Act, the suspension was not absclute, but limited to
such a time as the 12th Vie. should remain in force, and no longer.

8. That the substituted provisions of the 12th Vic. having been
repealed by the 24th Vic. cap. 19, the provisions of the Imperial
Act are revised, which provisions to confer jurisdiction require the
issuing of a warrant in the first place, by the Governor General, or
the person administering the government of Canada.

4. That while admitting, as contended by the learned and able
gentlemen representing the prosecution, that unless the Union
had had in all matters relating to local government, the sanction of
the Governor General on behalf of Her Majesty the Queen, is suffi-
cient to make a law operative, still the subject matter in this case
being a treaty between two nations reqniring imperial legislation to
give it effect the case is so excepticnal in its character that I am
compelled to look to the proposed Act to decide what is the force of
our local legislature in that respect.

Giving, therefore, to the 5th section of the Imperial Act a broad
and legal interpretation, I cannot arrive at any other conclusion
than that any substituted enactment to that Act of our Legislature:
must not only be approved by Her Majesty of Her Privy Council,
but also that an order of suspension must expressly be made to
give it effect.

That the new provision contained in the 24th Vic., changed
very materially the provisions of the 12th Vic., approved by Her
Majesty by Royal Proclamations, issued with the advice of Her
Majesty’s Privy Council, by removing from all of Her Majesty’s.
Justices of the peace jurisdiction in these matters, which, by the
terms of the treaty itself, is conferred upon them, giving such
powers to the Judges of our Superior Courts and to the local
officers not designated in the 12th Vic., and thus, in my
humble opinion, the new provisions of the 24th Vie. are sub-
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ject to the following objections : That being a Colonial mea-
sure, it was not within the power of our Legislature to change
the jurisdiction established by the Treaty, without the express.
sanction of Her Majesty, with the advice of her Privy Council,
in the same form and in the same manner as was done to give
effect to the 12th Vic., viz., the express order of Her Majesty,
suspending by Her Majesty’s pleasure the Imperial enactments so
long as the enactments contained in the 12th Vic. should remain in
force, and no longer. The 24th Vie., cap. 19, is entitled an Act
to amend the chap. 89 of the Consolidated Statutes of Canada
(the same as the 12th Vic.), and has, in most positive words, re-
pealed the 1st, 2d and 3d of the four sections of the said Provincial
Act, and substituted certain new enactments already mentioned.
This Act having been passed and sanctioned, the repealing part is
good ; therefore the suspended parts of the Imperial Act are re-
vived by such repeal, and are again in operation. Thus the
suspended provisions of the Imperial Act being revived, the only
law which can govern this case are the revived Imperial provisions,
in so far as jurisdiction is concerned, and the manner of proceeding
to obtain the arrest and extradition of fugitives. The only unre-
pealed provisions of the 12th Vic., namely, the 4th section, refer
only to the remedy given to parties committed who are not extra-
dited within two months after the date of their final committal; but
the provision of the 4th section cannot even be regarded as a
substitute provision, as it merely re-enacts a similar provision
to be found, in the Imperial Act. Consequently the repeal
may be considered complete, in so far as the substitute provisions
are concerned. I deem it my duty, in giving this judgment, to
explain that the part I have taken in this case in ordering the
arrest of the accused, was prompted by a desire to do my duty,
the moment proper information was laid before me that an outrage
was committed, and I acted upon a law which is to be found in
the statutes of this Province. The objection having been raised
for the time at this late stage of the proceedings, I felt that I had
no alternative but to decide it. If I could have reserved the point
for the decision of a higher tribunal, I would most willingly, and I
may say cheerfully, have done so, but the objection being one
formally directed against my jurisdiction, I came to the conclusion
that every judge or magistrate, in a case where the liberty of the
person is concerned, should be prepared positively, and in a definite
manner, to decide whether he has jurisdiction or not. I therefore
now decide, that having had no warrant from the Governor General
to authorize the arrest of the accused, as is required by the Im-
perial Act, I have and possess no jurisdiction ; consequently, I am
bound in law, justice, and fairness, to order the immediate release
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of the prisoners from custody upon all the charges brought before
me. Let the prisoners be discharged.

Mr. Devlin.—Before you deliver that order, I trust you will
hear the counsel for the United States on a, matter of such great
importance. We desire to bring under your notice this important
fact, that only one application has been made to you, and that the
counsel who addressed you this morning appeared only in the case
of the St. Albans bank, which has been the subject of investigation
hitherto. You are aware it was determined that only one case
could be proceeded with at a time, and therefore the application
addressed to you was for the discharge of the prisoners i this
particular case. Youowe it to the gentlemen sent here to support
what they conceive to be the just claims of the United States
Government in this matter, and to justice also, to afford them a
reasonable opportunity of putting before this Court the claims of their
clients. When only one application has been made, should it be said
that a Judge in a British Court, where fair play was peculiarly tobe
expected, should have disposed of six cases on an application with
regard to one only, without the counsel for the United States being
allowed to interpose a single objection, or offer a single remark. What
would be said of a British Judge in such circumstances? The
counsel for the defence know perfectly well that such a case would
be utterly unprecedented. They know that, having had the benefit
of your ruling, the Courts were open to them to obtain for their
clients that relief which they had a right to expect. But let them
come forward with their applications. Have you noé issued six
warrants against the accused ?  You have only one warrant before

ou now, and only one charge. Therefore, I call on you to hesitate
before discharging them from six other accusations which we have
not had a single opportunity of addressing the Court on. Would
you order the discharge of a criminal accused on six indictments,
because acquitted on one, without trial on the others ? You would
never sanction such a thing, and this is what you would be doing
in this case. Asa judge, you are not supposed to know that the
proceedings in the other cases are not strictly correct. If you
carry out this order, it will be said our Judges prejudged cases,
because, while being addressed on one they disposed of others.
The character of the judiciary for fair play is at stake ; and though
there are in this city men who sympathize with the enemies
of the U.S., I have yet to learn there 1s one who is not a
lover of fair play and British justice to all parties. I will state
my conviction that if the clients we represent here are made to
feel that when they enter a British Court of Justice their claim
will not be heard, we must be prepared to submit to the conse-
quences. No country in-the world has shown more real fairness
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and justice to England in matters of extradition than the United
States. The authorities show that when England has demanded
the extradition of a fugitive from justice, the highest and the
lowest judges, and all the authorities have combined to give effect
to this most beneficial law ; and no man can say the United States
Government or authorities ever threw an obstacle in the way of an
extradition rightfully demanded. I sincerely hope you will not
then dismiss the other cases with which we are now prepared to
proceed. If you deny us this legitimate opportunity of repre-
senting our claims, it will be said that advantage has been taken
of this prosecution, and of the counsel on this side. I again hope
you will sanction no act which would be as repugnant to justice, as
insulting to our clients. You will recollect that the other judges
have a right to adjudicate in this matter, having concurrent juris-
diction.

The Court.—I have decided I have no jurisdiction in this case
after a careful consideration.

My. Johnson said it appeared to him Mr. Devlin misunderstood
the decision, evidently thinking the Court discharged the accused
in every case, as to murder, robbery, &c.

The Court.—1 discharge them in every case before me.

Mr. Luflamme wanted to know if counsel had a right to argue
upon a judgment amd discuss its merits. The Court could not
more clearly explain the grounds of the judgment. The prisoners
were discharged from all the accusations, and were free, and any
remarks made by counsel might he made for their benefit after the
Court was over.

Mr. Johnson was not prepared to say one word against the
judgment, having merely risen to remark that he represented the
Crown, which had an interest in this case also, but of a very
different description from that of his learned friend (Mr. D.)

Hon. Mr. Rose.—As representing the authorities of the United
States in this matter, which is of very great national concern, I
trust you will allow me to ask whether we have rightly understood
the judgment just given ?

The Court.—I will read it again, and shall answer Mr. Devlin
in a few words.

Hon. Mr. Rose.—I don’t design to say a word against the
judgment, but to ask a question respecting 1t. (The hon. gentle-
man was proceeding to put the question, when)

The Court interrupted. He had allowed one of the gentlemen
representing the Federal Government, and Mr. Johnson, repre-
senting the Crown, to speak, permitting the former to explain
himself, and say more, probably, than any other Court would have
listened to under similar circumstances. Understanding the full



128

amount of his responsibility in this matter, and determined that he
should perform his duty according to the rules of British justice,
he had come to the conclusion that, having no jurisdiction in one
case, he could certainly have none in the others. If he had no
jurisdiction to arrest the accused on the charge preferred, he had
no right to keep them in custody for one moment longer. He
knew now, that from the beginning of this case to the present,
that those parties had been arrested without any legal warrant.
As soon as the want of jurisdiction in this matter became apparent,
after a legal test, desiring to administer justice in a Canadian
Court in the same way and with the same spirit of impartiality and
fairness, as it was, had been, and would be, thank God, always
administered in all of Her Majesty’s dominions, he was convinced
that he had not the shadow of a right to detain the prisoners one
minute longer. Having no jurisdiction in one case he had none in
the others, and would frankly declare his warrant was null and
the whole proceedings irregular.

Hon. Mr. Rose.—There was no application for the discharge of
the prisoners on the other accusations.

The Court.—I care not. It is the duty of a British Judge,
when he sees he has no right to retain a prisoner in custody, to
liberate him on the spot.

Hon. Mr. Rose.—With all respect to your Honor, I dissent from
the soundness of the judgment in this case.

The Court.—Not a word more on this matter. I know the
weight of the responsibility of such a course, but I am bound as a
Magistrate to do what my conscience and duty direct, without
regard to influences, feelings or consequences.
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PROCEEDINGS BEFORE JUDGE SMITH.

Immediately after the discharge of the prisoners by Judge
Coursol, Mr. Justice Smith issued a warrant for the re-arrest of
the prisoners, similar to those under which they had been previously
‘in custody. On this warrant, five out of the thirteen, namely,
Lieutenant Bennett H. Young, W. H. Hutchinson, Squire Turner
Teavis, Charles Moore Swager, and Marcus Spurr, were again
arrested, near Quebec, on the 20th day of December, 1864,
and brought Dack to Montreal for examination. The following are
the proceedings in the Superior Court, before Justice Smith, or.
the demand for their extradition.

PROVINCE OF CANADA,E
District of Montreul.

The examination of Cyrus Newton Bishop, of St. Albans, in the-
State of Vermont, one of the United States of Amgaea, teller, now
of the city of Montreal, in the District of Montr%aken on oath
this 27th day of December, in the year of our Lord one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-four, in the Court-house in the city of
Montreal, in the District of Montreal aforesaid, before the under-
signed, the Honorable James Smith, one of Her Majesty’s Justices
of the Superior Court for Lower Canada, in the presence and hear-
ing of Squire Turner Teavis, Charles Moore Swager, Bennett H.
Young, Marcus Spurr, and William H. Hutchinson, who are now
charged before me, upon complaint made under oath before me,
under the provisions of the Treaty between Iler Majesty the
Queen and the United States of America, and our Statutes in that
behalf made, with having committed within the jurisdiction of the
United States of America, the following crime mentioned in the
Treaty between Her Majesty the Queen and the United States of
America, to wit :

For that they, the said Squire Turner Teavis, Charles Moore
Swager, Bennett H. Young, Marcus Spurr, and William . Hutch-
inson, on the nineteenth day of October last past, at the town of
St. Albans aforesaid, in the State of Vermont, one of the United
States of America, and within the jurisdiction of the said United
States of America, being then and there armed with certain offen-
sive weapons and instruments, to wit: Pistols commonly called
revolvers, loaded with powder and ball, and capped, in and upon
one Samuel Breck feloniously did make an assault, and him the
said Samuel Breck in bodily fear and in danger of his life did put,
and a certain sum of moncy, to wit, to the amount of three hun-
dred dollars carrent money of the United States of America, and

I
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of the value of three hundred dollars current money aforesaid, of
the moneys and property of the said Samuel Breck, and another
his co-partner in trade, to wit, one Jonathan Weathertree, from the
person and against the will of the said Samuel Breck, then and
there feloniously and violently did steal, take and carry away,
against the form of the Statutes of the said State of Vermont, and
against the peace and dignity of the said State.

The deponent, Cyrus Newton Bishop, being duly sworn, depos-
eth and saith :—On the nineteenth day of October last, I was ful-
filling the duties of teller of a certain banking institution known as
the St. Albans bank, in the town of St. Albans aforesaid, between
the hours of three and four o’clock of that day, in the afternoon.
Two men, strangers to me, entered the bank. They came up.to
the front of the counter. I stepped along to the counter. They
immediately presented each of them a revolver to my breast. I
was about three feet from them at this time. I recognize one of
these men now in Court. His name is Marcus Spurr. I imme-
diately went into the Directors’ room, which is adjoining. I suec-
ceeded in closing the door nearly, and they rushed against it and
forced it open. The door struck me in the forehead and bruised
me. Immediately one of them named Collins seized me by
the shoulder, and presenting a revolver at the same time to my
head, and the sald Marcus Spurr also presented a revolver at
my head, and they said to me, that if I gave any alarm or made
any resistance they would blow my brains out. At this time three
other parties came into the bank, who were then and still are
strangers to me. The said Collins then asked me where we kept
our gold and silver. I told him we had no gold. He then asked
me if we had anysilver. I told him we had. He asked me where
it was. I told him it was in a safe, and pointed it out to him.
Then he, the said Collins, administered to me, and to one Martin
A. Seymour, a clerk in the bank, some sort of an oath, to the
effect that we would not give any alarm, or fire on the Confederate
soldiers. Then they proceeded to pack up the money, and they
then ordered me to open the safe in the Directors’ room. I opened
it, and they iramediately pulled out two or three bags of silver,
about fourteen hundred dollars’ worth. One remarked to the
other, ¢ We cannot carry so much.” Thereupon they broke open
the bags and filled their pockets. They took all they could carry.
They took also all the bills of the bank and the bills of other banks
in our safe, and a lot of money of the United States, commonly
known as greenbacks. During the time they were in the bank
they locked the door of the bank, and some person came to the
door and knocked for admittance. They opened the door, and the
person came in, and this person was one Samuel Breck, of St.
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Albans aforesaid, merchant. After admitting Mr. Breck they
immediately locked the door again. One of them put a revolver
to his head, and demanded his surrender as their prisoner. The
took hold of him and forced him against the counter, and demanded
his money, which he had in his hand. He began to debate the
question with them, and said that it was private property. I spoke
to him, and said that he had better give it up to them. T said
they had robbed wus, and as they had got us, we were obliged to
give up the money. They forced him into the Directors’ room. I
learnt that the amount they took from him was about four hundred
dollars American currency. These parties also threatened the said
Breck that if he gave any alarm they would shoot him. There was
another rap at the door by some one wishing to gain admission.
They opened the door, and the person came in, who was a clerk in
the store of Joseph S. Weeks, and they seized him by the shoul-
der and forced him into the Directors’ room, and ordered him to
remain there with the rest of us, and we were all kept in that
room. About this time I heard some firing in the streets. I stood
opposite the window and saw into the street, and I then saw per-
sons on horseback riding to and fro. They were firing revolvers
at the citizens of St. Albans. Immediately afterwards three of
these parties left the bank, leaving two in the bank as guards over
us. These also left in a few minutes. During all these proceed-
ings these five persons were acting in concert. I allude, of course,
to the five persons who came into the bank and committed the
robbery as aforesaid, of which five persons the said Marcus Spurr,
one of the prisoners now in attendance, was one.

Cross-examined on behalf of the Confederate States.—I have
been examined before on a charge against these same men. I de-
tailed the facts respecting these matters on that occasion, and I
related on that occasion the circumstances that took place at St.
Albans on the nineteenth of October last. ~When the prisoner
Spurr, and Collins presented pistols at my head, I asked them what
the programme was, and what this meant; and they said they were
Confederate soldiers, detailed from Early’s army to come north
to rob and plunder, as Gren. Sheridan was doing in the Shenandoah
valley. The reason why I omitted this fact, in my examination-in-
chief, was because I supposed they wanted only the prominent
points, and this was not asked of me. Being asked whether I
omitted it intentionally or not, I say that I had no ntention one
way or the other. I stated that fact when I was examined before,
in my examination-in-chief. I don’t know whether the prisoners
consider this fact of importance or not. The money that Breck
had was in his hands when it was taken from him. The first firing
I saw was from the front window of the Directors’ room. The
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street in which the firing was, runs nearly north and south. There
appeared to be confusion among the party riding about, some riding
in one direction and some in another. I next saw them after the
five had left the bank and after I came out on the steps. They
were more in order at that time—were collected together, and
were riding north. I could not tell whether they were under the
command of anybody or not at that time. They were at the
northern end of the bank. There were a good many people in the
streets then, more than usual. After I came out on the steps I
saw some shots fired, but not many. I heard reports, but I saw
no shots fired. I say, on reflection, that I saw some shots fired
after I came out. I cannot tell who fired these shots. I think I
know pretty well what goes on in St. Albans of any interest.
Being asked whether or no one or more of the party was wounded
at St. Albans on that occasion, I say I heard such reports, and
again heard them contradicted. T donot know whether it is known
or not who fired on the party. I do not know whether any citizen
fired on the party, and I do not know that I am bound to say what
I believe. I saw a large bunch of money in Mr. Breck’s hand,
and he told me there was about four hundred dollars, and I believed
him. Being asked why I state my belief in reference to Mr.
Breck’s money and refuse to state my belief in reference to the
firing on the party, I say I saw Mr. Breck’s money and heard his
statement on the spot; and the other, I did not see the party fired
on, but I heard that they were, and also I heard that report con-
tradicted. I know Mr. Fuller of St. Albans. I have had conver-
sation with said Mr. Fuller. He made statements to me about
what was going on generally. He never told me anything par-
ticularly about the firing. I heard him make statements generally,
but not more to me than to any one else. I heard him say that he
had snapped at them, and inferred that he meant he had snapped
a percussion cap at them. I did not know anything about whether
there was any powder or ball near when he snapped the percussion
caps. I think perhaps he was trying to fire at them, and that his
gun or pistol missed fire. Being asked if I have any doubt as to
this being his intention, I say that I did not see the transaction.
I do not know where Fuller was at that time. I know that a
citizen was shot that day. I understand that he was shot in the
Main street at St. Albans. I heard it reported that he was shot
near the place where Fuller was trying to fire upon the party.
This citizen fell to the north of the bank; was shot then, about
fifteen or twenty rods from it. I believe he was shot by one of the
party. The place where he fell was between the bank and the
place where I saw the party all riding off in a body. I believe—I
know personally—that there were other banks robbed at St. Albans




133

on that day besides the St. Albans bank. There was the Franklin
County bank and First National bank. I know it, because after-
wards I went into the banks and was told all the facts, and was
showed that they had no money—that they had been robbed, the
same as we had been. I did not notice that any buildings had been
set fire to; I understood the American Hotel and a store of Mr.
Atwood had been attempted to be set on fire. I do not recol-
lect of any other. I am aware that some ten or a dozen of
the citizens were taken prisoners and kept under guard on the
Green at St. Albans on that occasion. I should judge that for
some time the party was pretty much in possession of the town.
I and Mr. Seymour were in the Directors’ room when Mr. Breck
came in ; I was then standing by the door of the Directors’
room, when Mr. Breck came in. Previous to his coming in,
the party had possessed themselves of the money of the bank,
and were packing up a part of it when he entered. I swear
that there were five of the party in the bank when Mr. Breck
came in. I swear that Marcus Spurr was in the bank when
Breck’s money was taken from him. I do not know what country-
man Breck is. I think heis a citizen of Vermont, because he has
resided there long enough to become one. He keeps a store at St.
Albans. Tam aware that there was a civil war raging in the United
States on the nineteenth of October last, and still is raging there.
The Northern people call themselves the United States, and the
Southern people call themselves Rebels; I have heard them called
the Confederate States of America, that is the name they under-
take to assume. Vermont is one of the States forming the
Northern section, calling themselves the Northern States. This
war has been raging four or five years ; during that time the
Confederate States have had a President, Senate, and Congress.
The States which claim to be part of the Confederate States, are
Virginia, North and South Carolina, Georgia, Florida,—Alabama did,
but I do not know that she does now,—and a portion of Tennessee.
The State of Vermont has contributed money and men towards
the carrying on of this war. There was on the said nineteenth of
October, a recruiting officer and station—or rather, the municipal
authorities recruited men for the Northern army, as they were
called upon to do from time to time by the Government. There
was no money in our bank belonging to the United States; but
there was belonging to the State of Vermont. 'The party, after
leaving St. Albans, were followed by thirty or forty of the
citizens. I do not know if they were armed ; some of them
may have had guns or revolvers ; they were not all armed.
I do not know who commanded the party. The St. Albans
bank joined with the First National bank in offering a reward
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for the money, by a placard, one of which is filed. I have
seen the term “ raid”’ used pretty often during the war.* I under-
stand that raiding means the march of an army into the enemy’s
country : by army, I mean a large or a small number of soldiers.
I have heard of Colonel Dalghreen and another general making
a raid into the Southern territory, in connection with General
Kilpatrick. Colonel Dalghreen penetrated very nearly to Rich-
mond. I do not know anything about the number of men he had
with him. I have heard that raids have been made into the Con-
federate territory by Straight, Hunter, Grey, Stoneman, and
Grierson ; and I have understood that numerous raids have been
made into the Northern States by Southern officers. I know a
newspaper called the ¢ New York World ;”” and I also know of a
General called Major General Dix. He is in charge of the Eastern
department, which includes Vermont. e is a general of the
United States of America. I think a proclamation came out on
the fourteenth day of this month by General Dix. I have no
doubt but that the newspaper now showed to me, being the ¢ New
York World,” dated the fifteenth of December instant, a copy of
which is filed, is the genuine newspaper published in New York;
and the proclamation contained in it is the proclamation of General
Dix. To the best of my belief, the proclamation is published cor-
rectly.t There hasnot been, to the best of my belief, any application

—

* The following is the reward referred to:—¢ $10,000 Reward.—The St.
Albans bank, and the First National bank of St. Albans, Vt., were robbed by
an armed band of raiders, on the 19th Oct., 1864, of the following notes and
bank bills, viz. : (here follows the description of the notes, and caution against
receiving them.)—H. B. SowLEs, President St. Albans bank.—Hiram BELLOWS,.
President First National Bank.—St. Albans, Vt., October 26, 1864.

t The following is the Proclamation referred to :

Heap QUARTERS, DEPARTMENT OF THE EAsT,
New York City, December 14th, 1864.
General Orders, No. 97,

Information having been received at these head quarters that the
rebel maurauders who were guilty of murder and robbery at St. Albans, have
been discharged from arrest, and that other enterprises are actually in prepar-
ation in Canada, the Commanding-General deems it due to the people of the
frontier towns to adopt the most prompt and efficient measures for the security
of their lives and property.

All military commanders on the frontier, are therefore instructed in case
further acts of depredution and murder are attempted, whether by marauders,
or persons acting under commissions from the rebel authorities at Richmond,
to shoot down the depredators if possible while in the commission of their
crimes : or if it be necessary with a view to their capture to cross the boundary
between the United States and Canada, said commanders are directed to
pursue them wherever they may take refuge, and if captured, they are under no
circumstances, to be surrendered, but are to be sent to these head quarters for
trial and punishment by martial law.

The Major-General commanding this department will not hesitate to exercise
to the fullest extent the authority he possesses, under the rules of war exercised
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made to the Legislature of Vermont in respect to this money; or
that it was before them in any shape or way. I am not aware that
there 1s any newspaper or gazette in the United States specially
designated for the publication of official or public documents. The
custom is for all leading papers to receive such proclamations
alike, and documents also; and this, as I understand it, is the
ordinary way in which they are communicated to the public. I do
not recollect any instance in which they have been promulgated in
any other way. I understand that the President of the United
States modified somewhat the orders of General Dix, as appears in
the ¢ New York World,” of the nineteenth day of December instant,
which paper I believe to be a genuine paper, and to have issued on
that day, a copy of which is now filed.*

Re-examined.—The prisoner, Marcus Spurr, and the four others
who acted in concert with him in the taking of the money from the
St. Albans bank, and from the person of the said Samuel Breck,
were not in uniform, but, on the contrary, were dressed in civilians’
clothes, and so were the rest of the persons who composed the party
seen 1n the streets, to whom I have referred as having ridden off in
a northerly direction. These parties, I suppose, came from Canada ;
but I have no personal knowledge of the fact. When I said that
some of the money taken from the St. Albans bank by Spurr and
others, belonged to the State of Vermont, I mean to say that they
had some money on deposit, and for which the bank became
responsible from the moment of its deposit.

by all civilized States, in regard to persons organizing hostile expeditions
within neutral territory, and fleeing to it for an asylum after committing acts
of depredation within our own ; such an exercise of authority having become
indispensable to protect our cities and towns from incendiarism, and our people
from robbery and murder.

It is earnestly hoped that the inhabitants of our frontier districts will abstain
from all acts of retaliation on account of the outrages committed by rebel ma-
rauders, and that the proper measures of redress will be left to the action of

the public authorities.
By command of Masor-GeEnerir Dix.

D. T. Vax Barex, C.A A.G.

* The following is the Proclamation:
HeapQUuarRTERS DEPARTMENT OF THE EasT,
New York City, December 17Tth, 1864,
General Orders, No. 100.

The President of the United States having disapproved of that
portion of Department General Order No. 97, current series, which instructs all
military commanders on the frontier, in certain cases therein specified, to cross
the boundary line between the United States and Canada, and directs pursuit
into neutral territory, the said instruction is hereby revoked.

In case, therefore, of any future marauding expedition into our territory from
Canada, military commanders on the frontier will report to these headquarters
for orders, before crossing the boundary line in pursuit of guilty parties.

By command of MaJor-GeNeraL Dix.
(Official) D. T. Vaxn Burey, Col. and A.A.G.

CuarLes O. JoBierL, Major and Aide-de-camp.
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And further deponent saith not ; and hath signed, the foregoing
deposition having been taken and read over in the presence of the
prisoners.

(Signed) CYRUS NEWTON BISHOP.
Sworn before me this twenty-

seventh day of December, one \

thousand eight hundred and

sixty-four.

(Signed) J. Smrry, J.S.C.

Josepl, F. Bettersworth, of the State of Kentucky, one of the
United States of America, now of the city of Montreal, in the
District of Montreal, soldier, upon his oath saith :—1I have been in
Canada about three weeks, part of the time in Toronto, and a part
of that time in prison in this city. Upon looking at the prisoners,
I say that I know them all; I mean the prisoners calling them-
selves Bennett H. Young, Charles Moore Swager, Marcus Spurr,
William H. Hutchinson, and Squire Turner Teavis, and now before
this Court. I have known two of them since last August, that is
Young and Spurr ; and the others I have formed an acquaintance
with in Gaol here. T have been told that the banks of St. Albans
aforesaid, were robbed ; I cannot say that I know when. Since I
have been in Court, I overheard that a person named Samuel Breck
was robbed, that is since I came here in Court. I heard from
several persons that the banks were robbed. I heard this from
Mr. D. Bishop, and some others ; I never heard the prisoners say
that any man was robbed, nor that the banks had beenrobbed ; they do
not admit thatit was robber y. The prisoners admitted tome that they
had beenin St. Albans, and that they had been in the said banks,and
that they had taken the money from the hanks,—they said the sum
they had so taken from the said banks exceeded two hundred thousand
dollars. I wish to add that they did notlook upon this as robbery.
They never told me how many were engaged in this matter. The
conversation which took place between the prisoners and myself,
and which I have herein before stated, occurred since my arrest,
which was last Monday weck. The prisoners also stated in my
presence, that they had taken some horses from St. Albans.
Being asked what they said about the money, they said it was an
act of war done in retaliation for the depredations committed in the
Shenandoah valley by our ecnemies. I heard them mention the
name of the St. Albans bank and other banks in connection with
this matter, and the taking of the mouncy, I believe T heard them
say that the raid was made by them in Octoher last, I caunot say
the precise day. I was not in St. Albans in the month of October
last.
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Question.—Do you wish the Court to understand that the five
prisoners now present and recognized by you, admitted in your
presence that they acted together, and that they aided and assisted
each other and in concert with each other, in the taking of the
money from the banks of St. Albans and in the other acts com-
mitted during the continuance of the raid ?

Answer.—1I never heard anything of the kind, and do not know
whether they acted in concert or not. But they admitted to me
that they were at St. Albans on that occasion together. They
also admitted to me that they went there together for the purpose
of taking the money and burning the town. I also heard the pri-
soners say, that one man was wounded on that occasion. I heard
one or two of the prisoners say that they had revolvers. I do not
recollect which said it. I also heard the prisoners say that imme-
diately after the raid, they fled to Canada. They told me that they
came from the Confederate army ; and I know from circumstances
mentioned to me by one of them that he did come from the Con-
federate army. They did not tell me that they had been in Canada
before going to St. Albans, and I have not found out since that
they had been in Canada before going to St. Albans. I think I
saw two of them in Canada, from the first to the fifth of August
last, viz.: Mr. Young and Mr. Spurr. I saw Mr. Young at
Toronto, and Mr. Spurr at the Clifton House, Niagara Falls. I
did not know them before that time. I was introduced to Young
at Toronto, and Spurr at the Clifton House, but not by the same
person. I do not know their names. I do not know that Bennett
H. Young was engaged in any business in Canada at that time, or
Mr. Spurr either. I do not know what their object in visiting
Canada was. They did not inform me where they were going.
They did not tell me that they expected to be found by some of
their friends. I do not know how long they remained in Canada
after I was introduced to them. I arrived in Canada for the first
time about the first of August last, and remained here until about
the twenty-fifth of the same month, when I left Canada. During
my stay I spent part of my time at Toronto, and part at the
Niagara Falls, Canadian side. I cannot say how long before I left
that I saw said Young. I cannot say where he was from the time
I saw him in Toronto until I left. I do not know that he was
engaged in the study of divinity during his stay at Toronto. He
did not appear like a man engaged in such study. I met one Collins
also about the same time I had an introduction to Mr. Young ; this
was one of the persons engaged in the said raid, as I have heard.
I have heard this from the prisoners, that he was one of the persons
who took part in the raid at St. Albans. I did not know Collins
personally before I was introduced to him at Toronto. I do not
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recollect having met Collins and Young together. I have not met
any of the prisoners, except the two I have mentioned, or any of
the others said to be concerned in the raid.

Cross-exzamined on behalf of the Confederate States.—I am a
Confederate soldier ; I have served in several States; I belonged
to John H Morgan’s command, Second Kentucky Cavalry, com-
manded by Col. Duke at that time. When I saw Spurrand Young
at Chicago, during the Convention in August last, I understood
that they were there for the purpose of releasing the Confederate
prisoners at Camp Douglass ; there was an organization going on
there for this object at that time. I was told by some of my friends,
whom I know to be Confederate soldiers, and also by Young and
Spurr, that they, Young and Spurr, were in the Confederate army.
I was informed during the time I was in Chicago that a raid or
raids was being organized there for the purpose of plundering and
burning the Northern towns on the frontier. I am aware that
Young and Spurr were then engaged in organizing such raid or
raids, that is Young and Spurr were in that organization. I am.
aware that large quantities of arms and materials of war were stored
in Chicago during the month of August last. There is no regular
uniform in the Confederate service ; if there is, they do not all wear
uniforms. It is a fact that in many cases they, the Confederate
troops, have gone into battle in United States uniform. In the
course of my experience, I have witnesssed the destruction of pri-
vate property by United States troops. I have been plundered by
them myselt, being at the time a soldier. I saw a private house
burning at Huntsville, Alabama, in 1861, soon after the battle of
Shilo. I was under arrest at the time; after my release I was
informed by the citizens and soldiers of the United States army
that it had been done by General Mitchell’s orders. I cannot say
that I can state positively that I saw any other instances of destruc--
tion of private property, but I have heard of a great many which I
know to be true. I saw Collins in Chicago at the same time I saw
Young and Spurr. In the course of the conversations I had with.
the prisoners in Gaol, upon every occasion they told me, that the
raid on St. Albans was made with the express orders of the Con-
federate Government, and further I say not and have signed, the
foregoing deposition having been taken and read in the presence.
of the prisoners.

(Signed) JOSEPH F. BETTERSWORTH..
Sworn before me, at Montreal,
this twenty-eighth day of
December, 1864.
(Signed) J. SMITH, J.8.C.
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Samuel Breck, of the town of St. Albans, in the State of Vermont,.
one of the United States of America, andnow in the city of Montreal,
merchant, upon his oath, saith : I have resided in St. Albans over
a year, and am a merchant there, doing business with one Jona-
than Weatherbee, as co-partners under the firm and name of
Breck & Weatherbee, and we were so on the nineteenth day of
October last. pon the said nineteenth day of October, between
the hours of three and four of the clock, I proceeded to the St.
Albans bank, in the town of St. Albans aforesaid, for the purpose
of paying a note that fell due in the bank on that day, by our firm ;
the amount of the note was five hundred dollars. I had with me
three hundred and ninety-three dollars in current money of the
United States, and an account due by the President, to complete
the payment of the difference. When I arrived at the bank door,
I found it closed. I knocked at the door and it was immediately
opened by a person who was a stranger to me. I went into the
bank, and the door was closed immediately by the same person
who had opened it, and who had in his hand a revolver, and with
the other hand he caught me by the shoulder, and pushed me
along to the desk, and made the remark that the man of the bank
was in the other room. As I approached the desk, I was met by
another stranger, who had also a revolver in his hand. The money
for the payment of the note I carried in my left hand, and upon
this latter stranger seeing it, he said I will take that money.
Before he took it, Mr. Bishop, a witness examined in this matter,
and who was in an adjoining room, said, ¢ Breck, we are caught; you
had better give it up,” remarking at the same time, that they had
robbed the bank of all the money it contained. One of the party
thereupon said that they had done so. I only noticed two armed
strangers in the bank, the one who opened the door for me, and
the one who met me at the desk as aforesaid. After these remarks,
I gave to one of the armed men the money I had with me, amount-
ing to three hundred and ninety-three dollars. I gave up this
money because I was put in fear of my life if I refused to do so.
The man who stood at the desk, and who took the money from me,
before taking it, presented a revolver at me, which almost touched
my person. I do not recollect that he said he would blow my brains
out ; I believed he would from his appearance, and from the remark
Mr. Bishop made, and from the revolver being presented at me.
This man, after he said he would take my money, said that I was
under arrest, and that they were Confederate soldiers. I then
asked them if they did not respect private property ; they said they
did not, and asked me if Generals Sherman and Sheridan respected

svate property. This money which was so taken from me
private property J
belonged to myself and my co-partner. These armed men were
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dressed in civilians’ clothes. I did not tell them that the money I
held in my hand was private property, nor did I tell them that it
was not private property. After taking this money from me, one
of the armed men still kept his hand on my shoulder, and aided me
into the Director’s room, that is, he shoved me in. This armed
man said that if I attempted to escape, or give any alarm, he
would shoot me. This was the man that took my money from me,
his words were that he would blow my brains out; in consequence
of this threat, I remained quict. I was kept in this state for
about ten minutes. While I was there, another knock came at the
door. The door was opened. A young clerk, or telegraph operator
of Mr. Weeks’ came in. He had also a package of money in his
hand, he made the remark that it belonged to Mr. Weeks, and the
same stranger, or armed man that took my money, took his money
also. 'This young man was anxious to get away, and the armed man
said, that he should not let the telegraph operator go, and that if he
had found him in the telegraph office, he would have shot him on
the spot. They compelled him to sit on the bed that was in the
room, giving him to understand that if he did not, they would shoot
him ; and he, in consequence, remained. They remarked that they
had seventy-five men in town all armed, and that the tewn was in
their possession, and that they intended to burn the depdt, public
buildings, and the Gowernor’s house. Soon after, I heard shots
fired below the bank, that is, south of it. Previous to the departure
from the bank of the said armed men, one of them soon after went
out, and the other remarked that if we were seen outside the bank,
we should be'shot. Ie then went out. DMr. Bishop then went out,
and I soon after followed, and then saw a party of horsemen riding
north. The prisoner, who gives his name as Squire Turner Teavis,
I recognize as one of the two armed men who took my money in the
way I have already stated, in the St. Albans bank. at the town of
St. Albans aforesaid, upon the nineteenth day of October last past.

Cross-examined on behalf of the Confederate States.—I know
that there is a paper called the New York Herald, published in the
city of New York. I believe it is one of the papers in which
Government orders and proclamations are published in the city of
New York. General Dix is in command of the department-of the
Tast, in which the State of Vermont is. I have seen a proclama-
tion published in the said paper previous to this date, and I presume
that the proclamation in the number of the New York Herald of
the fifteenth instant, 1s a copy of the proclamation in question. It
appears in the first page of the said paper, and is stated the general
order, number ninety-seven. I do not know that there is an official
paper in the United States. It is the practice there to publish
proclamations and orders in the leading papers. Being asked
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whether it was not owing partially to what Mr. Bishop said to me
in the bank that you gave up the money to the raiders that asked
for it, I say that what Mr. Bishop said to me led me to believe
that they were robbers, and that they would shoot me if I did not
give 1t. I say that the prisoner, Teavis, is the man that took my
money as aforesaid. I know that money was taken out of the
other banks at the town of St. Albans on that day by other raiders
or robbers. I style them robbers. I know that there was thrown
on the sign of the store next to mine a bottle of what is called
Greek fire. They told me that they were Confederate soldiers
acting under General Early, and that I was under arrest. The
money taken from me consisted of partially St. Albans bank bills,
and the rest of greenbacks and other banks; and further I say
not, and have signed, the foregoing deposition having been taken
and read over in the presence of the prisoners.
(Signed), SAMUEL BRECK.
Sworn to before me, at Montreal,
this twenty-eighth day of De-
cember, 1864.
(Signed), J. Smrrh, J.S.C.

George Edwin Fairchild, of the town of St. Albans, in the State
of Vermont, one of the United States of America, clerk, and now
in the city of Montreal, upon hiz oath saith.—I was living in the
town of St. Albans aforesaid on the said nineteenth day of October
last past. On that day I went out on to the street in St. Albans,
between three and four in the afternoon, and saw a party of armed men
on horseback in the street. I was some ten or fifteen rods above
the St. Albans bank, which 1s on Main street, of the said town ;
directly after I went out, one of these armed men went up to a
gentleman I was conversing with, named Nettleton, and demanded
from him his hat, saying, that he wished to get 1t for one of his
comrades. Mr. Nettleton hesitated a moment, and then remarked,
that he could not lose his hat ; he then made a second demand for
it, saying at the same time that he would shoot him through if he
refused, and the same time this man on horseback drew two revol-
vers, and cocked them, and pointed them at said Nettleton ; said
Nettleton put his hand under his overcoat as if with the intention
of drawing fire-arms; at this, the man on horseback wished to
know if he had any arms about him, and to show him the inside of
his coat, immediately threatening again to shoot him. At this time
the man that was in want of the hat, rode up and said to his com-
rade not to parley, but to shoot the damned cuss. At this time
there was a cry for help down the street, in the vicinity of the
banks ; these two men wheeled their horses about, and rode off in
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the direction of the cry for help. At the time the second man rode
up as above stated, I remarked to Mr. Nettleton not to stand such
an insult. At this the man that first rode up, pointed two re-
volvers at me, and wished to know if I had any arms about me,
and to show the inside of my coat, or he would shoot me through.
I remarked that I hoped he would not shoot an unprotected citizen,
opening my coat to convince him that I was unarmed. After these
men had ridden down the street in the direction of the cry for help,
most of the party rode back up the street nearly opposite to where
I was standing, and an order was given from some one of the party
to fall in line, which they did as well as they could, and headed
‘down the street, in which direction Captain Conger was coming
with a few others. I saw Captain Conger with a gun, which he
was apparently trying to fire at them, but the gun did not go off.
These that had formed in line and headed down the street, all fired
two or three shots each at said Captain Conger and his comrades.
About this time there appeared to be one of the robbers who was
not mounted ; he called upon the Captain, as I supposed, to furnish
him with a horse. Upon this the man called upon rode up in front
of Fuller’s livery stables, and demanded Mr. Fuller’s saddler to lead
down a horse that had just been rode into town by a Mr. Smith,
-and was then standing in front of the livery stables. The man
hesitated at first; and the man who rode up, and demanded the
horse, told him that if he did not comply he would shoot him.
Upon this the saddler led the horse down. This man had a revolver
in his hand which was cocked, and which he presented at the saddler.
The armed man rode by the side of the said saddler, keeping the
revolver pointed at him most of the time until he came nearly
opposite to where I was standing, and where the man in want of a
horse was standing ; this man mounted the horse and rode off with
the party. At this time there was an order given by some one of
the armed party to throw Greek fire upon a building opposite
where I was standing ; by this time the horses became unmanage-
able- from fright probably, and the armed party fired several shots
at citizens in different directions. Some of the shots striking very
near where I was standing, one struck the corner of the store about
six feet from where I stood, and I saw the ball which was
picked up by a gentleman standing near; they then rode out of
town irregularly, and that is the last I saw of them. This armed
party appeared to be acting in concert from the time I first saw
them until they rode off ; they were all dressed in citizens’ clothes,
and I saw nothing about them to indicate that they were soldiers.
The prisoners, Bennett H. Young, and Charles Moore Swager, I
recognize as being two of the armed party that I have referred to.
All that I have related took place on Main street, in the town of
St. Albans aforesaid, and in the immediate vicinity of the banks.
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Cross-examined on behalf of the Confederate States.—I did not
see Greek fire thrown, but I heard the order given to do so on Mr.
Brainheard’s store. There were other buildings set fire to that
day,—the American hotel, and Victor Atwood’s hardware store.
When Captain Conger came up with the gun, there were four or
five people with him, and by that time the citizens were beginning
to collect in the street. There are about three thousand inhabitants
in St. Albans. At that time the armed party had been in the
town about half an hour. By this time a great number of the in-
habitants had collected, but 1 cannot say that the greater portion,
as precautions were taken to prevent this, by the armed party.
At that time they had several of the principal citizens prisoners on
the green. Up to this time they had pretty much the control of
the village, and did much what they had a mind to. I do notknow
that any one was shot by the volleys I saw fired. I know that
there was a soldier of the United States army in St. Albans that
day ; he was in uniform. He was not taken prisoner by the armed
party ; and further I say not, and have signed, the foregoing depo-
sition having been taken and read in the presence of the prisoners.

(Signed) GEO. E. FAIRCHILD.
Sworn to before me, at Montreal,
this twenty-eighth day of De-
cember, 1864.
(Signed) J. Smrra, J.S.C.

Edward A. Sowles, of the town of St. Albans, in the State of
Vermont, one of the United States of America, attorney and coun-
sel-at-law, now in the city of Montreal, upon his oath saith:—I
am an attorney and counsel-at-law, practicing as such in Vermont
aforesaid, and have practiced as such since the year eighteen hun-
dred and fifty-eight. I have been present and have heard all the
evidence in this case.

Question.—From the facts deposed to in your presence and
hearing in this case by Cyrus Newton Bishop, Samuel Breck,
Joseph T. Bettersworth, and George E. Fairchild, what criminal
offence, in your opinion, was committed, according to the laws of
the said State of Vermont in force on the said nineteenth day of
October last, as therein disclosed by the said witnesses ?

(Objected to by Mr. Kerr. Objection maintained.)

Question.—Was robbery a crime by the laws of the said State
of Vermont in force on the said nineteenth day of October last?

Answer.—It was, and still is. .

Question.—Did the facts disclosed in the evidence of the wit-
nesses above named, as given in this cause In your presence and
hearing, amount to and constitute the crime of robbery, as known
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and recognized by the laws of the said State of Vermont in force
on the said nineteenth day of October last ?

Answer.-—They did, and do now.

Question.— According to the laws of the said State of Vermont
in force on the said nineteenth day of October last, would the facts
disclosed in the said evidence bring home the charge of robbery
against all of the prisoners above named ?

Answer—It would. The volume now produced contains the
general Statutes now in force in the said State of Vermont, and
which were also in force on the said nineteenth day of October last.
I am acquainted with the seal of the said State, and with the sig-
natures of the Goovernor and Secretary of the said State, and I
declare that the seal affixed to the certificate written on the leaf
immediately after the page seven hundred and ninety, and between
the Acts and the index, is the seal of the said State, and the sig-
nature, *“ J. Gregory Smith,” is the signature of the Governor of
the said State, and the signature, ¢ G. W. Bailey, jun.,” is the
signature of the Secretary of State of the said State of Vermont.

Cross-ezamined on behalf of the Confederate States.—The of-
fence committed by the prisoners would be cognizable by the Courts
of the State Courts of the State of Vermont. The United States
Courts for the District of Vermont would have no primary jurisdic-
tion over this offence. The State of Vermont, therefore, has
exclusive primary jurisdiction of the crime of robbery committed in
that State, as I understand it. Texas, California, Kansas, I think,
and Minnesota, have been admitted into the Union since the year
eighteen hundred and forty-two. I know that an Act of Congress
was passed on the seventeenth of July, eighteen hundred and sixty-
two, chapter one hundred and ninety-five, entitled an Act to sup-
press insurrection, and to punish treason and rebellion, to seize and
confiscate the property of rebels, and for other purposes that Act
shows for itself; that any person engaged in war, or committing
the crime of treason against the said United States, is liable to
imprisonment and fine, and the property of that individual is liable
to confiscation to satisfy the fine, both real and personal property. 1
refer for explanation of the said Act to the copy of the Act printed
in ¢ Lawrence Wheaton on International Law,” pages 600, 601,
and 602, which I have no doubt is a true copy.

Question.—In your opinion, should a detachment of United
States soldiers, under the command of an officer in your army, do
like acts to those charged against the prisoners, your said soldiers
and officers being then in Georgia, would they be guilty of robbery ?

(Objected to by Mr. Devlin.  Objection overruled.)

Answer.—1 think not. Georgia 1s a State in rebellion against
the constitnted authorities of the United States. War is going on
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‘now in the State of Georgia. The Federal and so-called Confed-
erate armies are now in the State of Georgia, and that is the
battle-ground, or part of the battle-ground. The State of Vermont
is not in rebellion against the authorities of the United States, but
1s a loyal State. Its citizens are not committing acts of treason.
Many of those of Georgia are so doing. The two cases are not
analogous. I consider the act of the prisoners as an act of robbery.
I do not consider it an act of treason against the State of Vermont.

Question.—Do you consider the conduct of the prisoners, and
the other parties, at the town of St. Albans, on the nineteenth of
October last, taking all their acts and declarations together, as
treason against the United States ?

(Objected to by Mr. Devlin.  Objection overruled.)

Answer.—1I can only answer that question by giving the defini-
tion of treason, as given by the Constitution of the United States,
that is to say, ¢ Treason against the United States shall consist
only in levying war against them, or in adhering to their enemies,”
&c., as will be found by reference to page eleven of the compiled
Statutes of the State of Vermont.

Question.—Do the -acts above referred to, and declarations,
amount to a levying of war against the United States ?

Answer.—That is a matter of opinion. In my opinion, they do
not.

Question.—Do the said acts and declarations amount to an ad-
herence to the enemies of the United States, giving them aid and
comfort ?

Answer.—That question, with other similar questions, may not
have been settled by the Courts of the State of Vermont, and I
should prefer having them settled by those Courts before giving an
opinion. I am aware that Judge Nelson is a Judge of the Su-
preme Court of the United States. I think Judge Shipman is
also. I have seen the work called “The Rebellion Record,”
published by G. P. Putnam, and I have seen it alluded to fre-
quently in the papers, and is apparently the same work which was
read, or portions of which were read, in Court as evidence, on the
trial of the officers and crew of schooner ¢ Savannah.” In the
Courts of Vermont I have seen like works excluded as evidence ;
that is, evidence in and of themselves. I know General Phelps,
who at one time commanded at New Orleans ; that is, I know him
by reputation, and have seen him. He is from Vermont.

Question.—In your opinion, Breck having paid the amount of
money he had at the time to a person in charge of the bank, at the
request, or by the direction of the cashier, is he still responsible
for the said amount to the bank ?

K



146

Answer.—Having given up the money, under the circumstances,.
not to an agent of the bank, he would be liable to the bank. And
further I say not, and have signed, the foregoing depositions hav-
ing been taken and read in the presence of the prisoners.

(Signed) EDWARD A. SOWLES.
Sworn to before me, at Montreal, this
twenty-ninth day of December, 1864.
(Signed) J. SmrtH,
J.8.C.

Mr. Bethune.—This 1s our last witness.

Myr. Kerr.—1 have a point to submit as to the jurisdiction of the
Court. Butas I was not aware last evening that the counsel for
the prosecution would have finished so soon, I shall be ready to-
morrow morning with my argument as to the jurisdiction.

Friday, 30th Dec., 1864.

Mr Kerr for the prisoners submitted :

1. That the Province of Canada was but a corporation with
powers limited and defined by Imp. Act, 3rd and 4th Vie., cap. 85,
the third clause of which was in the following terms.

From and after the re-union of the said two Provinces, there shall
be within the Province of Canada one Legislative Council and one
Assembly, to be severally constituted and composed in the manner
hereinafter prescribed, which shall be called “The Legislative
Council and Assembly of Canada;”’ and within the Province of
Canada, Her Majesty shall have power, by and with the advice
and consent of the said Legislative Council and Assembly, to make
laws for the peace, welfare and good government of the Province
of Canada, such laws not being repugnant to this Act, or to such
parts of the said Act, passed in the thirty-first year of the Reign of
His said late Majesty, as are not hereby repealed, or to any Act
of Parliament made or to be made, and not hereby repealed, which
does or shall, by express enactment or by necessary intendment,
extend to the Provinces of Upper and Lower Canada, or to either
of them, or to the Province of Canada, and that all such laws being
passed by the said Legislative Council and Assembly, and assented
to by Her Majesty, or assented to in Her Majesty’s name by the
Governor of the Province of Canada, shall be valid and binding to
all intents and purposes within the Province of Canada.

2. The conditions precedent then to the validity of Provincial
Statutes, were : first, that they should be for the peace, welfare and
good government of the Province ; second, that they should not be
repugnant to the provisions of any Imp. Act then in force, or which
thereafter might be passed.

3. By the 10th article of the treaty of 1842, between Great
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Britain and the United States, it was provided that extradition of
criminals in certain cases should be made, and the powers contract-
ing pledged themselves to vest jurisdiction in their Judges and their
Magistrates respectively.

4. The Imp. Act, 6th and Tth Vic., cap. 76, was then passed for
the purpose of giving effect to the treaty ; and the Judges and other
Magistrates in Canada, were thereby invested with the power of
issuing warrants to apprehend and immediately upon the issue of
the Governor General’s warrant giving information that a requi-
gition for extradition had been made. '

5. Previous to the passing of the 6th and Tth Viec., cap 76, no
Judge or Magistrate had a right to issue his warrant to apprehend a
foreigner for a crime committed in the United States.

6. By the 5th Section of the 6th and Tth Vic., cap. 76, it was
provided ; ¢ that if by any law or ordinance thereafter made by the
Local Legislature of any British colony or possession abroad, pro-
vision shall be made for carrying into complete effect within such
colony or possession, the objects of the said Act by the substitution
of some other enactment in lieu thereof, then Her Majesty might
with the advice of Her Privy Council (if to Her Majesty in
Council it seems meet but not otherwise) suspend within any such
colony or possession, the operation of the said act of the Imp. Par-
liament, so long as such substituted enactment continues in force
there, and no longer.”

7. The 12th Vie., cap. 19, was passed by the Provincial Parlia-
ment of Canada, under and by virtue of the permission and power
given in the said 5th Section of the 6th and Tth Vic., cap. 76 ; and
in the early part of 1850, Her Majesty by order in Council sus-
pended the operation of the Imp. Act in Canada, so long as the
said 12th Vic., cap. 19, should be in force and no longer.

8. By the 12th Vic., cap. 19, the necessity for the Governor’s
warrant preceding the issue of a warrant by a judge or magistrate,
was done away with, and any one of the Judges or Justices of the
Peace throughout the Province, was authorized to issue such war-
rant to examine witnesses and upon complaint under oath or affir-
mation being made, the words and spirit of the treaty being therein
carefully preserved. .

9. By the 5th clause of the 12th Vie., (the enactment being
composed of five clauses only) it was provided that ¢ this Act
shall continue in force during the continuance of the tenth article
of the said treaty, and no longer.”

10. Under and by virtue then of the 5th clause of the 6th and Tth
Vie., cap. 76, and the order in Council of Her Majesty, the 12th
Vie., cap. 19, became and was the colonial enactment substituted
in Canada, for that Imp. Act, and the operation of the Imp. Act
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was suspended in the Province, so long as that enactment (the 12th
Vic., cap. 19), remained in force and no longer—the fifth clause of
the Statute 12th Vic., must also be regarded as a kind of pledge
quoad the duration of the act itself.

11. By the Provincial Act, 22nd Vic., cap. 29, it was pro-
vided ¢ that from the day mentioned in the proclamation provided
for by section four, all the enactments in the several Acts and parts
of Acts in such amended Schedule A mentioned as repealed, shall
stand and be repealed ; by the 9th Section, it was provided ¢ that
if the provisions of the Consolidated Statutes are not the same as
those of the repealed acts quoad transactions after those Consoli-
dated Statutes come into effect, the provisions of the Consolidated
Statute shall prevail.”

12. In Schedule A (Con. Stat. of Canada, p. 1203) appears as
repealed 12th Vie., cap. 19.

13. The Governor General issued his proclamation on the 9th
Nov., 1859, fixing the 5th of Dec. as the day on which the Conso-
lidated Statutes of Canada, should come into force under the 4th
Section, 22nd Vie., cap. 29.

14. The 22nd Vic., cap. 89, (Consolidated Statutes of Canada)
was a re-enactment of the 12th Vic., cap. 19.

15. By the Provincial Statute, 24th Vic., cap. 6, the first three
clauses of the 22nd Vic., cap. 89, were repealed—and three other
clauses substituted therefor. By the 24th Vie., jurisdiction in cases
of extradition was taken away from the Justices of the Peace
throughout the Province, and vested in certain other officials—the
words in the first section of the 22nd Vie., cap. 89, ¢ with having
committed within the jurisdiction of the United States of America,
or of any of such States, any of the crimes, &c.,” were changed to
‘““ with having committed within the jurisdiction of the United
States of America, any of the crimes, &c.,” and other changes
were made relating to the sufficiency of the evidence.

16. No order of Her Majesty in Council suspending the opera-
tion of the Imp. Act during the continuance in force of the 24th
Vic., cap. 6, was ever made.

17. By the repealing clause-of the 24th Vic., cap. 6, three of the
five clauses composing the 22nd Vic., cap. 89, (the re-enactment
of the 12th Vic., cap. 19,) were repealed, leaving in fact but one
clause, which was similar to one of the clauses of the Imp. Act, 6th
and Tth Vic., cap. 76, so that the enactment substituted (the whole
of the Act 12th Vic., cap. 19) had ceased to be in force, and the
Imp. Act 6th and Tth Vic., cap. 76, under its own provisions and
Her Majesty’s order in Council, on the assent by the Governor
General to the 24th Vic., cap. 6, revised.

Mr. Bethune contended that our legislature had ful] power to
legislate upon this subject irrespective of any treaty or imperial
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statute bearing on the point. He had referred to the Union Act as
demonstrating the power of our legislature, which he had thought
proper to designate a mere corporation. The wording of the act
was this :—¢ That this legislature shall have power to make laws
for the peace, welfare and good government of the Province of
Canada.” This has the largest possible form of expression on the
subject. To show this power was inherent in our legislature, he
referred to what the legislature of Upper Canada did, before the
Union, on this subject, and cited from the Revised Statutes of
Upper Canada, p. 592. But, first, the question of extradition had
nothing to do with treaties. A treaty was a mutual compact
between two nations, and, of course, required the interposition of
the Crown and the Crown alone. In a mere question of extradi-
tion the legislature of this province was supreme. In 1833, the
legislature of Upper Canada, long before any treaty, legislated
upon this subject, and in a broader sense than that of the treaty.
The act set forth that, whereas, it was expedient to provide by law
for the apprehending and delivering up of felons and malefactors
who, having committed crimes in foreign countries have sought, or
may, hereafter, seek an asylum in this province it was enacted not
only that persons committing such crimes as murder and robbery,
arson, &c., might be given up, but those guilty of *larceny or
other crimes.”” Were we to be told this was an unconstitutional
act—an act in force ever since 18337 It stands on our statutes
ratified by the Crown and recognised aslaw. In Wheaton’s Inter-
national law, p. 241, it i1s recorded, that it was stated by the British
Minister at the time of the signature of the treaty of 1842, that the
Rendition Treaty could have no effect in the British dominions in
Europe, till provisions were passed to give it effect ; but that in
Canada the treaty could have immediate effect, because in Upper
Canada there existed a provision of law touching this very question.
The wording of the old Quebec Act giving the legislature of Upper
Canada the most ample power to *“ legislate on every subject affect-
ing the peace, welfare and good government of the Province,”
the legislature passing its statute in accordance with that power.
The statute was recognised by Great Britain through its ambassador
negotiating the treaty. The Imperial Act respecting this treaty
afforded a confirmation of this view. That Act, in referring to our
power on this subject did not refer to any power as being thereby
given us, but to a power already existing at the passing of the said
Tmperial Act. The wording of that Act took it for granted that
such a power really existed with us, and it provided that it should
be competent to Her Majesty to suspend the Imperial Act—not
that it should be obligatory upon her to do so. It must be borne
in mind that the Crown was under treaty of obligations with an-
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other nation, and that it was necessary for the Crown, in good faith,
to take care that all our obligations were carried out faithfully. If
the legislature of this colony did not legislate sufficiently in the
matter, the Imperial Parliament could always step in and supply
all deficiency so as to answer fully the purposes of the treaty. The
Tmperial Legislature reserved to itself the right to see the colonial
enactment before it would suspend its own enactment. There was
nothing illegal or improper in the Provincial and Imperial enact-
ments going on together ; on the contrary, they contemplated such
a state of things. We passed an act in 1849, but it did not require
any sanction from Her Majesty in order to make it law. As the
act created a machinery of our own, for the sake of convenience,
our legislature left it to Her Majesty to indicate a day upon which
this treaty should come in force, in order that if she thought pro-
per to suspend the operation of the Imperial Statute, there should
be no confusion, and that we should always, or in the meantime
have some law in operation. What was the language of Her
Majesty, as appeared by the Canada Grazette? ¢ By virtue of
the authority vested in me by the Provincial Act”—the act
of 1849 passed by our legislature. This was not surely the
authority of a mere Corporation. Her Majesty’s power of sus-
pension existed as long only as our statute existed. As to the argu-
ment that the Imperial Act revived on the repeal of the statute
of 1849, the clause Mr. Kerr relied-on was the 5th of the Act,
respecting the Consolidated Statute of Canada, 22nd Vic., chapter
29. The clause provided that on and after such day as that on
which the Provincial Act should come into force and effect, by
direction of the Consolidated Statutes of Canada, etc., all the
enactments and parts of enactments mentioned in a certain sche-
dule should stand and be repealed, ‘‘save only as hereinafter
provided.” Now, as to the argument that because the 12th Vie.,
chapter 19, was embodied in that schedule that it was therefore
repealed, and that when the Act 12th Vic., was embodied in the
Consolidated Statutes, a new statute was created, it is to be noted,
in connection with the words ¢ save only as hereinafter provided.”
That the 8th section of the Consolidated Statutes enacted that said
Consolidated Statutes should not be held to operate as a new law,
“ but as a consolidation, and as declaratory of the laws contained
in the acts so repealed, and for which the Consolidated Aects
were substituted.” Her Majesty had no power to do any thing
more than deal with the whole Act. She had declared that
the Imperial Act would be suspended as long as the Provincial
continued in force, and no longer. But was it to be argued
that when an act was amended by the legislature it was con-
sequently repealed. The Act of 1849 still exists on our Statute
Book, as amended, but amended in a very small particular. Upon
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‘the question as to the jurisdiction of our Courts it was amended in
only one particular as to the powers of justices of the peace in the
matter. In the statute of 1861, we had merely approached
nearer to the Imperial Act, restricting the power given under that
law, by taking it away from mere justices of the peace, and giving
1t in lieu to judges of sessions, and stipendiary magistrates. There
could be no revival of the Imperial Act unless the whole Act of
1849 had been repealed by us, which had not taken place, it being
still in the Statute Book, and but slightly amended. Her Majesty
giving such a sanction, required no special aid or order in Council
to be proclaimed in the Glazette to give the statute life. Our
legislature in the Act of 1849 merely gave the Queen power to fix
a day on which our Act should come into force so that there might
be no clashing of the two Acts, but in the Statute of 1861 no
requirement of the kind was introduced. Was it to be said that
when the legislature had power to enact it had no power to amend
or repeal laws ? Our Act of 1861 did not require any confirmation
at Her Majesty’s hands. She had power to reserve it, but did not
do so. The only other power she had as regards that act, was to
disallow it ; but instead of doing so, Her Majesty treating it as an
ordinary act by an order made in Her Privy Council declared that
she left it to its operation. He denied His Honor had any power
to question the constitutionality of the Act, under which he was sit-
ting in this case. The law was in the Statute Book, and the Judge
had no power to say the legislature of Canada had no right to pass
a law on this subject. Our legislature had the most complete
power-and control over this question and required no treaty even
in the first instance. It was, then, out of the Court’s power to set
aside an act of Parliament which gave it jurisdiction in this matter.
It could not be maintained that even if the Imperial Act had
revived, the two could not exist and operate together. Even if the
Imperial Statute has revived, enacting that the Governor General
might sign a warrant of arrest in such a case as this, was it to be
understood that no other official could do anything towards securing
the arrest of accused parties in such a matter ?

Justice Smith delivered the following judgment on Saturday,
Tth January, 1865 :

The examination of the witnesses in the case of the robbery of
Brett, having been concluded, Mr. Kerr, on behalf of the prisoner,
raised a preliminary objection, on the allegation of the total ab-
sence of jurisdiction on the part of the examining Judge, on the
ground that the arrest of the prisoner was illegal, the warrant of
arrest not having been preceded by a warrant under the hand and
seal of the Governor General, signifying that a requisition had
been made by the authority of the United States for the delivery

of the offender.



152

¢ That my warrant having been issued without such authority,
it was altogether illegal, null, and void, and that the prisoner was
entitled to his discharge.” . .

“The argument was, that there was no law in force in this
Province, under which such warrant could legally issue, except
the Imperial Statute 6th and 7th Victoria, chapter 76 ; and that
such law imperatively required the authority of the Governor
General, before such arrest could be made, and that without such
authority the warrant of arrest was altogether illegal.

“In support of this argument, the Counsel for the prisoner
stated several propositions.

1st. That the arrest and delivering up of persons accused of
crimes, was entirely within the scope of Imperial authority, and
beyond the jurisdiction of a Colonial Executive.

2nd. That there was no provision by common law, or by the
comity of nations, to effect this object.

3rd. That this matter is regulated entirely by treaty, between
independent nations, and that the only treaty which regulated this
subject between Great Britain and the United States of America,
i3 the Ashburton Treaty.

Let us assume then, for the sake of argument, that the three
propositions above stated are true, and that the provisions of the
Ashburton Treaty can alone settle and determine the rights of both
nations, on the subject,—and that the starting point in the settle-
ment of the question is that treaty.

The Ashburton Treaty was finally settled by the two Govern-
ments on the 30th day of October, 1842, by the exchange of
Ratifications at London.

By the tenth article of this treaty, it was agreed, ¢ That Her
Majesty and the said United States should, upon mutual requisitions
by them or their ministers, officers, or authorities, respectively
made, deliver up to justice all persons, who being charged with the
crime of murder, or assault with intent to commit murder, or piracy,
or arson, or robbery, or forgery, or the utterance of forged paper,
committed within the jurisdiction of either of the high contracting
parties, should seek an asylum or should be found within the terri-
tory of the other.”

Provided that this should only be done, upon such evidence of
criminality, as, according to the laws of the place where the fugi-
tive, or person so charged should be found, would justify his
apprehension and commitment for trial, if the erime or offence had
been there committed. And that the respective Judges and other
Magistrates of the two Governments should have power, jurisdiction
and authority, upon complaint made under oath, to issue a warrant
for the apprehension of the fugitive or person so charged, so that
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he might be brought before such Judges or other Magistrates
respectively, to the end that the evidence of criminality might be
heard and considered ; and that, if on such hearing the evidence
should be deemed sufficient to sustain the charge, it should be the
duty of the examining Judge or Magistrate to certify the same,
&e., &ec., &ec.

An Act was afterwards passed in the Imperial Parliament to
give effect to the treaty in the 6th and Tth years of Her Majesty’s
reign ; and by one of the clauses of that Act,

It was provided, ¢ That before the arrest of any such offender,
a warrant shall issue under the hand and seal of the Governor
General, or person administering the government, to signify that
such an application had been made by the United States for the
delivery of such offender, and to require all Justices of the Peace
and other Magistrates and officers of justice to govern themselves
accordingly.

By the fifth section of the said Imperial Act, it is provided, that
if by any law or ordonnance, to be thereafter made by the local
Legislature of any British colony or possession abroad, provision
shall be made for carrying into complete effect within such colony
or possession the objects of the said Act (thatis) for giving effect
to a treaty between Her Majesty and the United States of Amer-
ica, for the apprehension of certain offenders, by the substitution
of some other enactment in lieu thereof, then Her Majesty may, with
the advice of Her Privy Council (if to Her Majesty in Council.
it seems meet), suspend within any such colony or possession the
operation of the said Act of the Imperial Parliament, so long as
such substituted enactment continues in force therein, and no longer.

Under the authority of the fifth section of this Act, the Parlia-
ment of Canada passed an Act intituled “ An Act respecting the
Treaty between Her Majesty and the United States of America
for the apprehension and surrender of certain offenders,” being
the 12th Victoria, chapter 19.

By this Act 1t was stated in the preamble, ¢ that the provisions
of the Imperial Statute were found to be inconvenient in this Pro-
vince in practice, particularly in that part which required the
authority of the Governor General before any arrest of a criminal
could be made ; and whereas, by the fifth section of this Imperial
Act, it is enacted that if by any law or ordonnance, to be thereafter
made by the local legislature of any British colony or possession,

rovision shall be made for carrying into complete effect the objects
of the said Act, by the substitution of some other enactment in lLieu
thereof, Her Majesty might, with the consent of Her Privy Council,
if to Her Majesty in Council it seems meet, suspend the operation
of the Imperial Statute so long as such substituted enactment con-
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tinue in force, and no longer ;”” and then follows the enactmeni,:s
of the bill doing away with the necessity of the Governor General’s
warrant. .

By the 5th clause of the said Act it was provided that the Act
12th Victoria, chapter 19, shall come into force upon the day to be
appointed for that purpose, in any proclamation to be issued by the
Governor General, or person administering the Government of the
Province, for the purpose of promulgating any order of Her
Majesty, with the advice of Her Privy Council, suspending the
operation of the Imperial Act hereinbefore cited, within this Pro-
vince, and not before ; and this Act shall continue in force during
the continuation of the 10th Article of the Province, and no longer.

This proclamation was made by the Governor General on the
928th March, 1850, and was published in the Canada Gazette at
that time.

The order in Council required by the fifth clause of the 6th and
Tth Victoria, Imperial Act was passed, and the operation and
authority of the Imperial Statute 6th and Tth Victoria was there-
fore suspended within the limits of this Province, and the 12th
Victoria, chapter 19, became the law of the Province.

The effect, therefore, of the passing of the 12th Victoria, chap-
ter 19, was to carry out more completely the stipulations of the
treaty. By the 10th article of that treaty, jurisdiction was given
to the Judges and Magistrates mentioned in the treaty. By the
Imperial Act 6th and Tth Victoria, it was enacted that before
these Judges or Magistrates could act under the treaty, an autho-
rity from the Governor General was necessary,—so far as this is
concerned it was a departure from the stipulation of the 10th Arti-
cle. Suppose the 6th and Tth Imperial Statute had enacted that
the warrant by a Judge or Magistrate could not be enforced, except
a previous warrant had been issued under the hand and seal of the
principal Secretary of State, surely it would not be contended that
such an enactment would not have been contrary to the provisions
of the treaty, and that it would have frustrated the very object of
the treaty so far as this country is concerned ; what possible dif-
ference can it make that the name of the Governor General is sub-
stituted for that of the Secretary of State, so far as mere convenience
is concerned ? The Governor General, who resides at the distance of
one thousand miles from the Western extremity of the Province,
and the Secretary of State who resides in England, are in a similar
position; and the preamble of the 12th Victoria, chapter 19, declares
that the provisions of the Imperial Statute have been found incon-
venient in practice in the country, and that it is necessary to
change them.

This Act, so reasonable in that particular, was passed without
objection, and it was not even a reserved Act. It was passed
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by the concurrent action of the three branches of the Legislature
of Canada, and became complete, so soon as the Royal assent
through the Governor General had been given.

But the time for this act to come into force was left to the
Governor General to proclaim, so soon as the 6th and 7th Victoria
(Imperial Act) should have been suspended, and was only neces-
sary for that purpose ; and as'it was enacted in the 12th Victoria,
chapter 19, the proclamation announcing the suspension also
became necessary.

But the Act itself was passed as an ordinary act of Parliament,
and passed as the Act itself says by virtue of the authority given to
the Parliament by the fifth clause of the 6th and 7th Victoria.

The jurisdiction over the subject matter of the Imperial Act, and
of the treaty itself in so far as the mode of carrying out the provi-
sions of the treaty within the Province, is concerned, was given to
this country, and it fell by the operation of the Imperial Act, under
the ordinary jurisdiction of the Canadian Parliament, as all other
matters of a local nature fell under the jurisdiction of Canada, by
the Union Act itself.

The mere fact that the 6th and Tth Victoria was a separate Act,
and provided for its coming into force again, in the event of this
country not carrying out the provisions of the Ashburton Treaty by
enactments of its own, does not affect the question.

The Union Act gave complete and supreme authority over all
matters concerning this Province to the Parliament of Canada.

The Act of 6th and 7th Victoria gave complete jurisdiction to this
country over the provisions of the Ashburton Treaty, so far as it
related to this country, and to the mode of carrying into effect the
provisions of the treaty itself within the territory of Canada.
There was no limitation to this authority by the Act itself. It was
enacted that the mode of carrying into effect the treaty should be
regulated by the Provincial Government, and if from the nature
of the treaty itself, it could only come into force by Imperial
authority, the 10th article of the treaty clearly embraced the whole
of the dominions of Great Britain, and vested in the Judges and
Magistrates of the two countries all necessary jurisdiction, and
authority for arresting and examining the offenders mentioned in
the said treaty. So far as mere jurisdiction is concerned, it was
absolutely given by the treaty, and the Imperial Act in that respect
confirmed this jurisdiction. The Ashburton Treaty was passed by
the Imperial Govornment for the whole nation, and for that purpose
the Imperial authority was supreme.

By the express provisions of the treaty itself, jurisdiction was
given to the Judges and Magistrates of the Province, the consent
to this jurisdiction was given by the Crown: 1st. By the ratifica-
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tion of the treaty. 2nd. By the legislative action contained in the
provisions of the 6th and Tth Victoria, with the already mentioned
restriction of the Governor General’s warrant; and, 3rd, by the
provisions of the 12th Victoria, chapter 19, expressly doing away
with this restriction; and so far as the surrender by the country
of persons charged with offences specially pointed out in the treaty,
the jurisdiction was complete. Even if the 6th and Tth Victoria
had never been passed, it is difficult to conceive on what authority
this country could have refused to carry out the provisions of the
Ashburton Treaty.

But it is not necessary for me to pursue this point any further,
as the full and complete jurisdiction was given to this country by
the Act 6th and 7Tth Victoria, and by 12th Victoria, chap. 19, so far
as to the manner of effectually carrying out the provisions of the
treaty is concerned.

I deduce, therefore, from the previous observations :

1st. That supreme authority was given to the Parliament of this
country to effectually carry out the provisions of the Ashburton
Treaty within the limits of our territory, as it thought proper, and .
that this authority is to be found in the fifth clause of the 6th and
Tth Victoria, Imperial Act.

2nd. That by the passing of the 12th Victoria, chap. 19, the
mode of carrying out the provisions of the treaty is there pointed
out.

3rd. That so long as the provisions of the 12th Victoria, chap. 19,
remained in force, the provisions of the 6th and 7th Victoria were
suspended in this country.

4th. That the 12th Victoria, chap. 19, having received the Royal
assent, the right to change the mode of procedure pointed out, to
be observed by the 6th and 7th Victoria, and the substitution
therefor of the mode of procedure pointed out by the 12th Victoria,
chap. 19, was an Act clearly within the jurisdiction of this country,
otherwise that Act would never have received the Royal assent.

oth. That if the mode of procedure can be changed with the
sanction of the Crown, any second change not infringing the provi-
sions of the treaty is also within our jurisdiction, and that the same
authority having sanctioned this change, it is absolutely binding on
all the inhabitants of this country.

The prisoners’ counsel, however, contends that as the 12th Vie-
toria, chap 19, 1s no longer in existence, that it has been positively
repealed, and that, consequently, the Imperial Act of the 6th and
Tth Victoria again revived, and became law in this Province.

The argument is, that the 12th Victoria, chap. 19, has been
changed by the 24th Victoria, in such a way as to require a second
order in Council, and a second proclamation to give it effect.
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That as the 12th Victoria, chap. 19, required a Proclamation
and Order in Council to suspend the 6th and 7th Victoria in this
country, so, also the 24th Victoria also required a second Order in
Council again suspending the 6th and Tth Victeria, and a Procla-
mation to that effect.

In answer to this argument, it may be said that the 24th Vic-
toria does not repeal the 12th Victoria, chap. 19 ; it simply sub-
stitutes three new sections, viz.: 1, 2, 3, for the 1, 2, 3 sections of
the 12th Victoria, chap. 19.

That the change in part of the said Act does not operate in law
as a repeal—See Dwarris, page 534 and 535.

That the 6th and Ttk Victoria does not speak of a repeal or
change at all, but simply states that in the event of this Parliament
making provision for the carrying into complete effect within this
golony the objects of the said Act, by the substitution of some other
enactment in lieu therefor, that is, in lieu of the enactments con-
tained in the 6th and Tth Victoria, then the operation of the 6th
and Tth Victoria may be suspended.

The 12th Victoria was passed substituting new enactments for
those of the 6th and Tth Victoria, and received the Royal assent,
and the operation of the 6th and Tth Victoria, in this country was
suspended, and remained suspended so long as such substituted
enactments remain in force.

The moment then, that the colonial amendments were substituted,
for the Imperial provisions contained in the 6th and Tth Victoria,
the colonial law necessarily superseded the Imperial authority.

The Imperial Act 6th and Tth Victoria does not restrain the
Provincial Parliament in any way in the mode of carrying out the
provisions of that Act, viz. : to carry into complete effect the Ash-
burton Treaty ; and the same Act gave to the Colonial Parliament
the same authority in this country that it had itself, and delegated
to the Canadian Parliament the duty it had itself assumed towards
the United States within the Province of Canada, viz.: to carry
out the stipulations of the Ashburton Treaty, and it consequently
fell under the ordinary jurisdiction of the Canadian Parliament, as
all other matters of local concern under the Union Act.

If the Canadian Parliament had a right, therefore, to deal with
the subject at all, it had a right to amend its own Acts in that par-
ticular.

I think it will scarcely be denied that if the right to legislate upon
any particular subject exists, that it includes the right to amend its
own Acts. Now the 24th Victoria was a mere amending Act,
and was assented to in the same manner as all other Acts of Par-
liament were.

It was not even a reserved Act. The same authority which
assented to the 12th Victoria, assented to the 24th Victoria, in so
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far as the inhabitants of this colony are concerned, and all Magis-
trates and Judges are bound by it. As well might it be pretended
that any other law in the Statute Book is illegal, as to say the 24th
Victoria is not the daw of the land. ) )

It wasin fact doing what the 6th and Tth Victoria authorised
the Parliament to do, namely, to substitute Canadian enactments
for Imperial ones, thereby the more effectually to carry out the
provisions of the Ashburton Treaty. - o

It was to do what by the fifth section of 6th and Tth Victoria
this country was authorised and empowered to do, and the effect
was, as then stated, to suspend the operation of the 6th and Tth
Victoria, so long as any substituted enactments existed in the
country for carrying out that Act, and by this law, 24th Victoria,
no proclamation and no Order in Council were necessary. It was
not necessary by the treaty, and the Order in Council was only,
necessary by the Act of 6th and Tth to declare the suspension o
the Imperial Act.

If no such Order in Council had been made, the local Act would
not have had the less force. It was the enacting clauses which
declared the suspension of the Imperial Statute, so soon as a Cana-
dian Act was passed, and from the moment the 12th Victoria,
chap. 19, became law, the Imperial Act was virtually suspended.

It was a mere form generally used in matters of State, and the
usual mode of making known the suspension of any law. But in
no way was 1t necessary to make or complete a law. So far as
regards the proclamation, it was not necessary to make the law,
but merely to announce the time of its coming into force, as it was
provided by the 12th Victoria, chap. 19.

However, as regards the 24th Victoria, there was an Order in
Council, but it was solely to say that the Act 24th Victoria was
left to its operation, and to intimate that the Act would not be dis-
allowed within the two years pointed out by the Union Act. Now,
would such an Order in Council have been passed if it had been for
a moment considered, that the mere amendment of the 12th Vie-
toria, chap. 19, had or could have had the effect of again reviving
and bringing into force the 6th and 7th Victoria.

The members of the Council and the law officers of the Crown,
whose attention was particularly drawn to the provisions of that law
by the then Secretary of State for the Colonies, the late Duke of
Newcastle, would not have fallen into such a blunder as to advise
her Majesty to leave the 24th Victoria to its operation, if thereby
the 6th and 7th Victoria would have again come in force.

The result would have been that two laws on the same subject
would have existed, repugnant and antagonistic in their nature,
which would have nullified each other, and the Ashburton Treaty
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itself, the one declaring that the warrant of the Governor General
was necessary, and the other affirming that it was not, and both
sanctioned by the same authority, viz.: the Queen in Council. It
is impossible to suppose that if such had been the effect of passing
the 24th Victoria, so great an embarrassment would not have been
avoided.

The Order in Council, insead of leaving the law of the 24th Vic-
toria to its operation, would have advised her Majesty to have dis-
allowed the Act.

The Imperial authorities considered, therefore, that the enact-
ments of the 24th Victoria, chap. 6, fully carried out the provisions
of the 6th and Tth Victoria, by substituting the enactments required
to suspend the operation of the 6th and 7th Victoria, in this coun-
try, and so long as these ¢nactments existed, the 24th Victoria was
the law of the land. The argument that the Act of the 12th Vic-
toria was repealed by the Consolidated Statutes of Canada cannot
affect the question, for the 24th Victoria was substituted for the
12th Victoria, with all necessary enactments required by the
Imperial Statute 6th and Tth Victoria, to give effect to the law.

The very terms of the Order in Council on the subject of the
24th Victoria, clearly indicated that the Imperial authorities con-
sidered that the subject was exclusively within the jurisdiction of
the Canadian Parliament ; for the words used in the Order in
Council, viz :—That the 24th Victoria should be left to its opera-
tion, simply according to Dwarris, pages 90-7-8-9, that it, the law,
is an affair of an ordinary and local nature.

If a second Order in Council had been necessary, according to
the argument of the Counsel for the. prisoner, although not required
by the act itself, such a pretension must clearly rest on the asser-
tion that a mere Order in Council and a proclamation have greater
power and force than an act of Parliament.

The 24th Victoria having received the royal assent, it still had
not the force of law, until Her Majesty in Council had approved of
it, and ratified it. An assent had already been given by the
Queen as the third great power in the Parliament of Canada, but
that assent must be again affirmed by an Order in Council before
the Act could become law. If so, there is not a single act in the
Statute Book which has the force of law.

The proposition therefore is that of Parliament composed of the
three great powers of the State, (the only powers which could make
a law,) have assented to the law—still the Privy Council, which
has no legislative functions whatever, must approve and ratify it
before the Act can become a law.

This argument in my opinion is untenable ; the 12th Victoria
required an Order n Council precisely because the 6th and Tth
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Victoria required it, not for the purpose of giving effect to the Act
of 12th Victoria, but solely to suspend the operations of the Impe-
rial Act. As soon as an act was passed in this country to carry
out the treaty in Canada, the law had been fulfilled, and the juris-
diction transferred from the Imperial Parliament to the Canadian
Parliament.

If not for this object, what was the Canadian legislation to effect?

If then these acts had not required an Order in Council to be
given, such order would not have been necessary.

The Act 12th Victoria and the Imperial Act 6th and Tth Victoria,
both stated that as soon as Her Majesty, by an Order in Council,
suspended the 6th and Tth Victoria, then the Canadian law should
come into force. This order was given, and the Imperial Act was
consequently suspended.

Thus, then, by the passing of the 24th Victoria, all the powers
of the government were brought into harmonious action.

The Legislature, the Judicial and the Executive, all concurred
in giving full effect to the treaty.

The powers conferred by this concurrent action upon the Judges
and Magistrates of the country, in general terms, were as a mere
matter of local jurisdiction finally regulated by the amending Act.
For the 12th Victoria, chap. 19, in giving this jurisdiction to the
Judges and Magistrates, generally, might have been inconvenient
in practice, as the most important questions of international law
might have been left to the determination of any country magis-
trate, who could not be supposed to bring to such important consi-
derations either the requisite time or the knowledge to deal satis-
factorily with the subject. I say this in no spirit of blame, but
solely to show how and for what purpose the amending Act was
passed, and that in so leaving the investigation of these points to
more experienced Judges, Parliament in no way exceeded its
powers or violated any of the provisions required for effectually
carrying out the treaty.

The treaty only received legislative effect in the United States
in 1848, several years after it had been passed.

Whether such legislative action was required to give effect to
the treaty had been then discussed.

The case of Nash, otherwise called Robbins, delivered up in
Charlestown for mutiny and murder, and afterwards executed in
Jamaica, had raised doubts, and these doubts were therefore effec-
1iu18ally put an end to by the passing by Congress of the Act of

48.

Those desirous of further examining this question are referred
to Hind on Habeas Corpus, page 581, and following pages, where
the subject has been to a certain extent discussed.
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The moment then, that the Order in Council required by the:
6th and 7th Victoria, and 12th Victoria, chap. 19 had been passed,
and the proclamation made in this country to that effect, the-
Order in Council had fulfilled the object intended to be attained
by it, viz., the suspension of the Imperial Act within the limits of
this Province, and was no longer necessary.

It was intended in the first instance merely to declare that as.
the Imperial Act alone could legislate on the subject for all the
dominions of Her Majesty, the Act had been passed ; but so soon
as the Canadian Parliament had legislated for the purpose of car-
rying into effect that law, within the jurisdiction of that Parliament,
according to its own laws and institutions, that the Imperial Act in
that particular would be accordingly suspended. Once suspended
it remained suspended, so long as Canadian legislation existed on
the subject.

Whether the Canadian Parliament could originate legislation on
the subject, is beside the question.

If it had authority in the first instance, it was delegated to-
it, and delegated by the only authority which had any control over-
the matter.

If the Imperial authorities were satisfied with the matter, surely
it is not for the people of this country to complain.

The Imperial Act, therefore, once suspended, it remained sus-
pended, so long as there remained on the Statute Book any enact-
ment substituted for the Imperial one, carrying into complete effect
the Ashburton Treaty.

The conclusions, therefore, which I deduce from this branch of
the case after the passing of the 24th Victoria, are—

1st. That the 24th Victoria was an amending Act to the 12th
Victoria, chap. 19, and simply substituted one mode of procedure
for another.

That such power was expressly given by the fifth section of the
6thand Tth Victoria, chap. 76. That the power given to regulate
necessarily implies the right to amend.

That such amendment having received the Royal assent, it
became law, and was absolutely binding on all the inhabitants of
the country.

That it was more effectually to carry out the provisions of the
law, and the treaty, as declared in the Imperial Act.

That it had not the effect of reviving the 6th and 7th Victoria,
Imperial Statute. . o

That the only law in force in the Province on the subjeet, is the
94th Victoria, consequently that my warrant issued under the
provisions of that law, is legal to all intents and purposes.

L
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I need not, therefore, extend the argument any further. Ihave
confined it to the examination of the general proposition, that the
Tmperial Statute, 6th and Tth Victoria, was in force, and that I
was, therefore, without jurisdiction in the matter.

I will not touch on the smaller points raised tendingin themselves
only to support the general objection. I have confined the argu-
ment to a strictly legal view of the objection, without, I trust, being
unnecessarily diffuse.

Allusion has been made in the course of the argument, to the fact
that different opinions have been entertained on this subject.
What may be the opinion of others on this point, it is neither
my business nor my duty to enquire. I am not here to criticise
the opinions of others, but to state my own. 'This opinion has been
formed, irrespective of the opinions of all others, and I may say I
have never entertained a doubt on the subject.

In doing this I have stated the propositions of law, which I con-
sider as necessarily flowing from the argument, and after a careful
examination of the matter, I have come to the conclusion that my
warrant was properly issued, and the objection taken by the Counsel
for the prisoners 1s, therefore, overruled. )

Mr. Kerr desired to bring under his Honor’s notice another ob-
jection, viz., that the prosecution had not, under the 24th Vie.,
chap. 6, made out any case against the accused. He said that the
12th Vic., chap. 19 gave to judges and magistrates of this country
cognizance of crimes committed ¢ within the jurisdiction of the
United States, or of any of such States” ; but in the 24th Vie.,
cap. 6, the words, ¢ or of any of such States,”” do not appear. It
becomes, then, necessary to enquire whether the act committed
by the accused at St. Albans, Vermont, constituted a crime com-
mitted within the jurisdiction of the United States of America.
There was with regard to the U. States, a federal jurisdiction and a
state jurisdiction. The former, or U. S. jurisdiction, was based on
certain grants of sovereign rights and privileges, made over by the
people of the several States composing the former Union. No
other rights and privileges attached to the Government of the
United States; and all other rights and privileges of sovereignty
not expressly made over by the Constitution to the Federal govern-
ment, attached and remained to each of the several States. In sup-
port of this he would refer to ¢ Story on the Constitution,” p. 412,
The Government of the United States could not, then, claim any
power not granted to it by the Constitution, and the powers actually
granted must be such as were given expressly or by implication. We
had, then, to enquire whether the jurisdiction of the United States
extended over crimes committed within the body of one of the several
States of the Union. He cited the opinion of Chief Justice Marshall,
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delivered in the case of Bevans, to shew that the jurisdiction of the
United States extended over only the District of Columbia, territo-
ries, dock-yards, etc., and over such places as had heen placed
specially under the jurisdiction of the U. S. government. Under
the Constitution and laws of the U. S., the Federal Government had
no power to legislate for States, or in regard to crimes committed
within the jurisdiction of the State of Vermont. The conclusion of
His Honor’s warrant stated that the offence was committed against
the peace of the State of Vermont. Could the crime have possibly
been committed against the peace of any other State, than that
which had jurisdiction over it? The consequences were these :
Robbery in a State or place not specially under the jurisdiction of
the U. S. Government was a crime for which the Government there-
.of had alone a right to legislate. Vermont had exercised that
right in this instance. Taking this into account, the Court was
not called upon to decide as to a point affecting the general Govern-
ment, but which merely concerned an individual sovereign State.
He thought his Honor must come to the conclusion that the robbery,
if robbery there was, was committed within the borders of the State
of Vermont, and not within the jurisdiction of the U. S., and that
consequently the statute (24 Vic.) did not apply in this case, and
the prisoners must be discharged. '

Mr. Abbott urged the question whether or no there were reall
two jurisdictions in the United States; one jurisdiction of the
Federal Courts, and another of the State Courts * And, in respect
to this particular charge, were these jurisdictions independent of
each other ? Had the Federal Courts of the United States any
Jjurisdiction over this offence, or if not, had the Courts of the State
of Vermont? And if the State of Vermont had jurisdiction, was
it exclusive, or was it concurrent with that of the United States
with regard to the robbery committed at St. Albans? It was con-
tended on the other side that it had been proved that this offence,
committed in the State of Vermont, was against the laws of that
State. The prosecution had even put a Vermont lawyer into the
box to prove this fact. But neither in the warrant nor in the in-
formation had the attempt been made to prove that this was a
crime against the United States or cognizable by them. The
lawyer who had been put into the box had proved that the crime of
robbing Brett was one entirely and exclusively within the jurisdic-
tion of the State of Vermont; and not cognizable by the United
States Courts. He would refer the Court to Wheaton’s American
Criminal Law, vol. 1, page 155 and following, and by this authority
it would be seen that the United States had not jurisdiction over
the crime of robbery committed in Vermont, or in any State having
its own Legislature and jurisdiction. There were, then, two juris-



164

dictions in the United States, and the offence charged here was one:
within the exclusive jurisdiction of the State of Vermont. The framers
of our law appeared to be well aware of this fact, as they had made
provisions expressly for those two jurisdictions. The statute 12th
Victoria, cap. 19, was evidently drawn up with a careful view of
this distinction as to the two jurisdictions, and in this respect har-
monized exactly with the provisions of the Constitution of the United
States. But the 24th Vict., cap. 6, hastily prepared to facilitate
the extradition of fugitive slaves, had disregarded the distinction,
and provided only for the extradition of persons who had committed
certain crimes within the jurisdiction of the United States, omitting
to make similar provisions with respect to *‘ any of such States”; and
the omission of any provision with regard to * any of such States”
had been carefully made wherever one had occurred in the former
statute. This must surely mean something, and only one construc-
tion could be put upon it. The word ¢ jurisdiction” in our statute
should be taken in its technical sense; Sedgwick, 261 and 263,
laid down that when technical words occurred in a statute, they
must be taken in a technical sense. The technical meaning of the
word ¢ jurisdiction’ was perfectly plain, and the Court would
observe that in our statutes care had been taken not to use it in its
popular sense, but in its strictly legal sense.

Mr. Johnson said it was stated by the counsel opposite that we
were invoking a jurisdiction we had no right to invoke, and a great
deal had been said as to the domestic jurisdiction of the United
States, and of the Courts of the United States, but not one word as
to the sovereignty of the United States, and as to the will of those
two Powers who contracted, apd whose contract we were to give
effect to if we could. There was a vast difference between one
State and several States, and the meaning of the word ¢ jurisdic-
tion ”” in the sense of sovereignty in which it was used by nations
contracting as the United States and Great Britain had contracted
by this treaty. It could not be contended that the two nations had
power to legislate one thing, and the local Legislatures within the
sovereignty of each, another. The word ¢ jurisdiction ”” meant
sovereignty or nothing when applied to nations; and the parties to
the Ashburton treaty could not have meant anything so senseless
as that the jurisdiction of the Federal Government, in cases of
extradition, was merely a domestic jurisdiction, extending only
over the District of Columbia, the wild lands and such places as
dockyards and ports. Did Great Britain then say, “ We mean
never to ask for the extradition of any fugitives whatever except
of those found in the aforesaid localities > Such a construction
would be at variance with common sense. The word ¢ jurisdiction”
must mean the exercise, the possession of power, and the nations
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contracting with regard thereto could not mean by the word the
a.ctual domestic jurisdiction exercised by a Court of Quarter Ses-
sions, by the Court of a State, or by the Supreme Court of any
State or the United States. The treaty did not mention the words
‘“ one of the said States,” but merely ¢ the United States.” The
words were not that the crime should have been committed against
the jurisdiction of the United States, but ¢ in the jurisdiction of
the United States.” What was alleged in the warrant was, not
that the offence was committed against the jurisdiction of the
United States, but against the peace of the State of Vermont, one
of the United States of America, and within the jurisdiction of the
sald United States. This was all that was necessary. If the pri-
soners’ counsel held the correct view, the treaty would be a nullity.
There could be no extradition for any offence committed against
the laws of the United States properly so called except in the
small District of Columbia. He believed that the treaty and sta-
tutes passed to give it effect must be construed in the most liberal
and not the most narrow manner, and that the United States Gov-
ernment had power to extradite as regards every State in the
Union.

Myr. Devlin followed on the same side.

Mr. Bethune contended that the Court could not put upon the
words ¢ within the jurisdiction of the United States’ the strict
interpretation given them by the Counsel for the defence, and
cited authorities to show that in interpreting statutes the real
intention would always prevail over the literal intention or ex-
pression. The preamble of the Act must be considered as a
part, and explanatory thereof; and the 24th Victoria judged by
this principle, and receiving its proper broad and liberal interpreta-
tion, would sanction the view of the prosecution, that the United
States had power as regards every State of the Union in the mat-
ter of extradition. Was it to be supposed that while Great Britain
treated respecting the extradition of criminals from all parts of her
broad empire, the United States was to be understood as agreeing
to extradite with reference to only a few small sections such as the
district of Columbia ? The words of the treaty bearing upon the
subject were— offences committed within the jurisdiction of either
nation.”” The statutes used the same phrase. The only ques-
tion was—Was Vermont within the jurisdiction of the United
States ? Every witness swore it was. We were bound to give
the broadest meaning to the word ¢ jurisdiction” in this case,
and could not say it meant the judicial jurisdiction, but meant
¢ within the territorial jurisdiction of the United States.” The
learned gentleman cited several authorities, including ¢ Vattel,” in

support of his views.
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Mp. Kerr was astonished to hear the argumends of his learned
friends. The State of Vermont had given over to the Federal
Government certain rights, but it had not given the right of juris-
diction. He maintained that where the court of a country could
not take jurisdiction of an offence, that offence was not committed
within the jurisdiction of the country itself. The Government had
brought a great deal of influence to bear on this case; but of
course every hody was aware that a peace-offering must be made
to the Federal Executive. A number of people were of opinion
that the prisoners, though proved belligerents, should be given up,
in order that our fears might be silenced, and the bugbear of future
danger averted. Everything had been done to throw difficulties
in the way of the defence, still it was to be hoped that this Court
would render to the prisoners that justice which was their due.
It was to be hoped that his Hoenor sitting there would do justice
to these men regardless of consequences.

Myr. Laflamme argued that there was nothing to justify the ren-
dition of the prisoners on this charge. The United States had a
certain jurisdiction belonging to the Federal Government; the
State of Vermont had a separate and independent jurisdiction of
its own, and this charge was one of those which were cognizable
only by the jurisdiction of that State. In fact and in law the claim
now put forward by the prosecution was utterly untenable ; and the
Court, he thought, could come to no other conclusion. Our autho-
rities had gone out of their way to interfere in this case. We had
seen members of the Government posting off to Washington to
appease the authorities there, just as if there were no law in
Canada to meet cases of this description. We have seen members
of the Government go to Washington to promise that we would be
good boys in future, lest General Dix should come over to Canada
and rescue the prisoners from our justice, so that they might be
given up to their justice. But no matter how the Government of
this country had interfered in this case, he (Mr. Laflamme) was
certain that this Court would deal by these young men as the
principles of British constitutional law directed.

Judge Sinith—I will take the case into consideration, and give
my decision on Tuesday.

The Court then adjourned.

TuespAy, Jan. 10th, 1865.
His Honor Judge Smith gave decision on the point raised by
the counsel for the defence on Saturday, as follows :—
This objection rests on the ground that the offence charged is not
covered by the Ashburton Treaty, that it is an offence acainst the
State of Vermont; and as the State jurisdiction of Vermont is
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separate from, and independent of the jurisdiction of the United
States it is not covered by the 24th Victoria, chap. 6, which speaks
of offences committed within the jurisdiction of the United States
alone.

That the jurisdiction of the United States, and that of several
States, are separate and independent of each other, and regulated
by positive law. That the 12th Victoria, chap. 19, acknowledged
this distinction by speaking of the jurisdiction of the United States,
or of any of such States, thereby covering all offences committed
either within the jurisdiction of the United States, o1 of any such
States, and that the 24th Victoria, chap. 6, having omitted these
last words, viz.: ““or of any such States,” that it necessarily and
intentionally restricted the operation of the Ashburton Treaty to:
offences committed solely within the jurisdiction of the United
States. That it has been proved in this case by the evidence taken
in support of this application, that the offence charged against the
prisoners was committed within the jurisdiction of the State of
Vermont and against the laws of that State alone, although within
the Territory of the United States, that it does not fall withir the
Statute 24th Victoria, and consequently the prisoncr is entitled t¢
his discharge.

I have thus stated the objection in its broadest possible form, that
it may be covered by the argument made by the Counsel for the
prisoners.

The Ashburton Treaty was passed for purely national purposes.
The surrender of persons for imputed crimes can only be done by
the Supreme Executive authority of independent nations.

This power in Great Britain existed in the Imperial Parliament,
which could alone legislate for the Empire. 1n the United States
it existed in the Supreme Federal Legislature of the nation. The
object of the treaty could only be attained by the national power,
consequently it did not reside in any of the United States, but
in the Federal legislative power of the United States. The word
jurisdiction is not used in its limited sense, asin roference to Courts
of Justice, or State legislation, but to express the Supreme National
jurisdiction of the Empire itself. Tn this sensc, and in the only
sense, in which the word jurisdiction can be here used, it means,
and is the sovercign jurisdiction of the nation, which alons had
jurisdiction to deal with the subject. To suppose that the word
jurisdiction cain he here nsed in a limited sense, as either expressing
or intending to imply the jurisdiction of any State or of any Court
is necessarily to suppose that these inferior jurisdictions would have
exercised any power whatever over the subject matter of the treaty,
or to suppose that the Supreme Federai anthority having legislated,
the entire nation had wiltully restricted the objects of the treaty
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to a small part only of its own territory, a supposition which cannot
be entertained for a moment. By the 6th and Tth Victoria, chap.
76, the treaty received a legislative authority and force within the
territory of Great Britain, and by that law a provision is made for
the surrender of persons charged with offences committed within the
jurisdiction of the United States, and who should be found within
the territory of Great Britain. _

The word jurisdiction here must, therefore, mean territory, and
‘must mean the territorial jurisdiction of the nations, orit can mean
nothing. The same meaning is given by the Act, where power is
given to magistrates and judges of both nations, and the whole law
itself clearly indicates what Parliament intended, when the word
Jurisdiction was used. So also in the United States, where this
treaty with other treaties of the same nature, received legislative
force by Congress. Congress legislated for the several States as
well as the United States. Hurd, on Habeas Corpus,on page 579,
says : “ The duty of surrendering the fugitive arising only from
Treaty stipulation, its performance is supposed to appertain to the
Executive department of our Government, which by and with the
advice and consent of the Senate, constituted the treaty making
power; and by the discussion which took place in the case of
Holmes and Jennison et al., in 14 Peters, it was settled that no
Governor of any State had power to deliver up to a foreign Gov-
ernment a person charged with having committed a crime in the
territory of that-Government.”” Thus it appears evident that the
Government of the United States and the Supreme Court of that
Government concurred, that in treaties the words jurisdiction and
treaty were convertible terms. '

So far, therefore, as the Imperial Act is concerned, there can be
no possible difficulty on this point.

But the Canadian Parliament in legislating on the subject under
the power conferred on that body by the Act of 6th and Tth Vic-
toria, introduced into the first clause of 12th Victoria, the words
which have given rise to the difficulty.

That Statute said throughout the Act, that surrender should be
made by reason of offence committed within the jurisdiction of the
United States, or of any of the said States, thereby departing from
the words of the 6th and 7th Victoria and of the treaty itself.
And so throughout the said Act 12th Victoria, the same words are
used. These words, so unnecessary to express the objects of the
treaty itself and the 6th and Tth Victoria, have given rise to the
1dea, that it was the intention of the Legislature to make the word
Jurisdiction, used in the treaty, and in the 6th and Tth Victoria, to
be understood to be used in its limited and subordinate sense, and
thereby to create the same distinction in this Act, in explaining



169

treaty obligations which exists when the word is used in its imited
and subordinate sense, to express the distinction between Federal
and State jurisdictions, or in Courts of Justice.

This was clearly a mistake of the Legislature, and beyond its
authority to do. For such distinction, if it could exist at all, would
have changed the contract between the two Governments, and
would have nullified the treaty itself—a power which the Parlia-
ment did not possess.

But it is clear to me, from the whole act, that the additional
words were used not in such a sense, but from extreme caution,
and a desire more fully to explain that the word jurisdiction used
in the treaty, was to extend over the several States in the same
sense in which it was used when applied to the United States,
although this was altogether unnecessary, and was calculated rather
to confuse and to create doubts, than to remove them.

The 24th Victoria, therefore, removed these words so impro-
perly used in the 12th Victoria, chap. 6, thereby restoring the
word ¢ jurisdiction ”’ to its true and original meaning, as given to
it by the treaty, and by the 6th and Tth Victoria. The third sec-
tion of the 12th Victoria clearly show how improperly these words
were used.

For by that section, power is there given to any Governor of
any particular State to apply for the rendition of any person
charged with crime, with power on lis side to surrender to this
country any person so charged, and found within the limits of his
particular State.

Such a power does not exist. It is neither to be found in the
treaty nor in the Imperial Act, and it is not to be found in any
Act of the Congress of the United States.

Thus, Chief Justice Marshall, in answer to a question put in the
argument on the point, (see his work on the Federal Constitution,
page 142-3) : What is the jurisdiction which a State professes ?
¢ We answer without hesitation, the jurisdiction of a State is co-
extensive with its territory, co-extensive with it« legislative power.”
This i1s undoubtedly true.. The argumecnt, when applied to the
United States, is clear. Thus the jurisdiction of the Federal
Government which is supreme, is as extensive as its legislative
power. This legislative power extends over the whole United
States in reference to matters exclusively within its functions, such
as the treaty making power. Therefore Congress, being the legis-
lative power, has exclusive jurisdiction over the territory of the
United States in this respect, and, therefore jurisdiction and terri-
tory are convertible terms, when used in the sense of the treaty
power. Now, the separate States, in this respect, have no legisla-
tive power whatever, and, consequently, they can have no jurisdic-
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tion in the matter, and, if they havé no jurisdiction over the sub-
ject, it is incontrovertible that in the sense and meaning of the
Act there can be no State jurisdiction which can come m contact
with the Federal jurisdiction expressed in the Sta.tut-e, f'm.d, conse-
quently, in the treaty, and in the law, the word jurisdiction must
mean territorial jurisdiction. Thus it is clear that the words “or
of any such State ”’ so used in the 12th Victoria, chap. 19th, were
improperly introduced, and they were properly rejected by the
24th Victoria, chap. 6, and the law now stands as if they had
never been introduced at all.

The offence charged against the prisoner is an offence committed’
within the jurisdiction of the United States, and falls clearly within
the provisions of the treaty and the Act.

The warrant charging the prisoner with having committed a
crime against the laws of the State of Vermont, within the juris-
diction of the United States, is properly stated, and is necessarily
within my jurisdiction. The jurisdiction over the offence, that is
the crime, 1s the State jurisdiction of Vermont, but the jurisdiction
over the subject of the treaty is in the Federal legislature of the
U. S. The offence must be designated as against the State of
Vermont, and so it is in the warrant. The objection is, therefore,
overruled.

Mr. Devlin said that the prosecution had finished their case, but
that if the defence adduced evidence he would be prepared to
oppose it.

The voluntary examination of the prisoners was then proceeded
with. »

Lt. B. H. Young’s statement :—1 am a citizen of the Confede-
rate States of America, and a soldier in their service ; I hold and
herewith produce my commission as first lieutenant in the army
of the Confederate States, and the instructions received at the time-
that commission was conferred upon me, reserving the right to put
in evidence the further instructions I have received, at such time
and in such manner as my counsel may advise. (Mr. Young here-
put in his commission and instructions from the War Department
at Richmond, a copy of which we have already published among
the proceedings before Mr. Justice Coursol.) My heart is as opposed
as most others to measures of retaliation, but I have suffered so many
hardships and endured so many privations in the cause of liberty
and freedom, that my heart is steeled against sympathy for the
invaders and oppressors of my beloved, my native land. Fresh
from scenes of devastated firesides and ruined villages, and listening
80 lately to the wail of the widow and cry of the orphan ; when I
behold the ruin and devastation which marks the track of the
Federal troops, can any one wonder that the fires of revenge and
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retaliation should slumber within my bosom and only need the
opportunity to burst into flames. There are but few households in
the South that have suffered no privations, and endured no bereave-
ments in our great struggle for the inherent rights of our race.
Truly in this war civilization has been made-to shudder, and demons
to rejoice, in the backward march of all that is ennobling and worthy
of the creatures made in God’s own image and after his own likeness.
Whatever was done at St. Albans, was so done by the authority
and order of my Government. I have not violated the neutrality
laws of either Canada or Great Britain, nor was the expedition to
St. Albans set on foot or projected in Canada. I have left home,
friends, luxury and ease to battle for a cause endeared to me only
as the cause of right. Disfranchised and driven from my native
State, Kentucky, I have espoused the cause of a people whose
blood fills my veins, and whose feeling and interest are identical
with my own. Having espoused this cause, I will never look back,
but rather than yield, will pour out my blood as a sacrifice at the
altar of the dearest and noblest cause that can call forth the efforts
of man. I have faced death many times ere this; and should I,
contrary to all precedent, be extradited, I am perfectly well aware
what my fate shall be. I can die as a son of the South, and the
agony of ten thousand deaths will never cause me to regret what I
have done, and the part I have borne in this struggle of right against
might. I had believed that Canada would be true to her pristine
reputation ; and at least deal me the justice and right guaranteed
by the neutrality proclamation of Iler Majesty Queen Victoria;
and it was with feelings of surprise and wonder that I behold the
part ber Government has taken against me. Al that I ask is that
impartial justice shall be meted me and my comrades; with the
judiciary I am safe, as I can’t but feel that his Honor before
whom I now am brought will give me right, though the Heavens
fall, and that his sense of justice is far above Government influence
and the clamor of the fearful. The flag of the empire has been
an emblem of protection to the oppressed and out-cast alien for
many a long weary year : and it will not fail to give me that im-
partiality, which has made it the joy of the fugitive for ages past.
I have but done my duty as a Confederate soldier, and am willing
to abide the fate consequent thereupon. All the men with me at
St. Albans were either Confederate officers or soldiers, and upon
many a hard fought battle-field they have proven their devotion to
Southern rights and the Southern cause. And should we now be
called upon to yield our lives in its defence, the parting words of
Hon. Jas. A. Seddon, Secretary of War for the Confederate States,
will be verified. They were these: ¢ Lieutenant, you go upon a
dangerous mission, and you and your command shall be fully pro-
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tected.” And I assure the good people of St. Albans that the day
upon which I die will be one that will bring a wail to the best
families in the Green Mountain State. My death shall be avenged,
and that in the blood of Vermont officers. And again I assert that
I have a heart for every fate; and if the English law fails to
protect me, my government can and will avenge my sacrifice at the
shrine of a cause to which thousands nobler than I have yielded
their life’s blood. I am not, however, fully prepared for fche full
defence of myself and of my command, without communication with
my Government at Richmond, which I am now well assured I can
effect within thirty days from this time.

Marcus Spurr’s statement :—I am a native of Kentucky, and an
enlisted soldier of the C.S. army, and my term of service has not yet
expired. I owe no allegiance to the so-called United States, but to
the Confederate States of America ; I was held as a prisoner of war
in a Federal prison from which I escaped ; afterwards I was engaged
with other soldiers of the afore-mentioned army in doing dut
within the Federal lines, last summer at Chicago, Ill. I placed
myself under the command of Lieut. Young for the purpose of assist-
ing in carrying out instructions from the Confederate Secretary of
War; I was in the States when the raid upon St. Albans was con-
cocted ; what I may have done at St. Albans I did as a soldier of
the Confederate army, discharging what I conscientiously believe
the duty I owed to my God and my country, and my fallen
comrades, and in obedience to the orders of Lieut. Young of the
said army; in doing this I violated no law of Canada or Great
Britain. ,

W. H. Hutclinson’s statement ;—I1 am a native of the State of
Georgia, and owe no allegiance to what was at one time the United
States; I am not guilty of any of the charges brought against me
here. In April,1861,I joined the Southern army, and have been con-
nected with it up to the present time ; I have violated no laws of
Canada or Great Britain. For the first four years of this present
unhappy war, the Southern people were only doing their duty in
repelling an insolent foe, and protecting themselves against outrage,
injury and insult; they fought against heavy odds as the muscular
resources of the combined world were arrayed against them, and
they have overcome great difficulties with the cheerfulness and
spirit of a brave people. Our friends, neighbors and relatives
have been plundered, and in many instances murdered; and it is
the bounden duty of every Southern man to protect and avenge them
in an individual or national capacity. No civilized people could do
more, and no true patriot, of whatever clime, could do less.

S. T Teavis’ statement :—I am a native of Kentucky, a’soldier
in the Confederate States army. I owe my allegiance to the Con-
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federate Government, and not to the Yankee Government; What I
did at St. Albans was in the capacity of a Confederate soldier, in
obedience to the orders of Lieut. Young, a Confederate officer. I
violated no laws of Great Britain or Canada.

Charles Moore Swager’s statement :—1I am a native of Kentucky
and a Confederate soldier, owing no allegiance to any government
but the Confederate States of America; I was captured a prisoner
of war by the Yankee forces last May, and effected my escape from my
enemies at Chicago, while on my way to prison. I joined Lieutenant
Young’s command at Chicago, last August, and participated in the
St. Albans raid. I feel it my duty as a soldier, to harass and an-
noy the army and navy of the United States, cripple and destroy
its shipping and commerce, capture and burn its towns and cities,
and otherwise damage, if possible, a Government which seeks our
destruction ; my object being to remove, in a manner, the seat of
war to the heart of the New England States, and make their people
feel some of the horrors of war, in retaliation for the crimes and
outrages inflicted on the weak and defenceless women and children
of the South ; any acts I might have committed at St. Albans was
in the capacity of a Confederate soldier, acting under orders of
Lieut. Young, a commissioned officer of the Confederate army. I
look to my Government for the reward which a soldier who has
performed a hazardous and dangerous duty has a right to expect,
knowing full well that the people of my beloved South will justify
and applaud my conduct. I have violated no laws of Great Britain
or Canada.

Myr. Abbott then presented the following petition, asking for
thirty days delay.

P ]

PROVINCE OF CANADA,) Bennet H. Young and Marcus

District of Montreal, Spurr, two of the prisoners whose
Lower Canada, to wit: extradition is demanded, de-
posing on behalf of themselves and of their fellow prisoners in this
matter being severally duly sworn, do depose and say : That deponents
and the other prisoners charged with the offence now under investi-
gation, require certain testimony which is necessary and material
to their defence, and which they are unable to procure in Montreal,
or even in Canada. That such evidence will establish amongst
other things that every one of the prisoners now in custody is an
officer or soldier of the army of the Confederate States of America,
duly enlisted, enrolled or commissioned respectively, and that their
term of service has not expired ; That this deponent, Bennett H.
Young is, and was on the nineteenth day of October last, an officer
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of the army of the Confederate States of America, holding the com-
mision and rank of first lieutenant in that army ; and that the other
of these deponents and the remainder of the prisoners were duly en-
gaged and placed under his command for special service under the
authority to him- given by the Government of the said Confederate
States, through the Secretary for the War Department thereof ; That
every act and thing which they or any of them did on the nineteenth
of October last at St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, was so done
under and in pursuance of the orders of the said Lieutenant Young,
given by him by virtue of his instructions from the said Government
and of his authority in the premises; That all and every of the
said acts were duly authorised and directed by the military autho-
rities of the said Confederate States acting under the Government
thereof, and were acts of warfare committed and performed in con-
formity with the rules and precedents by which civilized warfare is
conducted ; and that they were more than justified by the acts of
generals and armies in the service and under the orders of the
Federal Government of the United States, and as retaliation for
such acts ; That the said acts of these deponents and of the other
prisoners have been approved of by the said Government of the
said Confederate States, as being done in conformity with instruc-
tions so received frum the said Government, and have been recog-
nized and adopted by the said Government in authentic form ac-
cording to constitutional law and usage ; That on a former occasion
when before a Judge on an application for extradition,these de-
ponents and the other prisoners used every means in their power to
open a communication with Richmond for the purpose of procuring
such evidence, and amongst steps tending to that end, applied by
petition to his Excellency the Governor-General of Canada, praying
for such assistance as might lawfully be afforded them in the attempt
to obhtain evidence therefrom; and also made a similar application
to the President of the United States, which applications were
rejected ; that they also caused special messengers to be sent to
Richmond, some of whom had been arrested by the Federal autho-
rities previous to the discharge of the deponents and others who had not
then been heard from. But that so soon as they were discharged
by Judge Coursol, their efforts to communicate with Richmond
ceased, and the news of such discharge doubtless caused the autho-
rities there to desist from any attempt to transmit to deponents the
documents applied for.

That immediately after the re-arrest of deponents a messenger left
Halifax charged with procuring from the Government of tl?e Con-
federate States the required evidence, and that although deponents
expected and believed that the opinion of Judge Coursol would be
sustained, they also took other means to place themselves in a
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«condition to be able to defend themselves, thé nature of which they
cannot disclose without imperilling their success.

That deponents have since received information and assurances
upon which they believe they can rely, that the evidence they
require and have already taken measures to obtain, can and will be
forthcoming within a month from this date. That if they are not
accorded the said delay to enable them to procure the evidence
necessary for their defence, such evidence as they will be enabled
to offer will be necessarily less perfect than if a just and humane
indulgence were accorded to them; and that if by reason of the
want of requisite time to obtain such evidence, their defence should
be imperfectly established, and they should thereupon be delivered
to the emissaries of the Federal Government, such a proceeding
will be handing them over to certain death at the hands of the
executioner, on the pretence that they committed crimes which they
never either committed or contemplated, and which they look upon
with abhorrence ; but, in reality, because they are the enemies of
the Northern Government, engaged in warfare against them, and
because that Government desires to wreak vengeance upon them,
which is neither justifiable by the laws of war nor of any civilized
country.

And deponents further say that they do not apply for the said
delay from any desire unduly to suspend or delay the proceedings
for their extradition, but for the sole and only reason that they
earnestly desire to place the whole truth fully and fairly before
his Honor the Judge, before whom the application for their extra-
dition is pending, and that they cannot propose with confidence to
do so within a less period of time than that which they have men-
tioned.

And deponents have severally signed.

Sworn before me at Montreal, BENNETT H. YOUNG,
this tenth day of January, MARCUS SPURR.
eighteen hundred and sixty-
five.

J. SMITH.

Myr. Devlin—Objected to the application, contending that it
was premature ; that the first question to be solved and deter-
mined was, shall witnesses be examined in behalf of the prisoners? If
the Court should rule in the affirmative, that would be the time for
such an application as the present. This application was a trap,
for an assent to the examination of witnesses for the defence would
be involved in the granting a delay for the bringing up of such
witnesses. We ask the counsel opposite to go on their defence,
and whether they intend to examine witnesses.
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Mr. Abbott.—Of course we intend to examine witnesses.

Mr. Devlin.—The first question I would wish to bring up 1s a
question of law, and in order to do so, I call on my learned friends
to proceed with the examination of their witnesses, if they have
any, or to cite some authority, or present some argument to justify
the Court in receiving evidence for the defence.

Judge Smith.—It is clear what the nature of the objection is; but
I cannot give any opinion upon it till I hear counsel on both sides.

My. Devlin said the indulgence asked would amount to a denial
of justice, the accused having already been granted thirty days for
the obtainment of witnesses from Richmond. If the prisoners had
availed themselves of this indulgence, their witnesses might have
been here to-day. They were arrested on the 19th October last,
since when, with the exception of a short time, they had been in
custody, having had sufficient opportunity to bring forward their
testimony in defence. The object of the application was, evi-
dently to defeat, by delay, the prosecution. Then the affidavit
abstained from mentioning a single fact which can be or could
be proved by any of the witnesses whom they pretended they
were anxious to examine, in spite of the rule requiring that when
an application was made for delay to obtain testimony, the ap-
plicant must state the facts he desired to prove thereby. Was
his Honor prepared to depart so far from a practice hitherto
prevalent, and sanction an application of a party who had the assu-
rance to demand this favor, and, at the same time, studiously
conceal from the Court the facts intended to be established ? The
affidavit or application itself was defective, and seems to have
been written with but one object, and that to abuse and in-
sult, as far as they could, the United States, the parties who
were simply asking justice at our hands. As to the statements that
the accused, if extradited, would be sacrificed by the United-States
authorities, we were bound to believe that, if surrendered to them
to-morrow, the raiders would receive impartial justice and a fair
trial. He (Mr. D.) protested against the introduction into the
affidavit of statements as to the execution of vengeance upon the
raiders in the event of their rendition to the authorities. Such
statements were an infringement upon the honor of the Court.
If the prisoners were commissioned by the authorities at Rich-
mond, the latter should have taken the precaution to furnish
them with the evidence of it, and of the belligerency of their
acts. Taking it for granted they were sent abroad to commit
murder and robbery in St. Albans, in a peaceful, defenceless
place, they should have been fortified with all the authority
that the so called Confederate States could confer upon them, in
order that their lives might not be exposed to the consequences of
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‘the crimes they had committed. If such were acts of war, and
were to be justified on that ground we had a right to say—we are
neutrals determined to do even-handed justice, show us your
authority to commit such deeds against your adversary. The
learned gentleman concluded by ridiculing the application as one
that should not for a moment be entertained by the Court. The
delay asked for, he added, wouldsimply amount to a denial of jus-
tice, and to a total extinction of the case.

Mr. Johnson said that this affidavit prayed for a delay. Now
two questions arose: first, for what purpose was the evidence
intended ? second, what were the grounds for not submitting
the evidence that could be procured here ? In another Court he
had opposed an application of this kind, and he would do so here.
He contended then, and contended now, that in a preliminary
Investigation like this one, such an application could not be sought
for, as it was entirely outside the scope of the treaty, under the
terms of which a magistrate must commit where there are just
grounds for suspicion. This was all that our magistrates had to do.
Either these men must be tried by the Courts of the United States,
or not be tried at all ; and to say that the treaty contemplated that
offenders, for whose extradition the United States made application,
were to have their guilt or Innocence tried and pronounced upon in
our Courts, was to say that we had degenerated from a state of
civilization into a nation of savages, unable to make treaties or to
enforce them. The affidavit did not state what was the nature of
the evidence to procure which a delay or thirty days was prayed
for. It did not state explicitly what the law demanded it should,
namely that the evidence be specified, in order that the Court might
determine whether that evidence was of the proper kind. If a
British subject made the same application, and made the same
omission, his prayer would not receive a moment’s consideration.
No man had a right, according to the English law, to produce evi-
dence before a magistrate tending to characterize an act that he ad-
mitted .to have done. He would refer to a case recently tried in
England—thatof the Gerity. That case was tried before Chief Jus-
tice Cockburn, and Justices Crompton, Blackburn and Shee ; and it
was held that on an application for extradition the duty of the exami-
ning magistrate was purely .to enquire after the evidence of a
prima facie case, and nothing more. And it was further held that
the fact of belligerency must be a case for trial before a Jury, in
the country against which the offence was committed, and not for
the Magistrate of a foreign nation before whom the complaint was
made. The learned counsel proceeded to read from an English
law magazine, the remarks made by the four Judges in the Gerity
case, and to comment on the decision of their Lordships ; and pro-

M



178

ceeded to say that the decision in the Gerity case laid down that
the question of belligerency was one that could not come before
an examining Magistrate.

Myr. Bethune.—This was simply a charge of robbery. The
parties dressed as citizens, entered a town where there was not
an armed soldier, and, in broad daylight, committed what was known
as common robbery. The parties admitted that they were there,
and asserted that what they did was an act of war. But the
Court had no right to investigate whether it was or was not an act
of war ; to do so would be to go beyond the scope and meaning of
the treaty. The treaty simply contemplated a preliminary exami
nation, and on a prima fucie case being made out, then it was for
the Judge to commit, and the matter was left between the two
Governments. The case of the Gerity had been mentioned by
his learned friend, Mr. Johnson. A case in which a similar opi-
nion was held would be found to have been given by Attorney-Ge-
neral Cushing, in pages 204 and 211 of the  Opinions of the
Attorney’s-General.” A more recent case was that of Frank
Muller. From the law report of the proceedings against Muller
in New York, the commissioners said that in order to determine
whether the man was guilty or not, he must be sent back to be tried
in the place where the murder was committed. Then there was
the case of the British brig ¢ Richmond,” in which, in a case of
murder, the same commissioner in New York pursued a similar
line of conduct. We had a case mn our own Courts, where the
same principle was maintained ; it was that of the runaway black
Anderson. He was tried in Upper Canada, and, as would be
found in page 60, tenth volume Common Plea Reports, Chief Jus-
tice Draper said : ‘ If there be a question of fact' to be tried, I
apprehend he (Anderson) must be surrendered, as that can only
be tried in the country where it arose.” The learned counsel
concluded by expressing a hope that the Court would not act con-
trary to the principles laid down by the English judges in the case
of ¢ Gerity.”

The Court then adjourned.

Wednesday, Jan. 11, 1865.

The Court opened at half-past ten.

Myr. Devlin asked if the prosecution were to understand that his
Honor, in deciding upon the application for thirty days’ delay,
would decide upon the admissibility of evidence.

Judge Smith.—After Mr. Abbott has finished his argument, I
will be in a better position to pronounce upon that point.

Mr. Abbott.—I am prepared, your Honor, to argue the question

upon the instant.
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Judge Smith.—The whole question, as to the admissibility of the:
evidence, Mr. Devlin, is intimately connected with the merits of the:
case, and I feel it would be premature in me, at this stage of the
proceedings, to pronounce an opinion, and do not think it would
be Tn the interest of justice that I should do so. Istated yesterday
that no defence, properly so called, could be entered into at all,
and that the prisoners could not go upon their trial before me, for
I have no jurisdiction in that respect. What I am bound to do. is
to see if the prisoners have committed any crime which falls within
the scope of the Extradition Treaty, and that must depend upon
the res gestee of the alleged offence. Suppose that a man is
charged with murder, and that a witness comes up and says, <1
saw you strike a man down and kill him on the street.” But sup-
pose the man accused turns round and says, I must be permitted
to tell the whole story, and shew that the party whom I struck down
was following me from behind with a hatchet to kill me, and that I
shot him in my own defence. Now, supposing such a case, would
the offence be murder ? Not at all. Apply, then, the same rea-
soning to this case ; the prisoners say that they were in St. Albans;
that they committed certain acts there, but that they were justified
in so doing, as they acted under the instructions of their govern-
ment, a thing which they were bound by their allegiance to do.
Now, these men say—* we did these acts, but give us an oppor-
tunity of showing that we had ample authority and justification for
these acts.” Technically speaking, these men cannot go on their
defence before me. But if they show commissions and prove that
they are belligerents, then, possibly, there must be an end of the
matter.

My. Abbott.—The distinction which I am prepared to establish
is this :—If it be really a case of conflicting evidence, the fact of
the crime being committed being proved, that is no case for a
Magistrate to try ; it is not within his jurisdiction to do so.

Judge Smith.—Clearly not ; it is none of my business.

Myr. Abbott.—But if, on the other hand, the prisoners propose
to shew that the act committed does not constitute a crime for
which extradition could be demanded, that is a question which the
Judge must investigate and decide. In doing this he does not try
the robbery, but the application of the treaty. The prosecution
should be content to limit themselves to the question of delay before
the Court ; the magnitude of the questions involved, if your Honor
is called upon to decide now as to whether the evidence is mate-
rial or not, should induce the prosecution to confine themselves to
the matter now before your Honor. o

Judge Smith—The question of the admissibility of the evidence
is a very different thing from the relevancy of the evidence. No
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verbal testimony can be received in the way of proof. If the pri-
soner Young had produced documents at the time he was asked
what he had to say—if he had had them in his possession, I don’t
see how the prosecution could oppose their being put in. Some-
thing has been said about delay in this case; but since I have been
connected with it I am not aware that there has been very great
delay. I think the case has been proceeded with as rapidly as
possible. I granted my warrant on the 13th of December ; the
prisoners were arrested on the 20th ; they were brought before me
on the 23rd, just as I was finishing the Court, and I could not then

roceed. The holidays intervened, and the prisoners came up on
the 27th. Now it is the 11th of January, and seven days have
been occupied en délibéré. In fact the case has gone on with
great celerity, when the amount of labor connected with it is taken
into consideration. As to the present application, my impression
is that I should grant delay. I do not wish to be obliged to give
my reasons for this opinion at the present time, and it is within my
discretion to hold back any opinion at this moment on the facts.
But is there any argument to be offered by the prosecution ?

Mpr. Bethune.—I don’t withdraw the opposition I made yester-
day in the slightest degree. I am satisfied, looking back at the
whole history of this matter, that all this is merely for delay.
There is an application for a delay of thirty days, in order to send
to Richmond, and for what ?  For the very instructions the priso-
ners said they received. Your Honor has ruled that there can be
no verbal proof, therefore the prisoners should produce the specific
orders they received from Richmond. Why are they not produced ?

Mr. Abbott.—Does my learned friend imagine that a lieutenant
would carry instructions from the Secretary at War on his person?

Mr. Devlin.—We have no power to control the action of the
Court in this matter of granting delay, but I protest against it.

Judge Smith.—1 have not given any Judgment as yet, Mr.
Devlin.

Mr. Devlin said he solemnly protested against this delay ; and,
if it were granted, he doubted very much whether he would ever
be instructed to appear in this case again. It was the second time
in the history of our Courts that when prisoners had voluntarily
entered upon their defence an application of this kind had been
made. If five of our own citizens were before the Court, charged
with the commission of crime in this Province, after the evidence
for the prosecution had been gone into would a delay of thirty days
be granted ? It was the duty of the counsel for the prisoners, when
their clients were brought up on the 23d of December last, to have
informed the Court that they were not in a position to bring forward
their evidence, that their witnesses were absent, and then to request
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the Court not to call upon them to enter on their defence till the
were fully prepared. This application for thirty days’ delay was
made without there being a tittle of evidence to show that dili-
gence had been used to obtain evidence for the defence. There
was no precedent to justify a delay of this description. The Ameri-
can authorities did not show a single case in which, on their side
the lines, such an application had ever been granted in behalf of a
fugitive claimed by us under the treaty. He doubted if an appli-
cation of this kind was ever even made in our or the American
Courts. If this delay was granted, he really thought that the Extra-
dition Treaty would, as far as Canada was concerned, be considered
a dead letter.

Judge Smith thought that Mr. Devlin in his remarks, regarding
the Court, had gone a little too far; he (the Judge) had simply
questioned the counsel to know from them if it was necessary to hear
an argument of the case. IHe had stated his reasons why he did
not wish to decide this point peremptorily. He had given no reasons
for his inclination to grant this delay, or for declaring his wish in the
matter ; yet Mr. Devlin had attacked him as having decided the case
unadvisedly, and, without hearing the Court’s reasons, had almost
charged it with a denial of justice. Now,taking the latter considera-
tion alone, what denial of justice could result by giving the prisoners a
delay of thirty days? If they could not produce any evidence of the
kind they wished, where was the injury to the prosecution ?—those
unfortunate prisoners would have to be surrendered. But if they
should produce evidence to change the opinion as to their liabilit
to extradition, surely no one could complain, if the testimony be
according to the rules of law and justice. ~Where was the injury ?
None possible. The Court did not mean to say that what the defence
desired to produce might be beneficial ; but the delay would simply
give the prisoners the means of saying all they could say in justi-
fication of the act which their opponents designated an act of robbery,
but which they themselves contended was an act of war. If they
were robbers they could not escape from the position of such, even
granting the delay. In order, therefore, to enable him (the
Judge) to judge accurately and correctly as to the position and
quality of the accused, and consequently as to the nature of the
offence charged, it was but fair to those men to hear what they had
to say. Whether his opinion would be borne out ultimately, when
he came to assign his reasons, was another matter.

Myr. Bethune.—But we can’t withdraw the point we raised yester-
day, as our view of this matter.

The Judge.—No ; but it may be reserved, and heard on the merits
of the case. The great argument of the prosecution was, ¢ why did
not these men produce the papers required as evidence in their
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.defence before 2 Now, we knew the position in which their country
was placed, and the difficulty attending a journey to Richmond.
How was it it possible to get within even a reasonable distance of
that city at present? The prisoners were placed under great disad-
'vantages in this respect, and it was the duty of the Court to afford
them the means of, at least, making known the nature of their
defence.. Considering the difficulty and danger encountered in
reaching Richmond, the delay asked was not extravagant, and not
-of a nature to defeat the ends of justice, according to the Court’s
opinion. It is clear to my mind that anything like verbal testi-
mony in this matter will be insufficient.

Mr Abbott.—We will endeavour to give you the best evidence,
and in any case we shall proceed according to the rules of evidence.
And if we offer evidence admissible under those rules, we expect it
will be received.

The Judge.—Oh, clearly. '

Myr. Abbott.—I shall not argue the question on its merits,
as the Court is disposed to grant the delay. But notwith-
standing the statements of the learned counsel, I maintain that
this application is by no means unprecedented. On an application
recently made in Toronto (Burley’s case) the Court granted
thirty days’ delay for the same purpose ; and Judge Short, of Sher-
brooke, also lately granted what he considered a suitable delay
for a similar object. Judge Coursol had also given thirty days’ delay
in this case for the same end. They had administered justice in
the United States, on occasions like the present, when their passions
were not excited as now, in a similar manner; and there could be
no doubt, many instances could be cited in which the United States
Courts had granted delays to parties desirous of showing that no
offence had been committed under the Treaty. In the very case
cited by the opposite counsel yesterday,in which the plea of insamty
had been urged, the Attorney-General’s decision showed that the
plea had been thoroughly investigated. Then, again, in the case
of the deserters from Halifax, whose extradition from Boston was
demanded—not on the ground of their being deserters, but of
having committed a robbery—what was the answer ?

Mr Bethune.—The case there turned entirely upon the word
‘““robbery.”” The men had stolen the military chest, aud the Court
held it was a larceny and not a robbery.

Myr Abbott.—I get my information not from any special law report
—for I have been unable to discover any—but from the ordinary
newspapers, and I understand that the extradition was refused be-
cause the deserters’ crime was complicated with their desertion—an
offence of a character not contemplated by the Treaty. We all
know that when McKenzic murdered or caused to be murdered
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Colonel Moodie, and fled to New York, the Governor of the State
refused to issue his warrant of arrest, that the demand for his ex-
tradition might be tried. The Attorney-General of the State then
gave his opinion that there could be no extradition in such a case
at all. Though the treaty had not then been passed, the State
Judges were disposed to extradite as a matter of comity.

‘Mr Devlin.—But never did.

Mr Abbott.—Many Judges, and Chancellor Kent, held they
were bound so to do. The only ground on which McKenzie’s extra-
dition was refused was, that we had a rebellion in the Province.
The then Attorney-General of the State of New York set forth, in
an elaborate opinion on the case, that there was no instance in the
history of International law of an extradition being granted where
the fugitive’s offence was complicated with any crime of a political
nature. We know also, in the case of McLeod, who went to cut
out the ¢ Caroline,” when on the American side of the river Nia-
gara, that though he had no written instructions to justify the act,
yet in consequence of that act having been adopted by the Govern-
ment of this country, the Federal authorities, through their Secre-
tary of State, acknowledged it was a sufficient answer to the charge
of murder preferred against him, and that he should never have
been tried by the State Court.

Mr Devlin.-—I admit that. But the circumstances were different
from those of this case.

My Abbott.—Oh, the circumstances were different, as we shall
show by evidence we intend to put on record. There was no
national war at the time of McLeod’s act, and besides, he held no
commission in the DBritish service; and there was no acknow-
ledgment by the United States of any belligerent powers in Canada.
There are a dozen points in which the case of Lieut. Young is
infinitely more favorable than that of McLeod. I merely mention
these facts to show that the assertion that a delay of the kind asked
be unprecedented, is entirely fallacious. I could produce many
more Instances if necessary.

My Devlin said the steamer ¢ Caroline >’ had been engaged in
carrying munitions of war to the Canadian rebels, and that the
party who attacked her was specially instructed by Sir Allan Mec-
Nab.

My Abbott.—I only referred to those cases to establish the
general principle.

The Judge.—I am disposed, under the circumstances, to grant the
delay asked for ; and believe it is best in every point of view to
afford every possible opportunity to both parties to bring forward
what may benefit either.

His Honor, Counsel on both sides having consented, remanded
the prisoners for thirty days, till 10th February next.
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Friday, 10th Feb., 1865.

On the demand of the President of the United States, for the
extradition of Bennet H. Young, ¢t al.:

Hon. Mr. Abbott said that in consequence of circumstances
which had occurred since the application for the 30 days’ delay had
been made, he should be obliged to make another application for
an extension of that delay, the reasons for which were set forth in
the following affidavit:

Bennett H. Young and Marcus Spurr, two of the prisoners whose
extradition is sought in this matter, being severally duly sworn,
depose and say :—That immediately upon the granting of the delay
of thirty days awarded to them by the Honorable Mr. Justice Smith,
for the purpose of obtaining from Richmond, in the State of Virginia,
one of the Confederate States of America, seceding from the Union
of States, heretofore known as the United States of America, cer--
tain documentary evidence material to their defence ; these depon-
ents and the other prisoners in custody on the said demand caused
messengers to be dispatched by different routes to Richmond afore-
said, with directions to penetrate through the lines of the said United
States, the parties prosecuting in this cause; and to obtain from
Richmond aforesaid, the documents and evidence already described
in the affidavit already fyled in this cause on behalf of the said
prisoners, on the 10th day of January last past. That the first of
the said messengers, namely Lieutenant S. B. Davis—an officer in
the army of the Confederate States of America, who volunteered to
proceed to Richmond aforesaid, with despatches specifying the
documents required, and requesting their transmission—was so dis-
patched on the tenth day of January last past, and was arrested by
persons in the employ of the said prosecuting parties, the said
United States, and was by them detained, on the pretence that he
was a spy of the said Confederate States; and was subjected to a
trial, before a tribunal termed a general court-martial, convened
under the orders and direction of the said prosecuting parties at
Cincinnati, in the State of Ohio, and composed of their officers,
upon the charge that he the said Lieutenant S. B. Davis whom
the said prosecuting parties arraigned before the said court-martial
under that name, and also under the name or alias of Willoughby
Cummings, was a spy within the meaning of the laws of war, and
that thereupon the said Lieutenant Davis, was by the said tribunal
found guilty, and sentenced to be hung by the neck until he should
be dead—which finding and sentence were confirmed by Major
Greneral Hooker, an officer of the army of the United States com-
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manding the Department wherein the said court-martial was held,
and were by him ordered to be carried into effect on the seven-
teenth day of February instant. The whole notwithstanding (as
these deponents are informed and believe) that the said court-mar-
tial and the said Major General Hooker well knew that the said
Lieutenant Davis was not a spy, but a brave and disinterested man,
who had voluntarily exposed himself to the risk of any contingency
that might happen to him, that he might aid in placing full evidence
before the presiding judge, respecting the matter under examina-
tion in this cause ; and that he was not charged with and did not
carry any other despatches or information than such as was exclu-
sively connected with the proceedings in this matter. And more-
over that these facts were all stated by Lieutenant Davis to the
said court-martial upon his trial. That these deponents have been
credibly informed and believe that the following is an exact copy
of the general order of the said Major General Hooker containing
the record of the said trial and sentence and his approval thereof:

HeApQuaRTERS, NORTHERN DEP'T,
Cincinnati, Jan. 26. %
GENERAL ORDER NO. 4.

Before a general court-martial which convened at Cincinnati,
Ohio, Jan. 1Tth, 1865, pursuant to special orders Nos. 212, 250,
and 273, series of 1864, from these headquarters, and of which
Lieut.-Col. E. L. Webber, 88th regiment Ohio Vol. Infantry, is
President, was arraigned and tried S. B. Davis alias Willoughby
Cummings ; charge, being a spy ; specification is that said S. B.
Davis alias Willoughby Cummings,-a rebel enemy of the United
States, and being an officer of the so-called Confederate States of
America, did, on or about the first day of January, 1865, secretly
and in disguise enter and come within the lines of the regularly
organized military forces of the United States, and within the
States of Ohio and Michigan, and did then and there secretly and
covertly lurk in the dress of a citizen as a spy, and on or about the
12th day of January, 1865, did attempt to leave the said States of
Ohio and Michigan, with the purpose and object of going to Rich-
mond, Va., there to deliver despatches and information from certain

arties, whose names are unknown, hostile to the Government of the
United States, to Jefferson Davis, President of the so-called Con-
federate States of America, but was arrested as a spy, on or about
the 14th day of January, 1865, at or near Newark, within the said
State of Ohio. To which the accused pleaded as follows :

To the specification guilty, except to the word ¢lurk,” and the
phrase ¢as a spy,” to the charge not guilty. Finding and sen-
tence : The Court, after mature deliberation on the evidence ad-
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duced, find the accused as follows : Of the specifications guilty, the
members of the Court concurring therein, and the Court do there-
fore sentence him S. B. Davis alias Willoughby Cummings, to be
hung by the neck until he is dead, at such time and place as the
commanding general may direct, two-thirds of the members of the
court concurring therein.

The proceedings, finding and sentence in the foregoing case of
S. B. Davis alias Willoughby Cummings, are”approved and con-
firmed. He will be sent under proper guard by the commander of
the post at Cincinnati, Ohio, and delivered into the custody of Col.
C. W. Hill, commanding at Johnson’s Island, who will see that the
sentence in this case is duly executed at that place, between the
hours of ten o’clock a.m. and three o’clock p.m., on Friday the
17th day of February, A.D. 1865, and make the report thereof to
the commanding-general. By command of

MAJOR-GENERAL HOOKER.
C. H. PorTER, Asst.-Adjt-General.

That the parties referred to in the said General Order as  cer-
taln parties whose names are unknown, hostile to the Government
of the United States,”” are these deponents, and the said prisoners;
and that the despatches and information therein also mentioned
had sole reference to the present enquiry. That the said Lieu-
tenant Davis 1s still detained in custody by the said prosecuting
parties, and the cruel sentence passed upon him is yet uncommuted,
so far as deponents know or have been informed. That on the
14th day of said January the said prisoners despatched their second
messenger to Richmond aforesaid, and for the purposes already
mentioned, from whom they have as yet heard no tidings whatsoever.
That on the 17th day of said January the prisoners despatched
their third messenger to Richmond aforesaid, and that they have
received information that he left Washington for his first attempt
to penetrate through the lines of the prosecuting parties on the 21st
day of said January ; but that they have not heard of or from him
since that period. That on the 24th day of said January, the
same being the day after they were informed of the capture of
Lieutenant Davis, the said prisoners sent off their fourth messenger
to Richmond aforesaid, of or from whom they have since heard
nothing. That in addition to the said four messengers, the said
prisoners sent despatches requesting the transmission of the evi-
dence referred to in their said affidavit, to the Government of the
said Confederate States at Richmond aforesaid, by a person leav-
ing Montreal early in said month of January, with the intent to
proceed to Richmond on his own affairs, but that the said person
was captured in Wilmington, in the State of North Carolina, by
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the armies of the said prosecuting parties, and was by them re-
leased upon parole in the United States, they being ignorant that
‘he bore such despatches ; and that he has since made his way back
to Montreal without having been able to deliver such despatches.
That deponents and the said prisoners, determined also to try the
effect of a direct appeal to the President of the said United States
for a pass or permission to a messenger to proceed to Richmond
aforesaid, for the purposes aforesaid, and to that end despatched J.
G. K. Houghton, of Montreal aforesaid, Esquire, Advocate, to Wash-
ington, and that the said Mr. Houghton did proceed to Washington
and personally saw the President of the United States, and solici-
ted permission to pass on to Richmond aforesaid, for the purpose
aforesaid, but was refused, and was by the United States Govern-
ment ordered to leave the United States, without attempting to
penetrate through to Richmond aforesaid, which he was conse-
quently obliged to do. That as appears by the foregoing details,
these deponents and the said prisoners have done and used all due,
and in fact extraordinary diligence, to obtain the passage of a mes-
senger to Richmond aforesaid, for the purposes mentioned in their
said affidavit, and in furtherance of the intent with which they soli-
cited from His Honor the Judge a delay of thirty days, which de-
lay he so humanely and justly granted them ; but that the prose-
cuting parties, by means of their officials and armies, have prevented
the delay so granted from being made available in any respect to
the prisoners, although deponents and the prisoners are daily ex-
pecting to hear news of some one or other of the messengers who
have hitherto (so far as deponents are aware) escaped from the
agents of the prosecuting parties. That deponents, on behalf of
themselves and their fellow prisoners, respectfully represent that as
the insufficiency of the delay granted to them has entirely resulted
from the acts of the prosecuting parties and their agents, officers,
and soldiers acting under their orders, they being in fact about to
put to death an honorable and gallant officer upon a false and de-
grading charge, for becoming an instrument by means of which
the intent and purpose of the order of His Honor the Judge was to
be carried out; the delay so granted should be extended to a further
period of thirty days, to allow to the prisoners the opportunity of
sending other messengers in lieu of those arrested or obstructed by
the prosecuting parties, and to afford time to those who have hith-
erto escaped arrest to make their way back to Canada. And

further deponents saith not, and have signed.
(Signed) BENNET H. YOUNG,

MARCUS SPURR.

Sworn before me at Montreal, this |

tenth day of February, 1865.
J. Smrra, J.S.C.
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That in addition, Mr. John G.. K. Houghton had been despatched
to Washington by the prisoners to make a direct appeal to the
President for a pass to allow him to proceed to Richmond, but had
been refused, as appears by the following affidavit :

PROVINCE OF CANADA,
Lower Canada, to Wit } DISTRICT OF MONTREAL.

In the matter of the demand of the United States of America
for the extradition of Bennett H. Young et. al. :

John G. K. Houghton, of Montreal, in the district of Montreal,
Esquire, Advocate, being duly sworn, deposeth and saith: That
on the twenty-fifth day of January last past, at the written request
of the said prisoners, which is hereto annexed, marked A, deponent
proceeded to Washington for the purpose mentioned in the said
request. That on the thirtieth day of said January deponent wrote
and sent to the Hon. William H. Seward, at Washington aforesaid,
the letter herewith produced, marked B ; which letter was by him
received the same day, and an answer thereto was also on the
same day returned to deponent, which answer this deponent re-
ceived the next day, and which 1s herewith also produced, marked
C; and that the letter of deponent and the documents therein
referred to were also returned to deponent in the said letter. That
on the thirty-first day of said January, deponent obtained an inter-
view with His Excellency the President of the United States, and
urged upon him to grant the permission which deponent had been
required to procure; But that His Excellency declined to grant
such permission, or even to allow deponent to proceed to General
Grant’s army, that this application for documents might be sent
over to the army of General Lee by flag of truce or otherwise.
His Excellency’s words being in speaking of the said prisoners,
that that they were rebels; that they had been cutting and slashing
around ; and that he did not see that it was any part of his business
to help them. That, however, His Excellency requested deponent
to endeavour to see the Honorable W. H. Seward on the subject,
and gave to deponent a card for Mr. Seward, on which His Excel-
lency wrote the following words : * Hon. Sec. of State, please see
this gentleman, who is the gentleman from Canada spoken of
yesterday. A. Limcoln. Jan. 81, 1865.” But that on pre-
sentation of the said card by deponent in person at the office of
Mr. Seward, accompanied by a request that deponent might be
permitted to see that Honorable gentleman, said request was
peremptorily refused. That deponent thereupon applied to the
Charge d& Affaires for Her Most Gracious Majesty at Washington,
to make to the United States Government the request which de-
ponent had been authorized to make, or to request officially the
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honor of an interview with the Honorable Mr. Seward for deponent,
or to accompany deponent to the department of State to endeavor
to aid deponent in procuring an interview with Mr. Seward,—all of
which requests were refused. That thereupon deponent wrote a
letter to the Honorable Mr. Seward, a copy of which is herewith
produced, marked D, and awaited a reply thereto, in conformity
with its contents, but that no reply thereto was sent to deponent;
and that deponent was consequently compelled to leave Washington

without having been able to effect the object for which he went
there.

And deponent hath signed.

(Signed) J. G. K. HOUGHTON.
Sworn before me at Montreal, this
tenth day of February, one thou-
sand eight hundred and sixty-five.
(Signed) J. SMITH.

The following are the papers referred to in the foregoing affi-
davit: A

Montreal, Jan. 25, 1865.
Mr. J. G. K. Houghton:

Dear Sir,—You will will please proceed to Washington for
the purpose of seeing the President or other official, and, if pos-
sible, obtain a pass permitting you to proceed to Richmond ; and,
if, possible, you will please go on to Richmond, and take the
necessary steps to procure the necessary evidence to our defence.

(Signed) BENNET H. YOUNG,
1st Lieut. P. A. C. 8.
MARCUS SPURR,
SQUIRE T. TEVIS,
C. M. SWAGER,
W. H. HUTCHINSON.
(True copy—dJ. G. K. Houghton.)

B

Ebbitt House, Washington, D.C.,
30th Jan. 1865.

Sir,—I have the honor most respectfully to enclose for your
perusal the following documents :

1st. A letter from Messrs. Bennett H. Young, 1st Lieutenant
P. A. C. S.; Marcus Spurr, Squire T. Tevis, C. M. Swager, and
Wm. H. Hutchinson, now prisoners in Montreal, held on an appli-
cation for extradition by the United States, in the matter of the
St. Albans raid.
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2nd. Stamped copy of an affidavit of Bennett I. Young and
Marcus Spurr, two of the above named prisoners, with the order
of the Judge granting the delay of thirty days in the said affidavit
applied for on behalf of all the above mentioned prisoners.

3rd. Stamped copy of an application by the said prisoners to be
remanded to the gaol at Montreal until the tenth day of February
next, in view of the above mentioned delay for the adduction of
evidence having been granted.

As your Excellency will perceive, the affidavit enclosed is the
basis of an application for a delay of thirty days in the investiga-
tion of the charge against the said prisoners for the purpose of
procuring evidence from Richmond, as stated in the affidavit, neces-
sary and material for ther defence, and which they are unable to
procure in Montreal or Canada.

The letter referred to authorizes me to proceed to Washington
for the purpose of obtaining a pass to proceed to Richmond with
that object.

And the aim of this present application is to solicit from or
through your Excellency such a pass or letter, or such recommen-
dation to the President of the United States or such other officials
as it may be necessary to apply to in this matter and with this end.

I would respectfully refer your Excellency to the concluding
portion of their affidavit, wherein the prisoners depose that their
sole and only reason for making this application is to place the
whole truthfully before the Judge before whom the proceedings
for extradition are pending ; and I feel confident that in a matter
like this, involving issues of life and death, and grave and momen-
tous questions of international law ; one too in which the United
States of America with their whole power are arrayed upon one
side, and five simple soldiers, the senior of whom is but a subaltern
officer, upon the other; your excellency will not refuse, or advise
the President or his Government to refuse, shese prisoners an oppor-
tunity for a full and complete exposition of the facts, or permit or
advise that the law officers of a great nation should be permitted
to seek a partial or ex parte judgment.

I would also urge upon your Excellency the fact that, acting in
their interest and under their instructions, I have made this appl-
cation openly, and not sought in any way to evade the military or
civil regulations of the United States.

In the name of humanity, thereffn.'e, and relying upon the
universal practice everywhere prevailing of permitting persons
accused of a crime every facility for obtaining evidence necessary
and material for their defence and relying also upon the generosity
which actuates great nations in dealing even with their enemies,
I humbly refer to the enclosed documents and make this applica-
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tion for a pass or permit to proceed to Richmond, and for all the
necessary documents, letters or recommendations necessary for the
purpose of procuring all the documentary evidence in this case on
behalf of the above mentioned prisoners, whose extradition in the
‘matter of the St. Albans raid is now sought for; and I asgure
your Excellency that I will strictly and conscientiously observe
such orders or regulations as may be given to me for my guidance
while upon the route. '

I would also anxiously solicit the favor of an interview with
your Excellency, and an immediate reply, as hours are now of
moment.

I have the honor to be, Sir, your Excellency’s most obedient

servant.
(Signed) J. G. K. HOUGHTON,
Advocate,
Attorney for the prisoners whose extradition in the matter of the
St. Albans raid is now demanded.
To His Excellency W. H. Seward, Secretary of State, U. S.
(Copy.)

C.

MEMORANDUM.

Department of State, Washington,
Jan. 30, 1865.

J. G. K. Houghton, Esq., advocate and attorney for the pri-
soners whose extradition in the matter of the St. Albans murders
and robberies has been demanded, is informed that the Government
of the United States can hold no communication or correspondence
with him upon that subject. The prisoners, if they submit them-
selves to the authority of the United States, need no foreign media-
tion. So long as they remain under the protection of a foreign
government, and a demand upon that government for their delivery
to the United States is pending, communications concerning them
can be received only from that foreign government through the
customary channels of national intercourse.

A copy of the papers submitted by Mr. Houghton have been
taken, and the originals are herewith remitted to him, and he is
expected to leave the United States without crossing the military
lines, or attempting to enter the scene of insurrection, or to com-

municate with the insurgents.
(Signed) WILLIAM H. SEWARD.

(Copy.)
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D

Room No. 38, Ebbitt House,
Washington, D. C., January 31, 1865.

To the Hon. W. H. Seward, Secretary of State, U.S. :

Str,—I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your com-
munication marked ¢ Memorandum,” and dated Department of State
Washington, January 80th, 1865, informing me, amongst other.
things, that the Government of the United States can hold no com-
munication with me upon the subject of the St. Albans’ raid, and
also that I am expected to leave the United States without crossing
the military lines or attempting to enter the scene of insurrection,
or to communicate with the insurgonts.

I would, however, most respectfully submit for your Excellency’s
consideration, that this morning, at about the hour of ten o’clock,
a.m., at an interview with His Excellency the President of the
United States, the President, although refusing me the pass or
permit to proceed to Richmond, for which I have applied to your
Excellency, and then did apply, referred me to you, and gave me a
card of recommendation or order, addressed to the Honorable
Secretary of State, of which the following is a copy :

¢“ Hon. Secretary of State :
“ Please see this gentleman, who is the gentleman from Canada

‘ terday.
spoken of yesterday “ (Signed) A. LINCOLN.
¢ January, 81st, 1865.”

Previously to receiving your memorandum, I presented this card
to your Excellency’s Secretary, to whom I was referred on.the
first occasion of my seeking an interview.

That gentleman, however, declined to report it to yourself, or in
any way to facilitate an interview.

I would respectfully, but firmly, again ask for an interview with
your Excellency, and an opportunity of personally urging upon
your favorable consideration my application for a pass to Richmond,
for the purpose of procuring the necessary and material evidence
required by my clients ; and I would venture to urge that if any
technical or diplomatic obstacle ever did exist against my holding
any communication with your Excellency or the Government of the
United States, this recommendation or order signed by the Chief
Executive officer must certainly waive and annul it.

I would also remark that the prisoners for whom I am acting are
not now under the protection of a foreign government, technically
speaking; but that they are held by the Government of Canada,
subject to the provisions of a treaty for the extradition of felons. and
by that treaty their guilt must be established before an extradition
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-can be made, and that the proof of their culpability and liability to
extradition under that treaty, or their freedom from its provisions,
can only be maintained by a full exposition of all the facts of the
case, and that the object of my application for a pass is simply to
enable them to prepare such an exposition. The case is a simple
action at law. Acoording to the spirit of that treaty then, and by
law and justice, the United States being the plaintiffs, and the pri-
soners the defendants, the legal agents of the defendants should not
be precluded by the plamtiffs from any opportunity of procuring
documentary evidence necessary and material for their defence.

I would also respectfully, but firmly, except to the commence-
ment of your Excellency’s memorandum, in which I am styled
advocate and attorney for the prisoners whose extradition in the
matter of the St. Albans murders and robberies is now demanded,
-and would remind your Excellency, that the acts with which they
are charged cannot be officially termed murders and robberies, until
they are so pronounced by the judicial tribunal before which they
are now arraigned.

On behalf of these prisoners, therefore, while thanking your
Excellency for the assurance that if they submit themselves to the
authority of the United States they need no foreign mediation, I
renew my application for a pass to Richmond for the purpose of
obtaining that evidence which is necessary and material for their
defence ; and as hours are now of consequence, I shall assume that
a failure to receive the necessary pass or documents by four o’clock
p-m. to-morrow, is of itself a second distinct refusal to this my second
written application to your Excellency for that purpose, and in that
event shall forthwith leave Washington en route for Montreal.

I have the honor to be, Sir,
Your Excellency’s most obedient servant,
(Signed) J. G. K. HOUGHTON,
Advocate,
(Attorney for prisoners whose extradition in the matter of the St.
Albans raid has been demanded).

[Copy.]

The Hon. Mr. Abbott then stated that on these affidavits it was
submitted that the prisoners had done every thing in their power
to carry out the object for which delay had been granted them,
and that such delay should be extended for a further period of
thirty days.

Mr. Joknson, @.C., rose to oppose the application, contending
that it was a mere question whether our laws were sufficient to give
effect to the treaty with a foreign power. If this application could
be made now, it could be made a hundred times, and be as perfectly

N
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effectual the hundredth time. The prisoners were resisting the ap-
plication that the investigation should proceed, and complaining that
his Honor did not enforce a jurisdiction he did not possess. The
prisoners might oppose their trial for want of such evidence in their
own country, but not here. It had been evident from the first that
the production of the evidence would be denied. Mr. Seward said
in effect : “ We will not furnish you with evidence to elude trial,
but you shall have it when you are placed on trial.” And that
was no doubt a correct view of the law with regard to the duty of
the American government.

Mr. Devlin followed, saying that when the application for delay
was granted on the 10th of January, he had said that on the ex-
piration of thirty days they would be prepared with another. If
this application was granted, the ingenuity of the Counsel for the
defence would, at the end of the thirty days, furnish them with
another pretext. They had had since the 19th of October to pre-
pare for defence. Could they, after this indulgence, insist on
another appllication ? He understood that delay had been granted
to the prisoners on the understanding that when the delay had ex-
pired they should proceed with their defence, in accordance with
the judgment of the Court on the 10th January. He trusted it
would not be suspended on account of Mr. Houghton’s being re-
fused to be allowed to proceed to Richmond. Was it the fault of
the Court ? The want of documents from Richmond was immate-
rial, as the prisoners were not going to be tried, but were only put
upon a preliminary investigation. Even supposing the offence had
been committed in this Province, the Court would not have granted
the delays which it had already done with so much leniency towards
the prisoners, who relied more on the ingenuity of their Counsel
than the goodness of their cause. If the application was granted,
many would come to the conclusion that the proceedings would
never arrive at that stage when investigation would be permitted.
In conclusion, he would say that if the Counsel for the defence
managed to get another delay they would have done their part
towards the abrogation of the extradition treaty ; and he asked his
Honor to refuse the application.

Mr. Bethune said, that since the time of the first application,
the case of Burley had been decided by four Judges, adopting the
view that questions, such as the prisoners desired to raise, could
only be tried in the United States when they were put upon their
trial. He apprehended his Honor did rot pledge himself when he
granted the first application for delay, to grant another if that
falled. When the former application was made, there was some
hope that the evidence might be obtained; now, there was none.
He then went on to review the efforts made by the prisoners on
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this behalf. A direct application had been made to the U. S.
Government, and refused, and the ports of the Confederacy were
blockaded. If his Honor granted the application, the result would
be a mere delay of thirty days. The U. 8. Government had said
in reality, When you put yourselves within our jurisdiction, you
shall have the evidence you require. Could his Honor presume
the prisoners would be unfairly dealt with? In the case of the
Savannah, the prisoners had not been convicted, as no verdict was
returned, because the jury were divided. In conclusion, he again
urged that delay would be ineffectual, and should not be granted.

The Hon. Mr. Abbott said, that the affidavit stated that the
prisoners had reason to believe that some of those who had been
sent might yet be successful in reaching Richmond, and asked
additional time to send others. He then went on to refute the
propositions of the learned gentlemen who had preceded him, which
he argued were threefold, namely, that the prisoners were not en-
titled to any investigation as to their guilt; that this being the fact,
there ought to have been no delay ; and that further delay could
be of no use, since the evidence required could not be procured.
The Court, he said, ought to be put in possession of the whole facts
of the case, before it could decide if the offence was one which
came under the extradition treaty. The fact was not denied that
the prisoners made an attack upon the town of St. Albans, and
partially sacked and set it on fire ; but the additional facts which
they desired to prove, namely, that they were Confederate soldiers,
acting under a duly commissioned officer, authorized by their
government, through its agents; were denied. They contended
they could show that they were foreigners quoad the people of
the Federal States; owing their allegiance to a nation at war with
the Federal States;—soldiers of that nation; and acting under
the orders of the constituted authorities of that nation. Sup-
posing these facts to be proved, would they not conclusively show
that there had been no offence within the meaning of the Ashburton
Treaty, and therefore, that the Treaty and the statutes based upon
it, did not apply to this case at all? It was impossible to deny
this; and his learned friend would not contend they ought to be
extradited, if the allegations they made were true.

Mpy. Bethune said that was a question the United States had a
right to try, and that it could have no effect here. .

Hon. Mr. Abbott said, he certainly did not expect to hear his
learned friend assume such a position. It would place the Judge
in the position of a mere ministerial officer ; entirely deprive him
of all judicial discretion ; and render the limitation of the right of
demanding extradition,—which was effected by the precise descrip-
tion of the crimes for which it might'be demanded,—practically a
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dead letter. Every general in the Confederate armies, who took
refuge here, could be extradited as a murderer. Such a doctrine,
he ventured to say, was entirely unsustained either by principle or
precedent, by the treaty itself, or by the mode in which it had been
carried out. And if the statements of the prisoners were true
and were proved, their extradition would be revolting to the sense
of justice of the civilized world.

The presumption of a fair trial was one which we were certainly
bound to recognize, and did recognize in an eminent degree in the
Courts of the United States, when the passions of the people were
not aroused ; but it was a mockery of the most cruel kind to talk of
such a trial in the case of these men. They would be placed before
a Court and jury personally hostile to them ; composed of enemies
inflamed against them to an unprecedented degree by the virulence
of the struggle between the two sections. The fair trial they would
probably get would be such a trial as Lieut. Davis got, who was
under sentence of death, merely for asking for evidence for them ;
and the severity of his treatment for a minor offence, shewed what
they might expect who had sacked and burned a Northern town.
Or they would get such a trial as the crews of the privateers and
men of war of the Confederate States got, who in the face of their
recognition as lawful belligerents by the civilized world, and by the
clearest principles of international law, were put upon their trial as
pirates—and were so declared to be from the Bench. And though
the crew of the Savannah had escaped conviction notwithstanding
the Judge’s charge, in consequence of a difference of opinion among
the jury, others had actually been convicted as pirates.

If the evidence required was material, the Judge had acted wisely
and humanely in granting delay. And now that a further delay
was asked, because the first had proved insufficient—those who
resisted the application were those, who by their own acts had ren-
dered further delay necessary. Why did the prisoners want delay?
Because they were refused by the prosecutors a pass for one mes-
senger ; because the prosecutors had hanged or were about to hang
another, and because their precautions were so carefully taken to
prevent communication that the others had not been successful.
Such an objection from them was a violation of the simplest rules
of justice, and should receive no weight from a Court administer-
ing justice by those rules.

Mr. Laflamme, Q.C., and Mr. Kerr followed on the same side.

His Honor Judge Smith said, that in granting the former apphi-
cation for delay he had carefully abstained from giving an opinion
as to the materiality of the evidence proposed to be offered ; and
had not in any respect admitted any obligation to grant the delay
that had been asked for, and had been awarded. No precedent or
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argument could, therefore, be drawn from that, in favor of the pre-
sent application. But the argument had taken such a turn that he
now felt called upon to intimate, at least in general terms, what his
views upon it were. He certainly could not admit that his func-
tions were purely ministerial, and that upon certain affidavits or
depositions being laid before him, he was bound to commit for extra-
dition. He had the right, and it was his duty, to hear all that was
to be said on both sides, and to judge whether reasonable cause
existed for believing that one of the crimes specified in the Ashbur-
ton treaty had been committed, and that the prisoners were the
persons who had committed it. He referred to the familiar illus-
tration he had hefore used of a person killing another and being
charged with murder—if it was shewn that such a person had killed.
the deceased in self-defence, it would be impossible for him to order
his extradition. So also in the case of a woman killing a man in
defence of her chastity. He would not be satisfied with the evi-
dence that she had taken life—if evidence was also produced to
shew that the cause for which she did so, justified it; or rather
took away from the act the characteristic of the crime of murder.
This was his opinion,-and he could not feel himself justified in
departing from it, whatever may have been the nature of any
recent decision upon the subject. So it would be in the present
case also, if by evidence placed before him the acts committed by
the prisoners were withdrawn from the purview of ordinary munici-
pal law, and shewn to be properly liable to be judged by the prin-
ciples of international law alone. The treaty of extradition was
intended to meet cases of ordinary crime—of the nature specified
in it, not offences committed against each other by belligerents,
recognized by Great Britain as being engaged in warfare. This
was the doctrine evidently held by all the English judges in the
Gerity case. The evidence of the act done in that case was con-
clusive ; while the evidence of any belligerent character in the
assailants was of the feeblest character, consisting merely in a state-
ment that they acted on behalf of the Confederate States, which, it
was asserted, was equivalent to hoisting the Confederate flag; and
it was for that reason that the Judges declared that they could not
say that the magistrate had not sufficient grounds for committing
them. But if they had been prepared with proof of their authority
—if they had produced their commission from the Confederate Gov-
ernment ; it was plain from the language of the Judges that their
conclusion upon that point would have been different. But the
affidavits produced do not state with precision what was the exact
nature of the evidence to be adduced ; and he was, therefore, unable
to judge whether or no that evidence, if obtained, would be material
to the issue. As to the other branch of the argument, it should be
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vemembered that the United States were unhappily engaged in a
war of gigantic proportions, and that it appeared to be a part of the
policy of that war to beleaguer the capital city of the Confederate
States as closely as possible. It was probably impossible to relax
this state of things, and in any case it was a matter over which he
could exercise no control, and which could not affect his decision.
If he held that the action of the Federal Government in pre-
venting access to Richmond should entitle the prisoners to further
delay—he should virtually hold that the investigation could not
be proceeded with till the war terminated. He must, therefore,
refuse the application for further delay.

It was then agreed that the examination of the witnesses should
be proceeded with on the following morning at half-past ten. And
the Court adjourned.

EVIDENCE FOR THE DEFENCE.

11th February, 1865.

John G'. K. Houghton, of Montreal, Advocate.—On the twenty-
fifth of January last, I was engaged to proceed to Washington to
get a pass to go to Richmond, to obtain the documents necessary
for the prisoners.

Mpy. Bethune objected to this as irregular and irrelevant. Ob-
jection overruled.

I arrived in Washington on Saturday morning, and imme-
diately attempted to obtain an interview with the President, but
did not succeed until the thirty-first of January, when I had
an Interview with the President, and asked for a pass to go to
Richmond for the necessary evidence for the St. Albans raid. The
President refused to give me a pass. I used every effort to induce
the President to give me this pass; he said” ¢ No, I will not ; these
men are rebels, they go cutting and slashing around, and I do not
see that 1t is any part of my business to help them ;”” these are the
exact words. I again urged my request upon the President, and
finding that I was unable to succeed, I asked for a pass to go to
Greneral Grant’s head quarters, and from thence to forward a mes-
senger to Richmond to procure evidence; the President refused.
I endeavored to influence him again, when he said ¢ You can see the
Secretary of State,” and distinctly refused to give it himself. Ihad
some correspondence with the Secretary of State, the IHonorable
Mr. Seward. The purport of this correspondence is correctly shown
by the papers produced with my affidavit yesterday. The evidence
I was to obtain was documentary. The principal instrument of
evidence I was to obtain, was the copy of any general order of the
Government of the Confederate States recognizing what is known
as the St. Albans raid, that is the acts of these prisioners.

Cross-examined under reserve.—I was employed by the prisoners
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through their agents, by a letter which I fyled with my affidavit
yesterday. I have not personally had any conversation with the
prisoners. I was never informed by the prisoners, through their
agents, or by any one, that President Davis had refused to recog-
nize the St. Albans raid, and further, I say not, and have signed.

(Signed) J. G. K. HOUGHTON.

William W. Cleary, of Richmond.—I am an Attorney and
Counsellor-at-Law. I have occupied myself lately in endeavouring
to procure the passage of a messenger to Richmond on behalf of
the prisoners. One Lieut. Samuel B. Davis was dispatched on the
10th of January last from Toronto ; he carried through a written
paper to the Confederate government, asking that the authority for
the St. Albans raid should be sent to Montreal before the tenth of
this month ; the precise document required was any general order
that might have issued authorizing the St. Albans raid. On the
14th of January last, another gentleman was sent, carrying the
same request, and the same paper. On the 15th, a third messen-
ger was sent for that purpose; and on the 22nd or 28rd January
last, we heard that said Lieutenant Davis had been captured, and
thereupon another messenger was dispatched to Richmond for the
same purpose. No intelligence has been received of any of them
having succeeded in reaching Richmond, or as to their fate, except
Davis. Davis had previously passed safely through the Federal
lines.

Cross-exzamined under reserve of objections.

Question.—What are the names and places of abode and occu-
pation of the three ‘messengers other than the said Davis, whom
you assert were dispatched to Richmond ?

Objected by Mr. Abbott on the grounds—Ist, that an answer
would defeat the object of their being sent; 2nd, would imperil
their lives; 38rd, that their names and abode were immaterial
Objections maintained.

The witness was then ordered to stand down for the present.

William L. T. Price.—For the last two years I have been a
soldier in the Confederate service. At the time I was captured,
I belonged to General Morgan’s command. I know Bennet H.
Young, one of the prisoners. I have known him as far back as my
memory extends. He is a native of Jessamine county, State of
Kentucky, of which I am also a native. I did not belong to the
same command as Young ; but I met him in the service. He was
a soldier in the Confederate army. He belonged at that time to
Morgan’s command. The date of my meeting with him was pre-
vious to my joining that command. I was one of the soldiers under
General Morgan during his last raid in Kentucky. The advanced
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guards were dressed in citizens clothing, and so were Morgan’s
command always dressed, except some Yankee garments and over-
coats. Bennett H. Young first raised the Confederate flag in
Jessamine County—that is, he was the first person that raised the
Confederate flag there that I know of.

Cross-examined—I have been in Canada six weeks. I stopped
at a private boarding house in London, Canada West. I was never
in Canada before, or in the State of Vermont. I know also Mr.
Teavis, who comes from Jessamine county also. I have heard of
Mr. Spurr. I have not seen Bennett H. Young for twenty months,
until I saw him here. I then saw him engaged in a raid under
Colonel Cluke, in the uniform used by Morgan’s command. The
overcoats worn by the command of Morgan, mentioned in my exami-
nation in chief were Yankee overcoats. Morgan’s command generally
wear the clothes of citizens. They are gentlemen.

Question.—Did Morgan’s command carry on raids by going into
towns by twos and threes, registering themselves at hotels under
false names, and carrying only, as arms, concealed weapons ?

Answer.—I do not know that it was a regular policy of the
command.

(Signed) ~ WILLIAM L. PRICE.

Henry W. Allen.—1 am aged nineteen. I was first under the
command of General Buford ; afterwards in the 14th Kentucky
cavalry. I was also engaged as a clerk in the Adjutant-General’s
office. 1 know two of the prisoners, namely, Marcus Spurr
and Bennett H. Young. I knew them as soldiers in the Con-
federate army; they belonged to the State of Kentucky. I
never saw Young in the army. I saw him in prison, as a prisoner
of war. They were in the 8th Kentucky cavalry. I know per-
sonally that Marcus Spurr was in that regiment. I ascertained
when in prison, that Young belonged to that regiment. The
prisoners were distributed in the prison according to their regi-
ments and companies when I met Young there, and he was classified
as belonging to that regiment.

Cross-examined.—I now reside in the city of Toronto, where I
have lived for about a month. I came to Canada on the tenth of
December last. I saw said Bennett H. Young and Marecus Spurr
for the last time in the fall of 1863, at Camp Douglas, Illinois ;
they escaped from there. I am not aware that they came to Can-
ada then. I have heard that the said Young was in Toronto in
the winter of 1863 and 1864 ; but I do not know it personally.

And have signed.

(Signed) H. W. ALLEN.
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William Pope Wallace.—I knew one of the prisoners in the Con-
federate States, namely : Mr. Huntley, who answers to the name of
Huytchinson. I saw him at Wilmington, North Carolina, in Febru-
ary, 1864. His name in full is W. H. Huntley. I do not know
what his first initial represents, but I understand his second to be
Hutchinson ; he is a citizen of Georgia. He was a soldier in the
Confederate army when I saw him, in 1864. He exhibited to me
some papers at Wilmington ; one of them was a detail by which he
was sent out of the Confederacy. A detail, as I understand it, is
an order from military men to their subordinates to do any thing.
The paper now produced and marked K was shewn to me by said
Hutchinson at Wilwmington. (Paper K is a passport to Wm. H.
Huntley dated January, 1864, signed by James A. Seddon,
secretary of war, and J. P. Benjamin, secretary of State, and sealed
with the seal of the Confederate States). I had previously been an
officer in General Preston’s Staff, and had recently resigned. I have
frequently seen documents of the same description as document K.
It is known as a passport. The seal appended to it I do not
recognize. I suppose I have seen frequently such seals, but I
never took particular notice of them. I recognize one of the signa-
tures appended to that document, that is, the signature of James
A. Seddon, secretary of war, which I have seen very frequently,
and am acquainted with, and to the best of my knowledge and
belief, it is the genuine signature of Mr. Seddon, secretary of war.

Cross-examined under reserve—lI have been in Canada since
June last, with the exception of two month’s absence from the
Province. I know all the prisoners. Three of them I only knew
since they were arrested for the St. Albans raid, that is Mr. Spurr,
Teavis and Swager, the other two, I knew before, that is Huntley
and Young. I formed the acquaintance of the three first named
about two months after their arrest and while they were in gaol here.
The Wallace arrested before is no relation of mine. I was absent
for two months previous to Christmas last. I do not know where
any of the prisoners resided before the nineteenth of October, or
six months prior thereto. I saw Young and Huntley, in Halifax,
about May last. I do not know where they were going, they were
staying at a Hotel; they were not engaged in any business.
Mr. Huntley said he was going to Bermuda, and Bennett H.
Young said he was going to try and run the blockade. I wasin
Montreal, on the 19th of October last; I left Montreal, about six
or eight or ten days after the raid, for Halifax, by way of Portland,
and I returned by St. John’s on the overland route. My compa-
nions were General Preston’s family. I know all the prisoners here
and one who is absent, but who was also engaged in the raid of
St. Albans. I do not know how many were engaged in this raid.

(Signed,) W. P. WALLACE.
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Joseph F. Bettesworth.—I have been examined before in this
case. I have already said that I knew Bennett H. Young and
Marcus Spurr in Chicago in August last. At that time there were
a good many Confederate soldiers there. A large number were
collected there for some special purpose. They went on with the
organization for which they were assembled there. One part of
the object for which they were there has since been carried out, a
T understand. Their chief object there was to release the prisoners
at Camp Douglas. All the Confederate soldiers there were in
communication with each other, and knew what was gong on,
Prisoners Young and Spurr were there also, and Collins, who was
previously in custody on a charge before Judge Coursol. After
the expedition for the attempt to release the prisoners had been
put off, I heard from several persons there (Confederate soldiers)
that said Young was to lead a party on some other expedition,
and that there was to be a division of the Confederate soldiers
there, before said Young undertook this other expedition. This
was well understood and discussed among the Confederate soldiers,
and that said Young had a commission and was going to lead a
party. I heard one Confederate soldier state that he had been
requested to go on this expedition with Mr. Young, and he subse-
quently did go. This was Mr. Collins. I was not asked to go on
Mr. Young’s expedition ; that is, I cannot say that I was asked.
I had some conversation with Mr. Collins on the subject. Mr.
‘Collins told me in this conversation that Mr. Young had a number
of soldiers going with him, and that he, Collins, had another expe-
dition in view, and did not intend joining Young at that time.
I understood these raids were all authorized by the Confederate
Government. They were not proposed to me for any private
benefit, and we intended making them for the purpose of serving
our Government, and not ourselves. I did not understand the
precise spot Mr. Young was to attack, but it was on some part of
the Northern frontier of the United States. The arms and mate-
rial of war stored in Chicago were, I understand, for the purpose of
these raids, and for the use of any recruits we might get.

Cross examination declined.—And further saith not, and hath
signed.

(Signed,) J. F. BETTESWORTH.

Thomas M. Stone.—I resided in Richmond, Kentucky, up to
the time of the breaking out of the war, and part of the time since
in the Confederate army, part of the time in prison, and the latter
portion of it in Canada. I escaped from prison at Camp Douglass,
.and came from Chicago to Canada. I belonged to the seventh
Kentucky cavalry, second brigade of Morgan’s command. I know
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all the prisoners. I recognize the prisoner, Mr. Teavis, as being a
relative of mine, and having been in the same Company with
myself, in the army, and I have seen him also in several battles.
He was taken prisoner by the Federals on the Ohio Raid in July,
1863. He was taken to Camp Morton. He was a citizen of the
State of Kentucky, and from the same County as myself. I saw
all five prisoners in the United States last autumn, four of them
in Chicago last August, viz.: Young, Spurr, Hutchinson, and
Teavis, and I saw Swager in Vincennes, in Indiana. By Hutch-
inson, I mean the prisoner answering to that name on this examina-
tion. I do not know by what name he was known in Chicago, but
his real name is Huntley. There were probably sixty or seventy
Confederate soldiers in Chicago at the time mentioned. I saw about
fifty myself, and I understood there were many more there at the
time ; our object was to release the prisoners at Camp Douglass.—
This expedition failed, and upon its failure another expedition was
organized by Mr. Young, and another was organized by another
gentleman, whose name I do not wish to mention. Mr. Young’s
expedition was against the town of St. Albans, but upon a little
more extended plan than was carried out ; one of the objects was
to burn the town. I spoke with Mr. Young about the expedition
against St. Albans—this was at Chicago ; before he left, he said he
was going immediately to St. Albans, and that he had the men to
go. I was spoken to by Mr. Young to be one of the party, and I
also spoke to Captain Collins to join the party—the same Collins
who was a prisoner here in December last. I decided at that time
to join Young’s expedition, but finally changed my mind, and went
down to Southern Illinois. Collins went with me and left me there,
the next I heard of him was that he was a prisoner here. Young
was making up this party in the capacity of commander of it. I
knew that Mr. Young had the authority to raise the Company in
question. I saw his authority in writing, in August of last year.—
being shewn the paper fyled by Mr. Young at his voluntary state-
ment, and identified by the letter N on the back of it ; .I say that
it is the authority I saw, and am sure that it is the identical paper.
Mr. Young himself shewed it to me. I read it and examined 1t at
the time he shewed it to me, which was before he went to Chicago-
I do not remember positively whether he shewed me any other
instructions at that time ; but I am positive that he did not shew
me his commission. He shewed me the paper to satisfy me that he
had authority from Richmond, for the purpose of collecting a party
as stated in the paper. He stated to me that his instructions were,
when he had collected the party, to report to the Honorable C. C.
Clay, who was Commissioner for the Confederate States here, and
1o take his instructions from him. The fact of Mr. Young holding
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a commission from the Confederate States was known among the
Confederates in Chicago, when he was raising his Company therg,
There were several depdts of arms there, that is in Chicago, for the
use of the Confederate soldiers. I did not see them myself, but it
was generally known among the Confederates there that they
existed, and I saw them afterwards when they were captured by
the Federals in November following. I understood from Young
at Chicago that he was to receive his instructions from said Mr,
Clay, as he had done before. I cannot say that I understood from
Mr. Young at Chicago, that his party was complete ; but I under
stood that he had enough to carry out his expedition. I understood
that all the prisoners belonged to Morgan’s command except Hutch.
inson or Huntley. T heard it reported, and it was generally under-
stood that Mr. Young had been a prisoner at Camp Douglass, and
escaped, and Mr. Spurr also. I saw a good deal of service when
in the army. It would be impossible to describe the dress of Mor
gan’s command, 1t was so varied ; the articles of war provided for a
uniform for the command, but the Quarter Master’s department
never issued them ; each man dressed according to his own taste
or according to his means of providing them ; some would haye
some part of the Confederate uniform, remainder -plain, some in
colors. I have seen a whole regiment dressed in Yankee uniform,
this of course was after a raid. The principal source from which
clothing was obtained, was from captures from the enemy. From
the Virginia line to the Mississippi, petty warfare and depredations
were carried on by the Federal troops, independent of the action
of the regular army. DBands carrying on this kind of warfare were
chiefly to be found in Western Virginia, Middle Tennessee, East-
ern Kentucky, and the Northern portion of Alabama. It would
be impossible to describe the nature of this warfare in general terms,
except every kind of villainy.

Objected to by Mr. Johnson and Mr. Bethune.

Question.—State if you know any, of your personal knowledg,
particulars respecting this species of warfare and depredations, and
particularly cases in which private individuals and banks were
robbed ; old men, women, and children shot or put to death, though
unarmed and unoffending ; and the property of private individnals
wantonly destroyed by the Federal troops, previous to the 19th day
of October last.

The question was objected to by the Counsel for the Uuited
States, and the objection was maintained.

The Counsel of the United States object to the whole of this
testimony, as irrelevant and illegal ; and consequently decline t
cross-examine this witness.

(Signed)  THOMAS M. STONE.
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Charles Albert Withers.—I am a captain in the army of the
Confederate States. I was adjutant-general on the staff of General
John Morgan at the time of his death; and I was taken prisoner
when the General was killed, on the fourth day of September last.
I identify the prisoner, Charles Moore Swager. I saw him first in
the Confederate army of the Potomac, at the commencement of the
war; and I was also in the same regiment: he was in the first
Kentucky Infantry. He was afterwards, in December, 1862, in
Company H, of the Second Kentucky Infantry. He comes from
Kentucky, I believe. I am acquainted with the signature of James
A. Seddon, Secretary of War of the Confederate States. Being
shown and having examined the document marked M, produced by
Young at his voluntary statement, I declare the signature of James
A. Seddon, Secretary of War, thereto appended, to be genuine.
Being in the Adjutant-General’s department, I have seen all the
commissions. Instructions and orders for our command passed
through my hands officially, and I have consequently seen a great
many of his signatures. I know Mr. Seddon personally. I have
been in his office frequently, and seen him writing. The document,
M, is the only kind of commission we have in our service ; it is
simply a notification of appointment. I have never seen any other
kind of commission ; nor is there any other legal commission than
this, except that General Morgan was permitted to appoint his own
subalterns ; which appointments were afterwards ratified in the usual
form ; and such documents as document M, were then used. I have
examined the paper, M, and to the best of my knowledge and belief,
1t is a genuine document. I have no doubt of it: I have four com-
missions like it myself. When these commissions are issued, there
is an oath accompanies them, which has to be filled up and re-
turned. Being shown, and having examined the document N,
produced by Young at his voluntary statement, I declare the
signature thereto appended is genuine. I have not a particle of
doubt about it ; I have seen it too often. It.is what is called and
known as a detail for special service. From my knowledge of the
discipline and management of the Confederate army, I can state
that details of this description are of very ordinary occurrence.
Whenever any special service is required, a written detail issues
from the Secretary of War, or from an intermediate commander ;
and sometimes it 1ssues in the form of the paper N which is what
I call a circular order; and sometimes a special order is issued,
which is numbered and marked. The paper N is an order for
special service ; but as the service is not mentioned, it would
come under the order of special or secret service. It is the
practice for Confederate officers to organize and send out small
expeditions on secret service, ranging from three to thirty men,
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within the enemy’s lines. I have myself frequently done so, acting
as Adjutant-General. Captain Collins, who was a prisoner here iy
December, was once sent out by me on special service ; and com-
manded a party of twenty-three men. These secret expeditions were
always sent into the enemy’s lines ; sometimes to capture prisoners,
burn bridges, for scouting purposes, to destroy communications, and
telegraphs ; and on one occasion I sent an expedition to burna
town, under General Morgan’s orders ; there was about fifty men,
These expeditions were intended to harass the enemy in every
possible way. Sometime in 1862, orders were issued from the
Secretary of War and Adjutant General, to form small parties of
men as partizan Rangers. I know a number of these men and of
companies of partizan Rangers which were in operation ; these com-
panies are not attached to the regular army ; each company is under
its own officer these officers are seldom above the rank of Captain.
From the commission and paper N shewn me, I should consider
Young and his party to be a party of this description on special ser-
vice. Parties sent into the enemy’s lines on special service never wear
any uniform. Being shewn and having examined the paper writing
now produced, and marked O, I recognize the signature thereto as
the signature of said Mr. Seddon, Secretary of War. I have no
doubt about it ; it is genuine. I know the Honorable C. C. Clay,
the gentleman mentioned in paper O. I knew him when he was
Senator for Alabama in the Confederate States Senate. I do not
know what position he held here last autumn. I saw him here

PAPER O. Confederate States of America,
War Department,
Richmond, Va., June 16th, 1864.
To Lieut. Bennett H. Young ;
Lieut.,—

You have been appointed temporarily first Lieut. in the Pro-
visional Army for special service. You will proceed without delay
by the route already indicated to you, and report to C. C. Clay,
jun., for orders. You will collect together such Confederate soldiers
who have escaped from the enemy, not exceeding twenty in number,
that you may deem suitable for that purpose, and execute such
enterprises as may be indicated to you. You will take care to
organize within the territory of the enemy, to violate none of the
neutrality laws, and obey implicitly his instructions. You and
your men will receive transportation and customary rations, and

clothing or commutation therefor.
JAMES A. SEDDON,
Sec. of War.
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about two months ago. I am aware that there is a state of war
existing between the Northern States and the Southern, and has
been since 1861. 'We have in the South a President, Senate, and
House of Representatives, sitting at Richmond, and have a regularly
organized government and army from the highest to the lowest
grades. I know that in June last, Mr. James A. Seddon was
Secretary of War for the Richmond Government, and Mr. Davis
the President. I am well acquainted with the mode in which the
war has been carried on by the Federal troops against the South.

Question.—Are you aware whether or no petty warfare and a
series of petty depredations were systematically carried on by the
Northern soldiers in Southern territory, in which private property
was constantly taken or destroyed ?

Objected to as illegal, irrelevant, and foreign to the issues in
this cause. Objection maintained.

Question.—Can you state any particular instances in which
parties of Northern soldiers have entered the Southern lines in dis-
guise, and taken or destroyed private property?

Objected to. Objection maintained.

Question.—Is it not the fact, that during last summer an im-
mense extent of Southern territory was wholly devastated by
Northern troops, and private property to an immense value appro-
priated by them or wantonly destroyed ?

Objected to. Objection maintained.

I do not know Mr. Clay’s handwriting.

The Counsel of the United States object to the whole of this
testimony as irrelevant and illegal, and consequently decline to

Cross-examine.
(Signed) C. A. WITHERS.

William H. Carroll :—I was formerly an officer in the Confeder-
ate army, holding the rank of Brigadier General. I commanded a
brigade, at one time. Mr. James A. Seddon was Secretary of War
for the States in June last. I am acquainted with him, and have
seen him write and sign his name. Iknow his signature when I see it.
Being shewn, and having examined the documents M, Nand O, 1
should say that the signatures to those documents are the genuine
signatures of James A. Seddon. I might be imposed upon by his
signature, but I have not the slightest doubt that they are the genuine
signatures of the said James A. Seddon. I have frequently seen such
papers before. The paper M is the usual and customary form of
commission to an officer ; it is the same as the one I received myself
as Brigadier-General. An oath accompanies it, which is returned by
the officer. The officer acts under the paper, and remains an officer
until the Senate rejects such appointment. Ibelieve the Senate 1s
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now sitting at its first session since the date of that paper. I have
seen all the said papers before marked M, N and O; it was some
two or three days after the St. Albans raid. The man who shewed
them to me, said they came from Toronto ; they were shown to me
to see if they were genuine, and to say what should be done with them,
and I directed them to be sent to Mr. Abbott, one of the Counsel
for the prisoners, and I believe it was done. The prisoners were
at St. Johns or in that neighborhood when the said papers were
shewn to me. I do not know whether Mr. Abbott had been to St.
Johns previous to the time the papers were shewn to me or not.

Cross-examination under reserve of objections.—I do not know
in whose handwriting the body of the papers M, N and O, are
filled up. The only writing I recognize on the papers is the signa-
tures ; 1t is usual for clerks to fill up the commissions. I do not know
who had possession of those papers in Toronto, nor do I know who
sent them to Montreal. They were brought from Toronto to Mon-
treal by a person named Hiams ; I have only seen him once since he
brought the said papers. These papers were shewn to me in the
presence of two persons, one named Moore, and the other named
McChesney. I do not know his Christian name ; he is now in Court,
and was residing in Montreal at that time. I did not send for the
papers. I was told by some person that they were sent for by Lieut.
Young; this was some days after the raid. I know all the prisoners
since the raid ; I knew one before, that is Lieut. Young ; I met himin
Canada on his way to the Confederate States last fall a year ago.
In the fall or winter of 1863, I met him in Montreal ; I think he
stopped at the St. Lawrence Hall or the Donegana ; I met him once
or twice, I cannot say how long he remained in the city. I saw
him in Toronto once sometime last summer, I think in July or
August. I presumed he had returned from the Confederate States.
I am not certain that he went there. I met him at the Queen’s
Hotel Toronto ; this was the first time I met him in Upper Canada;
I did not meet him there afterwards. I did not meet any of the
other prisoners. I did not see any of the prisoners immediately
before the raid at Montreal ; and further saith not, &ec.

W. H. CARROLL.

Montrose A. Pallen.—I am a native of Mississippi, I have been a
Surgeon in the Confederate army ; at that time wasmedical director
of a Corps d’Armée. Iknew two of the prisoners before I saw them
in Montreal,—Mr. Swager, and Mr. Huntley, who answers to the
name of Hutchinson. I knew them in the Confederate army ; they
were soldiers in Mississippi. I know Mr. James A. Seddon, who
was Secretary of War last June. I know his hand-writing and
signature. Being shewn and having examined the papers marked
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M, N and O, I declare that the signature James A. Seddon,
Secretary of War, is genuine. I have carefully examined the
said three documents, and the documents are genuine. I have
seen similar documents to papers N and O, which are called details.
I have frequently seen similar documents to paper M; it is the
regular commission, the same as mine, and I have always seen the
same kind in the Confederate States, except one, which was General
Frost’s. In that commission the pen was drawn through the words
respecting the sanction of the Senate. Being shewn and having
examined the paper writing marked P, I believe the signatuxjée3
thereto to be the signature of C. C. Clay. I am acquainted with
his hand-writing"and signature ; his first nameis Clement ; I believe
he was Senator for Alabama. I know that Mr. Clay was in this
country. I never saw his papers, but I know that he was a Com-
missioner of the Confederate States of America.

Cross-examined under reserve.—My attention being particularly
called to the figures and dates, that is to the words October 6, 1864,
and beingasked if the paper on which these words are written presents
any appearance to induce me to believe that it was tampered with,
I answer that I am not in the habit of handling papers that are
suspected of being forged. I do not know where Mr. Clay was on
the 6th October last.

Question.—Whose hand-writing is the body of the paper writ-
mg P?

Answer.—So far as I am acquamted with Mr. Clay's letters
and figures, these look very much like his.

Question.—Will you swear that the word October, or so much of
it as i3 written on said paper, also the figure 6, and the figures
1864, contained in the said paper are in the hand-writing of the
Hon. C. C. Clay, Jun.

PAPER P.

Mem. for Lieut. Bennett Young, C. S. A.

Your report of your doings, under your instructions of 16th June
last from the Secretary of War, covering the list of twenty Con-
federate soldiers who are escaped prisoners, collected and enrolled
by you under those instructions, is received.

Your suggestions for a raid upon accessible towns in Vermont,
commencing with St. Albans, is approved, and you are authorised
and required to act in conformity with that suggestion.

October 6, 1864.
C. C. CLAY, JUN.,
Commissioner, C. 8. A,
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Answer.—I did not see him write it, and consequently cannot
swear that he wrote it. I did not see him write his name to the
said document. If I were a cashier in a bank in which Mr. Clay
had a deposit, and a check was presented to me with that signa-
ture, I would pay it. I think this is the first time I ever saw the
said paper. I have not seen Mr. Clay for two months. He was
here either in October or November last ; and further saith not.

MONTROSE A. PALLEN.

William W. Cleary, being recalled, said :

During last summer, and for more than a year previous, Mr.
James A. Seddon was Secretary of War for the Confederate Gov-
ernment. I was employed in an official position at Richmond pre-
vious to coming here. I was an employé in the Treasury Depart-
ment, but the duties I performed were connected with the war
office. I have seen said Mr. Seddon’s signature over a thousand
times, and know it well. I have seen him write and sign his name
frequently. Being shewn and having examined the papers fyled
in this case marked M, N & O, from my knowledge of Mr.
Seddon’s signature, I have no doubt but that the signatures are
genuine. I have seen the commission, the paper M before now; to
the best of my recollection it was in the latter part of July last.
The prisoner Young then exhibited it to me. He stated to me that
he had other instructions in addition to the commission. This was
at Toronto. I do not know where he was going then. I am not
sure that Young told me he was going over to St. Catherines to see
Mr. Clay ; all this took place in the latter part of July last or the
beginning of August. I know Mr. Clay; his name is Clement C.
Clay, jun.; he was an officer of the Confederate Government, and.
was appointed by the Government a commissioner abroad, and that
was his position in this country ; I am personally aware of this fact.
The last I heard from Mr. Clay was that he was en route for the
Confederacy. I have since heard of him, from Halifax. I think it
was in December last, that he left Canada. I know his handwrit-
ing and signature very well. Being shewn and having examined
the paper writing marked P, I believe that the whole of it, the body
and signature both, are in the handwriting of said Clement C. Clay.
I have no doubt of it at all. His handwriting is peculiar and very
characteristic, and I could not very well mistake it. I saw that paper
for the first time about a month ago. I was previously aware that Mr.
Clay had sanctioned the St. Albans raid. I became aware a short
time after the raid occurred that he had authorized it. I know this
from himself. It was in consequence of my knowledge that he bad
authorized the raid that I asked to see paper P. The information
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I got from Mr. Clay, was that the authority he had given was in
writing. He said the paper was in Montreal, and to the best of
my knowledge he said it was in the possession of Mr. Abbott. I
was aware before the raid that Mr. Young had projected some
expedition ; but of this raid I knew nothing ; I knew that he was in
communication with Mr. Clay about some expedition. After the
raid I understood from Mr. Clay himself that he had advanced
from the Confederate funds sums of money for the defence of the
prisoners. I understood from Mr. Clay that the parties not arrested
had turned over to him, as Confederate Commissioner, the money
captured at St. Albans. I do not know anything about the money
that was before the Court. I have seen a great many commissions
like paper M ; that paper is in the usual form of commissions, when
the Senate is not in Session. It is not usual to append any seal
to documents of that sort. The Senate was not in session at the
time that paper was issued, but is now in session. I believe, accord-
ing to the Constitution and laws of the Confederate States, that the
Secretary of War is the proper person to execute and issue such a
commission and such orders as papers M, N and O. Lieut. Young
would have been liable to be tried by court martial if he had disobeyed
the directions contained in those papers.

Cross-examined, under reserve of objections :

I believe Mr. Clay came here in the month of June last as Com-
missioner. I donot know where he stopped in Montreal. IHe wasin
Upper Canada; his principal place of residence was at St. Cathe-
rines. I saw him frequently at the Clifton House, also at St. Cath-
erines. In October last he was residing at St. Catherines. I saw
him there in the months of August and September last. He
remained in Canada from June to December, and I understood his
place of residence was St. Catherines. I do not want 1t to be said
that I said he remained in Canada all the time. I think he left
Quebec in the middle of December. I have been informed he left
Halifax in the month of January last. I have known the prisoner
Bennett H. Young since last July, when I made his acquaintance
at Toronto, in Upper Canada. I met him afterwards in Toronto,
in the months of August and September. I met him at the Queen’s
Hotel, where I met him in September, about the first week thereof';
he was on his road to St. Catherines, to visit, as I suppose, the
Honorable Mr. Clay. I did not see him afterwards. In August
last, I met the prisoner Hutchinson, or Huntley, at the Queen’s
Hotel. I do not know that he went by any other name than that
of Huntley. Mr. Young was there at the same time. I saw them
in company together. I do not recollect meeting any other of the
prisoners. I recollect also having been introduced to Captain Col-
Iins, who was one of the persons arrested for the St. Albans raid,
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and who was discharged by Mr. Coursol. I met him n August
last in Toronto. I have seen some of -the other persons who were
prisoners, and discharged by Mr. Coursol, in Upper Canada in the
month of August last. The said Mr. Clay was both a civil and
a military officer. He made his reports to the State Department,
which was the civil department of the State, but he had ample
powers, both civil and military; but he had no rank in the army.

He was not a commissioned officer in the army.
(Signed), WM. W. CLEARY.

James Watson Wallace, of Virginia, on his oath saith :—I am a
native of Virginia, one of the Confederate States. I resided in
Jefferson in the said State. 1 left that State in October. I know
James A. Seddon was Secretary of War last year. Being shown
and having examined the papers M, N and O, I say that from
my knowledge of his handwriting, the signatures to said papers are
the genuine signatures of the said James A. Seddon. I have seen
him upon several occasions write and sign his name. He has
signed documents and afterwards handed them to me in my pre-
sence. I never was in the Confederate army. I was commissioned
as major to raise a battalion. I have seen a number of the com-
missions issued by the Confederate Government, and the commission
of Lieutenant Young marked ¢ M” is in the usual form of all
commissions issued in the army, which are always signed by the
Secretary of War. I never served; I was incapacitated by an
accident, and being then kidnapped by the Northerners.

I was in Richmond in September last. I then visited the War
Department. It wag then notorious that the war was to be carried
into New England in the same way that the Northerners had done
in Virginia. When I was in Virginia I lived in my own house
until I was burned out, and my family were turned out by the
Northern soldiers.

The Counsel for the United States object to the whole of this:
evidence as 1illegal, irrelevant and foreign to the issue, and con-
sequently decline to cross-examine.

(Signed) J. WATSON WALLACE.

George N. Sanders.—Being shown and having examined the
paper writings marked M, N and O, I believe I have seen
similar papers before or of a similar purport, and which I believe
to be the same-substance as these, the day of the St. Albans raid.
I merely looked at the papers at that time to see their general pur-
port, and to have them delivered to the Counsel for the defence of
the prisoners. I directed them to be remitted to the prisoner’s
Counsel ; they came from Toronto, I believe, on the application of
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Young after his arrest. I know Mr. C. C. Clay, whose name is
subscribed to document P. He was then exercising the authority
of a Confederate agent, claiming full ambassadorial powers, as well
civil as military. I had several conversations with Mr. Clay about
the St. Albans raid. He informed me that he directed the raid,
and gave the order for it—the St. Albans raid—and Bennett H.
Young was mstructed by him to carry it out. Mr. Clay told me
about the eighth day of December last, a few days before he left,
that he would leave such a letter as the paper writing marked P,
and which I infer had not been written up to that time. The letter
which he said he would write on that occasion was a letter assum-
ing all the responsibility of the St. Albans raid, for which he was
responsible. Upon being asked to look at the paper writing marked P
again, and the date especially, I say the conversation I had with
Mr. Clay had no reference to this paper. Mr. Clay was to leave
a declaration in the shape of a letter, assuming all the responsibility
of the said raid. My, Clay was not here on the 13th of December
last. He must have left here early in December last, some few
days before Mr. Coursol discharged the prisoners. Mr. Clay in-
structed me to employ Counsel to defend the prisoners on behalf of
the Confederate Government ; he left a sum of money to my credit
for that purpose. I employed Counsel accordingly. My mission
was one of peace. I knew nothing of the St. Albans raid or any
other raid. The first information I had of it was after it occurred.
Last August I met said Mr. Clay and Young in St. Catherines,
Upper Canada ; I believe about the time of the Chicago Conven-
tion. I am aware that the St. Albans raid has been ordered and
approved by the Confederate authorities.

The Counsel for the United States object to the whole of this
evidence, and decline to cross-examine.

(Signed) GEO. N. SANDERS.

February 15th, 1865.

Stephen F. Cameron.—I am a citizen of Maryland. I have
been in the Confederate service, as chaplain, from the beginning
of the war to the present time. I was in Richmond on the 1s¢
February instant.

(The Counsel for the defence produced muster-roll of Company
A, 8th Kentucky Cavalry, containing the name of Marcus Spurr;
copy of muster-roll of Lagrange Light Guard of Georgia, con-
taining the name of William Hutchinson Huntley ; .copy of muster-
roll of Company B, Colonel Chenault’s Kentucky Cavalry, con-
taining the name of Squire Teavis ; copy of muster-roll of Company
H, Second Kentucky Infantry, containing the name of CTharles
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M. Swager ; also copies of two letters of instructions addressed
to Lieut. Bennett H. Young, dated June 16th, 1864, and purporting
to be signed by James A. Seddon, Secretary of War ; the whole
purporting to be certified under the hand of J. P. Benjamin,
Secretary of State of the Confederate States of America, and
under the great seal of the Confederate States of America. The
whole marked Z ; (to the production of which documents, and of an
proof in support thereof, the Counsel of the United States object,
as being irrelevant, irregular, and illegal. ~Objection reserved by
the Judge.)

Being shown and having examined the said papers,—I say that
I received them from Secretary Benjamin, Secretary of State
of the Confederate States. He affixed his signature to them in my
presence. I did not part with them until I handed them to the
Honorable Mr. Abbott yesterday. The seal was affixed at that
time,—that is, the great seal of the Confederate States was
affixed to them when he signed them; and he called my atten-
tion to the seal. This was in the office of the Secretary of
State. I volunteered to go for the papers for the prisoners.

I carried a missive from Colonel Thompson, who arranged with
me about going, and supplied the funds. I called upon Mr. Ben-
jamin about an hour after my arrival in Richmond, and he informed
me that the papers had been sent by another messenger on the day
before. He said that the papers had been sent, that every thing
had been sent, necessary to establish their belligerent character
and thav they acted under orders. The following day I called
on the President, by appointment, and asked, that to insure the
safe delivery of the papers, I might be entrusted with a duplicate
as a second messenger. He readily acquiesced, and expressed
great anxiety that they should be so placed as to escape detection,
suggesting that the paper containing the great seal should be photo-
graphed upon tissue paper, so as to take up less space. Mr. Ben-
jamin being present, explained that the muster-roll would take so
much space, that the size of the great seal would be of no conse-
quence. He stated that he had sent the orders under which the
young men had acted, previous to their making the raid. He
thought that these papers would be fully sufficient to justify their
doings, and that they would have full justice done them he had no
doubt. The President stated that the prisoners’ orders under
which they acted having been sent, constituted superior testimony
to any subsequent ratification. He expressed some surprise as to
the result of Burley’s case. I explained to him that in that case
the Judge was only a Police Magistrate, accustomed to deal only
with petty larcenies, but that In this case it was before a Superior
Court Judge who would appreciate questions of International
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law. He stated as his reason for not issuing his order in this case,
that his general order.in the Burley case had been disregarded,
and he seemed piqued and indignant at that fact. I told him that
if the Confederate States had been as near neighbors as the Federal
States, there would have been, probably, a different result. I looked
at the papers in the Department of State, to see that the names
were affixed ; they are precisely in the same condition now as when
I received them ; I made no request for any particular papers; I
merely presented the message with which I was entrusted ; I never
read the letter with which I was entrusted, and do not know its
contents, except that I understood that it was aletter of introduction,
and contained the names of the prisoners.

The Counsel for the United States, objecting to the whole of this
evidence as illegal and incumbent, decline to cross-examine this
witness.

(Signed) S. F. CAMERON.

George S. Conger, of the town of St. Albans.—On the 19th
October last, I was in St. Albans, aforesaid ; I remember the raid
on that day. The first thing I saw was putting some fellows on
the green. They were put on the green by force, with revolvers
at their heads. There was a guard set over them. I saw them
taking horses off some double team. I then saw some ten or twelve
of them coming out of the American Iouse yard on horse-back.
The town’s people were running, some one way and some another,
scared seemingly. I heard the discharge of fire-arms. I discharged
fire-arms myself on that day. I fired at the raiders. I was armed
with the breech-loading carbine. At the lower part of the town,
just above one of the banks, I was firing at these parties. I
followed them down the street, firing at them, about a quarter of a
mile, and kept firing at them all the way. I believe some others
of the town’s people were firing at them. I saw two or three of
the town’s people fire at them. I could fire five or six shots a
minute with my carbine. I thought those men were Confederate
raiders. I thought so because they commenced firing at the people
there ; they fired at me several times. And when the people called
to arms, they said these were Confederate raiders. It was not a
running fight until they got out of town. I saw no one firing
at them after they got out of town. I saw one house on fire after
they passed, it was a store; this was a couple of minutes after
they passed it. I did not hear any of the raiders declare what
they were. I am nineteen years of age.

Counsel for the United States decline to cross-examine the

witness.
(Signed) G. S. CONGER.
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William M. Cleary is re-called as a witness :—I recognize the
seal appended to the certificate signed J. P. Benjamin, Secretary
of State, as being the great seal of the Confederate States of
America. I do not remember having seen the seal of the War
Office before. I have in my possession the original of the paper
first annexed to the said certificate, being instructions to Lieut.
Young to report to Messrs. Thompson and Clay, which I now pro-
duce, and which is identified by the letter R. The reason why I
did not produce this paper or the other papers, N and O, at an
earlier stage of the trial, that is, when delay was first asked to send
to Richmond, was that after a consultation I had with the Counsel
for the defence, it was decided not to produce them until an oppor-
tunity had been afforded for getting papers from Richmond, because
1t was feared that the production of those papers might involve Mr.
Clay in a charge of a breach of the laws of neutrality. I cannot
state that it is the general rule of the War Office to issue more than
one letter of instruction to the same persons at the same time. I
have known of its being done, but it is rather the exception. It
has been done in cases when the duty was to be performed outside
of the Confederate lines, from whence there might be difficulty in
communicating with the Government in the event of any unforeseen
occurrence, so that the intent of the sending of the party might not
be defeated ; and the object is to enable the party sent to obtain his
orders in different ways. Iknow of a fact which would account for

PAPER R. CONFEDERATE STATES OF AMERICA,
War Department.
Richmond, Va., June 16th, 1864.

To Lievur. BeExyert H. Youna,

L1guT.-—~You have been appointed temporarily 1st Lieut. in the
Provisional Army for special service.

You will proceed without delay to the British Provinces, where
you will report to Messrs. Thompson and Clay for instructions.

You will, under their direction, collect together such Confederate
soldiers who have escaped from the enemy, not exceeding twenty in
number, as you may deem suitable for the purpose, and will execute
such enterprises as may be entrusted to you. You will take care
to commit no violation of the local law, and to obey implicitly their
nstructions.  You and your men will receive from these gentle-
men, transportation, and the customary rations and clothing, or
commutation therefor.

JAMES A. SEDDON,
Sec. of War.
Va., June 16th.
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Bennett H. Young being referred to Mr. Clay as well as to Messrs.
Thompson and Clay, namely, because he was a particular favorite
of Mr. Clay, and was appointed to a commission on his recommen-
dation. I know that he was appointed for service within the
enemy’s lines, that is within the Northern States. I know that
Mr. Clay recommended him for that commission for this purpose.

Question.—Are you or are you not aware that Lieut. Young
proceeded to Richmond in May last with the recommendation of
the Hon. Mr. Clay for his appointment to a commission in the Con-
federate army, for the purpose of undertaking raids against towns
on the Northern frontier.

Objected to. Objection maintained.

Counsel for the defence declines to cross-examine the witness.

(Signed) WM. W. CLEARY.

Lewis Sanders.—I know Lieut. Bennett H. Young, one of the
prisoners ; I know the Hon. Clement C. Clay,Jun. ; I was present at
several conversations between said Mr. Clay and said Lieut. Ben-
nett H. Young, between the 29th of August and the 9th of Septem-
ber last. I heard conversations between them about the attack on
St. Albans, which was subsequently made on the 19th of October.
The purport of these conversations was that Young was to burn
the town if possible, and sack the banks. I am aware that Mr.
Clay furnished Young with money to cover his expenses at the said
raid. Mr. Clay sent me a cheque for $400 or upwards for Mr.
Young, towards the expenses of the said expedition. I gave him
the said cheque, and he got the money on it in Montreal ; this was
about two weeks before the raid. I had no personal knowledge that
he got the money, but I presume he did, as there were funds there
to meet it.

Cross-examined under reserve of objection.

The conversations above referred to between Bennett H. Young
and Mr. Clay all took place in Mr. Clay’s private residence, in the
town of St. Catherines, in Upper Canada. This cheque that I
referred to was drawn on the Ontario bank. I believe it came to
me in a letter, and my impression is that it came from Quebec. It
is my impression that the cheque was drawn on the Ontario bank
here. I was not present when it was presented. I think that
cheque was signed by Mr. Clay. It was signed simply «“C. C. Clay,
Jr.,”” and the cheque was payable to the order of Bennett H. Young.
I believe I saw the said Bennett H. Young in Montreal, about
three days before the raid, which took place on the 19th of
October last. I also saw the said Marcus Spurr in Montreal
about four days before the said raid. I did. not see any of the
other said prisoners at any time near the period of the raid; and
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the nearest time to that date that I saw any of them was in July
last ; I then saw the said Charles M. Swager at Windsor in
Canada West. I did not know any of the other prisoners now
here before the said raid. I recollect meeting a brother of Mr.
Teavis at Clifton House, before the raid in July last.

(Signed) LEWIS SANDERS.

Jokn B. F. Davidge.—1 was admitted to practice at Washing-
ton City, in the District of Columbia. The crime of treason is
defined in the 8rd Article and 3rd Section of the Constitution of
the United States of America, which will be found in the volume
of the Statutes of the State of Vermont fyled in this cause.

Question.—If a body of men attack a town situated in the State
of Vermont, the said body of men being composed of citizens of
the United States, declare that they take possession of that town
in the name of an enemy of the said United States, plunder banks
and citizens, fire upon the citizens, and retreatin military order from
the town, in your opinion do these acts constitute a treason against
the United States ?

Answer.—I should say so.

Counsel for the United States decline to cross-examine.

J. B. F. DAVIDGE.

Hon. Mr. Abbott here declared the case for the defence to be
closed.

Mr. Bethune in rebuttal called :—

John Chas. Dent.—I know Bennett H. Young and Marcus
Spurr, two of the prisoners now in Court ; I first became acquainted
with them in the fall of 1863, then in Toronto; they were both
residing there at that time. The said Bennett H. Young and I
were living in the same boarding-house. The said Bennett H.
Young was then at college at the University of Toronto. I cannot
swear that he remained in Toronto more than three months after I
became acquainted with him. I knew him for three months.

I saw the said Bennett H. Young either late in the spring or in
the beginning of the summer of last year. I saw very little of Mr.
Spurr ; my impression is that he remained in Toronto as long as the
sald Bennett H. Young.

Cross-examined.—I believe they had escaped from the Northern
States. They had, I understood, been prisoners of war.

JOHN CHAS. DENT.

William L. Wilkinson.—1 know Bennett H. Young, one of the
prisoners now in Court, and I first became acquainted with him in
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the fall of 1863. We boarded together about three months in
Toronto. The said Young was at that time studying in the
University at Toronto. He remained in Toronto until early in the
spring, when he told me that he was going to the city of Richmond,
About two months after that I saw him again in Toronto. I only
saw him for a short time after that, for about a week or two.

The Counsel for the defence decline to cross-examine.

(Signed) WILLIAM L. WILKINSON.

William Donohue.—I am a Sergeant in the Water Police. I
know one of the prisoners, viz: Squire Turner Teavis. I made
his acquaintance in the hotel, St. Johns, Canada East, a few days
before the raid. I had no conversation with him. I saw no other
of the prisoners there before the raid.

Counsel for the defence decline to cross-examine the witness.

WILLIAM DONOHUE.

Erastus Wyman.—1I1 know the prisoner Bennett H. Young; I
became acquainted with him during the fall of }863. I under-
stood him then to be resident in Toronto, and attending the Univer-
sity there. I cannot positively say so, but to the best of my recol-
lection he continued to reside there for six months after I became
acquainted with him. I saw him late in 1863. I do not remem-
ber seeing him there in 1864. I left Toronto in February, 1864,
and came to reside here. I met him on or about the 15th October
last, on the train coming from Toronto here ; that is the last that I
saw of him until after his arrest.

The Counsel for the defence decline to cross-examine.

E. WYMAN.

Nelson Mott.—1 recognize two of the prisoners, Bennett H.
Young and William H. Hutchinson. These two persons arrived in
company with four others on the evening, I think of the eleventh of
October last, and put up at Leonard Hogle’s hotel, in St. Johns,
C.E. These persons remained for some days at the hotel, leaving
separately at different times. The person who now answers to
the name of Hutchinson, and who registered his name as Jones,
left about five o’clock, and as I understood, by the train going to
Rouse’s Point ; this was on the 18th of October last. I do not know
the precise day on which the said Young left. They all left scat-
teringly. I had conversation with the one calling himself Jones,
at the hotel, who answers to the name of Hutchinson ; while so-
living at the said hotel, he was receiving newspapers from St. Albans,
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Vermont. In the course of conversation he enquired the relative
distances of Frelighsburgh and Philipsburgh from St. Albans.
The Counsel for the defence decline to cross-examine.

NELSON MOTT.

Henry Allan. 1 recognize Marcus Spurr, one of the prisoners ;
I made his acquaintance in Toronto last winter, in the latter part
of January, 1864. He had no business that I know of; he was
there for two or three months after that. I saw him here in
Montreal, last October, before the raid at St. Albans; he was
staying at the St. Lawrence Hall. I saw him in Montreal two or
three days before the raid at St. Albans.

'T'he Counsel for the defence decline to cross-examine.

HENRY ALLAN.

James L. Hogle.—1 formerly resided at St. Johns, Canada
East ; I kept an hotel there in the month of October last. I recognize
two of the prisoners now in Court, viz: Bennett H. Young and
William H. Hutchinson. They put up at my hotel at St. Johns.
They arrived with four others, and all put up at my hotel. They
arrived on the 11th day of October last, and registered their names
in the register which I there kept, and which I now have in Court.
The prisoner Hutchinson registered his name as Jones, I think J.
A. Jones. They arrived in a body, and three of them left on the
Saturday of the same week, as I left home. I cannot say when the
other three left. Upon looking at the register, the entry so made
by the said Hutchinson is W. P. Jones, Troy, N. Y.

The Counsel for the defence decline to cross-examine.

J. L. HOGLE.

Thursday, Feb. 16, 1865.

Mr. Bethune sad the prosecution expected more witnesses, but
these not being present, he argued that the prosecution had fully
proved a case of robbery against Spurr and Teavis on the person
of one Breck ; and that he apprehended all the prisoners were
equally guilty, as all started with the purpose of plundering the
banks. The evidence showed all were in town on that day, as
proved by Bettesworth, and after the robbery left the town and
fled together into Canada. He then proceeded to quote Hawkin’s
Pleas of the Crown, chap. 34, sec. 4, p. 148; Hale, vol. 1, p.
534 ; 1st Bishop, sec. 267 ; also 2nd Bishop, for robbery, quoting
Hawkins. He contended that the prisoners had all arrived at
St. Albans with the intention of plunder. They all came there for
the purpose of plundering the banks; and as an incident to the
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lunder of one of them, they had also plundered the complainant ;
and they all left there together. As they had assembled there
with intent to commit one felony, they were all alike gailty, if any
of the party, so assembled, had committed another in the course of
the prosecution of the one which they intended to commit. He
cited, as an illustration of the doctrine, an instance in which parties
were prosecuted for a breach of the peace with intent to resist the
police, in which the Court held all equally guilty of the murder of
a person accidentally killed, though some of the party were distant
and even out of view. With these authorities, he submitted the
prosecution were entitled to a warrant of commitment for extra-
dition against the prisoners. They (the prosecution) intended to
await the arguments of their learned friends on Monday ; and if, in
reply, the prosecution quoted any authorities, it would be the
privilege of the defence to answer them. It would also be the
privilege of the Crown prosecutor to sum up the whole case after-
wards.

Hon. Mr. Abbott said it was to be regretted that the prosecution
had not told them the grounds they intended to take.

Mpr. Bethune said that the ground would be that the prisoners
had committed robbery.

Hon. Mr. Abbott continued that the disadvantage would be, that
they would have to argue and fortify every point of law and of fact,
not knowing what was disputed or what denied by the prosecution.
This would greatly lengthen the arguments for the defence which
might otherwise have been confined to the real points in issue.
The case of the prosecution would only be developed in their reply,
and this again would be unjust to the prisoners.

His Honor said that if necessary he would hear the counsel for
the defence again.

My. Bethune did not care how often tli:y spoke. The case to
be maintained was one of robbery.

Myr. Johnson said there was no particular form of procedure in
such cases.

Hon. Mr. Abbott said that Mr. Bethune had proposed that Mr.
Johnson should sum up, but he denied that the Crown prosecutor
had any such right. The real prosecutor was the United States,
and after they were heard, the case ought to be left to his Honor.

Mr. Johnson said that with respect to the office of Crown prose-
cutor, that might be safely left to him.

His Honor thought that the Crown officer was entitled to reply.
The case was a Crown case, in so far as it was the duty of the
Crown officer to rectify anything wrong; but that whatever Mr.
Abbott had to say he would hear him.

The enquiry was then adjourned till Monday at 10.30.
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Mpr. Kerr for the defence, handed to the Judge and counsel a
printed paper containing the following propositions and authorities :

1. That Bennett H. Young was on the nineteenth of October
last, a commissioned officer in the service of the Confederate
States in command of a party of enrolled Confederate States troops,
then in the territory of the United States; a country with which
the Confederate States were at war, quoad which econtest Her
Majesty had declared her determination to maintain a strict and
impartial neutrality between the contending parties.

2. That the said Bennett H. Young was ordered and
directed by his Superior Officer, to whom he had been referred for
Instructions by the Government of the Confederate States, to
make the raid upon St. Albans, now under investigation.—The
Hon. C. C. Clay’s letter 6 Oct., 1864.

8. That the tenth article of the Ashburton Treaty is strictly
limited in its operation to the crimes recognized by the common law
of both countries under the names thereto applied in the
treaty. And that the whole of the facts and circumstances of the
case must be examined into and weighed by the judge, in order
that he may be satisfied that the act of the accused can be justly
designated as one of the crimes mentioned in the treaty.—Robbins
alias Nash’s case. Wharton. Expte Bollman & Swartout
Marshall on the Constitution, pp. 83 to 41. The People v.
Martin & al., 7. N. Y. L. Observer pp. 52 to 566. 4 Op. Attys.
Gen., p. 202.

4. That acts of hostility committed by the troops of the Confede-
rate States, a recognized belligerent within the territory of the
Federal States, the other belligerent, and political offences arising
out of popular commotions, insurrections, or civil war do not come
within the provisions of the treaty.—Presdt. Tyler’s message.
Wheaton, Lawrence’s edition, pp. 286, 24 in notss.

5. That the United States no longer exist. That since the rati-
fication of the treaty of 1842, five or six States have been admitted
into, and nine or ten States have seceded from the Union—that
between two portions of the former republic, civil war has been
and 1s now raging—and that thereby the sovereignty, which
subsisted only in the Union, was immediately upon the commence-
ment of the war dissolved.—2 Burlamaqui, pt. 4, cap. 7, §38, p- 210.

6. That the war now raging between the Federal States and the
Confederate States is what is called a perfect war. That both
parties are belligerents, and entitled to all belligerent rights given
by war to sovereign governments.—Wheaton, 40, 523, 524, 520
in notis, 1, 2, 847, 850 n notis. The Tropic Wind, Monthly L.
Reporter 1861, p. 151.

7. That during a war between two mations or governments, the
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municipal criminal codes of the belligerents are silent and inopera-
tive quoad acts committed by the troops of either of the belligerents
within the territories of the other. The law of nations alone furnishing
the rules for the government of armies or detached bodies of troops
on hostile territory.—3 Burlamaqui, pt. 4, cap. 5, § 8, 12, 13, 14,
15,16. 2 Azum, pp. 64,18. 2 Rutherforth, B. 2, cap. 9, § 15,
pp- 540, 546, & 551.

8. That under the law of nations, in what is called a perfect war,
the rule is that the person of the enemy is liable to seizure, and
his property to confiscation, seizure, or capture, wherever found.—
3 Phillimore pp. 115, 116, 120, in notis (132, 8 & 9 note q.)
Lawrence’s Wheaton, pp. 618, 519, 596. Lee on Captures, p.
141. Bynkershoek, chap. 4, p. 27. 3 Rutherforth, p. 549,
Bas v. Tingy, 4 Wheaton Rep. p. 40. Miller v. The Resolu-
tion, 2 Dallas, R. 21.

9. That, under the law of nations, members of one belligerent
nation may lawfully kill members of the other belligerent nation, or
seize or capture their property wherever found, except in neutral
territory. Lawrence’s Wheaton, p. 518. 2 Rutherforth § 18, p.
578, 8 19, p. 694. 3 Phillimore, p. 187. Burlamaqui, p. 195,
201. Jecker v. Montgomery, 18 Howard, 114.

10. That the commission of an officer in the army of a bellige-
rent power, authorizes him and the men under his command to
engage in every act of hostility against the other belligerent, per-
missible under the law of nations.—1 Kent’s Com., pp. 94 & 96.
Halleck, p. 386. Lawrence’s Wheaton, pp. 626, 627. Lieber’s
Instructions, No. 57. 1 Opin. of Attys. Gen. pp. 46, 81. 26
Wendell, p. 675. 2 Rutherforth, pp. 570, 580.

11. That if such commissioned officer violates instructions,
limiting him and his command to certain acts of hostility, and
exceeds the bounds therein prescribed for him, he is guilty of an
offence against his own government, whose rules for his guidance he
has infringed ; but he cannot be regarded as a criminal by the other
belligerent, or by neutral nations ; for he 1s innocent of any offence
against international law.—3 Phillimore p. 137. Bynkershoek, p.
134. 2 Rutherforth, pp. 596, 597, 598, 599. Wheaton, pp. 247,
248, 249. '

12. That the only government having power to enquire whether
such commissioned officer has exceeded his instructions, or violated
the rules laid down for his guidance in his conduct towards the
enemy, is the government which commissioned him.—Bynkershoek,
p. 134. 2 Rautherforth, pp. 595, 6, 7, 8 & 9. Wheaton,
947, 8 & 9. 1 Opinions of Attys. Gen., pp. 46, 81. Westlake’s
Priv. Int. Law, p. 120. 26 Wendell, p. 675.

13. That a violation of neutral rights, either by capture in neu-
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tral territory of enemy’s property, or by the use of neutral territory
for the passage of troops or as the starting point of an expedition
against the enemy’s country, does not deprive the troops so violating
neutrality of their belligerent character. The belligerent whose
property has been captured has no rights in the matter, and quoad
him, captures so effected are legal. Such violation of neutrality
cannot affect in any way the non-responsibility of belligerent
troops to the ordinary tribunals, for hostile acts.—Historicus, p.
52,158, 154, 155, 158, 159, 162. 1 Kent. p. 119.  Grotius lib.
III., cap. 4, §8. Bynkershoek b. 1. cap. 8. 2. Ortolan, p. 256.
The Anne, 3 Wheat. Rep. 435 per Story C. J. The Etrusco. 3.
Rob. 162. Brig Alerta vs. Blas Mornet. 3. Peters Rep. 425,
La Amistad de Rues, 5 Wheat. Rep. 389, per Story. Wheaton,
p. 722. Judge Tallmadge on McLeod case, 26 Wendel}, pp. 663
to 699.

14. That a neutral government cannot take cognizance of, or
pronounce a judgment upon, any act of hostility committed by
troops under the command of an officer commissioned by one belli-
gerent, within the territory of the other belligerent.— Lawrence’s
Wheaton, pp. 40, 42 n notis. Bynkershoek, pp. 115, 116, in
notis 119, in notis, Notis. 26 Wendell, p. 688 °& 9. Vattel, 3,
lib. 7, cap. § 103, 110. Halleck, p. 73. 8 Phillimore, 201,
202. 2 Burlamaqui, pp. 193, 203.  Lee on Captures, pp. 109,
138. 2 Rutherforth, 550, 551, 652, 553. 2 Azuni, p. 64.

15. That if a neutral nation, on the demand of one bel-
ligerent, delivers wup to that belligerent soldiers and officers
of the other belligerent, who have committed acts of hostility in the
country of the belligerent demanding such extradition, on the
ground that such acts were crimes, such pretended neutral nation
thereby violates its neutrality and espouses the side of the bellige-
rent to whom extradition is made.—2 Burlamaqui, p. 193. 2
Rutherforth, pp. 062, 553. Halleck, p. 629. Bynkershoek, pp.
69, 118 in notus. .

16. That as a civil war existed between the Federal States and
the Confederates States on the 19th October last; Her Majesty
had proclaimed Her neutrality in the war ; and Bennett H.
Young was then a commissioned officer in command of a detach-
ment of Confederate troops, operating under orders from his Govern-
ment within the territory of the Federal States, the act of Bennett H.
Young and his command cannot be measured by the provisions of
the municipal criminal code of the enemies of his country ; nor can’
our Courts or officials hold his acts to be crimes within the purvieu
of the Ashburton treaty.—U. S. v. Palmer. 4 Wheaton, p. 52.

17. That the assemblage of Citizens of the United States, for
the purpose, on behalf of the Confederate States, of sacking and
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burning the town of St. Albans is an overt act of treason against
the United States.—Ex parte Bollman et al. Marshall on the
Constitution, p. 42, 44. U. S. v. Burr. do. pp. 61, 62, 63, 65
66, 69, 70, 73, 81, 82. ’

Mr. Kerr said :—To me has been confided by my learned friends
the duty of opening the case for the prisoners. Itis,I can assure your
Honor, with fear and trembling that I take upon myself the responsi-
bility necessarily attaching itself to my position. Not that I believe
that our cause is weak, not that I am afraid that our just claims will be
ignored ; but the great importance of the principles involved, the
magnitude of the interests at stake, and the almost boundless field
for research and argument which spreads itself before the counsel
employed,—all tend more thoroughly to bring before each of us his
own utter incapacity to render their meed of justice to the rights
of our clients. That this is one of the most important cases ever
presented for the consideration of any of our Courts, will not be
denied ;—that 1t has already produced a greater effect upon the
passions and prejudices of men both in Canada and the former
United States, than any other cause célébre in this Province, will
readily be admitted. It has been the moving cause of a call to
arms within the Colony. It may justly be looked upon as the
origin of those fears which culminated in the denial of asylum to
political refugees by our Provincial Parliament. From it the care-
ful observer can trace the origin of the pressure brought to bear
upon our Judges, to induce them to degrade the palladium of the
law into the minister of the temporary passions of the Government,
and the servile instrument of the interests of the United States.
The very papers produced by the prisoners were bought by the
price of blood, for one of the messengers despatched to Richmond
to obtain information for your Honor, but the day before yesterday
expiated the crimes of being a loyal soldier, a true friend, and a
gallant patriot, on the gallows at Johnson’s Island. Your Honor
can read in the treatment of the messenger, the certain fate of
those who sent him on his errand. Cursed be the hand which
spareth, is the motto of the United States. Can it be wondered at
then that the knowledge of our responsibility in the grave task we
have undertaken should weigh so heavily upon us; that it should
like a pall hang over us whithersoever we may go. But all that we ask
—all that we pray for—is, that it may not so deaden our energies
as to render us incapable of laying before you fairly, manfully and
faithfully,all the points in this most interesting case, with the prin-
ciples of law which define the positions of the prosecutors, the pri-
goners and the judge. o

The question of extradition of crlmma!s by the authorities
of the country within ‘the limits of which they had sought

2
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vefuge, to the authorities of the country within whose terri-
tories they had committed a crime, was one which formerly occu-
pied the attention of statesmen and publicists throughout the civi-
lized world. Like every other important principle of what may
be called international expediency, the existence of the right to
demand was by some authors denied, by others admitted. The
question however was shrouded in obscurity, and the greater num-
ber of the nations of the world have pronounced against the exis-
tence of any such right, by entering into treaties by which they
agreed under certain conditions, to deliver up persons to the autho-
rities of the other parties to the treaty, accused of having com-
mitted crimes within their jurisdiction. It is unnecessary here to
enter into a detail of the treaties entered into between different
States wherein an extradition stipulation appeared ; it is sufficient
to say that Great Britain has, at different periods, entered into two
on that subject with the United States. The provisions of the
first made, in 1794, and known in American works as the Jay
Treaty, was in its extradition clause almost precisely similar to
the tenth clause of the Ashburton Treaty; in fact no difference
of any moment was apparent, save the promise to vest jurisdic-
tion in the judges and magistrates. It was limited in its opera-
tion to twelve years, and expired without any great use having
been made of its provisions. The only cause célébre arising
under it was that of Nash alias Robbins, to which reference
will be made hereafter. In 1842, the Ashburton Treaty was
entered into between Great Britain and the United States,
by the tenth clause of which it was stipulated and agreed, that
on demand the high contracting parties should deliver up to
justice, all persons who being charged with the crime of mur-
der, or assault with intent to commit murder, or piracy, or arson,
or robbery, &c., &c., should seek an asylum, or be found within
the territories of the other, provided that this should only be done
upon such evidence of criminality, as according to the laws of the
place where the fugitive or person so charged should be found,
would justify his apprehension and committal for trial, if the crime
or offence had been there committed ; and it was further provided,
that the evidence of criminality should be heard and considered by
the judge or magistrate issuing the warrant, and that if on such
hearing, the evidence should be deemed sufficient to sustain the
charge, then the justice was so to certify to the proper executive
authority, in order that a warrant of extradition might issue.

It has been ruled i this case that the proceedings were rightly
instituted under the Provincial Act 24 Vic.,cap. 6; 1t becomes then
my duty to enquire what are the powers of the officials mentioned
in that Act, with reference to the examination of the sufficiency of
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the evidence to sustain the charge. In order so to do, it becomes
necessary to examine the powers and duties of our Justices of the
Peace out of sessions, in their examinations into charges of indictable
offences against persons -brought before them. By the 30th clause
of 102 cap. Con. Stat. of Canada, it is provided that in all such
cases the justice or justices shall,in the presence of the accused
person, take the statement on oath or affirmation of those who know
the facts and circumstances of the case. By the fifty-seventh
article it is provided, that if in the opinion of the justice the evi-
dence is sufficient to put the party upon his trial for an indictable
offence, although it may not raise such a strong presumption of
guilt as would induce such justice or justices to commit him for
trial without bail, then such justice shall admit the party to bail ;
the deduction, therefore, from the evidence the justice has received
from those who know the facts and circumstances of the case, in
order to justify his committal for trial, must he one raising a strong
presumption of guilt against the accused. Can it be pretended
that the justice having three alternatives to choose from, all founded
on the comparative strength of the evidence against the prisoner,
viz., either to discharge him absolutely, to bind him over, or to
commit him for trial, that that discretion does not in fact give him
power to examine and weigh the evidence, in order to discover to
which course the character of that evidence forces him ? If from
the nature of the evidence adduced, which in 1itself is incontroverti-
ble, it is apparent that to commit him, or even to bind him over,
would expose the country solely to the costs of a trial, which must
result in the acquittal of the prisoner, the duty of the justice is
clearly to discharge. If, on the other hand, no evidence has been
rendered changing a premd facie case of felony, it is the duty of
the justice to commit. Can it be pretended that a man who has
acted as public executioner at the execution of a criminal condemned
by a competent court to death, would not, were he apprehended for
murder, be allowed before the magistrate holding the preliminary
examination, to produce the record of conviction and the document
proving his own status as executioner ; and would it be pretended
that the magistrate had no right to examine into such evidence, and
that it was his duty to commit for trial for murder because 1t was
proved by the prosecution that a man had been hanged by the
prisoner ¥ Numberless other cases may be cited in which the
doctrine advocated by the prosecution is shown in all its true ab-
surdity. This, let it be remembered, applies solely to cases arising
under our municipal law, where the injustice is suffered by one of
our fellow-subjects, and where his committal for trial, even for an
offence of which he is not guilty, can only, at the most, entail upon
him the temporary inconvenience of imprisonmentin one of our gaols ;
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but when the extradition to a foreign power of a man who has com-
mitted no crime against our law, but who seeks solely in a British
colony an asylum from the enemies of his country, and who trusts him-
self to the national honor of Great Britain for protection, is de-
manded, it becomes us to be exceedingly careful, lest in our anxiety
to concilitate powerful neighbors, we are not induced, in the elo-
quent words of Lord Palmerston, to violate the laws of hospitality,
the dictates of humanity, anc the generai feelings of mankind.
Let us beware lest we should be hereafter universally and deservy-
edly stigmatised as dishonored, by our hasty conduct in this case.
The necessity then for a careful and searching examination of
the evidence in an extradition case is apparent ; all the facts and
circumstances are to be looked at with the greatest care, in order
that the magistrate may be fully satisfied that the prisoner really
has committed the offence of which he is accused ; he must beware
lest in a case of manslaughter he commit for murder ; he must take
care that the offence is not larceny whilst he commits for robbery ;
but above all he must be satisfied that the man is guilty of the crime
with which he is charged. In the examination of this case, if we
can quote authorities from American authors, and cite precedents
from American reports, the United States government surely will
not complain of our drawing from their arsenals weapons wherewith
to combat their pretensions. The judgments of their Supreme
Court are acknowledged in England as of the very highest au-
thority, are cited at the bar as of the very greatest weight, and are
listened to by the Bench with the greatest respect and attention.
The very brightest ornament of that court, he who in his lifetime
was acknowledged by all parties as the greatest judge who ever
adorned the bench in the United States, and who was pronounced
by Mr. Justice Story, in an address to the bar, to be the expounder
of the constitution of that republic, was the late Chief Justice
Marshall.  His intellect was so essentially judicial that every
dictum of his is precious ; his intuitive perception of law was so
marvellous as to enable him to discover the most recondite prin-
ciples at a glance. When then we have on record his deliberate
opinion on any poit, we may almost defy the most wily sophist to
shake our confidence in the strength of the position taken. One of
the most masterly efforts of that distinguished man was made in the
argument before Congress, when the question of the extradition of
a man named Nash, alias Robbins, came up for consideration. It
would appear that Nash was one of the crew of H. M. S. Hermione,
which was taken possession of by mutineers, who, after killing some
of the officers, carried the vessel into a Spanish port. Years after,
a demand for the extradition of Robbins, under the treaty of 1794,
was made on the American, by the British Government, on a
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charge of murdering one of the officers of that vessel on the occa-
sion 1n question. Nash was extradited, notwithstanding he set up
in his defence, and endeavored to prove, that he was an American
seaman who had been impressed on board the Hermione, and that
it was for the purpose of regaining his liberty that he had joined in
the mutiny. Great excitement raged in the United States, the
case was brought before Congress, and 1t was in defence of his friend
and patron, George Washington, that the late Chief Justice, then
Mr. Marshall, delivered a speech on the subject, which for a time
silenced all opposition. Amongst the positions taken by him, was
the following: ¢ That had it been proved that Robbins was an
American—had been impressed on board the Hermione, and had
been guilty of homicide in endeavoring to regain his liberty, such
homicide would not have amounted to murder, and he could not
have been extradited,””—thereby clearly showing that in his opinion
the forcible impressment, if proved, should have been taken into
consideration, and that the person who rendered the decision was
bound to weigh all the evidence, even of justification, and to give
effect to all the circumstances surrounding the act, by which the
enormity of the crime might have been diminished or mitigated.
The next case in which any point of importance was decided is that
of Christiana Cochran, who on the demand of the British Govern-
ment, was extradited in the year 1843, on a charge of murder.
There the counsel for the accused interposed, as an objection, to
any further proceeding before the commissioner, a plea of insanity,
which, in the words of the (4th Atty.-Gen’s. opns., p. 202) Atty-
General’s opinion, was, after a full and impartial investigation,
overruled. This, then, is a corroboration of the opinion expressed
by Chief Justice Marshall. The next case from which we can
obtain light is that of the Gerrity. The schooner J. L. Gerrity
was an American vessel, owned in the Northern States. Previous
to her departure from Matamoras, a neutral port, for New York, a
number of men, amongst whom were the prisoners Tirnan & al.,
engaged passages to the latter port. Two days after the vessel
sailed, the passengers rose in arms, declared to the captain that
“you are now to consider yourself a Confederate prisoner,” took
possession of the vessel and its contents, and sent the captain and
crew adrift in one of the boats. They were apprehended at Liver-
pool on a charge of piracy on the high seas, and their extradition
was demanded under the Ashburton Treaty. For them 1t was
contended, 1st.—That piracy on the high seas was not an extra-
ditable offence ; 2nd—That they were acting on behalf of the Con-
federate Government, which was then at war with the United States,
and a recognised belligerent. It must be remembered that the
only proof of their belligerent capacity was the admission made by
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the captain of the Joseph Gerrity, of the declaration to him
by one of the passengers that he was to consider himself a Con-
federate prisoner. No commissions, no instructions, from that
belligerent government were produced, nor was it proved, that
they were mnatives or subjects of the Confederate States; in fact
the presumption was that they were British subjects. And yet the
Chief Justice, who, it must be remarked, differed from the majority
of the Court with respect to the first point, on which they were dis-
charged, observed with reference to the second, that *“I concur
that persons although not subjects of a belligerent, and although
violating the laws of their own country by their interference in its
behalf, are not therefore chargeable with piracy. But, at the same
time, they cannot protect themselves from the consequences of
piratical acts by assuming the character of belligerents. The pri-
soners averred that they were acting on behalf of the Confederate
Government, and Mr. James is right in arguing that this is the
same as though they had hoisted the Confederate flag ; but we also
know that the flag of a country is frequently hoisted by pirates for
the better carrying out of their schemes, and we must look at all
the circumstances to see whether or no the object of the prisoners
was a piratical one. I cannot say that, that was so clearly nega-
tived as to oust the justice of jurisdiction to commit the prisoners.”
We have here, the opinion of the Chief Justice of England, saying
that the judges on kabeas corpus are bound to look at all the cir-
cumstances in order to come to a proper judgment on the nature of
the act. He, moreover, admits that the declaration of the prison-
ers that they were acting on behalf of the Confederate Government,
negatives, to a certain extent, the presumption that they were
pirates ; but he cannot say that that declaration without proof of
commission or instructions from the Confederate Government, so
clearly negatived the presumption of piracy as to oust the justice
of his jurisdiction to commit; but his opinion maintains most
strongly the principle that a prima facie case against a party may
be so destroyed by evidence of belligerency as to oust the justice
of his jurisdiction, thereby giving to the justice the judicial power
of appreciating and weighing the testimony. Mr. Justice Black-
burn in the same case makes use of the following remarks ¢ there
was evidence of piracy jure gentium and also evidence that the act
was a belligerent one mn furtherance of the cause of the Confede-
rates, who are belligerents and so recognized. The act then, so far
as the evidence goes, was either piracy jure gentiun, in which case
we are not empowered to give them up, or it was the act of belli-
gerents, and therefore triable neither here nor elsewhere.” It
must be admitted that there really was very strong evidence of
piracy, and very weak evidence of belligerency in the case in ques-
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tion, the only fact to show the latter character being furnished by
the declaration of the prisoners, which the Chief Justice likened to
the hoisting of a flag.  In the case of a vessel attacking and cap-
turing a French merchantman, such vessel would not be relieved
from the imputation and consequences of being a pirate by showing
that at the commencement of the attack she hoisted a Mexican flag,
if she did not produce either her commission as a man-of-war in the
Mexican navy, or letters of marque authorizing her to cruise as a
privateer. Mr. Justice Blackburn very justly remarks also, that
if it were the acts of belligerents, it was triable neither in England
nor elsewhere, thereby showing conclusively that in his opinion,
proof of the belligerency before the magistrate took the case out of
the treaty. The next case demanding our attention is that of the
Roanoke, which was taken possession of on the high seas, by a
party of Confederates under the command of an officer, who had
taken passage in her from a neutral port. They were arrested at
one of the West India Islands on a charge of piracy. At the pre-
liminary examination before the magistrate, after evidence of the
act of pretended piracy had been gone into, the officer in command
produced his commission and instructions, and thereupon the Attor-
ney-Greneral for Her Majesty abandoned the prosecution and they
were discharged. In the natural order of things we now come to the
case which without doubt is the cheval de bataille of my friends on
the other side, the one containing according to their ideas the concen-
trated principles of law applicable to the facts of the St. Albans raid,
and one so perfectly analogous that it ahsolutely puts an end to all
our pretensions. I mean the Burley case. The opinions pronounced
by the Upper Canadian Chief Justices and Judges have been sub-
mitted to thq decision of the civilized world, and have become a por-
tion of the property of the nations of the earth. Those opinions,
therefore, are now open to critical examination, and any one wish-
ing to satisfy himself upon the responsibility incurred by belliger-
ents in visiting neutral countries, would be forced into investigating
the correctness of the principles therein laid down as regulating the
course to be adopted in all cases, wherein extradition should be
demanded. The questions naturally arising in that case were of
vast importance, affecting not only the prisoner, but in their conse-
quences touching the question of peace or war between Great Bri-
tain and the United States. The law of the Province of Canada was
not the only system of jurisprudence involved, but the International
law of the globe presented itself for discussion. The rights of bellige-
rents, the duties of neutrals, the sovereign powers of governments
and the individual safety of subjects presented themselves in turn for
consideration and settlement. For the nonce then the judiciary of
Upper Canada lost their character of Colonial judges and occupied
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the distinguished position of expounders of the principles of Inter-
national Law. Their position in the face of the world was the same
as that adorned by the late Lord Stowell in England and Chief Jus-
tice Marshall and Judge Story in America. To those eminent jurists
is society indebted in a great degree for the maintenance of those
principles of International Law, which regulate the intercourse of
nations in peace and in war ; and to them is due the credit of having
dissipated the many erroneous theories advanced by publicists as
forming part of the law of nations. To them alsois due the praise of
having in every instance which came within their ken upon the
Bench, administered justice without fear, favor or affection, to all
who appeared before them as suitors. It behoves us then to inquire
whether the recent judgment on the application for Habeas Corpus
in Burley’s case is based upon the principles of law applicable
thereto, or whether either through ignorance or a base subservience
to popular opinion or to Governmental pressure, the judges of
of Upper Canada have shown themselves unworthy of the position
they occupy. Let us then on this occasion examine with due care
the principles which by those judges are declared as governing their
decision ; and discover whether the conclusion arrived atis one justi-
fied by the facts proved, and whether the principles invoked by the
Bench were rightly or erroneously applied. The first proposition
made in the order is that the question of the act beinz a belligerent
act 1s one solely for the consideration of a jury in the United States.
The second is that an officer in the navy duly commissioned in the
service of one belligerent, is not authorized thereby to wage all acts
of hostility on the lakes or sea against the property and persons of
subjects of the other belligerent. The third is that where the officer
in command of an expedition deviates, in his discretion from the
line of conduct laid down for his guidance in his instruction, the
subordinate officers and men under his command by obeying orders
8o to deviate, thereby lose their character of belligerents, and are
responsible criminally for any acts they may commit which in time
of peace would constitute crimes. The fourth is that a violation of
Canadian neutrality aggravates crime committed in the jurisdiction
of the United States. The fifth is that a judge, in a neutral
country, has a right to inquire into any deviation by the officer
of a belligerent power duly commissioned in war, from the pur:
port of his commission, on the demand of the other belligerent,and
can thereupon declare that in so deviating he committed an offence
against the laws of the other belligerent, and order him to be con-
fined, preparatory to extradition to his enemy. The sixth is, that
such proceedings by the judge are not in violation of Her Majesty’s
proclamation of neutrality. It might perhaps be as well here to
refer to some of those causes célébres which have rendered the
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Upper Canadian Bench and Bar so famous throughout the world,
Heaven knows that we poor Lower Canadians have no pretension
to cope with them in any field of either industry or talent. We are,
with all due self-abasement be it spoken, an inferior race fitted by
nature for the barren, bleak, miserable country we inhabit. Content
to live and die as our fathers did before us, we exist without any
of that noble fire wich occasionally leads men to do deeds reflecting
honor on their native land. We plod on in the weary round of po-
litics and law most congenial to our temperaments ; we cling to the
Coutume de Parts ; we reverence Blackstone ; we dislike novelty,
and we abhor new fangled ideas of jurisprudence. We have been ridi-
culed and laughed at for our stolidity. We have been abused for
our ignorance. We have been told that the Bench of Upper Canada
is comyosed of men renowned, alike for their talent, learning and
integrity. We have been assured that celebrated men cluster at
the bar of that portion of the Province, thick as grapes in a vinery.
We have been advised to listen to the words, pregnant with research,
and-learning, uttered by the ministers of justice in that favored por-
tion of God’s earth.—We have been recommended, in lieu of study-
iny the speeches of Erskine, Curran, Burke, or Plunkett, to open
our ears to the ravishing melody of the utterances of Upper Cana-
dian counsel, and from the models of eloquence and style by them
set before ug, to form our ideas of the persuasiveness and powers
of Demosthenes and Cicero. We had fondly fancied that had the
Upper Canadian Bench but the opportunity, the exceeding talent
and learning of its members would have been so displayed before
the eyes of the whole world, that scientific men throughout Europe
and America would have hailed them as worthy recruits to the select
band of international jurists whose writings have shed light on the
darkest pages of the law of nations. We in this Lower Province,
would have humbly rejoiced at the glory thus reflected on
our native land by its distinguished citizens, and the cosmopo-
litan reputation of Canadians would have kindled a blaze of en-
thusiasm in our frigid bosoms. But alas, how has the reality
deceived us! On two different occasions the Upper Canadian
Bench has been tried, and on both found wanting. The case of
Anderson, the negro apprehended for slaying a man in Missouri,
-who endeavored to arrest him whilst making his escape from slavery,
was the first which shook our confidence. There the Court of
Queen’s Bench laid down the monstrous doctrine that they
could not take into consideration the other facts depriving his act
of the criminal complexion, but were bound by the mere fact.of his
having killed a man, to commit him for extradition. A trialin a
slaveholding country being a necessary consequence, and Ander-
son’s execution being the only conclusion they naturally could expect
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from that action. Not content with thus perverting the layr as
applicable to the negro’s act, they arrogated to themselves a juris-
diction to which they had no right, and committed the accused
upon their own warrant for extradition. Public opinion in England
roused by this frightful injustice, pronounced itself so strongly
against the judgment and action of the Upper Canadian Court,
that a writ of Habeas Corpus was issued from the Queen’s Beneh
in England, to bring Anderson, and the commitment under which
he was then held, to England before a tribunal competent to
appreciate and understand the principles of law applicable to
the facts. Struck with dismay at the issue of ‘the English
writ, the Upper Canadian Judges resolved to burke all such investi-
gations, and from the Court of Common Pleas issued a writ of
Habeas Corpus under which the commitment of the Court of Queen’s
Bench was quashed as having been made without jurisdiction, and
Andersoniwas thereupon discharged. Such were the facts and cir-
cumstanees of the first case in which Upper Canadian Judges had
an opportunity of showing their acquaintance with the principles of
International law. It must be admitted that it was a miserable
finale to the grand display of learning and argument exhibited b

the Court of Queen’s Bench, when they declared that it was their
duty to commit him for extradition under a warrant which, clearly
they had no right to issue, to be obliged to call in their brethren of
the Common Pleas to free them from the embarrassing position in
which they then were, thanks to their own ignorance ; but Upper
Canadian credulity is quite equal to Upper Canadian vanity, and
the public of that portion of the Province were still more deeply
persuaded of the intellectual faculties and learning of their judges,
by the exceedingly sharp and skilful manner in which they had
managed to elude the action of the English Courts in the matter.
But to return to Burley’s case, the Upper Canadian Bench taking
no heed to the outburst of indignation in England, and in fact
throughout the civilized world at their ruling in the Anderson case
above referred to, again in this case advanced the doctrine that the
Judge or magistrate in FExtradition cases could not consider any
evidence which might be given before him tending to destroy the
heinousness of the offence charged. They, in fact, decided that
if by any testimony it is proved in any Extradition case where
the charge is murder, that a man has been killed, that it is no part
of the duty of the judge or magistrate to inquire into any other of
the circumstances tending to show either that it is manslaughter or
Justifiable homicide, those are questions according to their doctrine
for the consideration of a jury of the State wherein the act was
committed. By a parity of reasoning, if a rebellion were to break
out in the State of New York, and men were killed by the rebels,
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who should afterwards seek refuge in Canada and be demanded by
the United States authorities, our judge or magistrate should
commit for Extradition on the gound of murder, having been com-
mitted, leaving to the jury of United States citizens, the right of
deciding whether the crime really was murder or treason thereby,
i fact declaring that the Extradition treaty has done away with
the right of asylum for political refugees in Canada. They have
forgotten that this committal for Extradition is, so far as this
country is concerned, a final judgment; and surely if we do mnot
wish to be looked upon as the most pusillanimous cowardly race
upon the face of the earth, some stand must be made against this
departure by judicial authority from the traditional policy of the
empire. F7de Expte Bollman et al., Marshall on the Constitution
(on p. 83 to 41), the People v. Martin, et al., 7 N. Y. L. Observer
(p- 52 to 56). 4 Opinions Atty.-Gen. p. 202. The other points
laid down by the judges will be considered as they present them-
selves in the order of my argument.

Abandoning for the moment the general principles of Ex-
tradition, and the cases cited, I proceed to address myself to
the facts of this case. On the 19th of October last the town
of St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, one of the so-called
United States of America, was thrown into consternation by the
appearance of a body of twenty-one armed men whose leader
declared that he was a Confederate officer dispatched by his govern-
ment to take the town. Parties of men were dispatched to different
banks where, in each instance, after declaring that they were
Confederate troops sent to retaliate for the outrages committed by
Sherman and Sheridan, United States officers, in the territories of the
Confederate States, they forced the officers of those banks to
deliver up to them divers valuable securities of the United States,
worth about half their nominal value, and all the bank notes in
the institutions at the time. I wish to draw your Honor’s atten-
tion at this stage, to the fact that bank notes and securities for the
payment of money are, under the declaration of the Government of
the United States, contraband of war, and lLable to be taken from
a neutral vessel under the same circumstances as would justify the
forfeiture of munitions of war. Whilst in the bank these scenes
were going on, another party had been detached to secure horses
and equipments for the raiders. A sufficient number was procured
to mount them all. In the interval a number of United States
citizens had been taken prisoners, and were conveyed to and kept
under guard in a public square. During the time a party of the
raiders were in possession of the St. Albans bank, a person of the
name of Breck entered to pay a note. He was informed that he
was a prisoner to the Confederate troops, and the money which he
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had brought with him was taken from him by one of the two
raiders then in the bank. A skirmish then ensued between the
raiders mounted, and the townspeople who had armed themselves,
An attempt to fire the town was frustrated, and the raiders being
formed in military array retired from the town pursued by some of
the citizens, who fired upon them in their retreat. A pursuit wag
organized, but the whole party of Confederates succeeded in cross-
ing the line to Canada, where, without warrants or sworn informa-
tions having been laid, thirteen of them were arrested by the
country magistrates and constables. So soon as the news reached
Montreal and Quebec, Judge Coursol was despatched to the fron-
tier to conduct the proceedings, and was ordered, by the Attorney
General, to arrest the offenders without waiting to make out infor-
mations or to draw warrants. It is unnecessary for me here to
give any further details of the proceedings had before Mr. Justice
Coursol, for they are now matter of history. The facts of the raid
as given above are in evidence before your Honor. The commis-
sion of Bennett H. Young in the Confederate army, and his
instructions to form a corps of twenty Confederate soldiers, escaped
prisoners of war ; his instructions to report for orders to Messrs.
Thompson and Clay, and his instruetions to report to Mr. Clay
alone for orders, are fully and satisfactorily proved in this case.
The actual order, to make the raid, signed by Mr. Clay, has
been produced and proved ; and the muster rolls of the different
companies, to which the prisoners belong,in the Confederate service
are also before the Court, authenticated by the proper authorities.
From these papers no other deduction can be drawn than that on
the 19th of October last Bennett H. Young was an officer in the
service of the Confederate States, in command of a party of Con-
federate troops, detailed for special service by that Confederate
‘Government to St. Albans, in the State of Vermont, with which
the Confederate States were then at war, the State of Vermont
then being one of the United States-—which war by Her Majesty
had previously been acknowledged as a perfect war, and by Her
also Her subjects had been warned to maintain and keep a strict
neutrality between the parties contending. It is necessary here
to refer to a point in this case of vast importance, with reference to
the very existence of the treaty, under the provisions of which the
extradition of the prisoners is demanded. Since the date of the
treaty, five or six States have been admitted into the Republic, at
that time composed of a number of sovereign States recognized by
the world as a government under the name of the United States.
Since that date, nine or ten of the States forming a portion of that
Republic at that time have seceded therefrom and erected them-
selves into a separate republic, under the name of the Confederate
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States. Can it be pretended that (ireat Britain has the same
rights, against the United States, which can be granted to her now,
as at the date of the passing of the treaty. Ifa man commits a
crime in Canada and takes refuge in Richmond, can the Govern-.
ment of the United States extradite him on the demand of the
British Government. If, on the contrary, a man commits a crime
in Texas, which was only admitted into the Union in 1845, and
which was in 1842 an independent State, can he be extradited
on demand of the United States Government if he seeks a refuge
and be apprehended in Canada? Neither of the two cases was
anticipated at the date of the treaty, and it cannot be pretended
that the clauses of a convention between two nations are, a whit
more elastic than the terms of a contract between individuals. It
is also to be remarked that the Constitution of the United States
is sinzmlar in its formation ; the rules applicable to a monarchy do
not apyly to a republic. 'Treaties between monarchies or empires
are made by the monarchs or emperors; but the United States
always made their treaties in the federal capacity of a number of
sovereign States constituting the United States. This, then, was
nothing more or less than a republic, the sovereignty of which was
immediately dissolved by the breaking out of civil war between
the several sovereign States of which it was composed ; for in a
republic the sovereignty subsists solely in the union of the mem-
bers of the republic. It may be urged that this is a question for
the consideration of the Government of Great Britain alone, that
it falls within the powers of the Executive, and that judges are
bound in these matters to conform to the rules of conduct laid
down by the Goverment, and that the United States being still
recognized by the Queen, you are bound still to presume the exist-
ence of that republic.

To the student the difficulties met with in his search for the true
principles of the law of nationsare almost insurmountable. Apart
entirely from the impossibility of clearly defining all the principles of
that law, if law it really can be called, which does not provide or admit
of a judge in the contentions of the parties, who, 1t 1§ pretended, are
bound by its rules—whose principles no machinery exists to enforce,
and whose spirit and letter can be infringed by any nation strong
enough to set its enemy at defiance ; the numerous commentators
upon international law have to a very great extent, by their incau-
tious labors, tended to burthen the student with the task of seeking
amongst their private opinions of what should be, what really is the
law of nations. They have, without due consideration, adopted the
usage of two or three of the nations of Europe within the last few
years, as legal amendments or modifications of that law on the sub-
ject of war, taking it for granted that those nations have a right to
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dictate to the rest of the world the proper course of conduct to be
pursued by belligerents, forgetting that all nations are equal, and
that no nation is bound to submit to the dictation of andther. They
have also taken conventions contained in treaties as declaratory of
existing law, whilst really treaties must be looked upon as means
for obtaining the recognition of principles exceptional to the general
rule. But few of the writers of this century, if any, have shed any
light upon that law, and in order to obtain a faithful insight into its
principles, boldly, perhaps coarsely portrayed, we must refer to the
publicists of the last two centuries. Of course in so speaking I
make no reference whatever to the cases decided in the English
Admiralty and in the United States Supreme Court, which are all
of the highest authority and are moreover founded on and sustained,
by, the writings of the authors, who flourished in the seventeenth and
eighteenth centuries.

I have now arrived in this case at that particular point
where it becomes necessary to consider the rights of bell-
gerents. Wars of old were divided by the commentators into
perfect and imperfect ; the perfect war is also called public or so-
lemn, and is where one whole nation is at war with another whole
nation ; an imperfect war is one limited to places, persons and
things. A civil war, when 1t has attained sufficient magnitude to
induce foreign nations to declare their neutrality, is a perfect war.
In such perfect war both parties are belligerents, and entitled to
all belligerent rights given by war to sovereign governments. It is
perfectly clear that so soon as war breaks out between sovereign Go-
vernments, the municipal criminal codes of the belligerents are silent
and inoperative quoad acts committed by the troops of either of the
belligerents in the territories of the other. War is a recourse to
violence, to repress which municipal criminal codes are instituted.
But war is legal. Under the law of nations that law is superior to
any municipal code. A perfect war gives the right-to the members
of one belligerent nation to kill, spoil and plunder the members of
the other belligerent nation wherever found, except in neutral ter-
ritory. Such being the case the municipal codes having for their
object the punishment of parties killing, plundering or committing
other violence, are quoad members of the other belligerent nation
paralyzed by the superior authority of the law of nations during war.
Inter arma silent leges. All offences committed by members of
one belligerent nation upon the members of the other on that others
soil,—are within the jurisdiction of military tribunals solely, and
are gauged by the laws of war. That this doctrine is recognized
in the United States cannot be denied. The President’s proclama-
tion of the 24th September, by which the power of the judiciary
was abrogated in cases affecting individual liberty and the establish-
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ment as matter of fact of martial law throughout the limits of the
former United States, as well the loyal as the rebel, shows conclu-
sively the correctness of the position by me taken. If further proof
be wanting, take the case of Beal, the leader of the Lake Erie
expedition, for participation in which Burley was extradited as a
robber, and gather from the proceedings and sentence of the court-
martial held on him and its approval by Gen. Dix, whether the
Upper Canadian judges were justified in believing that he would
have a fair trial before a jury. It has been held by some authors
of late years, that only the regularly commissioned officers and
enrolled troops of one bellizerent are authorized to enter into hos-
tilities against the other belligerent. Without admitting that pro-
position, still as this case presents the prisoners in those capacities,
I am, for the sake of argument, willing to adopt it as the rule.
Nations are sovereign. If the Government of one belligerent
chooses to despatch a body of its troops into the territory of the
other belligerent, with instructions to devastate and lay waste that
territory, and those troops do so devastate, plunder and lay waste
that territory, and commit any other hostile act therein not mentioned
in their instructions, the other belligerent has no right to say to
them, if captured, you are but marauders, for you have exceeded
your instructions. The mere production of the commission of the
officer commanding such force is proof of authority to him, by the
Government of his country, to wage all acts of hostility against the
subjects of the other belligerent permissible under the law of nations.
He then is in the position of a recognized agent of his Goverment,
and his acts are not individual, but national, for which his
Government alone is responsible.  Should he exceed his in-
structions, he is responsible to his own nation solely and exclu-
sively for such excesses. If he deviate therefrom, so long as he
does not commit any act contrary to the general rules of war, he
cannot be called to account for it by the other belligerent, or by any
nation on the face of the earth. An act of hostility then committed
by the officer of a belligerent commissioned in war, on the soil of the
other belligerent is an act of the nation by which he is commissioned,
for which no individual responsibility is incurred. That this is the
case is proved so clearly and decidedly by the joint admissions of
the British and American Government in the McLeod case, that
the opposite pretension is hardly worth arguing against. During
the rebellion in Canada of 1837, the American steamer Caroline
was made use of by the rebels and American sympathisers to carry
supplies to the rival forces on Navy Island. The vessel usually lay
during the night at that Island, and an expedition was organised
under the command of Captain Drew, R. N., to cut her out from
her moorings ; but on its arrival at Navy Island, it was discovered
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that the Caroline had been removed to the American side of the
river, and was then lying at a place called Schlosser, in the State
of New York ; the expedition, however, proceeded, attacked the
boat, carried her by boarding, and in the skirmish a man of the
name of Durfee was killed on the soil of the State of New York.
The Caroline was then towed out into the rapids, set on fire, and
sent over the Niagara Falls. A person of the name of McLeod
visiting in 1840, Manchester, in the State of New York, was ar-
rested for murder on the charge of being one of the party concerned
in the cutting out of the Caroline and killing of Durfee. I was at
Manchester at the time, and remember perfectly that the
only person who exclaimed against the arrest was a gentle-
man from the Southern States. In the diplomatic corre-
spondence which ensued, it was clearly admitted by both
the American and British Governments, that troops acting under
orders, and even Kkilling the citizens of a nation at peace with their
own on that nation’s soil were not guilty of murder, although the
commander had actually exceeded his instructions, which did not
authorise his exercising any act of hostility on the neighboring
nation’s territory. Is not this a much stronger case than that of
the St. Albans raiders, to prove the virtue resident in a commis-
sion of an officer of the British Navy ? The acts com-
mitted by Young and his command were done in an enemy’s
country ; those by Drewand his command in the country of a friend ;
yet in the latter case the Governments of both countries declare
that the acts are not crimes ; whilst in the former it is pretended
thatthey are. Thereis alsoin existence in the United States anact
of Congress giving legislative expression to the doctrine of the new
responsibility of a commissioned officer, passed on -the 8th August,
1842. A great deal, no doubt, will be said as to the fact that the
raiders were not in the uniform of the Confederate army ; but
stratagem and deception, so long as no perfidy is used, are quite
permissible ; the ambush, the disguise of uniform, the false flag,
are allowable. Those who trust themselves to such devices may in
the two latter cases be treated as spies, if captured in the at-
tempt to deceive, or ere their departure from the enemy’s country ;
but once beyond the boundaries, the enemy is not Justified by the
laws of war, if afterwards taken prisoners (3 Phillimore, p,141),in
treating them otherwise than as prisoners of war. No other power
then, having the right to enquire into the fact whether or no
such commissioned officer has exceeded his instructions, the Go-
vernment which commissioned him is the only one entitled to find
fault with or punish him for any excess or dereliction of duty.

The duty of neutrals now, for a brief space of time, must occupy my
attention ; but this branch of the law of nations, so far as this case
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i3 concerned, is one which presents no difficulty. The authors are
quite unanimous, it may be said, as to the neutral having no right
whatsoever either to interfere in any way in the war, or to express
an opinion upon any of the acts of the belligerents. It is to be re-
membered, that the action of our courts of justice in this matter
must follow the action of the Government of Great Britain. That
Government has declared its neutrality in the war between the
United States and the Confederate States—-thereby informing all
our courts, judges and magistrates that the municipal criminal codes
of those two Governments are silent and inoperative, so far as mu-
nicipal crimes committed by the citizens of the Confederate States
on United States soil are concerned, and that the law of nations
alone is in force between the two Governments and their respective
troops and subjects. Thus our courts and judges, in cases where
charges are brought against any persons by the United States Go-
vernment, of having committed crimes within the limits of the so-
called loyal States, should in the first place inquire whether the person
so charged is a Confederate officer or soldier ; if he be such officer
or soldier, the criminal code and common law of the State, within
which the act charged was committed, are not binding upon him ;
the extradition treaty does not apply; he must be discharged.
Can it be pretended that you, Sir, have any right to dictate to the
Confederate States, the rules of war which they are bound to
observe ? that you, a municipal judge, can step forth and say to the
rising tide of the fierce passions and fiery hate engendered by this
frightful war, ¢so far shalt thou come, but no further 2’ Or do
you think that you would be discharging your duty to your
Queen and country, by acting the part of Provost Marshal to
the United States in capturing prisoners of war to swell the
numbers now confined at Camp Douglass and Johnson’s Is-
land? If in this case you take upon yourself the responsi-
bility of committing these men for extradition, you will violate
the Queen’s proclamation of neutrality, and will place yourself on a
par with the bench of Upper Canada. The pretended violation of
our neutrality laws has really nothing to do with this case. Had
they marched through with drums beatirg and colors flying, it would
have been a grave offence against our Government ; but it cannot ag-
gravate, in the slightest degree, the acts of hostility afterwards per-
formed in Vermont. (The learned counsel here cited from Historicus,
pp- 152 to 162, in maintenance of his position, apologising to the judge
in the words of Historicus, for breaking a butterfly on the wheel.)
The learned counsel on the other side have, in accordance with
their instructions no doubt, persisted in calling the prisoners robbers
and murderers. They appear to have imbibed the prejudices of
their client, the United States Government, and to be unwilling to
Q
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admit that our clients have any claim to be belligerents. The people-
of the State of Vermont are, it is said, frightfully excited at the
idea of one of their towns having been captured and held for three
hours by a band of twenty-one pretended Confederate soldiers,
The booty taken from the banks, no doubt, has also tended to exa--
cerbate their feelings, and they still continue to brand the St.
Albans raid as unsoldierly, dastardly, in violation of the rules of
war, and perfectly fiendish. They all seem to take it for granted,
that the Government of the United States wages war after the mildest
fashion, on the idea of doing the least possible harm to the enemy.
No pillage, say they, is permitted; women sleep tranquilly m
the rebel States, within the sound of the bugles of our regiments;
children are cared for by our soldiers with paternal love; pro-
perty of every description may be before our troops for days-
without an article disappearing; our men are models of bravery,
honesty, and morality ; our generals are gentlemen, and Christians,
And yet what does the record of daily events show us? That this
verily is a civil war waged by the North against the South, with all
the barbarity of the thirty years war, must strike every observer.
It is the old feud of the Cavalier and Roundhead rising like a pheenix
from its ashes, and bathing the soil of this continent in gore. Itis
a strife wherein the father meets his son at the point of the bayonet,
and where the brother imbrues his hands in his brother’s blood. It
is a carnival of blood ; and can it be wondered at that man, drunk
with the odor of carnage, should forget that he was framed after his-
Creator’s image, and do deeds which bring him to the level of the:
wild beasts ? It may be as well here to refer to a couple of instances:
to show the humanity and Christian feeling of the commanders of the
Northern armies. Sala, in one of his letters, gives on the testimony
of an eyewitness, relation of the following facts: a boy of fifteen or
sixteen years of age was convicted of having in his mother’s house
a rifle, and was sentenced to die ; his mother and sister fell on their
knees before the General commanding, begged that the boy might
be spared, the poor child in the meanwhile ignorant of his impending
fate, patting the neck of the general’s charger. His only reply to
their agonized entreaties was, that they might have his body, and
giving a sign, the unfortunate boy was marched five or six paces:
to the rear, when the orderly, placing a revolver to the victim’s
head, blew his brains out, in presence of his mother and sister.
The other case to which I refer is that of a lady who perchance-
may be amongst those, who now hear her melancholy story. Her
husband, a major general in the Confederate service, having been
killed on the field of battle, she desired to go to England, his native
land. The President of the Confederate States, waited upon, and
for the republic, bought from her, all the cotton then on her planta-



243

tion, paying her therefor $15,000 in cotton bonds. With those
bonds in her possession and $25 in gold in her pocket, she reached
New Orleans. There she was arrested, her money and bonds taken
from her, and in a strange country she was turned out into the
streetsto starve. So much for the humanity of the North to Southern
women and children. Let us boast of man’s moral improvement as
much as we may—Ilet us flatter ourselves that we are now Christians
—let us blame the fierceness in war of our ancestors but let the mail-
ed hand of civil war but touch the gossamer toga of civilization, and
it will fall from the shoulders of the man of the nineteenth century,
revealing him in all the nakedness and barbarism of the dark ages of
the world. It is a sad and melancholy prospect for any man of the
Anglo-Saxon race to behold that fair Republic which, though but
an infant in years, was a giant in stature, and which but a few short
months ago was the home of freedom and the asylum for the per-
secuted races of Europe, now the theatre in which the most absolute
despotism is exercised, where liberty is no longer known save in
tradition, and where those who seek an asylum from the persecution
of the task-masters of Europe, are driven, like cattle to the shambles
by the speculators in human blood of the New World. Itisimpossible
I say, for any man with British blood in his veins not to admire the
heroic valour and determination which have caused the Confederates
so often to triumph over what were thought to be insuperable
difficulties. Though their cause may now look desperate, that
valor which has enabled them ere this to knock at the door of the
Capitol will, I verily believe, inflame them to repeat the attempt
sucessfully ere this war be concluded. Such I believe to be the
sentiment of every Englishman in whom the disgusting love of trade
has not destroyed the traditions of his mother country, and his own
inborn love of fair play and hatred of tyranny.

I must now apologize to you, Sir, for the great length of time
that I have taken in laying before you my views of this case. I
have referred to the responsibility of the counsel engaged; I may
now perhaps be permitted to remark upon the weight of responsibi-
lity assumed by you, to which ours is but as a feather. ~You have,
Sir, in this case an opportunity of immortalising yourself as a jurist:
this is not an ordinary suit coming before a muncipal tribunal,
which by all persons save the plaintiff and defendant will be forgotten
in a week ; it is one which in after years will reflect credit on you
throughout the civilized world, if you render a sound judgment. If
on the contrary through carelessness or from any other motive, your
decision is unsound, you bequeath to your children an unenviable
name.

In conclusion, I trust that your Honor will ascribe the imperfection
of my argument, not to the weakness of the prisoners’ case, but to
my inability to do justice to their claims.



244

Mr. Laflamme, Q.C., said :— .

If it were possible to divest this case of all interest, prejudice,
and passion,—if the naked propositions of law and fact, upon which
it rests, were alone submitted for decision, the task would be easy.
If the demand were made by some small republic of South America
for the extradition of five commissioned soldiers, engaged in a civil
war there,—admitting that they had violated all the laws of hospital-
ity and neutrality of a neighboring country,—no argument would be
required. Unfortunately for the prisoners, their deeds have created
a deep and general sensation. The feelings of their enemies—our
too powerful neighbour—have been aroused: violent language was
used towards Canada, whom they held responsible for this injury.
Our community felt that war was impending ; every individual
already contemplated his ruin in the ruin and desolation of the
country. The guilty or innocent causes of such anticipated disasters
could not expect much sympathy or favor from those upon whom
they were to precipitate such calamities. KEvery one beleved that
the only manner of averting these calamities, was by soothing, at
any price, the anger of our neighbors, who were loudly claiming
the surrender of the prisoners. Fear left no freedom to the ap-
plication of any rules of law or justice. The prisoners were styled
common robbers, their act an outrage against humanity. Ready-
made doctors of international law laid down the doctrine with all
the dogmatic assurance of ignorance. It is, moreover, in human
nature to shape principles according to necessity, and to assent to
any doctrine favoring its interest. The Government, from the
highest to the lowest official, and their servile instruments, were
most active in disseminating these ideas. From this so contrived
and made up opinion, a universal notion seemed to pervade the
whole community, that the case of the prisoners was a difficult, a
hopeless one. Those on whom they had to rely for support were
few and powerless. Their Government was distant and weak;
whilst their enemies were almost amongst us—over us, dictating
with undisputed authority, and obeyed with crouching docility.
It is againss these difficulties that we have to contend, more than
against any real legal obstacle. The question submitted involves
a question of British liberty. To its decision is attached the lives
of five men; and the main issue is between two nations,—one asking
that these men shall be declared robbers and murderers, to be
treated by them as such ; the other asserting that they are brave
and dutitul soldiers, having inflicted upon an enemy none but a
well devised and well executed injury. It is with a sense of shame
that one thinks, in a matter involving principles which a British
subject ought to hold most sacred, that fear might oppress justice.
The rendition of the prisoners, owing to such a motive, would be a

3
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shock even to the intelligence and sense of justice of the nation
claiming them. They are a great, a powerful, but above all, a
most intelligent nation. None have more strongly and ably
advocated, or more liberally construed the great principles of
individual liberty, the freedom of the soil, the inviolability of the
asylum offered by them to every individual, excepting only those
who have committed crimes against the laws of nature. They do
not, and can not expect any deviation from the rules which they
have so clearly laid down. The refusal of this application, if justi-
fied by sound principles of international law, will be approved of
and admired by them ; whilst any hesitation would imply a saspi-
cion of their sense of justice, and betray a timidity on our part, to
call it by no other name, which would breed contempt and invite
them to urge the most extravagant pretensions. ,

The prisoners are accused of having robbed one Breck, in
St. Albans, on the 19th of October last, of $300. What are
the facts of the case, as disclosed by the evidence adduced
before your Honor? In the month of September last, Ben-
nett H. Young, a lieutenant in the Confedetate service, being
in Chicago for some political object, calculated to advance the
cause of his country; finding 1t impossible to carry out this
plan, determined to fulfil the instructions which he received
from his Government, to raise a body of twenty men of escaped
Confederate soldiers. He was commissioned for special daty;
they, as soldiers, were bound to join and obey. The plan was
organized, then, in the enemy’s territory. They were enrolled by
him for the purpose of making an attack upon, and sacking the
town of St. Albans. All of these men were risking their lives by
their presence in the enemy’s country. The bare fact of organizing
there was, of itself alone, a bold and daring act. Their allegiance
was to the Confederate States. Be the unfortunate contest, in
which their country is engaged, right or wrong, they were actuated
by the most noble, the most disinterested and patriotic motives :
every one of them had already perilled their lives in their country’s
cause. Feeling, as they did, for the injuries committed agamst
their native land, they thirsted for revenge. Called by their
superiors to inflict punishment on their enemies, by burning and
plundering the town of St. Albans, they cheerfully obeyed ; they
proceeded to carry out that plan, so far as was 1n their power.
They left Chicago, some four or five coming through Canada, and
twenty meeting in the town of St. Albans, inhabited by over five
thousand inhabitants, at a distance of eighteen miles from the fron-
tier. In open day-light, they collected together, armed with
revolvers, took possession of three banks in the name of the Con-
federate States, sacked them, set fire to the town in three places,
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and from the beginning stated that they were Confederate sol-
diers. The prisoners went through the town, made prisoners of
all they met, provided themselves with horses taken from the
people ; and after making perhaps double their number of pri-
soners, they left the place, pursued by an armed band of citizens,
who kept close fire upon them. They, however, succeeded in
making their escape to Canada, where thirteen of them were
arrested, at the request of the United States authorities. Ouf
of the whole of this expedition the prosecution has thought
proper to single out the taking of Mr. Breck’s money, the
smallest incident in the whole transaction ; a fact which cannot,
with any reason, be abstracted or severed from the main project.
It is unnecessary to dwell upon the dreadful civil contest which
has now been raging for five years with uninterrupted fury in this
once happiest country in the universe. The world has followed the
history of this awful struggle with sorrow and dismay. Eleven
independent States have asserted their rights as free members of a
voluntary association, to sever from this association, which the
had formed for their individual interest, reserving to themselves
their separate sovereignty. Twelve millions of the people of this
democratic nation demand to govern themselves according to their
own views, alleging violations of the original compact, aggression,
interference, and oppression of their individual States by the others,
and for open threats against their rights and liberties. This sepa-
ration is denied them by the other States, because they are more
numerous and powerful,—because more States being combined in
one policy, they, the more powerful party, believe that subjugation
and coercion 13 just and lawful, and they insist upon imposing their
will, their views, and their ideas upon the eleven independent States.
The fifteen States on one side insist on ruling the ten refractory
States. The twenty millions of the North claim and insist upon
uncompromising obedience from the twelve millions of the South.
The whole population of the country is divided in two hostile camps.
On both sides we witness that deep, intense, unforgiving, unre-
lenting hatred which belong to civil wars only ; that hatred which
succeeds fraternal love. The act imputed to the prisoners arises
out of this civil war, and it cannot be the ground of- extradition
under the statute. 1st, The act is a political one, inspired by,
and connected with what is called rebellion by those applying for
the extradition of the prisoners; 2nd, The act was one committed
by soldiers of a belligerent in the carrying out of war against the
enemy ; and they are answerable to no municipal tribunal of the
enemy : 1t was a military act, and if irregular, cognizable only by
the military tribunal under martial law; 8rd, It is a national
offence, if any, and not an individual one.
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Every man putting his foot on English ground, every stranger
owing only a local and temporary allegiance, becomes as free
as the British born subject. Our laws guarantee to every in-
-dividual the safe hospitality of the soil. It has been Eng-
land’s pride, and England’s boast, that no terror could ever in-
duce her to forego this principle, which is as old as any of
the great liberties of her constitution. Coke says: ¢ Sub-
_jects flying from one kingdom to another, and, upon demand
made by them, are not by the laws and liberties of kingdoms to be
delivered.” This principle will not be denied, and it is unneces-
sary to dwell upon it. The only exception to it must be found in
treaties made for the purpose of obtaining the surrender of crimi-
nals. The demand now made for the extradition of the prisoners,
is founded upon the Ashburton Treaty. The exception made by
the Treaty to the general principle of English law, that no fugitive
shall be surrendered, excludes most strictly every offender whose
crime does not come within its provisions. The treaty comprises
murder, assault with intent to commit murder, piracy, arson, rob-
bery, and forgery. The object of the Treaty is to allow the
extradition of criminals who have violated the laws of nature,—
offenders against the universal code of humanity,—those who have
committed such outrages as attack the very basis of all society,
and whose impunity would become a source of danger to mankind.
It is the common interest of every community to bring such
offenders to justice,—to put them out of the pale of civilization,—
to deter others from committing the same offences, by the certainty
of having no escape and finding no refuge. Our law and the
'‘Treaty does not include, but, on the contrary, positively excludes
any political offence, or any crime arising out of a political struggle,
or a civil war. Both parties to the Treaty—Great Britain and the
United States—have positively limited its dispositions to offences
against the municipal code alone, carefully omitting those which
‘could have originated or might have been inspired by political
passion, and having for their object a political result. The best
Interpretation of the Treaty, and one which the party claiming the
extradition cannot question, is certainly that given by the execu-
tive of the United States themselves when this Treaty was made.
‘We find in President Tyler’s message, transmitting this Treaty to
the Senate for consideration, the following declaration: ¢ The
article on the subject in the proposed Treaty, is carefully confined
‘to such offences as all mankind agree to regard as heinous and
destructive to the security of life and property. In this careful
and specific enumeration of crimes, the object has been to exclude
-all political offences or criminal charges arising from wars, or
intestine commotions.” Professor Woolsey, of Yale College, in the
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United States, writing on this very subject, says: ¢ The case of
political refugees has some points pecular to itself. A nation, ag
we have seen, has a right to harbor such persons, and will do so,
unless weakness or political sympathy lead it to the contrary
course ; but they may not, consistently with the obligations of
friendship between states, be allowed to plot against the person of
the sovereign, or against the institutions of their native country.
Such acts are crimes for the trial or punishment of which the laws
of the land ought to provide ; but do not require that the accused
be remanded for trial to his native country.” It seems most
strange that the Executive of the United States, in 1865, should
claim the extradition of the prisoners under the Treaty, which their
Executive of 1842, who made it, declared to exclude all political
offences or criminal charges arising from wars or intestine com-
motions. In England the doctrine of the inviolability of asylum
for political offenders, has been well and forcibly expressed by the
most distinguished statesmen and writers. Sir Cornewall Lewis,
in his book on foreign jurisdiction, says: ¢ The crimes to which
the principle of international extradition properly applies, are those
which concern the lives and property of individuals, and which the
entire nation has, therefore, a common interest in repressing. If
all governments were perfectly equitable and dispassionate, the
principle might be safely extended to political offenders; but in
the prosecution’ of political offences, the Government may be con-
sidered as an interested party, and, therefore, another government
is indisposed to give up persons charged by it with crimes of this
complexion. The question seems to involve a contest between the
Government and a portion of its subjects; and the extradition
assumes the character of interference in the internal political affairs
of another state. In cases, therefore, of civil war, of revolution,
or of active political proscription leading to the existence of a large
body of political exiles, a powerful state, which does not fear the
displeasure of the foreign government interested in the question, is
impelled by the dictates of humanity to afford them an asylum, and
to refuse their extradition when demanded.” Lord Palmerston
writes : ¢ The laws of hospitality, the dictates of humanity, the
general feelings of mankind forbid such surrenders; and any
independent Government which of its own free will were to make
such a surrender, would be deservedly and universally stigmatized
as degraded and dishonored.” If the interpretation to be given to
the statute be such as to exclude all political offenders, it becomes
necessary to determine what may be called a political offence. The
shortest and most practical definition is certainly the one contained
in President Tyler’s message, ¢.e., a criminal charge arising from
war or intestine commotion. We may consider as such any act
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done by any individual connected with either of the parties at
strife In a social outbreak, a revolution, or civil war, or any act
ordered and sanctioned by one of the belligerent parties, even
when it involves the destruction of life and property. Whenever
the fact complained of is manifestly not a free individual act, in-
spired by common passions for self-gratification, but originated
in the assertion of a right, caused by a feeling of devotion of
the individual to the party to which he belongs; or in a compli-
ance with orders of the constituted party authorities acknowledged
by him as his legitimate superiors, executed by him under a
correct or a false sense of duty or patriotism, then it cannot
be a violation of the municipal laws ;—it is a political offence.
These exceptions of political offences or military acts, if they
have any meaning, must certainly be intended to cover the killing
of individuals, the taking or destruction of property in a political
struggle, and all such deeds as, independent of such element
and unconnected with that object, would otherwise be qualified
as murder, attempt to murder, robbery and arson. If the mere
fact of killing, of robbing, or of burning, irrespective of the great
objects of those acts, were held sufficient to give rise to extradition,
then Austria might claim, and justly claim, that Kossuth or Gari-
baldi should be given up by England. And if the acts now under
consideration were not of a kind to be excepted from the operation
of the Treaty, there was no utility nor sense in the exception made
in favor of political offences. It is manifest that the offences con-
templated by the treaty can only be those acknowledged, undisputed
and unquestionable violations of municipal laws, admitted as such
by all mankind ; and not such acts as would be endorsed and ap-
plauded by a large portion of the community where they were
done. When a deed has been committed by a regularly organized
force of one of two parties engaged in a civil war, or even by an
irregular unorganized band, those who participate in it, do so with
the sole view of assisting their cause. Whilst one party condemns
it as a crime, the other justifies it as a just, necessary and praise-
worthy act. Foreign governments, or foreign tribunals, cannot
qualify it as a crime without passing judgment in favor of one of
the parties, and condemning the other. To allow extradition in such
a case would be the virtual abandonment of the principle of inviola-
bility of refuge. Mankind agrees, and ought to combine, to force
ordinary criminals out of every community, to deprive them of
every refuge, to bring them to punishment ; but humanity and civili-
zation protest against the delivery to their enemies, to the authori-
ties against whom they have waged war, of parties who, in a social or
political strife, have destroyed life or property. Every member of
a well organized community is interested in the rendition of a com-
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mon criminal ; but every man who can appreciate right and liberty
is highly interested in jealously resisting the extension of this prin-
ciple to political offenders. God and conscience may command our
resistance against aggression or illegal arbitrary power ; we may be
crushed in the attempt, we may have to flee for refuge out of our
country, and a precedent in such a case as this becomes a rule of
international law, and it would be invoked and applied against us.
Whenever a party or a nation is interested in obtaining the extra-
dition of individuals who have been engaged in civil war, it is easy
to make out a prima facie case of murder, attempt to murder,
robbery, or arson. No man who has actively participated in a
civil war has not killed, or attempted to kill, or destroyed property.
The pretension, therefore, to allow none but the evidence of the
party claiming the extradition to be adduced, to refuse to the party
mmplicated the right of showing the political connection of the deed,
is too absurd to be discussed. The simple enunciation of such a
proposition bears its own condemnation. How could a politial
refugee ever escape extradition, how could he ever invoke the
sacred right of asylum? It would be a delusion, a moekery. To
carry out the principle, to protect the refugee, it is indispensable
that the character of the individual and the facts should be shown, in
order to establish that, in the act complained of, the principal ele-
ment was political. The moment extradition is demanded, the
accused has a right to set up and show that he is a political
offender, and the judge is bound to allow evidence to substantiate
his allegation, which if proved, negatives all criminality and ousts
him of all jurisdiction in the matter. I would contend farther that
the judge, as representing society, intrusted with the safe-keeping
of our liberties is bound to ascertain that the party brought before
him 1s not a political refugee, and the offence not of a political
character ; and in a case of doubt, he is bound to discharge the pri-
soner, because if he be a political offender, he is innocent and the
Judge has no jurisdiction over him, and he would be illegally using
his authority as an instrument of oppression and vengeance. In
any ordinary case of crime concerning any outrage against the laws
of nature, for the punishment of which the Treaty provides, when it
18 not a political act, the right of extradition is universally ad-
mitted. But in this case you have one third of the nation, one
of the contracting parties to this Treaty, who raise their voice
against the application; a large portion of the community on
whose behalf those stipulations were made, and in whose name
the extradition of the prisoners is demanded, have constituted
themselves a distinct political organization and Government,
acknowledged as such by Great Britain, and they demand pro-
tection for the prisoners, whom they declare to be innocent of
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all crime and entitled to the consideration and respect of the
world for the very deed for which they stand now accused.,
They are engaged in a murderous conflict ; every individual in that
unfortunate community is engaged in it as one of either party, and
stands in deadly enmity to every man of the opposite party, and in
this strife the injuries done by an individual of one party to their
enemies must be presumed and held to be an injury of the party,
unless the contrary appears. Vattel, p. 424—* A civil war breaks
the bands of society and government, or at least suspends their
force and effect ; it produces in the nation two independent parties,
who consider each other as enemies, and acknowledge no common
Judge. Those two parties, therefore, must necessarily be con-
sidered as thenceforward constituting, at least for a time, two sepa-
rate bodies, two distinct societies. Though one of the parties may
have been to blame in breaking the unity of the State and resisting
the lawful authority, they are not the less divided in fact. Be-
sides, who shall judge them, who shall pronounce on which side the
right or the wrong? On earth they have no common superior;
they stand, therefore, in precisely the same predicament as two
nations who engage in a contest, and, being unable to come to an
agreement, have recourse to arms.”” The prisoners are Southerners,
Confederates, enemies of the North ; they were actively engaged
in Chicago about the great object for which their country is suffer-
ing, and for which they so heroically contend. They were conspir-
ing against their enemies in their midst, on behalf of their country,
at the risk of their lives, After attempting one plan, they decided,
under direct and positive orders from their Government, to make
an attack upon some open town in the enemy’s country, to burn
and plunder it. Their leader, Bennett H. Young, had his commis-
sion ; they were soldiers ; they obeyed : the work offered was hostility
to their enemies ; they undertook it with pleasure. The sole end
and motive of their action, was their country’s good—the ruin and
destruction of their enemies. Can it be doubted for a moment that
they were actuated by any other feeling but that which animates
the South against the North, that it was the spirit of patriotism or
rebellion, as you may choose to call it, which prompted them and
carried them on to the execution of this plan? No; the evidence
leaves no doubt on this subject. Itis unquestionably a part of the
great contest carried on between the North and the South, a part,
an incident in this bloody drama, and tending to the same result.
It is unmistakably a political act. The circumstances, the nature
of the deed, the character of the individuals, their organization,
their admirable plan and its very result, prove it to be a well devised
and well executed political movement. The movement was ordered,
the money was furnished by the well known agents of the Confede-
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rate Government. The political character of the deed, or its
motive, such as established in evidence, disprove all criminality,
It is an unquestionable rule of international law that all the citizens
of a belligerent State are enemies of all the citizens of the other;
and it is also a rule of law, that civil war created, during its exist-
ence, that same division which exists between two separate nations,
Acts of hostility between the belligerents, acts of aggression against
parties in civil war, are not crimes. They are deficient in that
necessary element of all crime, the intent to injure any particular
individual. There was none of that animus which was necessary
to the constitution of a criminal offence ; hecause the action in
such cases was not directed against the individual, but against the
enemy. In the present case, it is evident that it was not the pro-
perty of Mr. Breck, or Mr. Sowles, or Mr, Bishop the prisoners
intended to destroy and plunder, but the property of the enemy, of
the Yankees. There is no principle more undoubted than that
the intent alone can create crime; and as authorities from the
United States must be more readily accepted to establish any point
of law, I would refer to Bishop, 1, § 227 : ¢ There is only one
criterion by which the guilt of men is to be tested. It is whether
the mind 1s criminal. Criminal laws relate only to crime. And
neither in philosophical speculation, nor in religious or moral senti-
ment, would any people in any age allow that a man should be
deemed guilty unless his mind were so. It is, therefore, a prin-
ciple of our legal system, as probably of every other, that the
essence of an offence is the wrongful intent, without which it cannot
exist. We find this doctrine laid down not only in the adjudged
cases, but iIn various ancient maxims, such as ¢ actus non facit reum,
nist mens sit rea ;’ the act itself does not make a man guilty,
unless his intention were so. It cannot be robbery, because open
war exists between the two parties, and the law of nations does not
regard an act of aggression by the subjects of the revolted country
against the persons or property of the parent country as murder or
robbery ; it is a political or military act.” 1 Phillimore, p. 187:
“ A declaration of war, which enjoins the subjects at large to attack
the enemy’s subjects, implies a general order. If the unauthorized
subject carry on war or make captures it may be an offence against
the sovereignty of his own nation, but it is not a violation of inter-
national law.”” Halleck, a major-general in the United States, p.
446 : It has already been stated that war, when duly declared, or
officially recognized, makes legal enemies of all the individual mem-
bers of the hostile States, that it also extends to property, and gives
to one belligerent the right to deprive the other of every thing
which might add to his strength and enable him to carry on hostili
ties.”  Bynkershoek, p.4: ¢ A nation which has injured another is
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considered, with every thing that belongs to it, as being confiscated
to the nation that has received the injury. To carry that confisca-
tion into effect may certainly be the object of the war, if the injured
nation thinks proper; nor is the war to cease as soon as she has
received a reparation or equivalent to the injury suffered. The
whole commonwealth and all the persons, as well as the things
contained within it belongs to the sovereign with whom they are
at war, and in the same manner as we may seize upon the person
and upon all the property of our debtor, so a sovereign in war may
seize the whole of the subjects and dominions of his enemy.” Sup-
posing even the parties might have been in error as to their right
to act as they did; supposing they had acted without proper
authority, or beyond the ordinary rules of war ; that they had been
deceived as to their right and duty of obeying the orders of their
Government, still if they supposed they were acting upon proper
grounds and with sufficient authority, they would, even according
to American criminal law, be held innocent; there would be no
crime. 1 Bishop, § 242, lays down the law in these terms: ¢The
legal rule is clearly enunciated by Baron Parke. The guilt of the
accused must depend on the circumstances as they appear to him.
Here the rule is, that if one has reasonable cause to believe the
existence of the facts which excuse the homicide, or, to express the
idea accurately, if without his fault or carelessness he does believe
in them, he is legally innocent, though it turns out that he was mis-
taken.” Is there to be discovered in this case any of that animus
Jurandt, which was indispensable for the constitution of criminal
offetnce ? We see nothing in the evidence to indicate it. The
motive, the impelling power, was patriotism. In no other country,
perhaps, but in the Southern Confederacy, would twenty young
men be found who would be prepared to risk their lives, to offer
them to a certain almost ignominious death in taking possession of
a town of four thousand inhabitants. All idea of personal profit,
private plunder is excluded by the facts. Moreover, the offence
must be one that would be so qualified by the tribunals of the countr
demanding the extradition ; 1t must be a crime according to their
legal definition, and extradition can be demanded only by the
party to the Treaty. The question will naturally arise, does the
party to the Treaty, the association of States, still exist ? Is it not
broken de facto and de jure in the eyes of England, who recognises
them as two distinct belligerent nations? But admitting that the
Treaty remains unimpaired, it will not be denied that the offence
must be one which all the United States—South Carolina as well as
Vermont—should acknowledge as such, and would so be considered
by all the tribunals of all and each State.

The crime must be one universally admitted as such by all the
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United States parties to the Treaty, not solely by the definition
of one or ten States. Would the parties be tried or held as felong
in their States,in Richmond, in South Carolina, Georgia, Tennessee,
orin any of the Confederate States, who were parties to this Treaty?
Can it be presumed that they demand the extradition of these men?
Assuredly not. The contrary is the case. Can, then, our Govern.
ment and our Courts, in justice, as a fair interpretation of this com-
pact, yield to the exasperated feelings of a section, however large,
however powerful, of the contracting parties, who choose to stamp
an act as criminal for the sole purpose of using the Treaty as an
engine of oppression against the other section. Every bad case
founded on wrong principles and bad law is prolific of dilemmas.
The United States contend, and this Court has decided, that the
Treaty in question not only covers offences against the United States
eo momine, but offences against each State. We are bound to
acquiesce in that decision, but it inevitably leads to one of two con-
clusions—first, that the offences so enumerated are to be those crimes
as defined by common law ; or secondly, those defined by the Statutes
of each separate State. That statutory crimes are not intended to
be included, the Executive of the different States have repeatedly
declared. It is universally held, that by the Constitution, statutory
offences are not to be included for extradition between themselves.
No statute of Vermont, therefore, concerning robbery or murder,
affects this case. Vermont might make stealing of a horse murder.
In the Southern States stealing of a negro is capital robbery.
Duelling is allowed in some States; in others it is made murder by
statute. The slave trade is defined as piracy by some laws. The
offences enumerated in the Treaty, for which extradition alone can
be granted, are arson, robbery, forgery, piracy, murder, as defined
by common law in all and every State. The question is, therefore,
repeated, whether by the common law of Florida, Carolina, and all
the Confederate States controlled by the state of war now existing,
the offences against the prisoners would be admitted as such.

The political character of the deed would be of itself sufficient to
dispose of the present application, and the case of the prisoners might
rest surely on this ground alone ; but independently of this reason the
military character of the prisoners and of the deed, would also be a
complete answer to the demand for their extradition. It is estab-
lished beyond a doubt, that the prisoners were soldiers regularly
enlisted and in the active service of the Confederate States at war
with the United States. Great Britain and all the civilized world
acknowledge them as belligerents. The moment it is proved that
these men were regular soldiers of the Southern Confederacy, duly
commissioned, organized and acting with the sanction of their Gov-
ernment, there ends all question as to the application of the statute.
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There can be no possible violation of the municipal laws of the
enemy by soldiers of the belligerent. They owe no obedience
to the enemy’s laws, because they owe the State none. They
are not bound to respect the lives of their enemies, the property of
the enemy ; they are engaged to wage war, to kill, and to destroy
property. Rules have been established to regulate hostilities in the
conduct of the war, but these rules belong not to the municipat
code ; their infractions are left and appertain exclusively to the
military authorities and to the military code. An offence of this
kind cannot be construed into a crime defined and regulated by the
statute of Vermont. The law under which they come is found in
that chapter of international law devoted to war. 2 Burlamaqui,
p- 192 : ¢ Most nations have fixed no bounds to the rights which the
laws of nature give us to act against an enemy ; and the truth is,
it is very difficult to determine precisely how far it is proper to
extend acts of hostility, even in the most legitimate wars, in defence
of our persons, or for the reparation of damages, or for obtaining
caution for the future, especially as those who engage in war, give
each other, by a kind of tacit agreement, an entire liberty to mode-
rate or augment the violence of arms, and to exercise all acts of
hostility, as each shall think proper. Andhere it is to be observed,
that though generals usually punish their soldiers, who have carried
acts of hostilty beyond the orders prescribed; yet this is mnot
because they suppose the enemy is injured, but because it is neces-
sary the general’s orders should be obeyed, and that military disci-
pline should be strictly observed. It is also in consequence of these
principles, that those who, in a just and solemn war, have pushed
slaughter and plunder beyond what the law of nature permits, are
not generally looked upon as murderers or robbers, nor punished as
such. The custom of nations is to leave this point to the conscience
of the persons engaged in a war rather than involve themselves in
troublesome broils, by taking upon them to condemn either party.
It may be even said, that this custom of nations is founded om the
principles of the law of nature. Let us suppose that in the inde-
pendence of the state of nature, thirty heads of families, inhabitants
of the same country, should have entered into a league to attack or
repulse a body composed of other heads of families. I say, that
neither during that war, nor after it is finished, those of the same
country, or elsewhere, who had not joined the league on either side,
ought or could punish, as murderers or robbers, any of the two
parties who should happen to fall mto their hands. They could not
do it during the war, for that would be espousing the quarrel of one
of the parties; and since they continued neuter in the beginning,
they had clearly renounced the right of interfering with what should
pass in the war. Much less could they intermeddle after the war
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is over, because, as it could not be ended without some accommo-
dation or treaty of peace, the parties concerned were reciprocally
discharged from all the evils they had done to each other. The
good of society also requires that we should follow these maxims,
For if those who continued neuter had still been authorized to take
cognizance of the acts of hostility, exercised in a foreign war, and
consequently to punish such as they believed to have committed
any injustice, and to take up arms on that account; instead of one
war several might have arisen, and proved a source of broils and
troubles. The more wars became frequent, the more necessary it
was for the tranquillity of mankind not to espouse rashly other peo-
ple’s quarrels. The establishment of civil societies only rendered
the practice of those rules more necessary ; because acts of hostility
then became, if not more frequent, at least more extensive, and
attended with a greater number of evils. Lastly, 1t i3 to be
observed, that all acts of hostility which can be lawfully committed
against an enemy, may be exercised either in his territories, or in
ours ; in places subject to no jurisdiction, or at sea. Vattel, p. 293:
¢ The sovereign is the real author of war, which is carried on in
his name and by his order. The troops, officers, soldiers, and, in
general, all those by whose agency the sovereign makes war, are
only instruments in his hands. They execute his will and not their
wn.” If the prisoners as soldiers had committed acts of violence
unauthorised by their superiors, they were responsible to them; if
the acts were beyond the ordinary outrages sanctioned by the
usages of war, they might be made accountable to the enemy, if
captured and tried by military court-martial and treated accord-
ingly, but the offence could never be converted into one against the
municipal laws. When Beal was taken prisoner in the United
States, although a companion, a soldier of Burley, who has been
extradited for robbery, they tried him by court-martial, and they
sentenced and executed him as a soldier, for an offence against the
laws of war. The printed directions and regulations for the United
States’ armies contain special provisions for cases of this kind, and
prov> conclusively that in the opinion of the United States authori-
ties tnemselves, no other law is applicable than the military code.
Such offences fall exclusively within military jurisdiction and
military law, who for certain violations of the rules of war can de-

rive soldiers of the immunity attaching to prisoners of war.

No. 34 of these regulations states: ‘“ Armed prowlers, by what-
ever names they may be called, or persons of the enemy’s territory
who steal within the lines of the hostile army, for the purpose of
robbing, killing, or of destroying bridges, roads, or canals, or of
robbing or destroying the mail, or of cutting the telegraph wires,
are not entitled to the privileges of the prisoners of war.” Can
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any example be found in the history of any war of a soldier taken
in the open fact of a murder or robbery of the enemy, and left or
delivered over to the enemy for trial before the civil courts of the
country against which he was engaged in war ? When Wellington
was in Spain, in the country of an ally, he did not acknowledge
even then the civil jurisdiction over his soldiers, committing depre-
dations expressly prohibited by his orders; he did not send them
to be tried by the Spanish courts of justice, but hé ordered them
to be tried by court-martial, and they were sentenced to be hung
by their own military courts. In the present case the acts were
done under a special commission. Whenever a soldier has a com-
mission, he becomes an insirument of war,—the presumed authori-
zed agent and representative of the belligerent power for every act
he may do, for every injury he can inflict. His conduct is fully
covered by his commission. Chancellor Kent, a most eminent Ameri-
can judge, 1st. vol. of his Commentaries, writing on international law,
0. 94,96, says : ¢ Although a state of war puts all the subjects of the
one nation in a state of hostility with those of the other ; yet, by
the customary law of Europe, every individual is not allowed to fall
upon the enemy. If subjects confine themselves to simple defence,
they are to be considered as acting under the presumed order of
the state, and are entitled to be treated by the adversary as lawful
enemies ; and the captures which they make in such a case, are
allowed to be lawful prize. But they cannot engage in offensive
‘hostilities without the express permission of their sovereign ; and if
they have not a regular commission, as evidence of that consent,
they run the hazard of being treated by the enemy as lawless
banditti, not entitled to the protection of the mitigated rules of
modern warfare. If they depredate upon the enemy without a
commission, they act upon their peril, and are liable to be punished
by their own sovereign ; but the enemy are not warranted to con-
gider them as criminals; and as respects the enemy, they violate no
rights by capture. Such hostilities, yithogt a comimission are,
however, contrary to usage and exceedingly irregular and danger-
ous ; and they would probably expose the party to the unchecked
severity of the enemy, but they are not acts of piracy.” 1 Phili-
more, 393 : ¢ So long as these vessels (private ships) sail under
» national commission, and within the terms of that commission, 1t
is quite clear that they are not and never have been considered as
pirates by international law. And even if they exceed the limits
of their commission, unwarrantable acts of violence, if no piratical
intention can be proved against them, they are responsible to, and
punishable by, the state alone from which their commission has
issued.” Wheaton, 247 : ¢ The officers and crew of an armed
vessel, commissioned against one nation and depredating upon
R
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another, are not liable to be treated as pirates in thus exceeding
their authority. 'The state by whom the commission is granted
being responsible to other nations for what is done by its commis-
sioned cruisers, has the exclusive jurisdiction to try and punish all
offences committed under color of its authority.”” The same
author in a note, p. 248 : ¢ But in the case of one having a com-
mission from a party to a recognized civil war, no irregularity as to
acts done jure belli, will make him a pirate. He stands in the
same position as if he held a commission from an established govern-
ment, so far at least as regards all the world, except tae other
party to the contest. His acts may be unlawful when measured
by the law of nations or by treaty stipulations. 'The individuals
concerned in them may be treated as trespassers; and the nation
to which they belong may be held responsible by the United States
but the parties concerned are not pirates.” The vame author, p.
(26 : < The effect of a state of war, lawfully declared to exist, 15
to place all the subjects of each belligerent power in a state of
mutual hostilitv. The usage of nations has modified this maxim,
by legalizing such acts of hostility only as are committed by these
who are authorized by the express or implied command of the state.
Such are regularly commissioned naval and military forces.” 'The
same doctrine is laid down in Halleck, a general officer in the
United States’ service. In his book on International Law, p. 306
and 386, he says: ¢ 'That the sovereign alone is to be held gulty
for the acts of unlawful war: that he alone 13 bound to repair the
injuries, and not those who act under his authority.”” No principle
seems to be more clearly admitted by all the best American au-
thorities, and all writers on international law. that the soldier’s
commission 1s a complete justification and protection for all his acts;
that he cannot be made responsible, except to his state alone, for
any unwarrantable act of violence : that no cxeess of violence can
give to the municipal tribunals any jurisdiction ovey him. No one
has the right, because none has the means, to judge him, to conviet
him of the crime of ahsence of authority on the part of his govern-
ment. In this case the acts were done in direct obedience to the
authority of superiors, who, by their commission, delegated to their
officer the right of waging war, destroying the enemy, and devas-
tating the country. The leader of the party had a special com-
mission for this particular ohject. 'To him was entrusted the
direction of the whole plan. 1le stood, with vespect to its execu-
tion, in the position of a general invested with all the authority of
the state with whom alone rested the responsibility of the outrage.
'The mode of fulfilling such orders was a matter for the conscience
only of the officer and for the authorities ordering them. . The
Americans complained hitterly ; and we find recorded in every one
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of their writings, when occasion is offered for comment, a most
strong condemnation of acts which they qualify as outrages of the
worst character, committed by Admiral Cochrane, in the war of
1812. Small, open and defenceless towns were burned and sacked :
unarmed and unoffending people were killed. The American Go-
vernment did not then qualify such acts as murder and arson.
They applied to the British authorities to ascertain if these
acts had been authorized. 'The answer given was, that the in-
jury had heen authorized. and ordered as measures of retaliation.
Will it be pretended that if the Admiral or any one of his
command had afterwards, or during that war, heen found in
Spain or Portugal, that he could have been given up on a
demand for extradition made by the United States? If the
British Government could order these destructive acts, from
motives of policy, the Southern States may have the same and
better causes of retaliation for outrages committed by the Federal
troops in the South. But whether the raid in St. Albans was
ordered or not, whether for one purpose or another, it was essentially
a military act.

Moxpay, March 2na.

I bhave shown that by the interpretation universally given, and
by positive declarations emanating from the highest authorities of
both contracting parties to the treaty, that political offences. or any
crime arising from wars or intestine commotions, cannot come within
the treaty, and I have established that the acts imputed to the pri-
soners were acts of that class: that moreover, it was an offence
committed by soldiers, therefore, a military not a civil or municipal
offence ; that the commission of the soldier was alone required to
establish his character, and was complete justification to protect him
from extradition. Before closing my remarks on this point, I will
refer to two important documents which have come to light since
the last sitting of the Court. The first is the despatch of Lord
John Russell, in answer to Mr. Adams’ complaint of the proceed-
ings of the Court of Bermuda, who discharged parties accused of
piracy by the United States Government for having taken posses-
sion of the United States’ vessel Roanoke, after going on hoard at
Havana as passengers, and destroying her. Lord John Russell
says: “ The other complaint is, that certain passengers proceeding
from Havana in the United States vessel Roanoke, when five hours
from Havana on their voyage, rose on the captain, made themselves
masters of the vessel, destroyed her. and were afterwards permitted
to land on the island of Bermuda. The answer to the second
complaint is: That the person arrested for a supposed piratical
act produced a commission, authorizmg that act as an operation of
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war from the Government of the so-called Confederate States, whick
are acknowledged by her Majesty’s Government to possess all bel-
Ligerent rights.”” The statement made in this despatch affords the
most conclusive authority in favor of the prisoners, to establish the
principle that a commission from a belligerent is all that can be
required to justify any act of hostility against an enemy. The act
alluded to in this despatch, certainly, affords good subject for criti-
cism by the rules of war. Secretly and by disguise entering a ship
as passengers, and then rising on the crew, taking possession of her
and destroying Ler, might be questioned as a legitimate or regular
act of war, sanctioned by modern usage, but this question could not
be raised after the production of the commission; the only justifi-
cation required was the commission. The other and a most 1mpor-
tant document is the report of the trial of the unfortunate man
Beall, who was acting under the orders of Burley, who was extra-
dited for robbery by the judiciary of Upper Canada, although the
offence was 1dentically the same as that of Beall, his subordinate.
Beall was brought before a court-martial and tried there, not for
robbery but for a political and military offence, the violation of the
rules of war. The charges are specified as follows:

“ Specification 1.—In this, that John Y. Beall, a citizen of the
msurgent State of Virginia, did on or about the 19th day of Sep-
tember, 1864, at or near Kelly’s Island, in the State of Ohio,
without lawful authority, and by force of arms, seize and capture
the steamboat Philo Parsons.

“ Specification 2.—In this, that John Y. Beall, a citizen of the
insurgent State of Virginia, did on or about the 19th day of Sep
tember, 1864, at or near middle Bass Island, ia the State of Obhio,
without lawtul authority, and by force of arms, seize, capture and
sink the steamboat Island Queen.”

Upon this accusation, the United States authorities, through the
Judge Advocate, declaved that this very offence, for which they
obtained the extradition of Burley, was a political and a military
offence. They positively declared that the offence is not a civil of
municipal one, that it cannot be the subject matter of trial by ordi-
nary Courts of Justice. Here are his very words :

“ T was willing to admit that Beall was a rcbel officer, and that
¢ all he did was authorized by Mr. Davis; because in my view of
“ the case, all that was done by the accused, being in violation of
¢ the laws of war, no commission, command or manifesto could Jus-
“ tify his acts.

¢ It is true, that if these enormities had been committed in time
“ of peace, or by ordinary citizens, rogues and desparadoes, they
“ would have been ere municipal or civil offences, and the perpe-
¢ trators would be amenable to the civil Courts and entitled to the
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“ trial by jury. But the accused is not prosecuted for a civil
¢ offence. He is by the theory of this case a military offender, a
“ violator of the laws of war. He refers to a quotation of Holt’s
‘“ Digest, p. 79, to show that murder, which is a civil offence under
-ordinary circumstances, may and does, in time of war, when com-
mitted for disloyal and treasonable purposes, become a military
offence, and may then be tried by a military Court, without the in-
terposition of a jury. In time of war, the offender being a rebel
officer in disguise, the question of intent, the quo animo, is ver
easily determined. In this case it is very clear, that personal
‘ advantage was not the motive that led to the seizure of the
‘“ steamboats, or the attempt on the railroad. To destroy the
‘“ commerce of the lakes was one of the objects avowed by the raid-
ing party on Lake Erie ; to inflict great injury upon great num-
bers of their Yankee enemies, and not the crazy expectation thas
& gang of five rebels could overcome and plunder a thousand
passengers, was the purpose of the railroad attack. The acts
charged and specified, being military offences are triable by a
military Court, and the accused has no constitutional right to a
¢ jury trial.”

This trial and the sentence against the unfortunate accused
which was carried into effect, is the denial by the American authe-
-rities themselves of their right to demand and to obtain the extra-
dition of Burley, or of the prisoners in this case. They admit that
it was a political offence, that it was not inspired by the desire of
private plunder, that it was solely and exclusively a deviation from
-the usages of war, an offence to be dealt with by the military tribu-
qals. If such was the case for Burley and Beall, can it be doubted
that the same principles should apply to the prisoners? I shall
again on this point refer to the regulations of the United States’
armies—sanctioned and ordered by the Government :

Page 12, No. 40 : ** There exists no law or body of authoritative
« rules of action between hostile armies, except that branch of the
¢ law of nature and nations, which is called the law and nsages of
“« war on land.” No. 41: ¢ All municipal law of the ground on
¢« which the armies stand, or of the countries to which they helong.
« ig silent and of no effect between armies in the field.”

Offenders against these usages of war are tried by military courts
of the enemy : they may be sentenced, they may be hung or shot,
and justly too, according to the laws of war, and neyertheles§ they
may be morally innocent. The military spy who is found in the
lines; the scouts who are ordered to go in disguise through the lines
of the enemy to observe its movements or to destroy a telegraph :
‘the messenger who, for the safety of an army, in obedience to the
orders of his officers goes in disguise throngh the enemy’s lines, %o
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convey a message to another division, if found within his lines, the
~enemy is justifiable in trying them and executing them, but the
victims are devoted, sometimes the most noble soldiers. They are
in conscience, in the eyes of the world, and before God, free from
guilt of any kind. The case of thc unfortunate Major André is a
striking illustration of this.

It is the same principle in this case. It was, it might have been
thought by the Confederate Government of great political moment,
and dictated by the best reasons, to order this raid in St. Albans.
Being unable to cffect it by an army sufficiently strong to run over
the whole territory as Morgan attempted, they call upon soldiers to
do it by artifice, by reaching that spot in disguise and then to levy
the contribution, or plunder and destroy. They did so boldly and
openly in broad day light. They were liable, if taken, to be shot
on the spot ; little chance could they have of escape. If they had
been taken in the execution of these orders by the enemy, and
tried and condemned by a military Court, would they not have
been innocent—could they not feel in their conscience that they
were not criminals ?

It has been said, and it will be probably repeated here, that this
is not a proceeding sanctioned by the law of modern warfare.
Admitting it was a violation of the usages of war, is there accord-
ing to the laws of nations, a tribunal in any country entrusted with
the power of judging nations and condemning their policy? If
they deem if expedient te deviate from the rules prescribed by
justice and humanity, they are not accountable to other nations
their equals ; for independent nations acknowledge no superior on
earth. This is an elementary principle of the law of nations. The
only question therefore can be whether it is an hostile act com-
mitted by an enemy against an enemy, or by the soldiers of one bel-
ligerent against the enemy. - Taking it to be an unjustifiable viola-
sion of the most unquestionable rules of warfare, still it would
be an act of war ; irregular, if you choose, but nevertheless an act
of war. It might be a violation of the rules of war, but if
could not be an infraction of the statute of Vermont. It might
be censurable, politically immoral, but not ecriminal in the
civil or municipal sense of the word. It never could be defined
murder or robbery, contemplated by the treaty. I contend how-
ever that the conduct of the prisoners is perfectly justifiable if
tested by the principles of common and ordinary warfare.

Supposing these twenty men to have been detached from the
lines, for the special purpose of taking and plundering any of the
small towns on the Potomac, to levy contribution by obtaining deli-
very of all the funds in the possession of thc banks, or to retaliate
by plundering and burning it, and let us suppose they had suc-
ceeded in doing so. What objection could be made ? no iniquity,



263

0o violation of the luws of war would be discovered.  Supposing
these twenty men would have been detached from Morgan’s com-
mand, when he effected his raid in Kentucky, and going at a great
distance from the main body, would have attempted the same in
Pennsylvania, would not such & feat have been considered as bold
and daring, would a newspaper have dreamt of making an outery
in support of the principles of modern civilized warfare 7 Would
‘the parties have been styled by them murderers and robbers ?
Supposing in such an instance they would have been captured with
their plunder, would they have been made prisoners of war or been
dealt with as criminals ¥ Remove thic scene of action, extend the
distance, multiply the difficulties; let thesc men go in disguise
through the whole breadth of the enemy’s territory, back to the
Canadian frontier, to St. Albans; let them be bold enough to
attempt such a project there with twenty men and carry it out,
will the distance or the greater difficulties alter the nature of the
case? Will the first be according to the rules of war, and the last
a violation of them ? Will the parties engaged in the first expedi-
tions be brave soldiers, herocs, and those concerned in the last,
murderers and robbers ?  On what ground ? Where 1s the differ-
ence in the supposed occurrences and the onc complained of ?
What constitutes the criminality which would so alter and pervert
the one so as to change a laudable act into a most atrocious and
revolting crime ? Is 1t because it was so far from the focus of
the war. Does any rule exist in war whereby certain portions
of the enemy’s territory are excmpt from hostilities ¥ We have
heard of modern usages of war, but this is certainly the most
recent enactment ; and probably the learned Counsel for the appli-
cants will furnish us with the text laid by some writers on the
subject.

If such a rule exists, the morality of a deed would depend upon
its geographical situation. If a thing is done oun the Rappahan-
nock, it is right and legitimate ; but as you go novthwards, the
morality may decrease ; it altogether changes and is altered, so,
that when you reach near the forty-fifth degree of latitude north,
then it is converted into an absolute crime. It must be admitted
that the ignorance of this rule of war might be invoked, at least, as
a good excuse to the parties infringing it, to free themselves from
all eriminal intention in the matter. o

It will be said that they violated neutral territory. Admitting
that they did, who has a right to allege it or to complain ? Will
that change the nature, the character of the deed? It may be a
separate, independent offence ; but the violation of neutrality laws
cannot certainly convert an act otherwise mnon-crimmal into a
crime. If the parties went there as soldiers or as engaged in this
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eivil war, will the fact of committing a trespass on neutral ground
change their intent, deprive them of their character of soldiers or
partizans and transform them into common criminals ? It would be
a new principle of modern warfare that a trespass on neutral terr-
tory would convert an act of war into a crime. The judge is not
called upon to decide a breach of the neutrality laws, but upon
the criminality, the criminal intent of the prisoners. He is called
to satisfy himself that an offence against the municipal laws of
the United States has been perpetrated by them. If they had
violated the territory of Great Britain, they were amenable to the
tribunals of the country, and responsible to them alone, and not to
the United States. We can, however, dispute the violation of the
neutrality. Two facts only have been established from which
any such presumption might arise,—Young’s interview with Mr.
Clay at St. Catherines, and the travelling of five of the soldiers
engaged in this business through Canada. Besides this, there is
nothing in the evidence to constitute a violation of the neutrality.
How will the transmission of orders by a Government agent to one
of the officers of that Government, supposing it were to direct his
movements in a hostile expedition, of itself constitute a violation of
neutrality ? If such a principle was affirmed, then England
could not act through her ambassadors or her navy officers, when
in neutral ground or neutral ports, to convey orders or instructions
to those directly engaged in hostilities. The correspondence, the
transmission of orders, would be declared a breach of neutrality.
The quiet passage of unarmed soldiers never did, according to the
laws of nations, constitute, even with the intent and object to reach
the enemy’s territory, a violation of neutrality. On the contrary,
the peaceful transit of troops is recognized by the law of nations,
and both belligerents can exercise it. In this war the United
States have exercised such right in Canada. Tt is proved, on
the other hand, that the whole plan was arranged in hostile terri-
tory. The enlistment and the preparation of the scheme was set-
tled upon in Chicago. The act, however, as to its criminality witk
respect to the subject-matter of the treaty, must necessarily he
examined, independent of any foreign or collateral circumstances.
and, considered in this light, no criminality whatever can attach to
it. It is essentially a hostile act, an act of war.

Burlamaqui defines war to be the state of those who try to deter-
mine their differences by the ways of force. Wheaton, p. 586—
“ The rights of war in respect to the enemy are to be measured by
the objects of the war. Strictly speaking, it is the right of using
every means necessary to accomplish the end.” 2 Kluber, p. 18
—* Les droits de la bonne cause (which must be held, by the neu-
trals, that of each of the belligerents) envers la partie qui fait une
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guerre injuste sont illimités. Il n’y & donc aucun moyen, quelque
violent qu’il soit que ’ennemi ne puisse employer.” Bynkershoek,
p- 2 and 4, goes even further, and lays down the rule in absolute
terms, that the enemy can use every means possible against his
ememy, admitting that there is no limit to the right of injuring the
ememy. Vattel, p. 346-369; 1 Hautefeuille des Neutres, p.
132, 133,1560; 2 Kluber, p. 21, 53, 56. All the writers on the
sabject admit that such is the original and the actual absolute
rght. Civilization and the well-understood interests of all com-
munities have prescribed moderation in the exercise of this right,
and established exceptions to this absolute principle of the law of
war, by sanctioning certain rules which have generally been adopted
by common consent and common practice, without however abrogat-
ing the primitive and original right, which still remains in the eminent
demain of every nation to be exercised, when, in the judgment and
conscience of the constituted authorities, its application may be
deemed necessary. The right to do your enemy all the injurv
possible still subsists as the fundamental principle of war. < If,”
says Paley, ¢ the cause and end of war be justifiable, all the means
that appear necessary to the end are justifiable also. This is the
principle which defends those extremities to which the violence of
war usually proceeds; for since the war is a contest by forec
between parties who acknowledge no common superior, and, since
it includes not in its idea the supposition of any convention which
should place limits to the operations of force, 1t has naturally no
boundary but that in which force terminates,—the destruction of
the life against which the force is directed.” Kvery writer upon
war lays down the same principle as the illustrious English philoso-
pher and divine whom I have just quoted. War is licensed murder,
pillage, plunder, devastation, and destruction. ~Humanity may
shudder, philosophy may revolt, and seek to soften and relax the
rigor of this fundamental axiom of the laws of nations. Beyond
and outside of this principle of unmitigated and unrestrained hos-
tility, there are no laws of war, except those implanted in the
breasts of the belligerents by the Creator. All the ameliorations
of this great principle should be styled rules and usages of war,
superinduced by the teachings of wise and humane authors, and
emcouraged by the practice of the greatest and best generals. There
is no rule of war which makes exemption of private property from.
capture, plunder, or destruction. Soldiers are considered by allnations
a8 mere Instruments of war, passive mechanical agents of a superior
moving power, which alone is responsible for their actions. Kvery
agt of hostility committed by them must be considered as an act of
war unless disapproved of and condemned by the nation to whom
they belong. The parties to this application have acknowledged the
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prisoners as their enemies, and as soldiers acting on behalf' of the
Confederate States. The parties in this casc themselves have
qualified this very act of the prisoners as an act of war. The
banks did so by a public notice given to the world, and which is
proved in this case, offering a reward of $10,000 fos the appre-
hension of the armed raiders who had plundered their insti-
tutions, * an armed band of raiders””  Mr. Bishop, the wit-
ness for the prosecution, and one of the parties who published
this notice, says, ¢ I have seen the term raid used pretty often
during the war. I understand that raiding means the march of
an army into the enemy’s country; by army, I mean a large
or a small number of soldiers.” o Mr. Bishop admits that the
prisoners were Confedcrate soldiers, and that they came as:such
mto St. Albans. The definition of the word ¢ raid,” given by Mr.
Bishop, corresponds with that of all the American dictionaries.
Raid 1s defined, a hostile mcursion. In General Dix’s proclama-
tion, which is also produced in evidence, the prisoners are therein
styled rebel narauders. 'The President of the United States
revoked the latter portion only of (eneral Dix’s order, whereby
the latter invited every American commander on the frontier fo
cross the boundaries, and leaves the first portion subsisting, which
contained the distinct admission that the prisoners were rebel ma-
rauders. This was a positive admission by both the military and
executive authorities of the United States, that the parties engaged
in this act were military men, that they were rebels, and that their
object was a politico-military one ; which was in direct opposition to
the demand now made for extradition. So, the parties injured, the
military authorities and the executive of the United States, have ad-
mitted that the accused were rcbel soldiers, and that they committed
the outrage as such. The best proof of the politico-military nature
and character of the deed of the prisoners is the very issue raised
in this case. At every step, at every stage, your Honor is called
upon to apply a principle of international law. It is the only mea-
sure by which the facts can be tested. The prisoners assert their
immunity as soldiers; they rely for their justification on the law of
war, and contend that their act is part of the hostilities of their
-country against their enemies. The applicants on their side will,
no doubt, contend that the prisoners violated the rules of war regu-
lating the mode of carrying on hostilities. So, it becomes entirely
a question of transgression of the usages of war, even in the opimion
of the applicants themselves. The laws of war are part of the
international laws ; every question of international law on this sub-
Ject is political. To ascertain the criminality, to be satisfied of it,
the judge must first decide that a violation of those laws has been
committed ; he must sit on judgment upon nations, condemn the
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one to whom those soldiers belonged, and whose ageuts they were,
and after pronouncing the illegality of the act, deprive them of the
‘mmunity granted to soldiers by all civilized communities in the
world, and stamp them as common robbers and murderers. Taking
ior granted that the Court can take cognizance of the laws of war,
and decide upon the right or wrong of a cause adopted by one of
the belligerents, then the party so held to account would be entitled
to offer his justification on the ground of retaliation. The undisputed
and uncontradicted rules of war, under their mildest form, allow
devastation and plunder of inoffensive and unarmed citizens for
retaliation.  All the modern rules of warfare are often suspended
o give full segpe to the most severe rules, when necessity or even
expediency regxire. If justifiable in any case, who shall judge of
the right? The prisoners in such a case would be entitled to
offer their justification, on the plea of retaliation for worse outrages
committed in their country by Federal troops. The Confederate
Government assert their right to retaliation ; they contend that the
Federal soldiers have committed outrages unparalleled in any war.
If 0, the deed complained of is and must be considered free from
all censure. But the judge cannot make or allow this investigation.
This evidence has been properly excluded, because the judge cannot
ransack history to find out the guilty nation, to determine whether
retaliation and retortion ought to have been made. Therefore, it
is, that every where, when a deed has been committed by regular
commissioned soldiers, every nation and every tribunal of every
nation are bound to presume that some good reason existed for it,
and accept it as an act of war. If the Federal authorities deem it
.an outrage, a gross violation of the rules of war, let them take to
account the Confederate authorities, and ask explanation from them,
as they did of the British Government in 1812 ; and if they do not
obtain satisfaction, let them retaliate. Until they have obtained
explanations, they are bound to consider the acts of their enemy’s
soldiers as acts of their enemy. »

In this case there was something even more directly showing the
political character of the deed. Taking for instance the effect that
this outrage had had in the North; the fact that the whole civil
and military authorities were incensed, and almost threatened to
wage war on Great Britain; did this not show that it was a well
-concocted effort to bring succor to those who. planned it; that it
would have the effect of calling back part of the army from the
front for the protection of the frontier? Was this not a very
important political act on the part of the South? But this was a
point on which it was unnecessary to dwell. The political and
military character of the offence had been established beyond a
doubt. It was in every way an act of war even if it was not in
accordance with the common usages.
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Independently of the reasons given to refuse extradition on the
grounds of the political and military character of the offence, the
fact that this .expedition was directly ordered by the Confederate
authorities affords complete justification for whatever the prisoners
have done.

It is proved that the leader of the party, Bennett II. Young, was
regularly appointed for special service. His instructions were to
collect twenty men Confederate soldiers who were then in the ene-
mey’s lines and to report to Mr. Clay for orders. By these instruc-
tions, the Government to whom he owed civil and military obedience
declared to Young that Mr. Clay was to all intents and purposes
their representative, that Mr. Clay was their agent, and this autho-
rity was just the same as if the orders had come fm the President
himself accompanying the instructions appointing Mr. Clay, Gov-
ernment agent. Young could not dispute or even question Clay’s
authority. His superiors enjoined him to comply absolutely and
anconditionally with his directions. Ic was informed that Mr.
Clay was the direct channel of the Government, and so far as
the object of this mission was concerned and all its details, was
the Government itself. Whatever Mr. Clay would have decmed
necessary to order, was as fully within these instructions as if
had been included in the commission itself. It matters not what
was the gencral authority of Mr. Clay with respect to the Con-
federate States, or in what position he stood towards; them it.
matters not what was his appointment or office. In relation to
Young’s mission, his authority from the Government was unlimited,
and so appears from the tenor of the documents adressed to Young.
He had to direct absolutely, and Young and his party had to obey.

Were the prisoners to take upon themselves to criticise the
orders and instructions of their Government? Could they as soldiers.
scrutinise the documents, investigate the nature and duties of govern-
ments, ascertain whether they went beyond the ordinary limits for
action fixed by the rules of international law? If they obeyed these
orders, can they be amenable as common criminals to the tribunals
of the Federal Government, there to he tried as common highway-
men? As subjects to the Confederate Government and as soldiers,
if they refused to obey orders they are to he tried and shot; andit
is now contended, by the applicants, that for having obeyed, they
must be deprived of the immunity belonging to soldiers, and deli-
vered to their enemies to be tried as common criminals.

The prisoners fulfilled their mission, they executed the orders
given to them. They proceeded from Chicago where their party was
formed, where the plan was made to assail the northern frontier of
the enemy. It was discussed and settled there ; St. Albans was
selected as the spot to be first operated upon. Young went &
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St. Catherines to confer with Mr. Clay »ho sanctioned the whole
expedition, and in fact ordered it. That Mr, Clay did order it, there
van be no doubt. He repeatedly admitted it. Several witnesses
testify to it, particularly Mr. Cleary, and ths two Messrs. Sanders.
In a matter of this description the declaration made by the official
appointed for such specific political object, must be considered as the
best evidence. Young returned to Chicago, and thence proceeded
through Canada, as an ordinary traveller,to St. Albans. It is proved
that four only of his command passed on British territory. The others
were and had been living and plotting in the enemy’s lines. The only
supposition as to them must be, that feeling secure enough to conspire
in the enemy’s territory and to remain there, they could as well come
through American ground to St. Albans; which was probably the
better way to avoid rousing the suspicions of the people of St.
Albans. They arrived in St. Albans on the afternoon of the nine-
teenth of October, they collected together; and in broad daylight, at
two o’clock of the afternoon, in a town of four or five thousand inha-
bitants, took possession of three banks, plundered them, attempted
to set fire to the place, provided themselves with horses which they
took from the citizens, and effected their escape with their booty
from amongst the population who rushed to arms and pursued them,
firing. It may be termed an outrage, a violation of the modern
usages of war; but history will look upon it as a bold and daring
feat.

It was within the power of the Government to order Young to
sack and burn the town, and he had to obey his orders, not to take
upon himself to judge of his superiors. He had only one duty to
perform, and that at the risk of his life. Ile stood in the same
position as a general who had received orders to invade the terri-
tory of an enemy for some purpose ; and the moment the Govern-
ment declared that that party were acting for them, there ended
any responsibility on the part of the individual. The Government
could not be judged by any court. The party who obeyed was
right. He acknowledged no other superior than the Confederate
Government, and he was bound to do his duty as a soldier, and not
hesitate when called upon to execute a commission of danger. He
did it, and in the most brave manner in which he could, declaring
that he was a Confederate officer, that his men were Confederate
soldiers, and what he did was an act of retaliatory warfare for what
had been done in the South. For such conduct he assuredly
eould not be held up as a murderer and robber. From the very
origin of the expedition it was a national, not an individual act,
for which the parties exccuting it cannot be made responsible; or
in any manner accountable, except to their superiors. They, as
soldiers, were mere mechanical agents, passive subjects of the
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moving power. 'Their sole duty was obedience ; and for fulfiling
that duty they cannot be amenable to the municipal tribunals of
the enemies of their government. Obedience to the constituted
authorities is a primary and essential obligation of all civilized
communities. To render an individual liable for acts done in obe-
dience to positive orders given by the authorities which he acknowl-
edges as his legitimate superiors, would be subversive of all order.
Tt 1s not in a British court of justice that such a proposition can be
doubted. This question never was more ably treated and exposed
than by Judge Talmadge, in his review and criticism of the judg-
ment rendered by Judge Cowan in the celebrated case of McLeod.
Judge Cowan and the authorities of the State of New York con-
tended there, that an illegal act of war could not be sanctioned b
the government of the offender, to shield him from responsibility to
the municipal tribunals of the offended nation. This will probably
be the doctrine urged by the United States Counsel in support of
their pretensions at this moment. No better, more clear and logical
refutation was ever made of this fallacy than by this eminent judge,
supported by all the most distinguished jurists of that time in the
United States, and confirmed by Daniel Webster, the greatest states-
man, orator, and lawyer this continent has ever produced. Any of
the arguments after those given by such men would be useless.
(Then follow quotations from Judge Talmadge’s review to be found
n 26 Wendell’s Rep... and Webster’s speech in support of the
Treaty at page 122 of the 5th vol. of his works.)

“The attack upon the Caroline, says Judge Talmadge, was
hostile and unlawful, and the British must be held responsible for
it. It amounts to a lawful cause of war; but those engaged in it
or acting under lawful authority can never be regarded as robbers
or plunderers, or liable to be punished criminally.”

It was then settled at the earnest request of the British Govern-
ment that the individual could not be responsible for an act com-
mitted on behalf of his Government when admitted and sanctioned
by it, notwithstanding the American authorities declared that
the act in question was illegal, a violation of their sovereignty, for
which England should be brought to account.

The same principle was sanctioned by the Courts of England by
several positive decisions. I refer to a case in the Privy Council
of the Secretary of State in Council of India and Kamachee Boye
Sahaba, 18 Moores’ Rep., p. 22. The question there arose as:to
seizure made by an agent of the East India Company, of properkg
belonging to a native prince. The Courts in India had ordere
the restitution of the property as having been illegally made. The
:31&8? cagle before the Privy Council on appeal, and the judgment

eclared :—
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¢ Of the property or justice of that act, neither the Court below
nor the judicial Committee have the means ef forming, or the right
of expressing, if they had formed any opinion. It may have been
just or unjust, politic or unpolitic, beneficial or injurious, taken as
a whole, to those whose interests are affected. These are consi-
derations into which their Lordships cannot enter. It is sufficient
to say that even if a wrong has been done, it is a wrong for which
no Municipal Court of Justice can afford a remedy.” The Court
held that an act done by an agent of the Government, though in
excess of his authority, being ratified and adopted by the Govern-
ment held to be equivalent to previous authority.

In the case of Buron vs. Denman, 2 Exch. Rep., 167 : an action
for damages by reason of the Defendant, an officer in the English
Nawy, destroying slave baracoons. The illegality was established.
The English Government, it appeared, adopted his acts as having
been done by their authority, which the Court held cquivalent to
prior instructions; being an act of state, the Crown was held to
be alone responsible, and thercfore no action would lie against the
Defendant.

In Knapp’s Rep., V. 1, another case is found where the Privy
Council held that Municipal Courts could not interferc to decide
upon the legality of any destruction of private property, by an ofticer
pendente bello.

These authorities establish that the individual is not responsible
for the act committed on behalf of the Government.

Supposing war was going on between the States and England, and
a militia officer here was ordered to burn a town on the frontier,
would he go to his superior officer with a book on International law,
discuss with him the propriety of obeying, and enquire as to the
limits of the rules of war? The answcer would be given by a Court
Martial. It was said that the parties should go before the Courts
of the United States, in Vermont, to =2t up these pleas of justifi-
cation, where they might be urged with advantage, and where alone
they could he urged by the prisoucrs hefore a jury on their trial
on the other side of the lines. This is a monstrous proposition.
The idea of sending them to set up this defence is a cruel mockery,
an insult to common sense, an outrage against humanity. They
cannot defend themselves there. Every one knows it is impossible
for them to be heard upon any of these very grounds which establish
their innocence. The moment they reach there all this vanishes, it
will not be received. They will scoft at President Davis’ commission :
they will deny them the privilege of soldiers: none of this will avail
them. What justification, what plea can be offered for the prisoners
there, when the Judges of the Courts can consider them in no
other light than rebels; when Jefferson Davis 18 COI.IS.I(leI'Od as a
rebel, a private individual whose commissions are entititled to no
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consideration, making every act of war on land robbery, and eve
act of war on sea piracy. Have we not the declaration of the judi-
ciary of the United States on this point fully expressed by Judge
Neison in his charge in the case of the Savannah, before whom
commissioned Confederate officers and sailors were indicted ag
pirates. They pleaded their commission, their belligerent charactes,
the authority of Jefferson Davis. What did the Judge say ?

““In a state of war (says Judge Nelson presiding at the trial)
hetween two nations, the commission to private armed vessels from
either of the belligerents affords a defence according to the laws of
nations in the Court of the enemy against a charge of robbery, or
piracy on the high seas of which they might be guilty in the absence
¥ such authority.”

¢ Thig branch of the defence involves consideration that does
0t belong to the Courts of this country. Until the departments
of state have recognised the existence of the new government the
Courts of the nation cannot. Until the recognition of the new
government, the Courts are obliged to regard the ancient state
of things as unchanged.”

These are the words of one of the worthiest Judges in the
United States. And this Judge charged the jury to convieb
these men of piracy. IHappily for the prisoners, some of the
jurors would not ass:it to this doctrine; the jury could not
agree. But such is the law in the United States. In this same
manner would the commission, the instructions, or the belligerent
condition of the prisoners be received by the Judge in the State of
Vermont before a jury called to try the prisoners. What justice
can they expect wher the right of defence is absolutely denied?
To deliver them would be to doom them to an ignominious and cer-
tain death. To extradite them on this ground that they shall have
a fair trial, that the responsibility would be with the United States,
is as good, as sound an excuse as that of the Inquisitors who, being
taxed of sending some innocent victims to death, say we are not
responsible for their death, we only deliver them to the secular
power, we extradite them; but he alone is responsible for their
death. It would be as good a reason as that offered by an indivi-
dual on a charge of murder for having thrown a man over a bridge
and who would offer as his justification that he was not guilty be-
cause the man drowned himself, and that he could be made respon-
sible only for depriving him of the use of the bridge.

Let this be a precedent ; allow a prima facie case to be all thaé
shall be required for extradition, and you must extradite every dan-
gerous enemy of any government. In a civil war you deliver them
over to their infuriated enemies, if they be civilians; if they be
military, to thier exasperated victims. You send them to plead as'
S. B. Davis, before a military court martial of his encivies, that he was
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the inoffensive and devoted messenger sent to procure, for four un-
fortunate countrymen, the prisoners, some documents required as
evidence to save their lives, and who received for answer to this
plea a sentence of death by a court martial. You send them to
plead with the same success as Beall, a colleague and fellow soldier
in the same deed as Burley, who was extradited for robbery by the
judges of Upper Canada, and who pleaded to the charge of destruc-
tion of the Philo Parsons a commission and justification by President
Davis, and who obtained for answer to this plea a sentence of death,
woich was strictly executed.

The enemies of the prisoners, they who demand their extradition,
cannot judge them : they can only exercise vengeance.

One of the great ends of the institutions of civil society, says an
eminent English judge, is to prevent men from being judges in
cases wherein they are concerned, and to remit the decision of
adverse interest to those who can have no interest in the determi-
nation of such cases.”” In this instance you would deliver the lives
of these men, not to the judgment of adverse interest, but to the
most bitter and violent passion of hatred, that which can be found
in-civil wars alone.

No American statesman nor any writer of any moment has ever
asserted that these men should be extradited. They have com-
plained of the want of sufficient prevention of such outrages on our
part. They claimed that the offenders should be punished for the
violation of our soil, for the abuse of our hospitality by the South-
ern refugees ; but none have dared to assert, as a legal proposition,
that they were entitled to obtain the extradition of the prisoners.
Our Government has complied fully with their demand by the
passing of the Alien Bill; and I trust that it will be considered
sufficient satisfaction. If this law does not give our neighbors the
protection they require, let them demand further legislation on our
part,—they will have it. If the right of refuge itself is obnoxious
to them, let it be abolished at their request; but so long as it
remains unimpaired—so long as our legislature has not abolished
this ancient liberty—our judges must and shall uphold it. They
will protect the refugee in the enjoyment of that shelter which our
institutions guarantee to him. They never will allow policy, ex-
pediency, to sway them to overrule principles of law. A thousand
times better,—more honorable for us,—more just,—it would be to
let the world know that political refugees shall be entitled to this
right only when it shall not be dangerous for us ; a thousand times
better and more humane to give a fair warning to all that the prin-
ciple, which never was doubted or questioned i England, is inope-
rative and inefficient in Canada. It was always considered as a
beacon light to a safe harbor for distressed political fortunes ; if it

S
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be no more so, at least, do not use it as a false light to wreck them.
Our courts cannot be influenced by any thing but right and justice;
they cannot be made subservient to power or authority. We have
not yet reached that state of degradation. We have had unfortu-
nately in this case too strong evidence of direct interference by our
local Government. We have seen one Judge suspended, because
he discharged the prisoners. Happily, however, we have a Judge
who is independent of power, and in whose hands every man in
this community would sooner intrust a question of life and death,
with all the influence of Government and popular clamor against
him, than in the hands of any jury ; and I leave the case of the
prisoners with unhounded confidence in the hands of your Honor.

March, 21st, 1865.

Myr. Devlin, on behalf of the United States, said :

Tt is, I have no doubt, as gratifying to you, as it certainly is to
the Counsel who here represent the Governments of Canada and
the United States, tofind that the time and attention bestowed upon
this Investigation have at last triumphed over the numerous and
unexpected obstacles opposed to its termination, and brought us to
that stage of the enquiry which enables us to address your Honor
upon the merits of the application for the extradition of the pris-
oners. The case, as I view it, is one of extreme simplicity ; and
although it has attained to an unusual magnitude, and attracted
public attention perhaps to a greater degree than any demand ever
before made under the Treaty, I have certainly so far been unable
to discover that it presents any feature calculated to embarrass the
Court in dealing with it, or that even tends to withdraw it from the
category of crimes enumerated in the Treaty under which we are
now proceeding. True it is that the prisoner’s Counsel have labored
hard to surround the act of their clients with grave international
difficulties, and to impress upon it the character of an act of war;
but I flatter myself, that submitted as it will be to the test of sound
senge and judicial serutiny, the crime of robbery, of which the pris-
soners are accused, will still appear, despite all the false coloring
under which it has been so ingeniously presented to your Honor’s
judgment. And here I may remark, that to me it doth seem as if
my learned friends fancied themselves endowed with some extraor-
dinary magical influence ; for certainly without their supposed pos-
session of some such rare and wonder-working power, it would be
difficult indeed to believe that they would have attempted to elevate
a daring act of robbery to the dignity of a manly deed of warfare,
or claimed for its guilty perpetrators the consideration due to the
honest warrior who uses his arms for the legitimate objects of war,
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and not as the prisoners did at St. Albans, for the ignoble and savage
purpose of robbing and murdering unarmed and defenceless citizens.
I have said, your Honor, that this enquiry, notwithstanding the
simplicity of the question involved in it, has attained an extraordi-
nary importance, so much so, indeed, thanks to the fertile genius of
my learned friends, that it has become a cause célébre. But let
me ask what is it that has thus distinguished the St. Albans Raid,
and given to it a world wide notoriety ? 1 answer unhesitatingly,
its signal atrocity, the fraud and cunning by means of which it was
achieved, aided, no doubt, by the extraordinary efforts subsequently
made by the friends and sympathisers of the prisoners to strip their
wicked deed of its criminal responsibility and to make of them, its
guilty perpetrators, heroes if not martyrs. Be this, however, as it
may, I entertain the hope,in which I trust I will not be disappointed,
that senseless clamor will not here be permitted to drown the voice
of public justice. That your Honor, ever mindful of the high and
solemn trust reposed in your as one of the chosen administrators of
the laws of our country, will not suffer your attention to be diverted
from the consideration of the justice of our demand by the inflam-
matory speeches addressed by the learned Counsel ostensibly to
you, but in reality to the passions, prejudices, and sympathies of
the auditory which has filled this spacious Court-room from day to
day. And, now, let me ask what does the duty imposed upon you
require ? It demands neither more nor less than that you should
give effect to the provisions of a Treaty without which Canada would
soon become a place of refage for criminals of every grade, an asy-
lum for malefactors of every dye. For be it remembered that it
was with the object of protecting the subjects of Her Majesty and
the citizens of the United States from the direful consequences
that inevitably followed where great criminals were allowed to
escape the punishment due to their crimes, by fleeing from one
foreign territory into another, that the Governments of England
and the United States entered into the solemn Treaty which now
gives your Honor jurisdiction to investigate the charges preferred
against the prisoners. This treaty, as your Honor 1s aware, was
agsented to at Washington on the ninth of August 1842, and rati-
fied in the month of October following. I refer to its stipulations.
applicable to this case, with the view of showing more clearly the
obligations it imposes upon us. It ix to be found in the Consohd-
ated Statutes of Canada, Cap. 89, p. 943, and commences thus :
« Whereas, by the 10th article of a Treaty betw:een Her Majesty
and the United States of America, ratified, &c., 1t was agreed that
Her Majesty and the said United States should, upon mutual requi-
sitions by them or their Ministers, Officers or Authorities respec-
tively made, deliver up to justice all persons who, being charged
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with the crime of Murder, or Assault with intent to commit Murder,
or Piracy, or Arson, or Robbery, or Forgery, or the utterance of
Forged Paper within the jurisdiction of either of the high contract-
ing parties, should seek an asylum, or be found within the terri-
tories of the other.” Here we find that there can be no mistaking
the class of offenders marked out for extradition, which, be it re-
membered, the same article of the Treaty commands shall be granted
“ upon such evidence of criminality as according to the laws of the

lace where the fugitive or person so charged should be found,
would justify his apprehension and committal for trial if the crime
or offence had been there committed, and also provided that the
evidence of criminality should be heard and considered by the
Judge or Magistrate issuing the warrant, when, if deemed sufficient
to sustain the charge, it became the duty of the Justice to certify
the same to the proper executive authority, in order that a warrant
of extradition might issue.” This, your Honor, is the only test to
which the guilt of any person demanded under the Treaty can be
subjected until he is made to answer for his crime before the
tribunals of the country against the majesty of whose laws he has
offended. Who will say that this is not a wise measure of protec-
tion, if not of prevention, against the commission in our midst of all
or any of the foul crimes indicated in the Extradition Treaty ? Is
there a law-abiding citizen in Canada who wishes for its abrogation?
I believe there is not: and yet, strange as it may appear, this in-
vestigation has revealed the startling fact that there are at this
moment very many among us who erroncously imagine that this
national convention, so necessary for the repression of crime, and
so needful for the protection of society, dependent for its existence
upon the good faith observed in its execution by both the contract-
ing parties, may upon a special occasion be treated with indifference,
or, n order to secure the immunity from punishment of some highly
favored criminal, be ignored in such case altogether.

In refutation of this mistaken notion of our duties and obligations
under the Treaty, I will now read from the published opinions of
eminent Jurists and distinguished statesmen, a few extracts, to show
their appreciation of the benefits derivable from its existence, and
the rule to be observed whenever its execution becomes the subject
of demand by either of the high contracting parties.

Upon this point I refer firstly to a debate which took place in the
House of Lords, in the month of February, 1842, when this Treaty
was the subject of discussion. Upon that occasion Lord Brougham
said :—¢* He thought the interests of justice required, and the rights
of good neighborhood required, that in the countries bordering upon
one another, as the United States and Canada, and even that in
England and in the European countries of France, Holland, and
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Belgium, there ought to be laws on both sides giving power under
due regulations and safeguards to each Government, to secure per-
sons who had committed offences in the territory of one, and taken
refuge in the territory of the other. He could hardly imagine how
nations could maintain the relationship which ought to exist between
one civilized country and another without some such power.

“ Lord Campbell, for his own part, should like to see some gene-
ral law enacted and held binding on all states, that each should
surrender to the demand of the other all persons charged with
serious offences, except political ; this, however, he feared was a
rule or law which it would be difficult to get all nations to concur
in.”

Upon the same subject, Sir Robert Peel, replying to Lord Pal-
merston’s speech condemning the other provisions of the Treaty,
observes :—The next point to which I shall refer is the article of
the late Treaty providing for the mutual surrender of persons
charged with offences. The noble Lord admits that the general
object aimed at by the article is a wise one, that when the countries
have a common boundary, the escape of criminals by stepping over
that boundary, is prejudicial to the cause of good order, and inju-
rious to the interests of both countries. The reciprocal delivery of
heinous criminals is clearly an object of importance to civilized
Governments.””  Hansard’s Parliamentary Debates, 3rd series,
vol. 67, p. 1223.

President Tyler, in his Message communicating the Treaty to
Congress, observes :—¢ The surrender to justice of persons, who,
having committed high crimes, seek an asylum in the territories of
a neighboring nation, would seem to be an act due to the cause of
general justice, and properly belonging to the present state of civi-
lization and intercourse. The British Provinces of North America
are separated from the States of the Union by a line of several
thousand miles, and along portions of this line tae amount of popu-
lation on either side is quite considerable, while the passage of the
boundary is always easy. Offenders against the law on the one side
transfer themselves to the other ; sometimes with great difficulty
they are brought to justice, but very often they wholly escape. A
consciousness of immunity from the power of avoiding justice in this
way instigates the unprincipled and reckless to the commission of
offences, and the peace and good neighborhood of the b01:de1=s are
consequently often disturbed.” (Message of President of U. S. to
House of Congress, August, 1842.) o

Mr. Webster, the American negotiator of the Treaty,in his cele-
brated speech, delivered, I believe, in 1846, in defence of its
provisions, referring to the tenth article under which we are now
proceeding, spoke of it in the following terms:—“ I undertake to



278

say that the article for the extradition of offenders contained in the
Treaty of 1842, if there was nothing else in the Treaty of any im-
portance, has of itself been of more value to this country, and is of
more value to the progress of civilization, the cause of humanity,
and the good understanding between nations, than can be readily
computed. What was the state and condition of the country on
the borders and frontiers, at the time of this Treaty ? Why, it was
the time when the ¢ Patriot Societies,” or ¢ Hunters’ Lodges”
were in full operation, when companies were formed and officers
appointed by secret associations to carry on the war in Canada;
and as I have already said, the disturbances were so frequent and
so threatening, that the United States Government despatched
General Scott to the frontier to make a draft on New York for
militia, in order to preserve the peace of the border ? Nothing but
this agreement between the two governments that, if those ¢“ Patri-
ots’’ and ¢ Barn burners ”” went from one side to the other to destroy
their neighbors’ property, trying all the time to bring on a war,
(for that was their object,) they should be delivered up to be pun-
ished. They were heard of no more,” Webster’s Works, vol. 5,
. 139.)

¥ Vattel, speaking of Treaties, says: ¢ The faith of Treaties—
that firm and sincere resolution—that invariable constancy in ful-
filling our engagements, of which we make profession in a Treaty,
1s therefore to be held sacred and inviolable between the nations of
the earth, whose safety and repose it secures; and if mankind be
not wilfully deficient in their duty to themselves, infamy must ever
be the portion of him who violates his faith.

“ He who violates his Treaties, violates at the same time the
law of nations: for he disregards the faith of Treaties-—that
faith which the law of nations declares sacred; and, so far as
depends on him, he renders it vain and ineffectual. Doubly guilty,
he does an injury to his ally, he does an injury to all nations, and
inflicts a wound on the great society of mankind.”

On the observance and execution of treaties, ¢ said a respectable
sovereign,”’ depends all the security which princes and states have
with respect to each other ; and no dependence could henceforward
be placed in future conventions, if the existing ones were not to be
observed. The man who violates and tramples under foot treaty
engagements is a public enemy, who saps the foundation of the
peau)cze9 z;nd common safety of nations.—( Vattel, B. 2, cap. 25,
p- 229.

Upon the same subject, Chief Justice Jay, in hLis day a most
eminent jurist, and, if I mistake not, the negociator of the treaty
known as the “ Jay Treaty,” in delivering his charge to the Grand
Jury in the celebrated case of Henfield, tried in the city of Rich-
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mond, on the 22nd of May, in the year 1793, for a violation of the
neutrality laws of the United States, observed : ¢ Treaties between
independent nations are contracts or bargains which derive all their
force and obligations from mutual consent and agreement; and
consequently, when once fairly made and properly concluded, can-
not be altered or annulled by one of the parties without the consent
and concurrence of the other. Wide is the difference between
treaties and statutes : we may negociate and make contracts with
other nations, but we can neither legislate for them nor they for us
to vacate or modify treaties at discretion. Treaties, therefore,
necessarily become the supreme law of the land. The peace, pros-
perity, and reputation of the United States will always greatly
depend on their fidelity to their engagements, and every virtuous
citizen (for every citizen 1s a party to them) will concur in observ-
ing and executing them with honor and good faith ; and that whether
they be made with nations respectable and important, or with nations
weak and inconsiderable, our obligation to keep our faith results
from our having pledged it, and not from the character or descrip-
tion of the state or people to whom neither impunity nor the right
of retaliation can sanctify perfidy ; for although perfidy may deserve
chastisement, yet it can never merit imitation.”

Upon this branch of the case I will not dwell longer, as I believe
that your Honor is as fully sensible of the importance of our exe-
cuting in good faith our treaty engagements, as have been the dis-
tinguished men whose opinions upon this subject I have briefly laid
before you. But while it is our duty to give due effect to the treaty
when its execution is demanded, we must guard against its being
made to become in our hands an instrument of oppression or of in-
Jjustice. I will, therefore, with the view of showing the justness of
the present application, address myself to the consideration of the
facts upon which is founded in this instance the demand of the
United States for the extradition of the prisoners; premising that
before we can invoke the operation of the treaty, we must have
clearly, unmistakably, and in accordance with the rules and re-
quirements of the law as it exists, here establish three facts :

First.—That the particular offence which has caused the de-
mand for extradition, was committed at the time and place alleged
by wus.

ySecondly.—Tha,t it is one of the offences mentioned and de-
scribed in the treaty. o

Thirdly, and lastly.—That the persons whose extradition is by
reason thereof demanded, participated in the commission of the
guilty deed. | . _ _

This, your Honor, as I understand the object of our imvestiga-
tion, is the most important branch of our enquiry, and, therefore,
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the first to merit our attention. Impressed with this conviction of
our duties and responsibilities, I will now proceed to discuss the
evidence we have adduced in support of these three propositions,

What then are the facts proved, if any ? I answer, that it is
proved beyond the possibility of doubt that long previous to the
19th day of October last, the day when the crime in question was
committed, a plan was organised in our Province of Canada, by a
party of men calling themselves Southern Refugees, who at the
time were enjoying the hospitalities of our citizens and the pro-
tection of our laws, which plan had for its object the robbery of
our neighbours in the peaceful town of St. Albans. It is proved
that in pursuance of this illegal and treacherous organization, and
two or three days preceding the said 19th day of October, these
so-called refugees, to the number of about twenty, secretly left this
Province, and stealthily introduced themselves into the town of St.
Albans. It is proved that after their arrival there, and so soon as
these evil-disposed visitors had marked out the persons whom they
intended should become the victims of their cowardly and felonious
operations, they cast aside the disguise assumed for the occasion,
and in the afternoon of the 19th day of October last, suddenly
emerged from their hiding places, and appeared among the un-
suspecting citizens of St. Albans, armed with the deadliest kind of
weapons ; each man of the party threatening instant death to all or
any of the panic-stricken citizens who dared to oppose him in his
work of plunder.

It is proved, that having been thus armed, some of the gang
entered the St. Albans bank, and, having taken violent possession,
closed its doors ; that immediately after this first act in the tragedy
so treacherously performed, Mr. Samuel Breck, unconscious of the
danger that awaited him, knocked for admission, and was permitted
to enter. Itis proved that no sooner had he done so, than the door
of the bank was again closed ; whereupon he was violently seized
by one of the robbers, who presented a revolver close to his head,
threatening at the same moment (I use the words of the witness)
toblow his brains out if he (Breck) did not then deliver to him a sum
of money which he had brought with him to the bank for the pur-
pose of redeeming his promissory note, unfortunately for him, due
on that eventful day. It is proved that Breck, seeing that resist-
ance upon his part would but lead to his being shot dead upon the
spot, ylelded to the threat of his murderous assailant, and allowed
him to take his money, amounting to about $300, and which, as I
have already stated, he carried with him to the bank for the pur-
pose of paying his note.

It is proved, that during the continuance of this cowardly opera-
tion (politely designated by my learned friends an act of war),
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others of the same gang were keeping watch on the outside of the
bank, with the view of guarding their light-fingered friends in the
mside from being suddenly surprised, or even rudely interfered
with, In their work of plunder. It is also proved, that others of the
same party were, at the same moment, engaged in the highly
honorable and of course ¢ warlike act” of stealing horses, with
which to enable the honest warriors, one and all, to seek safety in
flight so soon as the work of robbery was completed. It is proved,
that after their thirst for plunder was satisfied, these valiant sol-
diers mounted the stolen horses, and, with their ill-gotten booty,
fled to Canada, which they had left a few hours before ; but mark,
not before they had imbrued their hands in the blood of the unfor-
tonate and unoffending man Morrison, whom they then and there,
without the shadow of a cause or provocation on his part, brutally
murdered. But to this cruel deed I must not make further refe-
rence, as it is not at this moment the subject of investigation.

It is also established, that so soon as the report of these infamous
outrages upon the lives and liberties, the honor and property of
our neighbors, had reached the ears of the Government and people
of this Province, they elicited from one and all a general outburst
of earnest and well-merited indignation, heightened by a knowledge
of the fact that the murderers and robbers had sought a place of
refuge in Canada, which they had evidently made the base of their
nefarious operations.

It is well known that the Government of this country, animated
by a lofty sense of justice, and moved, as well by a desire to mark
their abhorrence of the crimes committed at St. Albans, as to
maintain our friendly relations with the United States, ordered the
immediate employment of every means at their disposal necessary
for the apprehension of the offenders; the result of which was the
arrest in this Province of thirteen of the gang, all of whom unfor-
tunately were subsequently allowed to escape. How or why this
was permitted it is not necessary I should now stop to enquire, par-
ticularly as the circumstances under which the prisoners eluded
justice, are at this moment the subject of a special Governmental
Investigation.

What has taken place subsequently is personally known to your
Honor. It was upon your warrant that five of the prisoners who
had escaped were re-arrested ; they are the persons now under
examination. So far, your Honor will not fail to perceive that we
have proved our two first propositions, namely, that Samuel Breck
was robbed, and at the town of St. Albans, in the State of Vermont,
one of the United States of America, and within the jurisdiction of
the United States, and also that this is one of the crimes mentioned
and described in the Treaty.
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It is, therefore, only necessary that we should advance one step
further, and show that we have proved our third and last proposi-
tion, that is, that the crime was committed by the prisoners. And
this, I think, we have abundantly established by our having identi.
fied two of them, Spurr and Teavis, as the prisoners who personally
robbed Breck, and the other prisoners as having aided, assisted,
and concerted with them for that purpose. Upon this point I refer
to 1 Wharton, American Criminal Law, page 124, wherein the law
upon this subject is stated in these words : ¢ It is not necessary that
the party should be actually present, an eye or ear witness of the
transaction ; he is in construction of law present, aiding and abet-
ting, if with the intention of giving assistance he be near enough to
afford it, should the occasion require. Thus, if he be outside the
house watching to prevent surprise or the like, whilst his companions
are In the house committing the felony, such constructive presence
is sufficient ; one who keeps guard while others act thus, assisting
them, is in the eyes of the law present and responsible as if actu-
ally present. In case of stealing in a shop, if several are acting in
concert, some in the shop and some out, and the property is stolen
by one of those in the shop, those who are on the outside are equally
guilty as principals in the offence in stealing in a shop.”

As to what violence is sufficient to constitute robbery, Archbold,
in vol. 3, p. 418, says: ¢ The ordinary mode, formerly of present-
ing a pistol is sufficient, so, if the robber assault the party in any
other way under such circumstances of terror, as to cause him to
deliver up his money or other property, or if there be a struggle for
the property before it is taken, is sufficient.”

If further testimony should be required, it would only be neces-
sary to refer to the voluntary statements of the prisoners, in which
they admit their commission of the crime charged against them,
but, say they, we should stand excused. Why ? Because we
informed Breck at the time we robbed him, that we did so in the
name of the Confederacy. Truly a very consoling intimation.

Such, your Honor, are the facts; and such, also, 1s the law upon
which we rest this branch of our case. The next consideration that
presents itself 1s: What is the duty of the Judge under these cir-
cumstance 7 Would your Honor, if this crime had been perpetrated
in this Province, and within the jurisdiction of this Court, by any of
our citizens, with such evidence of its commission as we have laid
before you in support of the present charge, hesitate for a moment
in committing them for trial ? I feel confident you would not ; and
therefore I venture to say, that if the justice which under similar
circumstances we would mete out to ourselves is not denied to the
United States, and I hope it will not, your Honor cannot refuse to
commit the prisoners now before you, to await the further action of
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the Government, upon the demand for their extradition. In sup-
port of this view of the case, I will now cite a few authorities,
which, I believe, are worthy of your Honor’s attention.

THE DUTY O THE JUDGE.

Sir Cornwall Lewis puts it thus clearly and explicitly : In order
to render a system of extradition effectual, the amount of proof, and
the formalities required should be as small as is consistent with the
prevention of abuse. The essence of the system is, that confidence
15 reposed in the foreign government and in its administration of
criminal law. The assurance of that Government ought to be the
chief guarantee against abuse. If, therefore, it claims any fugi-
tive, through the accredited diplomatic channels, and gives a rea-
sonable proof that therc has been a proper investigation by the
officers of police and the functionaries conducting the preliminary
stages of judicature, and that this investigation had led to the con-
clusion that the person in question is guilty of the offence charged
against him, 1t 1s desirable that the extradition should take place,
upon proof of identity of the party, and without any full investiga-
tion, such as a magistrate would make for the commitment of a
prisoner in this country. (Lewis on Foreign Jurisdiction, p. 52).
And again at page 53, he says: ¢ The recognition of the criminal
law of a foreign State, and the confidence in its regular and just
administration which is implied in a system of extradition thus car-
ried into effect, is paralleled by the established practice of this and
other countries with respect to the civil law.”

In fact the rule thus clearly stated has been followed in practice
whenever questions under the Treaty arose.

In the Anderson case, Chief Justice Draper, with reference to
the case of a party accused of murder, seeking to justify it, obser-
ved :—If there is a question of fact to be tried, I apprehend he
must be surrendered, as such a question can only be tried in the
country where the fact arose. (U. C. C. P. R. Nos. 1and 2, Vol.
II, page 60.) .

In the Chesapeake case the same question was incidentally dis-
posed of. The Counsel for the prisoners was proceeding to com-
ment on the evidence of authority from the Confederate Govern-
ment, when Mr. Justice Ritchie observed : “ Assuming, as you
must do, at this stage of your argument, the correctness of the
proceedings against the prisoners, and the Magistrate’s Jurisdiction
of the offence, do not these questions fall within the province of the
Superior Court on the trial of the prisoners? Is it not the Magis-
trate’s duty now merely to see if a preliminary case is made out ?
I think we must act in this case just as if it was an offence commit-
ted here. The (uestion is, would I on the evidence commit for
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trial in this country ? If so, must I not commit the parties for
extradition ?”’

To this the prisoner’s Counsel replied :—In Anderson’s case g
prima facie case was made out, but the prisoner was discharged,
and so in U. S. vs. Palmer, 4 Curtis, page 314, Parker is found
in command ef the Retribution, and Braine and Parr acting under
him, (Ritchie, J.) I think these questions are proper for a Jury,
and not for the Magistrate. His duty is simply to deal with this
case as a Magistrate would deal withan offence to be tried in this
country. (Chesapeake case, Report, page 85.) The case of Mets-
ger reported in the 5th vol. New Legal Observer, maintains the
same doctrine. The Magistrate must commit when there is just
ground for suspicion.

I will now, said Mr. Devlin, call your Honor’s attention to the
case of Joseph Fisher (to be found ifi Stuart’s Repts., p. 245,)
decided in our own courts. Fisher was accused of having stolen
$638 in the state of Vermont, one of the United States of America.
Immediately after the robbery, he fled to Canada, hoping, like the
prisoners now before the court, to find a safe asylum here. Fisher
was, however, not permitted to enjoy his ill-gotten booty in peace.
An application was made for his extradition, although, be it re-
membered, there was at the time no Treaty as there is now for the
surrender of fugitives from justice, in existence. The application
was founded upon what is called the ¢ comity of nations,” and was
heard before Chief Justice Reid. That eminent Judge, in dispo-
sing of the question, said :—¢ This right of surrender is founded
on the principle, that he who has caused an injury, is bound to re-
pair it, and he who has infringed the laws of any country is liable
to the punishment inflicted by those laws; if we screen him from
that punisment, we become parties to his crime, we excite retalia-
tion ; we encourage criminals to take refuge among us. Wedo
that as a nation which as endividuals, it would be dishonorable,
nay, criminal to do. If, on the contrary, we deliver up the accu-
sed to the offended nation, we only fulfil our part of the social com-
pact, which directs that the rights of nations as well as individuals
should be respected, and a good understanding maintained between
them ; and this is the more requisite among neighboring States,
on account of the daily communications which must necessatly sub-
sist between them.

A modern writer (Instit. du Droit des Gens, &c., par le (Ferard
de Raymeval, liv. 2, ch. 3, ss. 4, p. 134), on the Laws of Nations,
says :—‘ La communication journali¢re entre deux pais limitrophes
est inévitable, et elle doit étre d’autant plus favorisée par leurs
gouvernemens respectifs, qu’elle est naturellement fondées sur des
besoins réciproques et qu’elle donne par 1%, lieu & des changes,
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d’ailleurs elle établit entre les habitants respectifs des liaisons, et
une sorte de confiance qui assurent leur tranquillité, et contribuent
a leur jouissances.”

Indeed, said the learned Chief Justice Reid, were we to take
into account the opinions of modern writers on International law,
we would be still more strongly fortified in the principle we here
hold, and we see no reason why those opinions should be re-
jected. At all events, said the Judge, we may safely say, that
at the present day the world has become enlightened in the sci-
ence of government as well as in all the other departments of
human knowledge, far beyond what was known to those writers
who lived centuries ago; and therefore that the maxims of govern-
ment of the present day may be considered at least as well under-
stood, and better adapted to the rights and feelings of mankind,
than they could have been in the days of Grotius and Puffendorf.
What, said this eminent Judge, we have to determine is, whether
there was legal gronnd for the arrest and surrender of the prisoner ;
and we hold there was. The prisoner, said he, comes before us in
a very different character from that of a subject to whom protec-
tion is due as a matter of right: he is an alien, to whom protection
is not due, if the King sees fit to withhold it. The observation of
Judge Tilghman may well be applied to him ¢ that he cannot force
himself into the King’s territories, and say, yow shall protect me.”
It is held (see Chitty on Prerog., p. 49 ; 1 Black, Com., 259-260),
that alien friends may lawfully come into the country without any
license or protection from the Crown; though it seems that the
Crown, even at common law, and by the law of nations, possesses a
right to order them out of the country, or prevent them from com-
ing into it, whenever His Majesty thinks fit: and the reason given
is (see 1 Chitty, Crim. Law, 131 and 143, note [a]), that it is
inseparable from the governing power in any country, that it shall
be able to take precautions against foreigners residing in such
country, and particularly in a country where foreigners are only
amenable to the ordinary laws. The prisoner, said the Judge,
came into this Province under suspicious circumstances, charged
with felony ; as an alien his conduct did not merit protection—
unless he had come wich a fairer character—and he ought not to
be surprised, nor to complain that His Majesty’s Government
should direct him to be taken back to that country whence he
came.

Applying, said Mr. Dovlin, this Judgment to the case in ques-
tion, may we not say that the prisoners now lzefore this Court
should not complain, if you, one of Her Majesty’s Judges, should
hold that they should be taken back to that country whose laws
they so shamefully violated. That having outraged the laws of
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humanity as they, the prisoners, did at St. Albans, they have not
the right to say, We will force ourselves into your Canadian terri-
tory ; and though our guilt should involve you in war, we will still
persist in demanding that you should assume all the responsibilities
of our crimes, and, cost what it may, that you should shield us
from the penalty due to our offences. 'I'his, said the learned
Counsel, is the ridiculous pretension unblushingly set up on behalf
of the prisoners, and boldly urged upon the attention of the Court.

The next case to which he, Mr. Devlin, would call his Honor’s
attention, was the well-known case of Muller, whose extradition
was demanded by the British Government upon a charge of mur-
der. The application for his surrender was investigated in the
city of New York, before Mr. Commissioner Newton. In render-
ing judgment, the learned Commissioner made the following perti-
nent remarks, which will be found at pp. 28 and 30 of the pub-
lished report of the proceedings had in that case :—

“ The evidence is such as would plainly require the commitment
of Mulier for trial if the offence had been committed here, and it
results that a certificate leading to his extradition, that the case
may undergo an investigation in England, should -be granted.”
And on this the Commissioner, in the following language, applied
the law clearly applicable to that and every other case arising under
the Treaty : ¢ Having heard and carefully considered the remarks
made by the council for the defence I am at a loss to see, after
having carefully considered the testimony, and weighing it in my
mind, that there is not sufficient evidence for me, sitting here simply
as a magistrate, and the duty for me being simply to determine,
not whether the man is guilty or not, but whether there is sufficient
evidence to require that he may be committed, in order to afford
an opportunity at the place where the crime was committed, of
proving his guilt or innocence. It is not necessary for me to say
whether I would absolutely convict the man, and sentence him to
be hung, were that even in my province, but the duty I have to
perform 1s simply this : first, has there been a crime committed ?
If committed. is there probable cause from the evidence adduced
to say that the accused is the party who has committed the crime?
Now it appears to my mind clear, that looking at it in that light—
in the light of probable cause,—it is very plain that there is such
cause. I do not desire to sit in judgment on this man, but I wish
it were in my power to discover any evidence in the case whereby
I could withhold the certificate : but I am hound to say that the
combined circumstances, to my mind appear so clear and so distinct,
that upon the question of probable cause I cannot have any doubt.”

In the still more recent case for murder on the high seas, on
board the British brig ¢ Raymond,” in which the prisoner desired
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to show by evidence that the act was justifiable, the same judge
applied the like clear principle, as follows: ¢ Even admitting that
evidence of justification could be legally received (of which, how-
ever, under the Treaty I have great doubt,) it is not for me to
determine what effect 1t might or might not have upon the mind of
a jury on a final hearing or trial for murder. Under the Treaty I
am only to determine the question of probable cause. The simple
question here to be decided is, whether there is sufficient probable
cause to justify his return for trial to the country within whose
jurisdiction the crime is charged to have been committed.”

In the case of Ternan (Boston Monthly L. R. vol. 26, p. 510)
and others for piracy alleged to have heen committed in seizing
steamer ¢ J. L. Gerrity,” in the month of November, 1863, the
judges of the Queen’s Bench in England, though differing in opinion
on the question whether piracy, jure gentium, was within the
Treaty, did not controvert the same principle laid down by Lord
Chief Justice Cockburn: ¢ No doubt, prima facie, the act of seiz-
ing the vessel, saying at the same time that it is seized for the
Confederates, may raise a presumption of such an intention; but
then all the circumstances must be looked at to see if the act was
really done piratically, which would be for the jury; and I cannot
say that the magistrate was not justified in committing the prisoner
for trial.

And Mr. Justice Crompton observed, ¢ Upon the latter point I
quite concur with my Lord because it is not for us to weigh the
effect of the evidence which is for the jury ; and all we can consider
is whether there was enough to justify a committal for trial, and I
agree with my Lord that we cannot say that there was not.”

It is unnecessary to multiply authorities on a point so clearly
defined by the Treaty, but the following observations of Attorney-
General Cushing, (opinions of Atty’s. General, vol. 4, p. 204 and
211,) in advising the Government of the United States in a case
where the prisoner arrested for extradition on a charge of murder
desired to prove insanity before the committing magistrate, are so
pertinent that they are quoted : ¢ The evidence upon the exhibi-
tion of which this (. e. delivery up to justice) is to be done, is such
as, according to the laws of the place where the fugitive or person
charged shall be found, would justify his apprehension and commit-
ment for trial if the crime or offence had been there committed.”

Had the treaty conferred upon the magistrate—if it could have
been made competent to such an object—the power of trying the
person charged for an offence committe'd within a forglgn..]ums.dlc-
tion, and of punishing in case of ascertained guilt, the inquiry might
have presented itself in a different aspect. But the stipulations
under examination aim at no such end, but are confined to the
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ascertainment of facts which can weigh nothing in any consequent
and purely judicial investigation of the charge.”—Ibid., p. 211.

These opinions and decisions are, I think, well worthy the atten-
tion of this Court, as showing that upon the establishment of g
prima facie case of guilt, the extradition of the accused should be
ordered, leaving him to plead matters of justification before the
Court and Jury invested with jurisdiction to try the merits of the
offence.

Believing that sufficient notice has been taken of this point, I will
will now proceed to show by authority, which cannot be controverted,
that the surrender of fugitives from justice is a national obligation.
That it is the law and usage of nations, resting on the plainest
principles of justice and public utility, to deliver up offenders
charged with felony and other high crimes, and fleeing from the
country in which the crime was committed, into a foreign and
friendly jurisdiction.

In the matter of Washburn, (Johnson’s Chan. Repts. 4 vol.),
arrested in Troy upon a charge of having stolen $350 in Montreal,
the Chancellor who was applied to for his discharge, said : Whena
case of this kind occurs, it becomes the duty of the Magistrate, on
due proof of the fact, to commit the fugitive, to the end that a rea-
sonable time may be afiorded for the Government here to deliver
him up, or for the foreign Government to make the requisite appli-
cation to the proper authorities here for his surrender. This doc-
trine i3 supported equally by reason and authority.

Vattel observes (B. 2, c. 6,s. 76), that to deliver up one’s own
subjects to the offended State, there to receive justice, is pretty
generally observed, with respect to great crimes, or such as are
equally contrary to the laws and safety of all nations. Assassins,
incendiaries, and robbers, he says are seized everywhere, at the
desire of the Sovereign in the place where the crime was com-
mitted, and delivered up to his justice. The sovereign who refuses
to deliver up the guilty, renders himself, in some measure, an
accomplice in the injury, and becomes reponsible for it. Professor
Martens, also in his Summary of the Law of Nations, p. 107,
says, that according to modern custom, a criminal is frequently sent
back to the place where the crime was committed, on the request
of a power who offers to do the like service, and that we often see
instances of this.

Grotius, who is of still higher authority, declares: (B. 2, cap. 21,
sec. 3, 4, 5), that the State is accountable for the crimes of its
subjects committed abroad, if it affords them protection ; and,
therefore, the State where the offender resides, or has fled to,
ought, upon application and examination of the case, either to

punish him according to his demerit, or to deliver him up to the
foreign State.



289

Heineccius, in his commentary on these passages (Przlec. in
‘Grot. h. t.), admits that the surrender of a citizen, who commits a
crime In a foreign country, is according to the law of nations; and
he says further, that it is to be deduced from the principles of
natural law. We ought either to punish the offender ourselves, or
deliver him up to the foreign government for punishment. So Bus-
lamaquz, (part 4, c. 3,ss. 23 to 29), follows the opinion of Grotius,
and maintains that the duty of delivering up fugitives from justice
1s of common and indispensable obligation.

In the matter of Washburn previously referred to, the Chancel-
lor said : ““It has been suggested that theft is not a felony of such
an atroclous and mischievous nature, as to fall within the usage of
nations on this point. But the crimes which belong to the cogni-
zance of the law of nations are not specially defined; and those
which strike deeply at the rights of property, and are inconsistent
with the safety and harmony of commercial intercourse, come within
the mischief to be prevented, and within the necessity, as well as
the equity, of the remedy. They are equally invasions of the
rights of property, and incompatible with the ends of civil society.
Considering the great and constant intercourse between this State
and the Provinces of Canada, and the entire facility of passing
from one dominion to the other; it would be impossible for the
inhabitants on the respective frontiers to live in security, or to
maintain a friendly intercourse with each other, if thieves could
cscape with impunity, merely by crossing the territorial line. The
policy of the nation and the good sense of individuals would equally
condemn such a dangerous doctrine.”

In Kent’s commentaries, (Vol. 1, p. 36,) Phillimore, (Vols. 1
and 2,) Zabriskie’s New Jersey Reports, (Vol. 8, p. 377,) Ruther-
Sorth, (B. 2,c. 9, s. 12)) the same doctrines are enunciated as
torming part of the law of nations.

Here I will leave this branch of the case,and here I might leave
it altogether. Because the pretended belligerency claimed for
the prisoners, and boldly set up as a justification of their crimes,
involves a question which the reading of the foregoing authorities
clearly shows, if it has any existence, (and I deny that it has in
the present case,) can only be determined at the time of the trial
of the prisoners, and not upon a preliminary investigation of this
kind. But, as my learned friends have opened before us the wide
field of international law, and defiantly challenged us to enter, L
will not shrink from a consideration of the question even from this
new and foreign point of view, much as it is, in my opinion, out of
place in the present enquiry. Upon this point, the arguments of
the learned counsel lead me to suppose that they view the acts of
the prisoners at St. Albans in the light of belligerent acts. And

T
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in support of this pretension they have cited, with a show of appa--
rent seriousness, certain writers, to prove that, as what their clients.
did was, from their point of view, done by virtue of previously
acquired belligerent rights, therefore the crimes committed by the
prisoners at St. Albans cannot be made the subjects of enquiry
before the tribunals of a neutral country. But the learned gen-
tlemen must be reminded, that before they can invoke the opera-
tion of international law to justify, excuse, or palliate the outrages
of which they are accused, they must have proved the existence of
a certain state of facts to which their law can be applied. As, for
instance, that their clients were duly commissioned by recognised
military authority, to commit the act complained of. That the cir-
cumstances under which it was undertaken and executed, exempted
them from criminal responsibility, and above all, even supposing
that the prisoners were so authorized, that they have not forfeited
their belligerent character, by commencing their attack from a
neutral and friendly territory.

In the absence of such proof, it is perfectly manifest that their
International law can have no application ; and for this very good
reason, that without it there is nothing of record to which the inge-
nuity of the most skilful pleader can possibly make the application.
I will, therefore, as next in order, examine the evidence, such as
it is, submitted by the prisoners upon these points, all of which I
undertake to demonstrate they have signally failed to prove.

The defence of the prisoners rests upon the pretended commis-
sion produced by Bennett H. Young, which it has been strenuously
urged entitles him to the recognition of an officer in the service of
the so-called Confederate States. And further, that under this
commission, and certain mysterious instructions communicated to
him by one C. C. Clay, Young, and his accomplices were fully
licensed to commit all kinds of depredations at St. Albans, or else-
where in the United States.

This being the modest pretension of the prisoners’ Counsel, we
will now see how far it is borne out by reference to the commission
itself, which is in these words :—

Lieutenant Young's Commission.

CONFEDERATE STATES OF AMERICA,
WAR DEPARTMENT,
Richmond, June 16, 1864,

SIR,-—You are hereby informed that the President has appointed
you First Lieutenant, under the act 121, approved February 1Tth,
1864, in the Provisional Army, in the service of the Confederate
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States, to rank as such from the 16th day of June, 1864. Should
the Senate, at their next session, ADVISE and CONSENT
THERETO, you will be commissioned accordingly.

Immediately on receipt thereof, please to communicate to this
Department, through the Adjutant and Inspector General’s Office,
your acceptance or non-acceptance of said appointment, and, with
your letter of acceptance, return to the Adjutant and Inspector
General the oath herewith enclosed, properly filled up, subscribed,
and attested, reporting at the same time your age, residence, when
appointed, and the State in which you were born.

Should you accept, you will report for duty to

(Signed) JAS. A. SEDDON, Secretary of War.

Lieut. Bennet H. Young &ec., &c., P.A.C.8.

This, your Honor, is the document which you are asked to regard
a8 & commission, and to accept as an authority for the perpetration
of the crimes committed by the prisoners at St. Albans. A modest
request surely, considering that upon the face of this same piece of
paper, it appears that a commission will only be given, provided the
Senate at their neat session advise and consent thereto. But there
has been no attempt to prove that the Senate ever did advise or
consent thereto, nor is there a particle of evidence to show that
Young ever communicated his willingness, verbally or in writing,
to accept of such appointment, or that he ever took the required
oath. To get rid of these difficulties, witnesses have been examined
with the view of proving that it was the custom of the Confederacy
to issue commuissions in this conditional form, to be ratified after-
wards when the Senate met. Well, if such a practice had prevailed,
1t might, perhaps, have answerd the purpose intended. But surely
the matter assumes an entirely different aspect when the holder of
such a document leaves the limits of the so-called Confederacy, and
goes abroad to rob and murder by virtue of such authority. The
prétence that this piece of paper is sufficient to justify the crimes
committed by the prisoners at St. Albans, is so monstrous as to
excite astonishment at its having been urged upon the attention of
the Court. Indeed, it is well calculated to induce the belief that
we are trifling with our Treaty obligations.

It has, however, been said on behalf of the accused, that Young
received instructions subsequent to his pretended commission which
supply the authority of the Senate and establish his military status.
These instructions I will now read word for word as I find them in
the evidence.
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Confederate States of America,
SN War Department,
Richmond, Va., June 16th, 1864,

To Lieutr. BEnner H. Young,

Lieut.,—You have been appointed temporarily First Lieut. in the
Provisional Army for special service. You will proceed without
delay by the route already indicated to you, and report to C. C,
Clay, jun., for orders. You will collect together such Confederate
soldiers who have escaped from the enemy, not exceeding twenty
in number that you may deem suitable for that purpose, and ex-
ecute such enterprises as may be indicated to you. You will take
care to organize within the territory of the enemy, to violate none
of the neutrality laws, and obey implicitly his instructions. You
and your men will receive transportation and customary rations,
and clothing or commutation therefor.

JAMES A. SEDDON,
Sec. of War.

CONFEDERATE STATES OF AMERICA,
War Department.
Richmond, Va., June 16th, 1864
To Lievur. BExNET H. Young,
Lieut.,—You have been appointed temporarily 1st. Lieut. in the
Provisional Army for special service.
You will proceed without delay to the British Provinces, where
you will report to Messrs. Thompson and Clay for instructions.
You will, under their direction, collect together such Confede-
rate soldiers who have escaped from the enemy, not exceeding
twenty in number, as you may deem suitable for the purpose, and
will execute such enterprises as may be entrusted to you. You
will take care to commit no violation of the local law, and to obey
implicitly their instructions. You and your men will receive from
these gentlemen, transportation, and the customary rations and
clothing, or commutation therefor.
JAMES A. SEDDON, Sec. of War.
Va., June 16th.

CONFEDERATE STATES OF AMERICA,
. WAR DEPARTMENT,
Richmond, Va., June 16th, 1864.

Lieut. B. H. Young is hereby authorized to organize for special
service a Company, not to exceed twenty in number, from those who
belong to the service and are at the time beyond the Confederate
States.
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They will be entitled to their pay, rations, clothing, and trans-
portation, but no other compensation for any service which they
may be called upon to render.

The organisation will be under the control of this Department,
and liable to be disbanded at its pleasure, and the members returned
to their respective companies.

JAMES A. SEDDON, Secretary of War.

Here, your Honor, we have no less than three different-sets of
instructions, emanating, we are told, from the Confederate Secre-
tary of War, and each of them upon the 16th of June. In the first
instructions given, Young is ordered to proceed without delay by
the route already indicated to him, and to report to C. C. Clay,
Jun., for orders. In the second, the same Bennett H. Young is
ordered to proceed without delay to the British Provinces, and
there report himself to Messrs. Thompson and Clay for instruction.
While in the third set of instructions he is informed, that the
organization will be made under the control of the War Department.
Now, how are we for the purposes of this enquiry, to reconcile
these conflicting orders? Can we seriously believe that Jas. A.
Seddon, supposing him to have been a sane man upon the 16th of
June last, ever subscribed his name to orders so ridiculously con-
tradictory to each other? For my part, I incline to the belief, that
he did not, and for this reason, that I am strongly impressed with
the conviction that the pretended commission and instructions have
been fabricated to meet the exigency of the prisoners’ position.
But whether I am right in this conjecture or not matters little, as
neither the so-called commission nor its accompanying instructions,
convey any authority to the prisoners to engage in acts of murder
or robbery. Indeed, so true is this, that we find their Counsel re-
lying for a justification of their crimes, not upon the alleged autho-
rity of James A. Seddon, but upon the order of the mysterious C. C.
Clay, whom nobody in Canada, except the prisoners and their
Counsel, seems to have seen, known, or cared about. Remember-
ing, however, that C. C. Clay, Jun., has figured conspicuously in
this investigation; that it is he, whom we are told, planned, autho-
rised, and directed the execution of the St. Albans raid, that it was
his command the prisoners obeyed, and stated they were bound to
obey, I feel myself called upon to examine his authority to sanction
the crimes committed at St. Albans, and to issue military orders

from Canada.

Here is his letter to Young :—
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PAPER P.
Menmn. for Lieut. Bennet Young, C. S. A.

Your report of your doings, under your instructions of 16th June
last from the Secretary of War, covering the list of twenty Confede-
rate soldiers who are escaped prisoners, collected and enrolled by you
under those instructions, is received.

Your suggestions for a raid upon accessible towns in Vermont,
commencing with St. Albans, is approved, and you are authorised
and required to act in conformaty with that suggestion.

October 6, 1864.

C. C. CLAY, JUN.

Commissioner, C. S. A.

Now, I think it may be fairly asked, who is this C. C. Clay, who
has arrogated to himself such extraordinary powers in a neutral
territory ? George N. Sanders, in his evidence, says: I know
Mr. C. C. Clay, whose name is subscribed to document P. He was
then exercising the authority of a Confederate agent, claiming full
ambassadorial powers, as well civil as military. 1 had several
conversations with Mr. Clay about the St. Albans raid. He informed
me that he directed the raid, and gave the order for it—the St.
Albans raid—and Bennett H. Young was instructed by him to carry
1t out. Mr. Clay told me about the eighth day of December last, a
few days before he left, that he would leave such a letter as the
paper writing marked P, and which I infer had not been written up
to that time. The letter which he said he would write on that oc-
casion was a letter assuming all the responsibility of the St. Albans
raid, for which he was responsible.

Now, if we are to believe Sanders, and I know of no reason why
we should disbelieve his testimony upon this point, the prisoners
had only the verbal authority of C. C. Clay, for their doings at St.
Albans, upon the 19th of October. The letter, or memorandum,
as it is called, bearing date 6th October last, was undoubtedly written
after the prisoners’ visit to St. Albans, and in the month of
December, a day or two before C. C. Clay withdrew himself from
Canada. But this, again, is of little consequence, for it is to be hoped
that the assumed authority in Canada of a soi-disant Southern rebel
agent, will not be permitted to over-ride our own laws, to nullify our
treaties, and to imperil our friendly relations with the United States.
Besides, Clay, of all others is least entitled at our hands to friendly
recognition. It is in evidence, that from the moment hLe set foot
in this Province, he disregarded our neutrality laws, which, so long
as he claimed an asylum m Canada, were as binding upon him as
upon us. And Clay knew this, as appears by the evidence of Wm.

M. Cleary, who says : ‘“ The reason why at an earlier stage of this
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-enquiry I did not produce this paper, ordering Young to proceed to

the British Provinces, to report himself to Messrs. Thompson and
‘Clay for instructions, was, that after a consultation I had with the
Counsel for the defence, it was decided not to produce it, because it
‘might involve Clay in a breach of the neutrality laws.”

Another paper, omitting the words proceed to the British Pro-
vinces, was, therefore, substituted ; a proceeding, which shows the
dexterity of the prisoners’ friends in manufacturing evidence to meet
the requirements of their case. Is it not, however, strange, that
Clay, who (according to Mr. Sanders) claims to exercise in
Canada full ambassadorial powers, civil as well as military, has not
made his appearance at any time during this investigation ? As-
suredly, if he is clothed, as Sanders tells us, with such high power and
authority, his evidence might have been of some importance to the
prisoners. At any rate, it would have been interesting to very
many, no doubt, to be afforded an opportunity of seeing the first
ambassador Canada could ever boast of having within her borders.
But the fact is, your Honor, Clay dared not appear. And as a
proof of this, we find, that in order to screen his own guilt, and to
save himself from punishment, he has fled from Canada, taking with
him, if report be true, and I doubt it not, much more than his share of
the moneys stolen by the prisoners from the people of St. Albans. And
yet, it is the authority of this conspirator against the laws of the
United States, against the peace, dignity and welfare of Canada ;
he, who had not even the courage to stand by his friends and accom-
plices in their hour of trial, that is set up as a justification of the St.
Albans outrages, and for which judicial recognition is demanded
from this Court. I believe, however, that your Honor will not
sanction such a monstrous proposition for a moment—one utterly
abhorrent to every idea of justice, and one which, I hesitate not to
say, if entertained by the people of this Province, will, I verily
believe, be regarded, and justly so, by the United States as tanta-
mount to a declaration of war against them. I say justly soy Sir,
because if you discharge the prisoners, it must be that you regard
them as belligerents, and the crimes imputed to them at St. Albans,
as so many acts of legitimate warfare. Now, considering the cir-
cumstances under which this robbing expedition was planned and
executed—that it was concocted in Canada,and started from Canada,
and that it has no higher authority to rest upon than the memoran-
dum of C. C. Clay, can we be surprised that our recognition and
judicial sanction of such an atrocious outrage should excite the
indignation of the people of the United States, and induce them to
look upon us as their enemies ? .

But before I leave this point, let me remind your Honor, that
Mr. Davis, the President of the so-called Confederate States, has
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not to this hour, acknowledged the acts of the prisoners, or in an

way assumed the responsibility of what they did at St. Albans. In
support of this statement, I refer to the evidence of the Revd.
Stephen F. Cameron, the messenger dispatched to Richmond, to
obtain from there a ratification of the prisoners, acts, or such other
evidence as would prove that their raid was directed, sanctioned,
and authorized by the Confederate government, and that they,
the prisoners, were duly commissioned officers and soldiers of the
Confederacy. Your Honor will remember how often and how ear-
nestly my learned friends protested against being called upon for
the defence of their clients, until they had an opportunity of com-
munication with Richmond. But why this necessity for communi-
cating with Richmond if the pretended commission and written me-
morandum of C. C. Clay were, at the time of their production by the
prisoners, as we are told they were, sufficient to prove their military
status? 'The fact is, Sir, my learned friends knew then, as they
know now, if they would but make the admission, that the prisoners
had no authority whatever to justify their crimes, or to stay the
demand for their extradition. And hence their frequent appeals
for delay, to communicate with the magistracy at Richmond. Well,
that delay was accorded to them, and now that the messenger has
returned, let us see what he has brought to aid the cause of the
prisoners, I find, Sir, that he has laid before this Court as the result
of his perilous journey, three copies of three muster rolls of three
Companies, in which the names of the prisoners have been very badly
written indeed ; and so far back it would seem as two years ago.
Now, your Honor, this is not the kind of evidence which the prisoners
in their affidavits fyled in support of their application for delay,
stated they needed for their defence, and could procure upon
communication with Richmond. The truth is, they had hoped that
the Confederate President, if appealed to, might be induced to avow
their acts. But, although I would not attach the least importance
to his avowal, even if it had been made, it is still worthy of remark,
that he has withheld it. And the reason, said Mr. Cameron in his
evidence, is, “ That his General Order in the Burley case had been
disregarded by the Judges of Upper Canada. President Davis, ob-
served the witness, seemed piqued and indignant of the facts.”
This, your Honor is the excuse offered for the reticence of Mr.
Davis, for his unwillingness to hold himself or his Government,
such as it is, responsible for the outrages committed at St. Albans.
Will you then, seeing that the Confederate authorities have pointedly
refused to acknowledge the Military status claimed for the prisoners,
supply the want by the substitution of your sanction for their autho-
rity ? I earnestly hope you will not place yourself in such an unen-
viable position, a position which I take the liberty of saying would
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be dishonoring to the high character of the judiciary, and ex-
tremely prejudicial to the best interests of the people of Canada.
With these remarks upon this branch of the question at issue, I
will now, in reply to my learned friends, proceed to consider our
neutral obligations to the United States, and with the further object
of showing that is not only our duty, but our interest, if we wish to
secure to ourselves a continuance of the blessings of peace, to
observe a strict impartiality in the pending conflict, and not to
favor one of the contending parties to the injury of the other.

DUTY OF NEUTRALS.

Chief Justice Jay, in his charge to the Grand Jury, in the case
of Wenfield, (Reported in Wharton’s Rept. of State Trials in
U. 8.) accused of a violation of the neutrality laws of the United
States, made the following sensible remarks, which I quote, as
being in my opinion precisely applicable to our state at this
moment. That eminent Judge. said :—“ By the laws of nations,
the United States, as a neutral power, are bound to observe the
line of conduct indicated by the proclamation of the President
towards all the belligerent powers, and that although we may have
no treaties with them. Surely (said he) no engagements can be
more wise and virtuous than those whose direct object is to maintain
peace and to preserve large portions of the human race from the
complicated evils incident to war. While the people of other
nations do no violence or injustice to our citizens, it would certainly
be criminal and wicked in our citizens, for the sake of plunder, to
do violence and injustice to any of them. .

If you let loose the reins of your subjects, against foreign nations,
these will behave in the same manner to you, and instead of that
friendly intercourse which nature has established between all men,
we should see nothing but one nation robbing another. The respect
which every nation owes to itself imposes a duty on its Government,
to cause all its laws to be respected and obeyed, and that not only
by its proper citizens, but also by those strangers who may visit and
occasionally reside within its territories. There is mo principle
better established than that all strangers admitted into a country
are, during their residence, subject to the laws of it ; hence 1t follows
that the subjects of belligerent powers are bound, while in the
country, to respect the neutrality of it.”

Did Clay do this? Did the prisoners do it ? St. Albans answers
no, and well it may so answer. . .

¢ While »’ said the learned Judge, ¢ we contemplate with anxiety
and regret the desolation and distress which a war so general
(war was then being carried on between A ustria, Prussia, Sardinia,
Great Britain and the United Netherlands of the one part, and
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France of the other) and so inflamed will probably spread over
more than one country, let us with becoming gratitude wisel
estimate and cherish the peace, liberty, and safety with which the
Divine Providence has been pleased so liberally to bless us.  Self-
preservation is a primary duty of a state as well as of an individual,
To love and to deserve an honest fame, is another duty of a state
as well as of a man. To a state as well as to a man, reputation is
a valuable and an agreeable possession. But with war and rumors
of war, our ears, in this imperfect state of things, are still assailed.

“TInto this unnatural state ought a nation to suffer herself to be
drawn without her own acty or the act of him, or them, to whom for
the purpose she has delegated her power ? ”’

¢ Into thisunnatural state should a nation suffer herself to be drawn
by the unauthorized, nay, by the unlicensed conduct of her
«citizens ? 7’

¢ Humanity and reason, says Vattel, say no.”

In the case of Talbot vs. Janson, for a breach of neutrality law,
(1 Curtis’ Repts. of Decision in the Sup. C. of the U. S., p. 134,)
Judge Patterson said :(— The United States are neutral in the
present war ; they take no part in it; remain common friends to
all the belligerent powers, not favoring the arms of one to the detri-
ment of the others. An exact impartiality must mark their conduct
towards the parties at war, for if they favor, they favor one to the injury
of the other. It would be a departure from pacific principles, and
indicative of a hostile disposition. It would be a fraudulent neu-
trality.”” At (p. 1386) he says :—¢ The principle deducible from
the law of nations is plain ; you shall not make use of our neutral
arm to capture vessels of YOUR enemies, but of OUR friends. If
you do, and bring the captured vessels within our jurisdiction,
restitution will be awarded. Both the powers in the present
instance, though enemies to each other, are friends of the United
States, whose citizens ought to preserve a neutral attitude, and
should not assist either party in their hostile operation.”

Phillimore (V. 1, 2, p. 189) says: ¢« A Rebellion or a civil
commotion, it may happen, agitates a nation ; while the authorities
are engaged in repressing it, bands of rebels pass the frontier,
shelter themselves under the protection of the coterminous State,
and from thence, with restored strength and fresh appliances, renew
their invasions from the State in which they have escaped. The
mvaded States remonstrate. The remonstrance, whether from
favor to the rebels, or feebleness of the executive, is unheeded, or
at least, the evil complained of, remains unredressed.

In this state of things, the invaded State is warranted by inter-
national law in crossing the frontier, and in taking the necessary
means for her safety, whether these be the capture or dispersion of
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the rebels, or the destruction of their stronghold, as the exigencies
of the case may fairly require.

In (3rd Phillimore, p. 89,) it is laid down, that the conduct of
a State which allowed, through indifference or gross remissness, its
subjects to invade the rights of another State, would fall under
what is classed as culpable imprudence. If indeed the State per-
mitted, or connived at the offence, and sheltered the offender, it
would be just as much an aggressor, as if the invasion had been
made by the regular forces of the kingdom. But when the indi-
viduals of any State violate this general law, it is then the interest,
as well as the duty of the Government under which they live, to
animadvert upon them with a becoming severity, that the peace of
the world may be maintained. For in vain would nations, in their
collective capacity, observe these universal rules, if private subjects
were at liberty to break them at their own discretion, and involve
the two States in war. It is, therefore, incumbent upon the nation
injured, first, to demand satisfaction and justice to be done on the
offender by the State to which he belongs; and, if that is refused
or neglected, the Sovereign then avows himself an accomplice or
abettor of his subjects’ erimes, and draws upon his community the
calamities of foreign war.

Wheaton, (p. 716,) says : The respect due to neutral territorial
seas is not confined to a total abstinence, from every act of hosti-
lity ; it equally extends to the proceedings immediately prepara-
tory to those acts. Thus a fleet or vessel of war, or privateer,
cannot, without committing a violation of territory, establish itself
upon any point of this sea, in order to watch the passage of vessels,
whether of war or merchantmen of the enemy or neutral ships,
even if it leaves its retreat, in order to attack them outside of the
limits of the neutral jurisdiction. Without doubt, hostilities, the
employment of force, the exercise of the right of war, have no
place within the jurisCictional limits of pacific Sovereigns friendly
to the two parties, but the law of war does not admit that the terri-
tory of a neutral people should serve as an ambuscade for one of
the belligerents to favor his operations of the war to the detrvment
of the other. All the prizes made under such circumstances arc
then unlawful, and give to the neutral the right of claiming from
the belligerent, who does these acts, a reparation, as 1f they had
been committed on his own proper territory, and within the limts
of his jurisdiction. .

In consequence of the laying in wait at Southampton, by an
American steamer of war, watching for the departure of a Confe-
derate armed steamer, and sending men on shore for that purpose,
EarL RuUsSELL wrote January the 10th, 1862, to Mr. Adams,
¢ T think it necessary to state to you, that, except in case of stress
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of weather forcing them to land, Her Majesty’s Government
cannot permit armed men wn the service of a foresgn Government
to land upon British Territory. (Lbid., page T21.) There is then
no exception to the rule, that every voluntary entrance into neutral
territory, with hostile purposes, is absolutely unlawful. ¢ When
the fact is established,” says Sir W. Scott, it overrules every other
consideration. A capture made under such circumstances, 13 done
away ; the property must be restored, notwithstanding that it ma
actually belong to the enemy. ([bid., page T27.) It is a settled
principle of the law of nations, that no belligerent can rightfully
make use of the territory of a neutral State for belligerent pur-
poses, without the consent of the neutral Government.”

Vattel (B. 8,¢. T, p. 344,) says : It is certain that if my neigh-
bor affords a retreat to my enemies, when defeated and too
much weakened to escape me, and allows them to recover, and watch
a favorable opportunity of making a second attack on my territories,
this conduct, so prejudicial to my safety and interests, would be
incompatible with neutrality. If therefore, my enemies, on suffer-
ing a discomfiture, retreat into his country, although charity will
not allow him to refuse them permission to pass in security, he is
bound to make them continue their march beyond his frontiers as
soon as possible, and not suffer them to remain in his territories to
watch for a convenient opportunity to attack me anew: otherwise
he gives me a right to enter his country in pursuit of them. Such
treatment is often experienced by nations that are unable to command
respect. Their territories soon become the theatre of war; armies
march, encamp and fight in it, as in a country open to all comers.

Vattel (B. 2, c. 6, p. 161,) says : But, if a nation or its chief
approves and ratifies the act of the individual, it then becomes a
public concern ; and the injured party is to consider the nation as
the real author of the injury of which the citizen was perhaps only
the instrument.

If the offended State has in her power the individual who has
done the injury, she may, without scruple, bring him to justice and
punish him. If he has escaped and returned to his own country,
she ought to apply to his sovereign to have justice done in the case.
And since the latter ought not to suffer his subjects to molest the
subjects of other States, or to do them an injury, much less to give
open audacious offence to foreign powers, he ought to compel the
transgressor to make reparation for the damage or injury, if
possible, or to inflict on him an exemplary punishment, or finally,
according to the nature and the circumstances of the case, to
deliver him up to the offended State, to be there brought to justice.

Assassins, incendiaries and robbers are seized everywhere, at
the desire of the sovereign in whose territories the crime was
committed, and are delivered up to his justice.
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The Sovereign who refuses to cause reparation to be made for
the damage done by his subject, or to punish the offender, or finally,
to deliver him up, renders himself in some measure an accomplice
in the injury, and becomes responsible for it. But if he delivers
up either the property of the offender, as an indemnification, in
cases that will admit of pecuniary compensation, or Ais person, in
order that he may suffer the punishment due to his crime, the
offended party has no further demand on him.”

In support of the doctrines and opinions thus enunciated, many
other eminent writers and authors could be quoted. But I conceive
that I have gone far enough in this direction, and have adduced
sufficient authority to refute the mistaken opinions entertained b
our opponents of the obligations imposed upon us by the laws of
neutrality.

I now call your Honor’s attention to the case of Bennett G.
Burley, lately extradited upon the demand of the United States.
This person was arrested upon a charge of robbing one Ashley, on
board the Philo Parsons, a steamer sailing at the time on Lake
Erie. The prisoner when ordered to render an account of his
conduct before the Recorder of the City of Toronto, set up as a
justification of the act, that he, Burley, was a commissioned officer
in the service of the so called Confederate States, that he was
entitled to be regarded as a belligerent, and that his object in
taking forcible possession of the Philo Parsons, which he and others
did, in addition to the robbery of Ashley, wasto use her as a means
to enable his party to effect the release of Southern prisoners
detained in Camp Douglas, on Johnson’s Island. The Recorder
held that the act of robbery was not justified, and ordered extra-
dition. A writ of Habeas Corpus was next applied for by the
prisoner’s counsel. The application was made to Chief Justice
Draper, who had sitting with him three other Judges. It was very
ably argued and very ably opposed by the counsel engaged on both
sides, and after a patient and careful consideration of the facts and
the law applicable to them, the writ of Habeas Corpus was, by these
learned Judges, refused. Be it remembered, too, that in this case
the prisoner produced an order or proclamation from the Confederate
President avowing the act of Burley, and assuming all the respon-
sibility. But the Judges held, and held rightly, that no such order
or proclamation could justify the circumstances under which the
crime was committed, commencing with the violation of our neu-
trality laws; and that if the authority upon which the prisoner
relied, was of any value, the proper time and place to urge it as
matter of justification, was at his trial, and before _the Court having
Jjurisdiction to hear and determine upon the merits of the offence
charged. There is then this difference between the case of Burley
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and that of the prisoners now before this Court, that Mr. Davis
avowed Burley’s deed, and refused to give a like recognition to the
acts of Bennett H. Young and his accomplices. But then the
soundness, the legality of this judgment have been questioned by
my learned friends on the other side. Indeed one of them hag
carried his criticism to the extreme length of saying, that the
judgment is a disgrace to the judiciary of Upper Canada, and is a
proof of the unfitness of the Judges in that section of the country,,
to deal with questions of international law!! Perhaps this is the
opinion’ of the gentleman who has denounced in such strong
vituperative terms the Chief Justice and his brother Judges. But
certainly it is not the opinion of the eminent writers upon interna--
tional law, from whose pages}I have read, nor will it, I trust, be the
opinion of your Honor. I admit, however, that the learned Judges
whose judgment has provoked so much wrath, committed an unpar-
donable error in adjudging Burley’s case, without consulting my
learned friends, whom I am sure would have felt great pleasure in
indoctrinating their Honors with ideas of international law as
understood by Jeff. Davis, and practised by raiders generally.
Believing, however, that the Bench of Upper Canada will not be
deterred from pursuing the path of rectitude, by the belligerent
observations of my learned friend, and that 1t is quite possible he-
might be induced to look upon them with more favor, if he heard
the reasons of their judgment once more, I will now read a few
extracts from the published report of their decision, which, notwith-
standing all that has been said to the contrary, I still persist in
commending to the careful attention of the prisoner’s counsel.

¢« But,” said Chief Justice Draper, ““ conceding that there is
evidence that the prisoner was an officer in the Confederate service,
and that he had the sanction of those who employed him to
endeavor to capture the Michigan, and to release the prisoners on
Johnson’s Island, the manifesto put forward as a shield to protect
the prisoner from personal responsibility does not extend to what
he has actually done—nay more, it absolutely prohibits a violation
of neutral territory or of any rights of neutrals. The prisoner, how-
ever, who according to the testimony, was a leader in an expedition.
embarked surreptitiously from a neutral territory. His followers,
with their weapons, found him within that territory, and proceeded
thence to prosecute their enterprise, whatever it was, into the
territory of the United States. Thus, assuming their intentions to
have been what was professed, they deprived the expedition of the
character of lawful hostility, and the very commencement and
embarkation of their enterprise was a violation of neutral territory,
and contrary to the letter and the spirit of the manifesto produced.
This gives a greater reason for carefully enquiring whether, looking
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at the whole case, the alleged belligerent enterprise was not put
forward as a pretext to cloak very different designs. Taken by
themselves, the acts of the prisoner himself clearly establish a
prima facie case of robbery with violence—at least according to
our law. The matters alleged to deprive the prisoner’s acts of this
criminal character are necessarily to be set up by way of defence
to the charge, and involve the admission that the prisoner committed
the acts, but denying their criminality. Assuming some act done
within our jurisdiction, which, unexplained, would amount to robbery ;
if explanations were offered, and evidence to support them were
given at a preliminary investigation, the accused could not be
discharged—the case must be submitted to a jury. This case
cannot, from its very nature, be investigated before our tribunals,
for the act was committed within the jurisdiction of the United
States. Whether those facts are necessary to rebut the prima
Jacie case can be proved, can only be determined by the courts of
that country. We are bound to assume that they will try and
decide it justly.

I do not, on the whole, think the prisoner is entitled to be dis-
charged.

I should add, that, considering the nature of the questions to be
determined, I requested the learned Chief Justice of the Common
Pleas, and my brothers Hagarty and John Wilson, who were all, at
the moment, within reach, to sit with me and aid me with their
opinion. I am sustained by their concurrence in the conclusion at
which I have arrived.”

Chief Justice Richards—¢ Taking the evidence adduced against
the prisoner, there seems to have been sufficient to warrant his
committal. Then, has he shown sufficient to relieve him of the
charge ? .

“If, on a similar matter occurring in this country, I was called
upon to decide whether I would discharge the prisoner or commit
him for trial, I should feel hound to commit him. I should say,
that looking at all the facts as they are presented on either side,
the conduct of those parties, and what they said and did during
the time the vessel was in their posscssion, was of that equivocal
character, that it would, in the most favorable view suggested for
the prisoner, be a matter for the consideration of a jury, whether
they were acting in good faith n carrying out a belligerent enter-
prise, or whether they were not making an expedition for the pur-
pose of plunder, under pretence of a belligerent enterprise, think-
ing in that way more readily to escape detection.

‘ Entertaining the opinion I have expressed, it is my .d\.1ty to
declare that the learned Recorder was Wal:ranted in deciding to
commit the prisoner for the purpose of being surrendered. Asg



304

long as the Extradition Treaty between this country and the
United States is in force, it ought to be honestly carried out, and
in all cases where the evidence shows that an offence had been
committed, though there may be conflicting evidence as to the
facts, or different conclusions drawn-from the facts, yet in those
cases where we would commit for trial, in similar cases in this
country, we are equally bound to commit to be surrendered for
trial under the Treaty, and our Statute passed to carryit out. We
must assume that parties will have a fair trial after their surrender,
or we ought not to deliver them up at all, or to have agreed to do
s0.”

Jusfice Hagarty—*I think the only just course open to a Cana-
dian Court is to decline accepting either the prisoner’s statement
or his alleged employer’s avowal of his acts, as conclusive evidence
of the proposition that his conduct was war and not robbery. It
should accept the evidence offered as establishing a prima facie
case of guilt sufficient to place the prisoner on his trial, and all for
his defence. The whole burden of proving that the transferring
of the money from Ashley’s pocket to that of the prisoner and his
friend, does not bear the complexion that men of plain understand-
ing must, under the circumstances, attribute to it, must be thrown
upon the prisoner.

I think I am bound to a treaty so made between my Sovereign
and her ally in a liberal and just spirit, not laboring with eager
astuteness to find flaws or doubtful meanings in its words, or in
those of the legal forms required for carrying it into effect.

We are to regard its avowed object,——the allowing of each
country to bring to trial all prisoners charged with the expressed
offences. Neither of the parties can properly have any desire to
prevent such trial, or to shield a possible offender. If the position
of the case were reversed, and the prisoner had done the acts com-
plained of in this country, and claimed to be a belligerent against
our Sovereign, I think any Canadian judge or magistrate would
commit him for trial for robbery, leaving him to plead his bellige-
rent position at his trial for what it was worth. I have neither
the desire nor the right to assume that he will not be fairly tried
in the United States. The Treaty is based on the assumption that
each country should be trusted with the trial of offences committed
within its jurisdiction. I think the prisoner should be remanded
on the Recorder’s warrant, which I think is not open to any valid
objection. Had I differed from the result arrived at by the
Recorder, I should then have to consider a doubt more than once
expressed, whether any judge can review his decision.”

(After reciting the facts, Mr. Justice Wilson proceeds :)

“These proceedings, so mean in their inception and so ignoble
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in their development and termination, we are asked to consider as
acts of war, and to accord to the prisoner belligerent rights. What
is there in all this which constitutes the act of war ? If the object
were to release the prisoners, from all that appears, they never were
nearer than fourteen miles to Johnson’s Island. Was the seizure
of this unarmed boat per se an act of war ?—for it has been argued
that the robbery was merged in the higher act. The seizure of the
boat, for whatever purpose, was one thing, the robbery of Ashley
quite another ; and in no way that we see, in furtherance of the
design now insisted upon necessary for its accomplishment. Butis
not the bona fide of the enterprise matters of defence which a jury
ought to try ? Such a trial can only be had where the offence was
committed, and we cannot doubt but that justice will be fairly ad-
ministered. ~ Then we are told that although the prisoner has no
orders to show, authorizing what he did, he has the manifesto of
the President of the Confederate States avowing the act and as-
suming it, and therefore he is not subject to this charge at all. We
accord to that Confederacy the rights of a belligerent, as the
United States has done from the day it treated the soldiers of the
revolted States as prisoners of war; but there is an obvious dis-
tinction between an order to do a belligerent act, and the recogni-
tion and avowal of such an act after it has been done. The one is
an act of war, the other an act of established government. The
one is consistent with what Great Britain acknowledges, the other
is not. For us judicially to give effect to the avowal and adoption
of this act, would be to recognize the existence of the nationality
of the Confederate States, which, at present, our Government refuses
to acknowledge.

Giving for the moment this manifesto its full force, it distinctly
disclaims all breaches of neutrality : but it is clear that this expedition
took its departure and shipped its arms from our port. But does
it assume the responsibility of this seizure, and all that was done
upon it throughout ? If not, it is neither justification nor excuse. I
see no authority for the doing of the act, and as an assumption of
what was done, therefore, the whole justification fails. Lastly, the
attitude of the United States towards us is no concern of ours.
Sitting here, whatever they do, while peace exists, and this Treaty
13 in force, we are bound to give it effect. We can look with no
favor on treachery and fraud ; we cannot countenance warfare to be
carried on except on the principles of modern civilization. We
must not permit, with the sanction of law, our neutral rights to be
invaded, our territory made the base of warlike operations or the
refuge from flagrant crimes. Peace is the rule, war the exception
of modern times; equivocal acts must be taken most strongly
against those who, under pretence of war, commit them. For these

U
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reasons, I think the prisoner must be remanded on the warrant of
the learned Recorder.” ‘

And for the same reasons so also should the prisoners here be
remanded, unless it can be made to appear that we have one set of
neutrality laws for Upper Canada, and another and a totally dis-
tinct set for Lower Canada. But as this is not pretended, the
judgment in the Burley case disposes of the question at issue here,
unless indeed your Honor, like the prisoners’ counsel, should be of
opinion that your brother Judges,— distinguished as they undoubtedly
are for judicial attainments of the highest character,—have in the
Burley matter misunderstood the law, misapplied the facts, and
evidenced gross ignorance of our international relations, a con-
clusion which assuredly does not flow from the premises.

With these remarks on the Burley case, I will now address my-
self to another point raised by the prisoners’ counsel, which I un-
dertake to refute by incontrovertible authority, namely, that the
prisoners being citizens of the Southern States, had, by the laws of
war, a right to regard the citizens of the Northern States, with
whom they are at war, as their enemies, and as such to put them
to death, wherever or whenever they could, and that for this pur-
pose they have a right to employ all sorts of means. ¢ A strange
maxim !’ (Tattel, B. 3, c. 8, p. 357,) * but happily exploded
by the bare ideas of honor, confused and indefinite as they are. In
c1vil society, I have a right to punish a slanderer—to cause my
property to be restored by him who unjustly detains it ; but shall
the means be indifferent? Nations may do themselves justice,
sword in hand, when otherwise refused to them; shall it be in-
different to human society that they employ odious means. (Ibid.,
B. 3,c¢.8,p. 351.) Women, children, feeble old men, sick persons,
come under the description of enemies, and we have certain rights
over them, inasmuch as they belong to the nation with whom we
are at war. But these are enemies who make no resistance, and
consequently we have no right to maltreat their persons or use any
violence against them, much less to take away their lives. This 1s
so plain a maxim of justice and humanity, that at present every
nation in the least degree civilized acquiesces in it. The like may
be said of the public ministers of religion, of men of letters, and
other persons who live remote from military affairs. (Was not St.
Albans remote from military affairs ?) At present war is carried on
by regular troops; the people, the peasants, the citizens take no
part in it, and generally have nothing to fear from the sword of the
enemy. (lbid., p. 3569). I give,then, the name of assassination to
a treacherous murder, whether the perpetrators of the deed be sub-
Jjects of the party whom we cause to be assassinated—or of our
own Sovereign. Assassination and poisoning are, therefore, con-
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trary to the laws of war, and equally condemned by the law of na-
ture and the consent of all civilized nations. (Z&id., pp. 361, 362.)
I cannot conclude this subject of what we have a right to do against
the person of the enemy, without speaking a few words concerning
the dispositions we ought to preserve towards him. Let us never
forget that our enemies are men; though reduced to the disa-
greeable necessity of prosecuting our rights by force of arms, let
us not divest ourselves of that charity which connects us with all
mankind. Thus shall we defend our country’s rights without vio-
lating those of human nature. Let our valor preserve itself from
every stain of cruelty, and the lustre of victory will not be tar-
nished by inhuman and brutal actions. (Zid., p. 368.) What we
have advanced is sufficient to give an idea of the moderation which
we ought to observe, even in the most just war, in exerting our
right to pillage and ravage the enemy’s country.”

“ Except the single case in which there is question of punishing
.an enemy, the whole is reducible to this general rule. All damage
done to the enemy unnecessarily, every act of hostility which does
not tend to procure victory and bring war to a conclusion, 18 a li-
centiousness condemned by the law of nature. (Ibid., p. 869.)
"The pillage and destruction of towns, &c., are measures odious and
detestable on every occasion when they are put in practice without
absolute necessity, or at least very cogent reasons. But as the
perpetrators of such outrageous deeds might attempt to palliate
them under pretext of deservedly punishing the enemy, be it here
observed, that the natural and voluntary law of nations does not
allow us to inflict such punishments, except for enormous offences
against the laws of nations.”

¢ Soldiers, says Vattel (B. 8, c. 15, p. 400), * can undertake
nothing without the express or tacit command of their officers.
They are not to act at their own discretion. ~Wherefore, with
respect to things which are not entrusted to their charge, they
(soldiers and officers) may both be considered as private individu-
-als, who are not to undertake anything without orders. The obli-
gation of the military is even more strict, as the martial law
expressly forbids acting without orders; and this discipline is so
necessary that it scarcely leaves any room for doubt.”

These citations, I think it will be admitted, do not bear out my
learned friend’s ideas of carrying on war. We will now see what
Wheaton says upon this subject ( Wheaton, p. 7.) * Thus, for
instance, on mere general principles, it 1s lawful to de;stroy your
enemy ; and mere general principles make no great difference as
to the manner by which that is to be effected ; but the conventional
laws of mankind, which is evidenced in their practice, does make
a distinction, and allows some, and prohibits other modes of de-
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struction ; and a belligerent is bound to confine himself to those-
modes which the common practice of mankind has employed, and
to relinquish those which the same practice has not brought
within the ordinary exercise of war, however sanctioned by its
principles and purposes. (Zbid., p. 588.) No use of force is laufu,
except so far as it is necessary. A belligerent has therefore no
right to take away the lives of those subjects of the enemy whom
he can subdue by other means. Those who are actually in arms,
and who continue to resist, may be lawfully killed ; but the inhabi-
tants of the enemy’s country who are not in arms may not be slain,
because their destruction is not necessary for obtaining the just
ends of the war. [Was the assassination of Morison at St. Albans by
the prisoners necessary for this purpose ?]  (Wheaton, pp. 591 to
604.) All the members of the enemy’s State may lawfully be
treated as enemies in a public war : but it does not, therefore, fol-
low that all these enemies may be lawfully treated alike. No use
of force against an enemy is lawful unless it is necessary to accom-
plish the purposes of the war. The persons of the Sovereign and
his family, the members of the civil government, women and child-
ren, cultivators of the earth, artizans, laborers, merchants, men of
science and letters, and generally all other public or private indi-
viduals engaged in the ordinary civil pursuits of life, are, by the
custom of civilized nations, founded upon the foregoing principle,
exempted from the direct effect of military operations, unless
actually taken in arms, or guilty of some misconduct in violation of
the usages of war, by which they forfeit their immunity. Private
property on land is also exempt from confiscation, with the exception
of such as may become booty in special cases, when taken from
enemies in the field (Zbid., p. 626). The effect of a state of war
lawfully declared to exist is to place all the subjects of each belli-
gerent power in a state of mutual hostility. But the usage of
nations has modified this maxim, by legalizing such acts of hostility
only as are committed by those who are authorized by the express
or tmplied command of the state. Such are the regularly com-
missioned naval and military forces of the nation. The horrors of
war would indeed be greatly aggravated if every individual of the
belligerent states was allowed to plunder and slay indiscriminately
the enemy’s subjects, without being in any manner accountable
for his conduct. Hence it is that in land wars irregular bands of
marauders are liable to be treated as lawless banditti, not entitled
to the protection of the mitigated usages of war as practised by
civilized nations.”

“ War (3 Phillimore, p. 100,) i3 not to be considered as an in-,
dulgence of blind passions, but as an act of deliberate reason ; and a3
Lord Bacon says, ‘no massacre or confusion, but the highest trial
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of right.”  Wanton cruelty cxercised towards the enemy’s subjects
is therefore, according to the principles and practice of Christian
nations, unjustifiable and illegal. (Zbd., p. 103.) Reason, mora-
lity and religion alike commend to the understanding and the con-
science of nations, that cardinal principle of the law of war, to
which reference has already been made, and by which it is decided,
“ that every thing is not lawful against an enemy,’ but only those
things which are essential to the vigorous prosecution and speedy
termination of the war. The conqueror (5., p. 145) is obliged
by the laws of just war, to spare those who lay down their arms, or
who are helpless. To put such to death is to commit murder. And
those who commit it, ought to die by the hand of the hangman, and
not of the soldier. Bands of marauders acting without the authority
of the Sovereign or the order of the Military commander, have no
claim to the treatment of prisoners of war.”

The same doctrine is maintained by every modern writer upon
the laws of civilized warfare. In the case of Zalbot vs. Janson,
decided in the Supreme Court of the United States, and reported
in 1 Curtis, p. 189, the principle, supported by the authorities I
have just quoted, is well and clearly laid down in a judgment ren-
dered by that high tribunal, from which I take the following ex-
tract : ““ That by a due consideration of the law of nations, what-
ever opinions might have prevailed formerly to the contrary, no
hostilities of any kind except in necessary self-defence, can lawfully
be practised by one individual of a nation, against an individual of
any other nation at enmity with it, but in virtue of some public
-authority. War is instituted for national purposes, and directed to
national objects ; and each individual on both sides is engaged in
1t as a member of the society to which he belongs, not from motives
of personal malignity and ill-will. He ¢s not to fly like a tiger upon
his prey, the moment he sees an indiwidual of his enemy before lim.
Such savage notions I believe obtained formerly—thank God more
rational ones have succeeded. Even in the case of one enemy
against another enemy, therefore, there is no color of justification
for any offensive hostile act, unless it be authorized by some act of
the Government giving the public constitutional sanction to it.”

In the case of Little vs. Barreme, also decided in the Supreme
Court of the United States (1, Curtis, p. 465), Chief Justice
Marshall, admitted by my learned friends to be a high authority,
held that instructions from the President to the commander of a
public armed vessel of the United States, to do an 1llegal act, do
not justify the officer in doing it, nor so far excuse him as to ex-
empt him from paying damages. In rendering judgment, Chief
Justice Marshall said: “T confess the first bias of my mind was
very strong in favor of the opinion that though the instructions of
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the Executive could not give a right, they might yet excuse from
damages. I was much inclined to think that a distinction ought to
be taken between acts of civil and those of military officers ; and
between proceedings in the body of the country and those on the
high seas. That implicit obedience which military men usually pay
to the orders of their superiors, which indeed is indispensably
necessary to every military system, appeared to me strongly to
imply the principle that those orders, if not to do a prokibited act,
ought to justify the person whose general duty it is to obey them,
and who 13 placed by the laws of his country in a situation which
in general requires that he should obey them. I was strongly in-
clined to think, that where, in consequence of orders from the
legitimate authority, a vessel is seized with the pure intention, the
claim of the injured party for damages would be against that
Government from which the orders proceeded, and would be a pro-
per subject for negociation. But I have been convinced that I was
mistaken, and I have receded from this first opinion. I acquiesce
in that of my brethren, which is, that the instructions cannot change
the nature of the transaction, or legalize an act, which, without those
instructions, would have been a plain trespass.”

These authorities I confidently submit to your Honor's judgment,
and in refutation of the absurd and happily exploded maxim, that
every injury inflicted by one enemy against the person of another
enemy in time of war, and under pretence of war, is justifiable.

The next case to which I shall refer is that of McLeod, so much
relied on by my learned friends, and with it I intend to cloge my
observations upon this branch of the case.

McLeod, it 1s well known, was arrested in the State of New
York, in the month of November, in the year 1840, because of his
supposed participation in the destruction of the steamer Caroline,
and the killing of one Durfee. Now, the circumstances under which
these acts were committed were very differentindeed from those which
we are investigating. Between the burning of the Caroline, the
killing of Durfee, and the robbery of Breck, and of the banks, the
murder of Morrison, and the wounding of several other persons at
St. Albans by the prisoners, upon the 19th day of October last,
there 1s not the least analogy, absolutely none whatever. The de-
struction of the Caroline was an act of public force, done by the com-
mand of the British Government, and all that McLeod did in it, if
anything, he did by the express command of his superior officer, and
in comphiance with the order of his own Government.

The Caroline was destroyed in December, 1837, and from the
published accounts of the transaction, we gather, that after the re-
bellion which, during that year had broken out, had been suppres-
sed, a small band of Canadian refugees, who had taken shelter in
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the State of New York, formed a league with a number of other
evil disposed persons, for the purpose of invading the British terri-
tory, not to join a party engaged m civil war,—because civil war at.
that time in Canada there was none,—but in order to commit within
British territory the crimes of robbery, arson, and murder. After
some days’ preparation, these people proceeded to invade and occupy
Navy Island, and part of the British territory ; and having engaged
the steamboat Caroline, which, for their special service was cut out
of the ice in which she had been enclosed in the port of Buffalo,
they had used her for the purpose of bringing over to Navy Island,
from the United States territory, men, arms, ammunition, stores
and provisions. In consequence of these preparations, the British
authorities stationed a military force at Chippewa, to repel the
threatened invasion, and to defend Her Majesty’s territory. The
commander of that fort, seeing that the Caroline was used as a
means of supply and reinforcement for the invaders, who had occu-
pied Navy Island, judged that the capture and destruction of that
vessel would prevent supplies and reinforcements from passing over
to the Island, and would, moreover, deprive the force on the Island
of the means of passing over to the Bntish territory on the main-
land. Accordingly, on the 29th of December, 1837, an expedition
of seven small boats, and sixty-three armed men, was fitted out at
Chippewa, by the direction of Col. McNab, (who was lawfully in
command of Her Majesty’s forces at the last named place, and
vested with full authority to do so,) and commanded to take the said
steamboat by force, wherever found,and to bring her in or destroy her.
By this expedition, in which McLeod was engaged, the Caroline was
captured and destroyed, and in that capture Durfee lost his life.
Hence the subsequent arrest of McLeod. No sooner, however, was
this arrest made known, than his immediate liberation was demanded
by the British Government. The grounds, said Mr. Fox, (the then
British Minister,) addressing himself to Mr. Webster, ¢ upon which
the British Government make this demand, are these: that the
transaction, on acecount of which McLeod has been arrested, and is
to be put upon his trial, was a transaction of a public character,
planned and executed by persons duly empowered by Her Majes-
ty’s Colonial authorities, to take any steps, and to do any acts,
which might be necessary for the defence of Her Majesty’s territo-
ries, and for the protection of Her Majesty’s subjects; and that
consequently those subjects of Her Majesty who engaged in that
transaction, were performing an act of public duty. for which they
eannot be made personally and individually answerable to the laws
and tribunals of any foreign country.”

To this demand, Mr. Webster replied in these words :—* The
Government of the United States entertains no doubt that, after
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this avowal of the transaction, as a public transaction, authorized
and undertaken by the British authorities, individuals concerned in
it ought not, by the principles of public law, and the general usage
of civilized states, to be holden personally responsible in the ordin-
ary tribunals of law, for their participation in 1t; and the President
presumes that it can hardly be necessary to say that the American
people, not distrustful of their ability to redress public wrongs, by
public means, cannot desire the punishment of individuals, when the
act complained of is declared to have been an act of the Government
itself.”

After this correspondence, an application was made for the
release of McLeod, supported by the law officers of the Government
of the United States ; but, Judge Cowen, to whom 1t was made,
refused it, upon the ground, that the avowal of McLeod’s act by
the British Government, did not, and could not, legalize that which
according to his views was a crime, before its avowal. He held,
moreover, that an indictment for murder having been returned
against McLeod, the Court could not by the recognition of the Bri-
tish Government of his (McLeod’s) deeds, be ousted of its jurisdic-
tion to try the offence. McLeod was therefore brought to trial, and,
after a full hearing of the case, acquitted. Subsequently the opinion
of Judge Cowen was reviewed by Judge Tallmadge, (26, Wendell,
p- 663,) who held that as the British Government had not only
approved, but ordered the destruction of the Caroline, during which
Durfee was killed, McLeod was not individually answerable for
the consequences resulting therefrom. From the moment that it
was sanctioned and avowed by England, it became a national ques-
tion, and one to be determined, not in the ordinary municipal tri-
bunals of the States ; but in the high political Courts of Washing-
ton and St. James.

Where then is the analogy between this case and that of Young
and his accomplices? McLeod, in obedience to the command of
his superior officer, performed a soldierly act, one which was deemed
necessary for the defence of his country, and which was approved
by his Sovereign ; whereas Young and his associates, without any
authority, performed the very contrary of a military act— one
which no man with any regard for truth can pretend was justified
by the laws of self-defence or self-preservation. McLeod aided in
the destruction of a steamer, employed in carrying aid to the inva-
ders of his country ; Young and his party devoted themselves to the
robbery and murder of private citizens. And yet we are told that
there 1s great analogy between both acts—the capture of the Caro-
line, and the raid at St. Albans. If there is, I am compelled to
say, I do not see the resemblance.

So far your Honor will have perceived that I have argued the
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-case with no more than a passing reference to the speeches made
by my learned opponents—and the reason is that, in my opinion,
they have little or no application to the statement of facts before
us. Mr. Laflamme, it 1s true, stated in his address of yesterday,
that two new and important facts were brought to light since your
Honor’s illness—the first was the despatch of Earl Russell, in an-
swer to Mr. Adamns, touching the discharge of the persons who rose
upon the officers and crew of the Roanoke, and destroyed that ves-
sel. Well, my answer to this new discovery is this :-—that in the
case of the Roanoke, there was, to commence with, no judicial in-
vestigation. Secondly :—That Earl Russell stated in reply to Mr.
Adams, that there was not sufficient evidence to detain the persons
complained of ; and lastly, that the commander of the party was
duly commissioned and entitled to the recognition of a belligerent.
Besides, his act was not one having for its object private pillage.
In addition to which, I must remind the gentleman that there is a
wide distinction made between maritime warfare and war upon land
—between the taking of private property at sea, and the taking of
it on land. The sea being the common highway of the world, bel-
ligerents, when they there engage each other, have equal rights and
privileges. Wheaton, (p. 626,) speaking of maritime warfare, says:
—=¢The progress of civilization has slowly but constantly tended
to soften the extreme severity of the operations of war by land ;
but it still remains unrelaxed in respect to maritime warfare, in
which the private property of the enemy taken at sea or afloat in
port, is indiscriminately liable to capture and confiscation. This
inequality in the operation of the laws of war, by land and by sea,
has been justified by alleging the usage of considering private pro-
perty, when captured in cities taken by storm as booty. Whereas,
the object of maritime wars is the destruction of the enemy’s com-
merce and navigation, the sources and sinews of his naval power,
which object can only be attained by the capture and confiscation
of private property.

The second new fact, brought to light by the learned Counsel
(Mr. Laflamme), amounts simply to this :~——That the prisoners had
no criminal intent in all that they did at St. Albans. Now, of all
the absurd and preposterous propositions set up by the prisoners’
advocates, none, surely, for reckless assertion, approaches to this
last one. No animus furandi! Pray what object had the pri-
soners in going to St. Albans ?  Was it not to steal ? Shall 1t be
said, or can it be believed, that when they robbed Breck they did
not intend doing so ? Can it be reasonably pretended, that when
they stole from the banks $220,000, that they did not mean to do
that either ? Shall it be said, that when they set to work to steal
horses, as they actually did, to enable them the more readily to es-
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cape with their plunder, that they did not know what they were
about ? Can it be believed that when Young and his party murdered
Morrison, shot Huntingdon, and wounded several gther citizens of
St. Albans, they had no criminal intent ? Truly, it is painful to be:
obliged to listen to, and to answer such unfounded arguments ; but.
the real fact is (and it is not a new one), that it would seem as if
we met here to waste time, and, as I have before stated, to trifle
with, instead of honestly to fulfil, our Treaty engagements. Young
and his accomplices had no criminal intent in their St. Albans ope-
rations !  If this be true, why is it that up to this hour they have
not made restitution? What have they done with the stolen money ¢
If they are the honest, upright men their Counsel represent them
to be, they ought not to forget the favors which our indulgent citi-
zens daily lavish upon them. They should not oblige us to pay
their debts. Fifty thousand dollars—the sum voted by Parliament
to be refunded to the St. Albans banks, in lieu of the amount, a
part of the proceeds of their robbery, taken from Bennett H. Young
& Co., in this Province, and subsequently, by an act of fraud, re-
stored to them—is rather too much to pay for the honor of their ac-
quaintance. No writer, says Mr. Laflamme, has yet ventured to
say that the prisoners should be extradited, by reason of the crimes
charged against them. Again, I say, he is mistaken. With very
few exceptions, every newspaper published upon this and the other
side of the Atlantic, bas denounced the savage deeds of his clients.
For instance, the London Post (Government organ, Dec. 29), in
a lengthy article upon the subject, says :—¢ That these “‘raiders”
really come within the terms of the Extradition Treaty, there can,
we conceive, be no manner of doubt ; although an attempt was made
to release them from custody, before the pretext of the badness of
the warrants had been set up, on the ground that they were recog-
nized belligerents, whereas the articles of the Treaty spoke only of
ordinary depredations. Such a pretence will not hold for a moment.
The Federals, indeed, quite as much as ourselves, have recognized
the Confederates to be belligerents, and they have invariably ac-
knowledged them to be entitled to the rights of war as against the
Federals themselves ; but war is only war when it ts waged either
Jrom the open sea, or from territory belonging to the attacking bel-
ligerents. If, in the course of the recent Danish war, Prussians
had secreted themselves on the shores of Norfolk with the view of
making an attack upon Jutland ; or, vice versa, Danes had proposed
an attack upon Prussian seaports from Yarmouth or Hull, we
should certainly have arrested them without any special treaty of
extradition.”

The London News (29th Dec.), referring to the St. Albans
raid, says :— We are bound to show the example of doing as we
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would be done by ; and as we have in former times uttered keen
remonstrances, and even resorted to actual force, when an enemy
used neutral soil to prepare machinations against us, it is impera-
tive that we should now vindicate our fair dealing and maintain our
friendly character, by prohibiting absolutely the abuse of our pro-
tection for the purpose of directing treacherous violence against the
inhabitants of a bordering and allied State. We should expect
France to do thus much for us if we were unhappily at war with
America, and Americans plotted and directed from Calais expedi-
tions to sack Brighton or burn Hastings. And it is clear that what
we should regard as the duty of France in su